. I

T

82 SUBMISSIONS FACING SHEET

MICROFICHE CONTROL LABEL

REGI;TRANT'S NAME Eb ?;q [,,%/’b%

*CURRENT ADDRESS L(/V d

gz— WJJA( \SVL/’GML
jz’idﬁ WSy (/jgld/‘/ct ZWO

*

*«FORMER NAME

=#*NEW ADDRESS

| JUN‘LONM
| ‘ [ | : @m
| ~ FILE NO. 82- 3"{:7670 . rmsoLymm e -

«  Complete for initial submissions only ** Please note nsme and address changes

oRK]
12G3-2B (INITIAL FILING) ' AR/S (ANNUAL REPORT) |
12G32BR (REINSTATEMENT) i SUPPL  (OTHER) gj
DEF 14A (FROXY) ! f

OICF/BY:

pen Lg/ov



f

Appendix 4C
Quarterly report for entities

admitted on the basis of commitments
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Quarterly report

for entities admitted

Rule 4.78B

on the basis of commitments

Introduced 31/3/2000. Amended 30/9/2001

Name of entity

EPITAN LIMITED

ABN

Quarter ended (“current quarter”)

88 089 644 119

31 March 2004

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Current quarter Year to date
Cash flows related to operating activities $A°000 (9 months)
$A°000
1.1 Receipts from customers - -
1.2 Payments for (a) staff costs 87 (379)
(b) advertising and marketing - -
(c) research and development (563) (2,926)
(d) leased assets - -
(e) other working capital - (736) (692)
1.3 Dividends received - -
1.4  Interest and other items of a similar nature
received 76 244
1.5  Interest and other costs of finance paid - -
1.6  Income taxes paid - -
1.7 Other (GST refunds) 29 209
(1,281) (3,544)
Net operating cash flows

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 4C
Quarterly report for entities
admitted on the basis of commitments

Current quarter Year to date
$A’000 (9 months)
$A°000
1.8 Net operating cash flows (carried forward) (1,281) (3,544)
Cash flows related to investing activities
1.9 Payment for acquisition of:
(a) businesses (item 5) - -
(b) equity investments - -
(c) intellectual (14) @7
property
(d) physical non- - (14)
current assets
(e) other non-current - -
assets
1.10  Proceeds from disposal of:
{a) businesses (item 5) - -
(b) equity investments - -
(¢) intellectual - -
property
{d) physical non- - -
current assets
(e) other non-current - -
assets
Loans to other entities - -
Loans repaid by other entities - -
Other (provide details if material) - -
Net investing cash flows (14) (41)
1.14 Total operating and investing cash flows (1,295) (3,585)
Cash flows related to financing activities
1.15 Proceeds from issues of shares, options, etc. 449 7,678
1.16  Proceeds from sale of forfeited shares - -
1.17 Proceeds from borrowings - -
1.18  Repayment of borrowings - -
1.19  Dividends paid - -
1.20 Other (Intersuisse Underwriting Fees) - -
Net financing cash flows 449 (7.678)
Net increase (decrease) in cash held (846) 4,093
1.21 Cash at beginning of quarter/year to date 7,551 2,612
1.22  Exchange rate adjustments to item 1.20 - -
1.23 Cash at end of quarter 6,705 6,705

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 4C
Quarterly report for entities

admitted on the basis of commitments

Payments to directors of the entity and associates of the directors

Payments to related entities of the entity and associates of the related entities

1.24 Aggregate amount of payments to the parties included in item 1.2

1.25 Aggregate amount of loans to the parties included in item 1.11 (see note 1)

Current quarter
$A'000

82

1.26 Explanation necessary for an understanding of the transactions

Non-cash financing and investing activities

2.1  Details of financing and investing transactions which have had a material effect on consolidated

assets and liabilities but did not involve cash flows

2.2 Details of outlays made by other entities to establish or increase their share in businesses in which

the reporting entity has an interest

Financing facilities available

Add notes as necessary for an understanding of the position. (See AASB 1026 paragraph 12.2).

Amount available
$A’000

Amount used
$A’000

3.1 Loan facilities -

3.2 Credit standby arrangements -

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

31/12/2003
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Appendix 4C
Quarterly report for entities

admitted on the basis of commitments
Reconciliation of cash
Reconciliation of cash at the end of the quarter (as | Current quarter Previous quarter
shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows) to | $A°000 $A°000
the related items in the accounts is as follows.
4.1 Cash on hand and at bank 343 1,031
2,386 3,538

4.2 Deposits at call

4.3 Bank overdraft ) )

44  Other (including bank bills & income security) 3,976 2,982
Total: cash at end of quarter (item 1.22) 6,705 7,551
Acquisitions and disposals of business entities
Acquisitions Disposals
(Item 1.9(a)) (Item 1.10(a))

5.1  Name of entity - -

5.2  Place of incorporation | - -

or registration
5.3  Consideration for - -
acquisition or disposal
. 5.4  Total net assets - -

5.5  Nature of business - -

Compliance statement
1 This statement has been prepared under accounting policies which comply with
-accounting standards as defined in the Corporations Act (except to the extent that
information is not required because of note 2) or other standards acceptable to ASX.

2 This statement does /dees-net* (delete one) give a true and fair view of the matters
disclosed.

Sign here: XW\A’\}\’?’/» Date: 29 April 2004

(Birecter/Company secretary)

Print name: lain Kirkwood

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 4C
Quarterly report for entities
admitted on the basis of commitments

Notes

1. The quarterly report provides a basis for informing the market how the entity’s
activities have been financed for the past quarter and the effect on its cash position.
An entity wanting to disclose additional information is encouraged to do so, in a note
or notes attached to this report.

2. The definitions in, and provisions of, AASB 1026: Statement of Cash Flows apply to
this report except for the paragraphs of the Standard set out below.

. 8.2  -reconciliation of cash flows arising from operating activities to
operating profit or loss

) 9.2 -itemised disclosure relating to acquisitions

. 9.4  -itemised disclosure relating to disposals

. 12.1(a)- policy for classification of cash items

. 12.3 - disclosure of restrictions on use of cash

o 13.1 - comparative information

3. Accounting Standards. ASX will accept, for example, the use of International
Accounting Standards for foreign entities. If the standards used do not address a
topic, the Australian standard on that topic (if any) must be complied with.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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RECEIVED

epitan

14 April 2004

Rick Iversen

Companies Advisor
Australian Stock Exchange
Level 3, 530 Collins Street,
Melbourne, Victoria 3000

Dear Mr Iversen,

Re: Price Query

| refer to your letter of 13 April and respond to your question items as:
ITEM 1: No

EpiTan (the “Company”) made an announcement on 26 March 2004 reporting that,
following a comprehensive review of its clinical trial strategy in Europe, it would be
substantially expanding its clinical trials for polymorphous light eruption (PMLE) —
otherwise known as sun poisoning - during 2004. The company reported that it would
be lodging a Clinical Trial Exemption (CTX) application with the European Medicines
Evaluation Agency (EMEA) to expand the number of PMLE trial sites in Europe to
include Great Britain and Sweden.

The Company issued a media release on 25 March 2004 reporting that new research
by the Melanoma and Skin Cancer Research institute at Sydney's Royal Prince
Alfred Hospital, indicating that ultraviolet-A light — now found to be a serious cause of
skin cancer and which is not blocked out by many sunscreens — represents a further
reason to develop and use an Australian drug which produces melanin and which
protects against both forms of UV light.

The Company made an announcement on 23 March 2004 reporting that it had
appointed former FDA dermatology specialist Dr Ella Toombs as a regulatory
advisory consultant. Dr Toombs’ prime focus will be to assist the Company prepare
its Investigational New Drug (IND) application for Melanotan, which will be submitted
to the US Food & Drug Administration in mid-2004.

The Company made a presentation on 11 February 2004 at a Securities Institute of
Australia biotech showcase. In this presentation, which was lodged with ASX, it
reported it is actively seeking a partnership with a larger pharmaceutical company to
assist with bringing Melanotan to market. It aiso reported it is evaluating expanding

EpiTan Limited A.B.N. 88 089 644 119
Level 10, 52 Collins Street, Melbourne Victoria Australia 3000
Tel: +613 9662 4688 Fax: +613 9662 4788
www.epitan.com.au



its capital base to the USA or UK to tap apparent investor appetite. These activities
are ongoing.

The Company is not aware of any information concerning it that has not been
announced which, if known, could be an explanation for recent trading in the
securities of the company.

ITEM 3: No

Outside of the statement in item 1 above, the company has no other explanation for
the price change and increase in volume in the securities of the company.

ITEM 4: The Company is in compliance with the listing rules and in particular listing
rule 3. 1.

Yours sincerely

Wtk

lain Kirkwood
Company Secretary

EpiTan Limited A.B.N. 88 089 644 119
Level 10, 52 Collins Street, Melbourne Victoria Australia 3000
Tel: +613 9662 4688 Fax: +613 9662 4788
www.epitan.com.au



Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

RECEIVED

Rule 2.7,3.10.3, 3.10.4, 3.10.5

Appendix 3B Y -1 A %13

New issue announcement,
application for quotation of additional securities
and agreement

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information and
documenis given to ASX become ASX's property and may be made public.

Introduced 1/7/96. Origin: Appendix 5. Amended 1/7/98, 1/9/99, 1/7/2000, 30/9/2001, 11/3/2002, 1/1/2003.

Name of entity

[EPITAN LIMITED

ABN
38 089 644 119

We (the entity) give ASX the following information.

Part 1 - All issues

You must complete the relevant sections (attach sheets if there is not enough space).

1 *Class of *securities issued or to be | Ordinary Shares
issued

2 Number of *securities issued or to | 1,185,937 ordinary shares
be issued (if known) or maximum
number which may be issued

3  Principal terms of the *securities | Exercise of 1,185,937 unquoted (directors)
(eg, if options, exercise price and [ options at 30 cents each
expiry date; if partly paid
*securities, the amount outstanding
and due dates for payment; if

*convertible securities, the
conversion price and dates for
conversion)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

31/03/2003 Appendix 3B Page |



Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

4 Do the *securities rank equally in all | Yes
respects from the date of allotment
with an existing *class of quoted
*securities?

If the additional securities do not

rank equally, please state:

¢ the date from which they do

e the extent to which they
participate for the next dividend,
(in the case of a trust,
distribution) or interest payment

¢ the extent to which they do not
rank equally, other than in
relation to the next dividend,
distribution or interest payment

5 Issue price or consideration 30 cents per option. Total $335,781.10

6  Purpose of the issue Exercise of 1,185,937 unquoted (directors)
(If issued as consideration for the options
acquisition of assets, clearly identify
those assets)

7 Dates of entering “securities into | 5 April 2004
uncertificated holdings or despatch
of certificates

Number *Class

8 Number and *class of all 113,303,239 EPT ordinary
*securities quoted on ASX
(including the securities in clause
2 if applicable)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

Number *Class
9 Number and *class of all 6,462,402 EpiTan Incentive
*securities not quoted on ASX Option Plan
(including the securities in clause
2 if applicable)

10 Dividend policy (in the case of a | Ordinary shares ranking equally with existing
trust, distribution policy) on the ordinary shares
increased capital (interests)

Part 2 - Bonus issue or pro rata issue

11 Is security holder approval
required? '

12 Is the issue renounceable or non-
renounceable?

13 Ratio in which the *securities will
be offered

14 *Class of *securities to which the
offer relates

15 *Record date to determine
entitlements

16  Will holdings on different registers
(or subregisters) be aggregated for
calculating entitlements?

17 Policy for deciding entitlements in
relation to fractions

18 Names of countries in which the
entity has *security holders who
will not be sent new issue
documents

Note: Security holders must be told how their
entitlements are to be dealt with.

Cross reference: rule 7.7.

19 Closing date for receipt of
acceptances or renunciations

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

® 0

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

Names of any underwriters

Amount of any underwriting fee or
commission

Names of any brokers to the issue

Fee or commission payable to the
broker to the issue

Amount of any handling fee
payable to brokers who lodge
acceptances or renunciations on
behalf of *security holders

If the issue is contingent on
*security holders’ approval, the
date of the meeting

Date entitlement and acceptance
form and prospectus or Product
Disclosure Statement will be sent to
persons entitled

If the entity has issued options, and
the terms entitle option holders to
participate on exercise, the date on
which notices will be sent to option
holders

Date rights trading will begin (if
applicable)

Date rights trading will end (if
applicable)

How do *security holders sell their
entitlements in full through a
broker?

How do *security holders sell part
of their entitlements through a
broker and accept for the balance?

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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New issue announcement

32 How do *security holders dispose
of their entitlements (except by sale
through a broker)?

33 *Despatch date

Part 3 - Quotation of securities

You need only complete this section if you are applying for quotation of securities

34 Type of securities
(tick one)

(a) K Securities described in Part 1

®) All other securities

Example: restricted securities at the end of the escrowed period, partly paid securities that become fully paid, employee
incentive share securities when restriction ends, securitics issued on expiry or conversion of convertible securities

Entities that have ticked box 34(a)

Additional securities forming a new class of securities

Tick to indicate you are providing the information or
documents

35 If the *securities are *equity securities, the names of the 20 largest holders of the
additional *securities, and the number and percentage of additional *securities held by
those holders

36 l:l If the *securities are *equity securities, a distribution schedule of the additional
*securities setting out the number of holders in the categories
1-1,000
1,001 - 5,000
5,001 - 10,000
10,001 - 100,000
100,001 and over

37 D A copy of any trust deed for the additional *securities

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

Entities that have ticked box 34(b)

38

39

40

41

42

Number of securities for which
*quotation is sought

Class of ‘*securities for which
quotation is sought

Do the *securities rank equally in all
respects from the date of allotment
with an existing *class of quoted
*securities?

If the additional securities do not

rank equally, please state:

¢ the date from which they do

e the extent to which they
participate for the next dividend,
(in the case of a trust,
distribution) or interest payment

o the extent to which they do not
rank equally, other than in
relation to the next dividend,
distribution or interest payment

Reason for request for quotation
now

Example: In the case of restricted sccuritics, cnd of
restriction period

(if issued upon conversion of
another security, clearly identify that
other security)

Number and *class of all *securities
quoted on ASX (including the
securities in clause 38)

Number

+Class

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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New issue announcement

Quotation agreement

1 *Quotation of our additional *securities is in ASX’s absolute discretion. ASX may
quote the *securities on any conditions it decides.

2 We warrant the following to ASX.

The issue of the *securities to be quoted complies with the law and is not for
an illegal purpose.

There is no reason why those *securities should not be granted *quotation.

An offer of the "securities for sale within 12 months after their issue will
not require disclosure under section 707(3) or section 1012C(6) of the
Corporations Act.

Note: An entity may need to obtain appropriate warranties from subscribers for the securities in order to be able to give
this warranty

Section 724 or section 1016E of the Corporations Act does not apply to any
applications received by us in relation to any *securities to be quoted and
that no-one has any right to return any *securities to be quoted under
sections 737, 738 or 1016F of the Corporations Act at the time that we
request that the *securities be quoted.

We warrant that if confirmation is required under section 1017F of the
Corporations Act in relation to the *securities to be quoted, it has been
provided at the time that we request that the *securities be quoted.

If we are a trust, we warrant that no person has the right to return the
*securities to be quoted under section 1019B of the Corporations Act at the
time that we request that the *securities be quoted.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

31/03/2003
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New issue announcement

3 We will indemnify ASX to the fullest extent permitted by law in respect of any
claim, action or expense arising from or connected with any breach of the warranties
in this agreement.

4 We give ASX the information and documents required by this form. If any
information or document not available now, will give it to ASX before *quotation of

the *securities begins. We acknowledge that ASX is relying on the information and
documents. We warrant that they are (will be) true and complete.

Sign here: %ﬁﬁﬁg\f%f Date: 5 April 2004

(Pireetor/Company secretary)

Print name: I.M. Kirkwood

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

Appendix 3B Page 8 31/03/2003



Appendix 3Y
Change of Director’s Interest Notice

Rule 3.194.2

A - Appendix 3Y

Change of Director’s Interest Notice

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information and
documents given to ASX become ASX’s property and may be made public.

Introduced 30/9/2001.

ame of entity EPITAN LIMITED

ABN 88 089 644 119

We (the entity) give ASX the following information under listing rule 3.19A.2 and as agent for the
director for the purposes of section 205G of the Corporations Act.

Name of Director elmer Agersborg

Date of last notice 22 December 2003

Part 1 - Change of director’s relevant interests in securities
In the case of a trust, this includes interests in the trust made available by the responsible entity of the trust

Note: In the case of a company, interests which come within paragraph (i) of the definition of “notifiable interest of a director” should be
disclosed in this part.

Direct or indirect interest Direct

Nature of indirect interest NA

(including registered holder)

Note: Provide details of the circumstances giving rise to the relevant

interest.

Date of change 30 March 2004
No. of securities held prior to change Nil

Class Fully paid ordinary shares
Number acquired 50,000

Number disposed Nil
Value/Consideration 325,000.00
Note: [f consideration is non-cash, provide details and estimated

valuation

No. of securities held after change %0,000

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 3Y
Change of Director’s Interest Notice

Nature of change Exercise of 80,000 directors’ options
Example: on-market trade, off-market trade, exercise of options, issue of $ 30 per Share
securities under dividend reinvestment pian, participation in buy-back :

Part 2 — Change of director’s interests in contracts

Note: In the case of a company, interests which come within paragraph (ii) of the definition of “notifiable interest of a director” should be
disclosed in this part,

Detail of contract -

Nature of interest -

Name of registered holder -
(if issued securities)

Date of change -

No. and class of securities to | -
which interest related prior to
change

Note: Details are only required for a contract in relation
to which the interest has changed

Interest acquired -

Interest disposed -

Value/Consideration -
Note: If consideration is non-cash, provide details and
an estimated valuation

Interest after change -

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms,
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RECEIVED

Friday 26 March 2004
WL HAY -7 A %13

ICF OF IMTER f:E AL
Company ANNOUNCEMetsar A1k Firia HeE

European clinical trials for PMLE to be expanded

For more information contact:

lain Kirkwood, Chief Administrative Officer, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620 3333
mail@epitan.com.au

www.epitan.com.au

Melbourne, Australia

EpiTan Limited [ASX:EPT] today announced that, following a comprehensive review of its
clinical trial strategy in Europe, it will be substantially expanding its clinical trials for
polymorphous light eruption (PMLE) - otherwise known as sun poisoning - during 2004.

The company will now lodge a Clinical Trial Exemption (CTX) application with the European
Medicines Evaluation Agency (EMEA) to expand the number of PMLE trial sites in Europe to
include Great Britain and Sweden. Twenty-one percent of Swedes suffer from PMLE, one of
the highest rates in the world.

The company’'s current German PMLE proof-of-concept study will be deferred, despite
receiving ethics committee approval, to facilitate this expansion and to allow the use of the
new lower dosage sustained release solid injectable, which will be used in place of the larger
implant.

The company announced in February this year that, as a result of better than expected
efficacy in its Queensland impiant dose escalation trial, a much smaller sustained release
solid injectable containing significantly less drug is now being produced.

In the Queensliand trial the first six volunteers, who received the two lowest levels of the
melanin-producing drug Melanotan®, quickly demonstrated substantial increases in melanin
levels. After 60 days the volunteers still had a profound natural tan.

The CTX application is expected to be lodged in mid 2004 and trials should begin in the
European winter.

Dr Wayne Millen, EpiTan’s Managing Director said, “We are confident that elevating melanin
levels with Melanotan will help those affected by PMLE. After a thorough review of our
European clinical trial strategy we concluded it would be more pragmatic to standardise all
future studies and trials around the new sustained release solid dose injectable. This is going
to be the formulation with which we expect Melanotan to be commercialised first so we didn't
want to waste any time with formulations which have been superseded.”

-End-

EpiTan Limited A.C.N 089 644 119
Registered Office: Level 10, 52 Collins Street, Melbourne, Victoria 3000
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Media Anhnouncement
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Tanning drug gives extrgrpmte.ctlon following

ye e

research showing sufi¥éreens are failing, say
leading dermatologists in the US and Australia

Thursday 25 March 2004

New research by the Melanoma and Skin Cancer Research Institute at Sydney's Royal
Prince Alfred Hospital, indicating that ultraviolet-A light — now found to be a serious
cause of skin cancer and which is not blocked out by many sunscreens — represents a
further reason to develop and use an Australian drug which produces melanin and
which protects against both forms of UV light, dermatologists in the US and Australia
said today.

Research from Sydney’s Royal Prince Alfred Hospital — led by Dr Nita Agar and
published in the latest issue of the Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences —
shows that many sunscreens do not block out UVA light, which scientists now believe
leads to potentially cancer-causing mutations.

Dr James Spencer, Vice Chairman Dermatology at New York's Mt Sinai School of
Medicine, acknowledges that many sunscreens do not give people the protection that
they want, and that melanin-producing drug Melanotan — which human trials have
proven helps protect people against sunburn —would allow people to develop a tan,
while pushing the sun-safe message.

“The current sunscreens are not perfect,” Dr Spencer said. “They come off, people don’t
put them on enough, and yet we still recommend the regular use of sunscreens
because it's the best we've got. The population clearly is not going to spend the rest of
their lives living in a cave. Nor do we want them to. We'd like people to be able to enjoy
life, to work and to go to sports in a safe fashion. | think potentially having natural
melanin which would be evenly distributed is probably going to be a better UV blocker
than our current sunscreens.”

Dr Spencer said that Americans currently spend $US 5 billion a year on tanning salons,
which indicates the demand in the US for cosmetic tans.

“People want a cosmetic tan and many are not very interested in the health message.
We physicians want to give a health message. We don’t want them tanning. So
Melanotan offers a way to bridge this gap. The public want the cosmetic tan, they can
achieve it safely. The doctors want to protect the public from skin cancers and this is a
way to do it.”

Professor Ross Barnetson, a dermatologist at Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, recently
headed a clinical trial into the protective qualities of melanin. Volunteers in the trial were
subject to both UVA and UVB radiation before and after a regime of Melanotan and
levels of sunburn were measured.

EpiTan Limited A.C.N 089 644 119
Registered Office: Level 10, 52 Collins Street, Melbourne, Victoria 3000
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“The fair-skinned people who took Melanotan had half the skin damage after they took
the drug compared to before,” he said. “The results showed that fair-skinned people
who have developed a tan are less likely to burn.”

The latest research into the dangers of UVA light and the inadequacy of some
sunscreens further supports research last year in Britain, which indicated that many
sunscreens do not block out harmful UVA light. Professor Roy Sanders, a consultant
plastic surgeon with the Restoration of Appearance and Function Trust (RAFT), said
sunscreens were inadequate at blocking out UVA light, which can cause melanoma.

Until now scientists thought that ultraviolet-B light was by far the most dangerous form
of light. However researchers in both Australia and the USA now say that UVA light
causes more skin cancer than previously thought.

“The problem is that many people have been using sunscreens under the assumption
that they are protected from all forms of cancer-causing UV light,” said Dr Wayne
Millen, Managing Director of EpiTan Limited, the company developing Melanotan.
“Many people have been taking in unhealthy levels of UVA light in the process.

“Clearly, greater protection is needed in the fight against skin cancer, which is where
Melanotan fits in. Melanotan stimulates the production of melanin in the skin, giving
people a natural protective tan without prolonged sun exposure. It gives people more
protection for the time that they have to spend in the sun — just like wearing shirts and
hats — and would be used in conjunction with other skin-protection methods.
Importantly, melanin does not discriminate against UVA and UVB light. It protects
against both.”

In the pivotal Phase Il human trials, Melanotan was tested on 81 volunteers of varying skin
types. The results of the trial, released in November last year, were:

e Sunburn injury was reduced by more than 50% in the fair- skinned voiunteers who
had Melanotan and who were subject to both UVA and UVB light
e There was a highly-significant increase in skin melanin in Melanotan-treated

volunteers

¢ And fairer-skin volunteers recorded increases in melanin of up to 100% in some
areas

End

For more information:

Dr Wayne Millen MD, EpiTan Limited, Ph: 03 9662 4688
lain Kirkwood CAOQ, EpiTan Limited, Ph: 03 9662 4688

Richard Allen Monsoon Communications, Ph: 9620 3333

EpiTan Limited A.C.N 089 644 118
Registered Office: Level 10, 52 Collins Street, Melbourne, Victoria 3000
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Company Announcem\c;n;,l‘tC ¢ OF HTERNATIORAL
Y LORPORATE FINANCE
EpiTan appoints former FDA Dermatologist as Regulatory

Advisory Consultant

S

For more information contact;

lain Kirkwood, Chief Administrative Officer, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620 3333
mail@epitan.com.au

www.epitan.com.au

Melbourne, Australia

Drug-development company EpiTan Limited (ASX:EPT) today announced that it had
appointed former FDA dermatology specialist Dr Ella Toombs as a regulatory
advisory consultant.

Dr Toombs’ prime focus will be to assist EpiTan prepare its Investigational New Drug
(IND) application for Melanotan, which will be submitted to the US Food & Drug
Administration in mid-2004.

Dr Toombs, based in Washington, spent 13 years between 1989 and 2002 at the US
Food & Drug Administration including ten years working in the Division of Dermatologic
Drugs — Centre for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER). EpiTan’s IND application
will be submitted to this FDA division for approval.

Dr Toombs is now working as a private consultant specialising in aesthetic dermatology.

Dr Toombs said, “I am impressed with what | have seen with Melanotan and the trial
results that it has produced. | am very interested in helping EpiTan get Melanotan to
market.”

Dr Wayne Millen, Managing Director of EpiTan, said he was delighted to welcome a
person of Dr Toombs’ calibre and regulatory expertise to the company.

This appointment complements that of New York-based dermatologist Professor Perry
Robins earlier this year and is an important step in facilitating the expansion of Epitan’s
clinical trials into the USA and Europe.

The multi-centre trials to be co-ordinated under the auspices of the regulatory

authorities of the US and Europe will be the final piece of Melanotan’s exhaustive
clinical trial programme.

-End-

EpiTan Limited A.C.N 089 644 119
Registered Office: Level 10, 52 Collins Street, Melbourne, Victoria 3000
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New issue announcement,
application for quotation of additional securities
and agreement

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information and
documents given to ASX become ASX’s property and may be made public.

Introduced 1/7/96. Origin: Appendix S. Amended 1/7/98, 1/9/99, 1/7/2000, 30/9/2001, 11/3/2002, 1/1/2003.

Name of entity
EPITAN LIMITED

ABN
88 089 644 119

We (the entity) give ASX the following information.

Part 1 - All issues

You must complete the relevant sections (attach sheets if there is not enough space).

1 *Class of *securities issued or to be | Ordinary Shares
issued

2 Number of *securities issued or to | 300,000 ordinary shares
be issued (if known) or maximum
number which may be issued

3 Principal terms of the “securities | Exercise of 300,000 employee incentive options
(eg, if options, exercise price and | at 12 cents each
expiry date; if partly paid
*securities, the amount outstanding
and due dates for payment; if

*convertible securities, the
conversion price and dates for
conversion)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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4 Do the *securities rank equally in all | Yes
respects from the date of allotment
with an existing *class of quoted
*securities?

If the additional securities do not

rank equally, please state:

o the date from which they do

e the extent to which they
participate for the next dividend,
(in the case of a trust,
distribution) or interest payment

¢ the extent to which they do not
rank equally, other than in
relation to the next dividend,
distribution or interest payment

5 Issue price or consideration 12 cents per employee incentive option. Total
$36,000.00
6  Purpose of the issue Exercise of 300,000 employee incentive options

(If issued as consideration for the
acquisition of assets, clearly identify
those assets)

7 Dates of entering *securities into | 17 March 2004
uncertificated holdings or despatch
of certificates

Number *Class

8 Number and *class of all 112,117,302 EPT ordinary
*securities quoted on ASX
(including the securities in clause
2 if applicable)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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10

Number and *class of all
*securities not quoted on ASX
(including the securities in clause
2 if applicable)

Dividend policy (in the case of a
trust, distribution policy) on the
increased capital (interests)

Number

+Class

7,648,339

EpiTan Incentive
Option Plan

Ordinary shares ranking equally with existing

ordinary shares

Part 2 - Bonus issue or pro rata issue

11

16

18

19

Is security holder approval
required?

Is the issue renounceable or non-
renounceable?

Ratio in which the *securities will
be offered

*Class of *securities to which the
offer relates

*Record date to determine
entitlements

Will holdings on different registers
(or subregisters) be aggregated for
calculating entitlements?

Policy for deciding entitlements in
relation to fractions

Names of countries in which the
entity has *security holders who
will not be sent new issue
documents

Note: Security holders must be told how their
entitlements are to be dealt with.

Cross reference: rule 7.7.

Closing date for receipt of
acceptances or renunciations

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

31/03/2003
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20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

Names of any underwriters

Amount of any underwriting fee or
commission

Names of any brokers to the issue

Fee or commission payable to the
broker to the issue

Amount of any handling fee
payable to brokers who lodge
acceptances or renunciations on
behalf of *security holders

If the issue is contingent on
*security holders’ approval, the
date of the meeting

Date entitlement and acceptance
form and prospectus or Product
Disclosure Statement will be sent to
persons entitled

If the entity has issued options, and
the terms entitle option holders to
participate on exercise, the date on
which notices will be sent to option
holders

Date rights trading will begin (if
applicable)

Date rights trading will end (if
applicable)

How do *security holders sell their
entitlements in full through a
broker?

How do *security holders sell part
of their entitlements through a
broker and accept for the balance?

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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32 How do *security holders dispose
of their entitlements (except by sale
through a broker)?

33 *Despatch date

Part 3 - Quotation of securities

You need only complete this section if you are applying for quotation of securities

34 Type of securities
(tick one)

(a) Securities described in Part 1

(b) All other securities

Example: restricted securities at the end of the escrowed period, partly paid securities that become fully paid, empioyee
incentive share securities when restriction ends, securities issued on expiry or conversion of convertible securities

Entities that have ticked box 34(a)

Additional securities forming a new class of securities

Tick to indicate you are providing the information or
documents

35 D If the *securities are “equity securities, the names of the 20 largest holders of the
additional *securities, and the number and percentage of additional *securities held by
those holders

36 D If the *securities are *equity securitics, a distribution schedule of the additional
*securities setting out the number of holders in the categories
1-1,000
1,001 - 5,000
5,001 - 10,000
10,001 - 100,000
100,001 and over

37 I:I A copy of any trust deed for the additional *securities

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Entities that have ticked box 34(b)

38 Number of securities for which
*quotation is sought

39 Class of “*securities for which
quotation is sought

40 Do the *securities rank equally in all
respects from the date of allotment
with an existing “class of quoted
*securities?

If the additional securities do not

rank equally, please state:

s the date from which they do

o the extent to which they
participate for the next dividend,
(in the case of a trust,
distribution) or interest payment

o the extent to which they do not
rank equally, other than in
relation to the next dividend,
distribution or interest payment

41 Reason for request for quotation
now

Example: In the case of restricted securities, end of
restriction period

(if issued wupon conversion of
another security, clearly identify that
other security)

Number *Class

42 Number and *class of all *securities
quoted on ASX (including the
securities in clause 38)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Quotation agreement

1 *Quotation of our additional *securities is in ASX’s absolute discretion. ASX may
quote the *securities on any conditions it decides.

2 We warrant the following to ASX.

The issue of the *securities to be quoted complies with the law and is not for
an illegal purpose.

There is no reason why those *securities should not be granted *quotation.

An offer of the *securities for sale within 12 months after their issue will
not require disclosure under section 707(3) or section 1012C(6) of the
Corporations Act.

Note: An entity may need to obtain appropriate warranties from subscribers for the securities in order to be able to give
this warranty

Section 724 or section 1016E of the Corporations Act does not apply to any
applications received by us in relation to any *securities to be quoted and
that no-one has any right to return any *securities to be quoted under
sections 737, 738 or 1016F of the Corporations Act at the time that we
request that the *securities be quoted.

We warrant that if confirmation is required under section 1017F of the
Corporations Act in relation to the *securities to be quoted, it has been
provided at the time that we request that the *securities be quoted.

If we are a trust, we warrant that no person has the right to return the
*securities to be quoted under section 1019B of the Corporations Act at the
time that we request that the *securities be quoted.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

31/03/2003
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3 We will indemnify ASX to the fullest extent permitted by law in respect of any
claim, action or expense arising from or connected with any breach of the warranties
in this agreement.

4 We give ASX the information and documents required by this form. If any
information or document not available now, will give it to ASX before *quotation of

the *securities begins. We acknowledge that ASX is relying on the information and
documents. We warrant that they are (will be) true and complete.

Sign here: \M’ Date: 17 March 2004

(Birestor/Company secretary)

Print name: ILM. Kirkwood

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Tuesday 16 March 2004 lavastor Secvions
o0 Ay -1 A %13 Coputarsheca Ivestar Sandces Pry Uinitad

Aviraan Stook Exchange itady 1£R 14T oAl el Tk e

Company Announcumw@% RPORATE FIITAS Mmmmam’%

Aftertion: M5 Pam Rots Mabioime Victoria 4001 Ausiraia

Fax- 1900999 279 - 5 Pages investar Enquiiasnélslw maogg; w

Tolaphons 613 9611 5711 Chatieel tefands
Facslnsle th 3 951 5210 Gamany
wynweompuiershare.com  Hong Kong
fratand

New Zealnd
Change Of Addross Notiflcation mm
Urtited
Dear Ms Ross, Ug." -

With effect from commencement of business on 22 March 2004, the Msibourne Office of Cotnputarshane Investor
Bervicas Pty Limited (CIS) is maving:

From

Lavef 12, 565 Bourke Street, Melhourne Victorka 2000

To

Yamva Falls, 452 Johnston Street, Abbotsiord, Victorla 3067
Mgin Switshboard - 03 8415 5000

Enquines cuiside Australia - +61 3 9415 4000

Facsimile - +61 3 9473 2500

Thas postal address remains unchanged:
GPO Box 2075, Malbourne, Victotia 3001

Cur 1300 end 1300 prefixed numbars alsa remaln unchanged.

Lodgement of documentation by member organisations, security hofders, and other interested parties must be mads 0
the new adldress with effect from 22 March 2004.

Attached |5 # fist of tha clients of CIS Melbourne Office who are affacted by this move. Could you please arangs for the
detalls concaming the [ocation of the securities registars to be amended.

Should you have any further questions relating to this matter, please contact the undersigned,

Yours Sincarely,

Pgler Vaughan “
Computershare Invesior Sarvicas Pty Linited
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Adacel Technologies Limited

Admerex Limited

Advent Limited
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Ausmelt Limited ,

Austraiian Pure Fruits Limited

Alllance Resources Limited

Australian nfrastructure Fund

Australian Leisure & Hospitality Group Limited
Amcor Limited

AMRAD Corporation Limited

Amcor investmants {New Zealsod) Limited
Ansell Limited
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Anadis Limited
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Alpha Taghnologies Corporation Limited
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CPl CPI Group Limited
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CRP Cryptome Phartmaceutical Limited
CSL CSL Limitaed

CsT Celigstis Limited
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CTY Couniry Road Limited
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DNI Digital Now Inc

DPL Dally Planet Limitad, The
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EMI emiteh Limited

EPR Esseniial Petroleum Resourcas Limited
EPT Epitan Limited
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EWN Erawan Company Limited

FEA Forest Enterprises Australia Limited
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LMC Lemame Corporation Limited
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MBP Metabolic Pharmaceuticals Limited

MCH Murchison Haoldings Limited
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Half yearly report — 31 December 2003
Commentary and Highlights

For more information contact:

lain Kirkwood, Chief Administrative Officer, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620 3333
mail@epitan.com.au

www.epitan.com.au

Melbourne, Australia

Australian drug development company EpiTan Limited [ASX:EPT] is pleased
to announce its half yearly report for the six months ended 31 December
2003. A financial report and Appendix 4D follow this commentary.

Key pointsﬁ

e The clinical development of the melanin-producing drug, Melanotan®,
continues to be very successful

¢ Successful discussions with the FDA in a pre-IND meeting in October
2003. Outcomes of this meeting included an indication from the FDA
that use of Melanotan as a “prescription sunscreen” would be an
appropriate endpoint to follow. EpiTan expects to submit an IND in Q3
2004 to continue the Phase Il programme in the USA to validate this
endpoint

e The drug completed pivotal Phase llIb clinical trials in November 2003.
These trials, which used the daily aqueous injection, conclusively
demonstrated that Melanotan consistently elevated skin melanin levels
all over the body. This elevated melanin in skin type I/ll correlated with
a 50% reduction in sunburn injury as well as a significant reduction in
damage to DNA in skin cells. This is the first time that a drug has been
demonstrated to_induce a protective level of melanin_in people who
normally do not make any significant amounts of melanin. It is also the
first time that the protective elements of melanin can be clearly shown
in humans by the fact that the level of melanin could be increased in
the skin by means other than by damaging the cells with UV radiation

e A more user friendly delivery formulation of Melanotan in the form of a
single sustained-release (SR) solid injectable (or implant) was



successfully developed to replace the daily aqueous injections used in
all previous trials

* A dose escalation trial began in late November 2003 to determine the
optimal dose for the new SR solid injectable. By January 2004 better
than expected efficacy had been demonstrated. The first six volunteers,
who received the two lowest levels of Melanotan, quickly
demonstrated, a substantial increase in melanin levels. After 60 days
the volunteers still had a profound natural tan

e $9.1 million additional capital raised during the first half year
e Cash resources totalled $7.6 million at 31 December 2003
o Market capitalisation $74.9 million at 31 December 2003

Outlook

The company is now very well poised to capitalise on the excellent clinical trial
progress made during the first half of the financial year. The company's
success has continued into 2004 with the better than expected efficacy from
the SR solid injectable trial underway in Queensland. This is particularly
encouraging because, importantly, the new formulation has been shown to
work and the physical size of the SR solid injectable has been reduced
significantly to enable easier administration. The focus remains to determine
the optimal dose for the SR solid injectable and EpiTan now expects the trials
to conclude in the third quarter 2004.

The appointment of the eminent New York-based skin-cancer specialist
Professor Perry Robins as a Medical Advisory Consultant will facilitate the
expansion of EpiTan’s clinical trials into the USA and Europe this year. He is
also introducing the company to a select group of large pharmaceutical
companies with whom Epitan will be actively discussing partnering
arrangements. This is a key corporate objective in 2004 to assist, inter alia,
with the funding of Phase lll trials.

Considerable interest is now being shown by several large pharmaceutical
companies and discussions have opened on a number of fronts.

A clinical trial to determine the prophylactic effect of Melanotan on reducing
the clinical symptoms related to Polymorphous Light Eruption (‘PMLE") has
received ethics committee approval and is scheduled to commence at two
sites in Germany in March 2004.

The planned Phase lll trials will be the final piece of Melanotan's exhaustive
clinical programme. They will be multi-centred and worldwide studies under
the auspices of the regulatory authorities of Australia, USA and Europe. It is
planned to submit marketing applications for Melanotan in parallel in all of the
major world markets.

-End-
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damage to DNA in skin cells. This is the first time that a drug has been
demonstrated to induce a protective level of melanin in people who
normally do not make any significant amounts of melanin. It is also the
first time that the protective elements of melanin can be clearly shown
in humans by the fact that the level of melanin could be increased in
the skin by means other than by damaging the cells with UV radiation
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successfully developed to replace the daily aqueous injections used in
all previous trials

e A dose escalation trial began in late November 2003 to determine the
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than expected efficacy had been demonstrated. The first six volunteers,
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progress made during the first half of the financial year. The company’s
success has continued into 2004 with the better than expected efficacy from
the SR solid injectable trial underway in Queensland. This is particularly
encouraging because, importantly, the new formulation has been shown to
work and the physical size of the SR solid injectable has been reduced
significantly to enable easier administration. The focus remains to determine
the optimal dose for the SR soilid injectable and EpiTan now expects the trials
to conclude in the third quarter 2004.

The appointment of the eminent New York-based skin-cancer specialist
Professor Perry Robins as a Medical Advisory Consultant will facilitate the
expansion of EpiTan’s clinical trials into the USA and Europe this year. He is
also introducing the company to a select group of large pharmaceutical
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with the funding of Phase Ill trials.

Considerable interest is now being shown by several large pharmaceutical
companies and discussions have opened on a number of fronts.

A clinical trial to determine the prophylactic effect of Melanotan on reducing
the clinical symptoms related to Polymorphous Light Eruption (“PMLE”) has
received ethics committee approval and is scheduied to commence at two
sites in Germany in March 2004.
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planned to submit marketing applications for Melanotan in parallel in all of the
major world markets.

-End-



Appendix 4D

Half Yearly Report
Half Year Ended 31 December 2003

Name of entity

EPITAN LIMITED

ABN or equivalent company Half year ended (‘current period’)
reference
88 089 644 119 31 December 2003

(Previous coerresponding
period: 31 December 2002)

Results for announcement to the market

$A'000
Revenues from ordinary activities Up 96% to 168
Profit (loss) from ordinary activities Down 103% to (3,807)
after tax attributable to members
Net profit (loss) for the period Down 103% to (3,807)
attributable to members
Dividends (distributions) Amount per security Franked amount per

security

Final dividend * *Nil ¢ *Nil ¢
interim dividend *Nil ¢ *Nil ¢

*EpiTan Limited has not paid any dividends during the 2003 financial year.

Previous corresponding period (30 Nil ¢ Nil ¢
June 2002)
Record date for determining N/A N/A

entitlements to the dividend

Brief explanation of any of the figures reported above and short details of any bonus
or cash issue or other item(s) of importance not previously released to the market:
¢ Not applicable



Commentary on Results

For commentary on the results of EpiTan Limited refer to the Half-Year Report
in conjunction with the details and explanations provided herewith.

Ratios and Other measures

NTA backing Current period Previous
corresponding
period

Net tangible asset backing per ordinary
security 6 cents 4 cents

Additional Disclosure

As per ASX listing rule 4.2A.3, for the six month period ending 31 December 2003:



Control gained over entities having material effect

Name of entity (or group of entities) [ N/A

Consolidated profit (loss) from ordinary activities and
extraordinary items after tax of the controlled entity (or
groups of entities) since the date in the current period
on which control was +acquired

Date from which such profit has been calculated
Profit (loss) from ordinary activities and extraordinary
items after tax of the controlled entity 9or group of

entities) fro the whole of the previous corresponding
period

Loss of control of entities having material effect

N/A

[ N/A

N/A

Name of entity (or group of entities) | N/A

Consolidated profit (loss) from ordinary activities and
extraordinary items after tax of the controlled entity (or
group of entities) for the current period to the date of
foss of control

Date to which the profit (loss) has been calculated

Consolidated profit (loss) from ordinary activities and
extra ordinary items after tax of the controlled entity
(or group of entities) while controlled during the whole
of the previous corresponding period

N/A

| N/A

N/A




Dividends (in the case of a trust, distributions)

Date the dividend (distribution) is
payable

+Record date determine entitlements
to the dividend (distribution) (ie, on the
basis of proper instruments of transfer
received by 5.00pm if +securities are
not +CHESS approved, or security
holding balances established by
5.00pm or such later time permitted by
SCH business Rules if +securities are
+CHESS approved)

If it is a final dividend, has it been
declared?

N/A

N/A

N/A

Details of aggregate share of profits (losses) of associates and joint venture

entities

Group’s share of associates’ and
joint ventures entities’:

Profit (loss} from ordinary activities
before tax

Income tax on ordinary activities

Profit (loss) from ordinary activities
after tax

Extraordinary items net of tax
Net profit (loss)
Adjustments

Share of net profit (loss) of
associates and joint venture entities

Current Period Previous

$A'000 Corresponding
period - $A’'000

N/A N/A

N/A N/A

N/A N/A

N/A N/A

N/A N/A

N/A N/A

N/A N/A
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EPITAN LIMITED
A.B.N. 88 089 644 119
AND CONTROLLED ENTITY

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Your directors present their report on the company and its controlled entity for the half year ended 31
December 2003.

DIRECTORS
The names of directors in office at any time during or since the end of the half year are:

Dr W.A. Millen

Dr H.P.K. Agersborg
Dr T.E. Winters

Mr S.R. McLiesh

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless
otherwise stated.

REVIEW AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Highlights for the half year period

e The clinical development of the melanin-producing drug, Melanotan®, continues to be very
successful

¢ Successful discussions with the FDA in a pre-IND meeting in October 2003. Outcomes of this
meeting included an indication from the FDA that use of Melanotan as a "prescription sunscreen”
would be an appropriate endpoint to follow. EpiTan expects to submit an IND in Q3 2004 to
continue the Phase Il programme in the USA to validate this endpoint

e The drug completed pivotal Phase lIb clinical trials in November 2003. These trials, which used
the daily aqueous injection, conclusively demonstrated that Melanotan consistently elevated skin
melanin levels all over the body. This elevated melanin in skin type l/ll correlated with a 50%
reduction in sunburn injury as well as a significant reduction in damage to DNA in skin cells. This
is the first time that a drug has been demonstrated to induce a protective level of melanin in
people who normally do not make any significant amounts of melanin. It is also the first time that
the protective elements of melanin can be clearly shown in humans by the fact that the level of
melanin could be increased in the skin by means other than by damaging the cells with UV
radiation

e A more user friendly delivery formulation of Melanotan in the form of a single sustained-release
(SR) solid injectable (or implant) was successfully developed to replace the daily aqueous
injections used in all previous trials

s A dose escalation trial began in late November 2003 to determine the optimal dose for the new
SR solid injectable. By January 2004 better than expected efficacy had been demonstrated. The
first six volunteers, who received the two lowest levels of Melanotan, quickly demonstrated, a
substantial increase in melanin levels. After 60 days the volunteers still had a profound natural
tan

¢ $9.1 million additional capital raised during the first half year
e Cash resources totalled $7.6 million at 31 December 2003
¢ Market capitalisation $74.9 million at 31 December 2003
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EPITAN LIMITED

A.B.N. 88 089 644 119
AND CONTROLLED ENTITY

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors:

Al Y

S.R. MCLIESH W.A. MILLEN
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

Dated this 25™ day of February, 2004.



EPITAN LIMITED
A.B.N. 88 089 644 119
AND CONTROLLED ENTITY
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

FOR THE HALF YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003

Consolidated

Note 31 31
December December
2003 2002
$ $
Revenues from ordinary activities 2 168,066 85,617
Total expenses from ordinary activities 2 (3,975,081) (1,956,553)
Profit(loss) from ordinary activities before (3,807,015) (1,870,936)
related income tax expense
Income tax expense (benefit) relating to - -
ordinary activities
Profit{loss) from ordinary activities after (3,807,015) (1,870,936)
related income tax expense
Net profit(loss) (3,807,015) (1,870,936)
Net profit(loss) attributable to members of
EpiTan Limited (3,807,015) (1,870,936)
Total changes in equity other than those
resulting from transactions with owners as (3,807,015) (1,870,936)

owners

Basic earnings per share - cents per share (3.6) (2.1)
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EPITAN LIMITED
A.B.N. 88 089 644 119
AND CONTROLLED ENTITY
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2003

Consolidated

31 30
December June
2003 2003
$ $
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash assets 4,568,479 2,611,853
Receivables 10,545 30,832
Investments 2,982,283 -
Other 73,439 105,643
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 7,634,746 2,748,328
NON CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 141,236 147,176
Intangible assets 4,810,252 5,170,662
TOTAL NON CURRENT ASSETS 4,951,488 5,317,838
TOTAL ASSETS 12,586,234 8,066,166
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables 551,506 465,826
Provisions 83,047 69,625
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 634,553 535,451
TOTAL LIABILITIES 634,553 535,451
NET ASSETS 11,951,681 7,530,715
EQUITY
Contributed equity 24,808,422 16,580,441
Accumulated losses (12,856,741)  (9,049,726)

TOTAL EQUITY 11,951,681 7,530,715
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EPITAN LIMITED
A.B.N. 88 089 644 119
AND CONTROLLED ENTITY
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE HALF YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003

Consolidated

31 31
December December
2003 2002
$ $

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Refund from ATO 194,781 25,313
Payments to suppliers and employees (3,602,344) (1,533,014)
Interest received 145,274 102,205
Net cash provided by (used in) operating (3,262,289) {1,405,496)
activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Payments for property, plant and (13,545) (567,863)
equipment
Payments for trademarks (10,742) (3,558)
Payments for patents (2,496) -
Payments for investments (2,982,283) -
Net cash provided by (used in) investing (3,009,066) (61,421)
activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 9,108,237 -
Payment of share issue costs ~ (880,256) -
Net cash provided by (used in) financing 8,227,981 -
activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 1,956,626 (1,466,917)
Cash at beginning of the year 2,611,853 4,414,100

Cash at end of the year 4,568,479 2,947,183
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EPITAN LIMITED
A.B.N. 88 089 644 119
AND CONTROLLED ENTITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE HALF YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE HALF YEAR FINANCIAL
REPORT

The half-year financial report does not inciude all notes of the type
normally included within the annual financial report and therefore cannot
be expected to provide as full an understanding of the financial
performance, financial position and financing and investing activities of
the consolidated entity as the fuli financial report.

The half-year financial report should be read in conjunction with the
Annua! Financial report of EpiTan Limited as at 30 June 2003. It is also
recommended that the half-year financial report be considered together
with any public announcements made by EpiTan Limited and its
controlled entities during the half-year ended 31 December 2003 in
accordance with the continuous disclosure obligations arising under the
Corporations Act 2001.

(a) Basis of accounting

The half-year financial report is a general purpose financial report that has
been prepared in accordance with Accounting Standards, Urgent Issues
Group Consensus Views, other authoritative pronouncements of the
Australian Accountancy Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001.
The half-year financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and
is based on historical costs and does not take into account changing
money values or, except where stated, current valuations of non current
assets. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in
exchange for assets. The accounting policies applied in this report are
consistent with those applied in the 30 June 2003 Annual Financial
Report.

For the purpose of preparing the half-year financial report, the half-year
has been treated as a discrete reporting period.
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EPITAN LIMITED
A.B.N. 88 089 644 119
AND CONTROLLED ENTITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE HALF YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003

Consolidated

31 3
December December
2003 2002
$ $

2. PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM ORDINARY
ACTIVITIES

(a) Specific Items

Profit/(loss) from ordinary
activities before income tax
expense includes the following
revenue and expenses whose
disclosure is relevant in explaining
the financial performance of the
entity.

(i) Revenues from ordinary
activities

Interest revenue — other persons 168,066 85,617

(ii) Expenses from ordinary
activities

Depreciation 19,485 22,284
Amortisation of sub-licence 373,649 373,649
Research & development costs 880,461 940,372
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EPITAN LIMITED
A.B.N. 88 089 644 119
AND CONTROLLED ENTITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE HALF YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003

3. DIVIDENDS PAID OR PROVIDED FOR ON ORDINARY SHARES
No dividends have been paid or provided for in either the half year or prior reporting
periods.

4, SEGMENT INFORMATION

The economic entity operates solely in the biotechnology industry. The economic
entity operates predominantly in Australia.
5. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The economic entity has no material contingent assets or liabilities. This is
consistent with the last annual reporting date.
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EPITAN LIMITED
A.B.N. 88 089 644 119
AND CONTROLLED ENTITY

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

In the opinion of the directors:

1. the financial statements and notes, of the company and of the

consolidated entity, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:

(a) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and the
consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31 December 2003
and of their performance for the half year ended on that date;

(b) complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations
Regulations 2001; and

2. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able
to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of
Directors.

A AL WA

S.R. MCLIESH W.AMILLEN
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

Dated this 25" day of February, 2004.



o William Buck

Busiaess Aovisors
Chartered Accovnlants

INDEPENDENT REVIEW REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF EPITAN LIMITED & CONTROLLED ENTITY

Scope

We have reviewed the half year financial report of Epitan Limited & controlied entity for the half year
ended 31 December 2003 comprising the Consolidated Statement of Financial Performance,
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, Consoclidated Statement of Cash Flows, notes to and
forming part of the financial statements and the Directors’ Declaration.

The half year financial report includes the financial statements of the consolidated entity comprising the
disclosing entity and the entities it controlled at the end of the halfyear or from time to time during the
half-year. The disclosing entity’s directors are responsible for the half year financial report.

We have performed an independent review of the half year financia! report in order to state whether, on
the basis of procedures described, anything has come to our attention that would indicate that the half
year financial report is not presented fairly in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 1029: Interim
Financial Reporting and other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia and statutory
requirements, so as to present a view which is consistent with our understanding of the consolidated
entity’s financial position, and performance as represented by the results of its operations and its cash
flows, and in order for the disclosing entity to meet its obligations to lodge the financial report with the
Australian Securities and investments Commission.

Our review has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards applicable to review
engagements. A review is limited primarily to inquiries of the entity’s personnel and analytical
procedures applied to the financial data. These procedures do not provide all the evidence that would be
required in an audit, thus the level of assurance is less than given in an audit. We have not performed
an audit and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

Statement
Based on our review, which is not an audit, we have not become aware of any matter that makes us
believe that the half-year financial report, as defined in the scope section of Epitan Limited & controlied
entity is not in accordance with:
(a) the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31 December
2003 and of its performance for the haltyear ended on that date; and
(i  complying with Accounting Standard AASB 1029: Interim Financial Reporting and the
Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia.

/7 WMF”//
MM BUCK Ken Glynn |
hartered Accountants Partner

Dated this 25™ day of February 2004
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Implant trial exceeds expectation_

For more information contact:

lain Kirkwood, Chief Administrative Officer, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
Renate Krelle, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620 3333
mail@epitan.com.au

www.epitan.com.au

Melbourne, Australia

EpiTan Limited [ASX:EPT] today announced better than expected efficacy in its
implant dose escalation trial which commenced in November 2003. The first six
volunteers, who received the two lowest levels of the melanin-producing drug
Melanotan®, quickly demonstrated, a substantial increase in melanin levels. After 60
days the volunteers still had a profound natural tan.

The trial is being conducted at Q-Pharm, which is based at the Clive Berghofer
Cancer Research Centre at the Queensland Institute of Medical Research (QIMR) in
Queensland.

The objective of the trial is to determine an optimal dose for a long-acting implant, as
well as safety, compliance and efficacy.

Dr Stuart Humphrey, Clinical Development Manager at EpiTan, said: “We are
delighted that the implants have worked so well and so quickly in these first
volunteers. However, we didn’t anticipate that so little drug would be needed to
achieve increased melanin levels. The dose escalation study to determine the
optimal dose has been amended to use smaller implants containing much less drug.”

Mr Michael Kleinig, Pharmaceutical and Business Development Manager, said: “This
is good news because less than one tenth of the drug is likely to be required
compared to the amount used in last year’'s successful Phase Il aqueous injection
trial. This translates into substantial cost benefits for the product ‘when
commercialised. A new batch of implants containing a lower dose range is now being
produced.”

EpiTan now expects the implant trials to conclude in the third quarter 2004. An IND
application is still on schedule to be lodged with the USA Food and Drug
Administration in mid 2004.

ABOUT THE COMPANY: EpiTan Limited (ASX: EPT) is an emerging biotechnology
company with a pre-eminent position on the prevention of DNA and skin damage
from ultra-violet (UV) radiation exposure. Based in Melbourne, Australia, EpiTan
holds a unique technology platform centred on its ieading drug candidate Melanoctan,
one of a new breed of pharmacogenomic drugs.



The company has the exclusive worldwide rights to develop Melanotan which, like
sunlight, stimulates the production of melanin in the skin or “melanogenesis” — a
unique biochemical process. However, and most importantly, the body’s melanin
levels are increased before exposure to harmful UV radiation. This will become a
new photo-protective tool which will be of significant benefit to people with fair skin
types who are most at risk of sunburn injury and therefore of developing skin
cancers.

To date the clinical development of Melanotan has been very successful and has
now progressed through to the completion in November 2003 of pivotal Phase llb
clinical trials in Australia. These trials conclusively demonstrated that Melanotan
consistently elevated skin melanin levels all over the body. This elevated melanin in
skin type I/ll correlated with a 50% reduction in sunburn injury. A significant reduction
in the damage to DNA in the skin cells was also measured. This is the first time that a
drug has been demonstrated to induce a protective level of melanin in people who
normally cannot be induced to make any significant amounts of melanin. It is also the
first time that the protective elements of melanin can be clearly shown in vivo by the
fact that the leve! of melanin could be increased in the skin by means other than by
damaging the cells with UV radiation.

EpiTan has now successfully developed a more user-friendly drug delivery
formulation of Melanotan in the form of a slow release implant. The implant is
injected under the skin and is designed to release the drug at a low level over several
days. The single daily aqueous injections used in all previous trials resulted in a high
initial dose which rapidly reduced to zero after a few hours. The implant is made from
the same material as is used in self-dissolving stitches, is biodegradable and does
not have to be removed at the end of the treatment. The implant will be used in the
remaining clinical programme and the commercialised product.

The company expects to lodge an Investigational New Drug (IND) application with
the Food and Drug Administration in order to open the path for sunburn injury clinical
trials in the United States starting in mid 2004.

EpiTan is also investigating Melanotan as a therapeutic agent for UV-induced skin
allergies such as PMLE and solar urticaria. PMLE is a significant UV-induced skin
allergy in northern latitudes and the company expects to begin trials in Europe in
early 2004 to examine the ability of Melanotan to alleviate or cure this disorder.

Potential markets worldwide for Melanotan for dermatology purposes are estimated
at US$2.5 billion. An even greater market (more than US$5 billion) exists for
Melanotan as a new safe (prescription) sunscreen drug.

-End-
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EpiTan appoints New York Professor of ppqmatql@%y,as
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Medical Advisory Consultant CORPORATE FINAK

For more information contact:

lain Kirkwood, Chief Administrative Officer, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
Renate Krelle, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620 3333
mail@epitan.com.au

www.epitan.com.au

Melbourne, Australia

Drug-development company EpiTan Limited (ASX:EPT) today announced that the
eminent New York-based skin-cancer specialist Dr Perry Robins had joined the
company as a Medical Advisory Consultant.

Dr Robins is Professor of Dermatology and Chief of the Mohs Micrographic Surgery Unit
at New York University Medical Centre. He will work with EpiTan to develop its
Melanotan technology.

Dr Wayne Millen, Managing Director of EpiTan, said he was delighted to welcome a
person of Dr Robins’ calibre and international standing to the company.

“Dr Robins’ eminent position in dermatology will facilitate the expansion of EpiTan’s
clinical trials into the USA and Europe this year,” said Dr Millen. “We will be actively
pursuing partnering opportunities now that we have conclusive Phase | & |l data
showing that Melanotan can reduce sunburn injury.”

Dr Robins said: "I contacted EpiTan to get involved as | believe that the Melanotan
technology will save lives. Results of the recent Phase Il clinical trial clearly
demonstrated that increased levels of melanin protect skin from UV damage. The
ability to increase the levels of melanin in the skin safely, combined with sunscreen
use, will provide individuals with greater protection from the damaging effects of UV
radiation."

Dr Robins has practised as a dermatologist for more than 35 years. He is founder
and president of the Skin Cancer Foundation, an international organisation dedicated
to skin cancer research and public and medical education. The Advisory Board and
Medical Councils of the Skin Cancer Foundation comprise more than 144 leading
international physicians who are distinguished members of the scientific and medical
communities and members of the business and professional sectors

Dr Robins is also the founder/president of the International Society of Dermatologic
Surgery, founder/former president of the American College of Mohs Micrographic
Surgery, and former president of the American Society of Dermatologic Surgery.



ABOUT THE COMPANY: EpiTan Limited (ASX: EPT) is an emerging biotechnology
company with a pre-eminent position on the prevention of DNA and skin damage
from UV) radiation exposure. Based in Melbourne, Australia, EpiTan holds a unique
technology platform centred on its leading drug candidate Melanotan, one of a new
breed of pharmacogenomic drugs.

The company has the exclusive worldwide rights to develop Melanotan that, like
sunlight, stimulates the production of melanin in the skin or “melanogenesis” — a
unique biochemical process. However, and most importantly, the body’s melanin
levels are increased before exposure to harmful UV radiation. This will become a
new photo-protective tool which will be of significant benefit to people with fair skin
who are most at risk of sunburn injury and therefore of developing skin cancers.

To date the clinical development of Melanotan has been very successful and has
now progressed through to the completion in November 2003 of pivotal Phase IIb
clinical trials in Australia. These trials conclusively demonstrated that Melanotan
consistently elevated skin melanin levels all over the body. This elevated melanin in
skin type I/ll correlated with a 50% reduction in sunburn injury. A significant reduction
in the damage to DNA in the skin cells was also measured. This is the first time that a
drug has been demonstrated to induce a protective level of melanin in people who
normally cannot be induced to make any significant amounts of melanin. It is also the
first time that the protective elements of melanin can be clearly shown in vivo by the
fact that the level of melanin could be increased in the skin by means other than by
damaging the cells with UV radiation.

EpiTan has now successfully developed a more user-friendly drug delivery
formulation of Melanotan in the form of a slow release implant. A clinical trial to
determine the optimal dose is currently being conducted by Q-Pharm in Brisbane.
The implant will be used in the remaining clinical programme and the commercialised
product.

The company expects to lodge an Investigational New Drug (IND) application with
the Food and Drug Administration in order to open the path for sunburn injury clinical
trials in the United States starting in mid 2004,

EpiTan is also investigating Melanotan as a therapeutic agent for UV-induced skin
allergies such as PMLE and solar urticaria. PMLE is a significant UV-induced skin
allergy in northern latitudes and the company expects to begin trials in Europe in
early 2004 to examine the ability of Melanotan to alleviate or cure this disorder.

Potential markets worldwide for Melanotan for dermatology purposes are estimated

at US$2.5 billion. An even greater market (more than US$5 billion) exists for
Melanotan as a new safe (prescription) sunscreen drug.

-End-
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admitted on the basis of commitments

I3 :41
QW?ATEOHF"”

Appendix 4C

Quarterly report

for entities admitted

on the basis of commitments

Introduced 31/3/2000. Amended 30/9/2001

Name of entity

Rule 4.78

EPITAN LIMITED

ABN

Fa 089 644 119

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Cash flows related to operating activities

1.1

1.2

1.3
1.4

— et e
~} N W

Receipts from customers
Payments for (a) staff costs

(b) advertising and marketing
(c) research and development
(d) leased assets

(e) other working capital

Dividends received
Interest and other items of a similar nature
received

Interest and other costs of finance paid
Income taxes paid
Other (GST refunds)

Net operating cash flows

Quarter ended (“current quarter”)

31 December 2003

Current quarter

Year to date

$A°000 (6 months)
$A°000
(210) (291)
(1,515) (2,364)
(327) (1,716)
131 167
87 180
(1,834) (4,024)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

311272003

Appendix 4C Page 1



Appendix 4C
Quarterly report for entities
admitted on the basis of commitments

Current quarter Year to date
$A°000 (6 months)
$A°000
1.8 Net operating cash flows (carried forward) (1,834) (4,024)
Cash flows related to investing activities
1.9 Payment for acquisition of:
(a) businesses (item 5) - -
(b) equity investments - -
(c) intellectual (13) (13)
property
(d} physical non- (7 (14)
current assets
(e) other non-current - -
assets
1.10  Proceeds from disposal of:
(a) businesses (item 5) - -
(b) equity investments - -
(c) intellectual - .
property
(d) physical non- - -
current assets
(e) other non-current - -
assets
1.11 Loans to other entities - -
. Loans repaid by other entities - -
1.13  Other (provide details if material) - -
Net investing cash flows (20) 27)
1.14 Total operating and investing cash flows (1,854) (4,051)
Cash flows related to financing activities
1.15 Proceeds from issues of shares, options, etc. 42 8,990
1.16  Proceeds from sale of forfeited shares - -
1.17  Proceeds from borrowings - -
1.18  Repayment of borrowings - -
1.19 Dividends paid - -
1.20  Other (provide details if material) - -
Net financing cash flows 42 8,990
Net increase (decrease) in cash held (1,812) 4,939
1.21 Cash at beginning of quarter/year to date 9,363 2,612
1.22  Exchange rate adjustments to item 1.20 - -
1.23  Cash at end of quarter 7551 7,551

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

31/12/2003

Appendix 4C Page 2




Appendix 4C
Quarterly report for entities
admitted on the basis of commitments

Payments to directors of the entity and associates of the directors

Payments to related entities of the entity and associates of the related entities

Current quarter
$A'000

1.24 Aggregate amount of payments to the parties included in item 1.2 164

1.25 Aggregate amount of loans to the parties included in item 1.11 (see note 1)

1.26 Explanation necessary for an understanding of the transactions

Non-cash financing and investing activities

2.1  Details of financing and investing transactions which have had a material effect on consolidated
assets and liabilities but did not involve cash flows

2.2 Details of outlays made by other entities to establish or increase their share in businesses in which
the reporting entity has an interest

Financing facilities available
Add notes as necessary for an understanding of the position. (See AASB 1026 paragraph 12.2).

Amount available Amount used
$A°000 $A°000
3.1 Loan facilities - -

3.2 Credit standby arrangements - -

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

31/12/2003 Appendix 4C Page 3



Appendix 4C
Quarterly report for entities
admitted on the basis of commitments

Reconciliation of cash

Reconciliation of cash at the end of the quarter (as | Current quarter Previous quarter
shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows) to | $A°000 $A°000
the related items in the accounts is as follows.
4.1 Cash on hand and at bank 1,031 256
4.2 Deposits at call 3,538 9107
43  Bank overdraft ) -
. . . . . 2,982 -
4.4  Other (including bank bills & income security)
Total: cash at end of quarter (item 1.22) 7,551 9,363
Acquisitions and disposals of business entities
Acquisitions Disposals
(Item 1.9(a)) (Item 1.10(a))

5.1  Name of entity - -

5.2 Place of incorporation | - -
or registration
5.3  Consideration for - -
acquisition or disposal
5.4  Total net assets - -

55 Nature of business - -

Compliance statement

1 This statement has been prepared under accounting policies which comply with
accounting standards as defined in the Corporations Act (except to the extent that
information is not required because of note 2) or other standards acceptable to ASX.

2 This statement does /does-net* (delete one) give a true and fair view of the matters
disclosed.

Sign here: EMW ' Date: 30 January 2004

(Birester/Company secretary)

Print name: lain Kirkwood

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

31/12/2003 Appendix 4C Page 4



Appendix 4C
Quarterly report for entities
admitted on the basis of commitments

Notes

1. The quarterly report provides a basis for informing the market how the entity's
activities have been financed for the past quarter and the effect on its cash position.
An entity wanting to disclose additional information is encouraged to do so, in a note
or notes attached to this report.

2, The definitions in, and provisions of, AASB 1026: Statement of Cash Flows apply to
this report except for the paragraphs of the Standard set out below.

] 6.2 - reconciliation of cash flows arising from operating activities to
operating profit or loss

. 9.2 -itemised disclosure relating to acquisitions

o 9.4  -itemised disclosure relating to disposals

o 12.1(a)- policy for classification of cash items

. 12.3 - disclosure of restrictions on use of cash

. 13.1 - comparative information

3. Accounting Standards. ASX will accept, for example, the use of International
Accounting Standards for foreign entities. If the standards used do not address a
topic, the Australian standard on that topic (if any) must be complied with.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 3Y
Change of Director’s Interest Notice

2 ECEQ v E'D Rule 3.194.2
a1 A %3 Appendix 3Y

OF MTERHAT! DML
- oSy
Ry aPORATE FCimnge of Director’s Interest Notice

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information and
documents given to ASX become ASX’s property and may be made public.

Introduced 30/9/2001.
ame of entity EPITAN LIMITED
IABN 88 089 644 119

We (the entity) give ASX the following information under listing rule 3.19A.2 and as agent for the
director for the purposes of section 205G of the Corporations Act.

Name of Director Wayne Millen

Date of last notice 4 July 2003

Part 1 - Change of director’s relevant interests in securities
In the case of a trust, this includes interests in the trust made available by the responsible entity of the trust

Note: In the case of a company, interests which come within paragraph (i) of the definition of “notifiable interest of a director” should be
discloscd in this part.

Direct or indirect interest Indirect - 19,656,144
Direct - 10.000
Nature of indirect interest Weighton Pty Ltd (trustee of Millen Family
(including registered holder) Trust)
Note: Provide details of the circumstances giving rise to the relevant
interest.
Date of change 17 December 2003
No. of securities held prior to change 19,666,144
Class Ordinary Shares Fully Paid (“EPT”)
Number acquired Nil
Number disposed 1,398,269
Value/Consideration $435,000
Note: If consideration is non-cash, provide details and estimated
valuation
No. of securities held after change 18,267,875

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

11/3/2002 Appendix 3Y Page 1



Appendix 3Y
Change of Director’s Interest Notice

Nature of change
Example: on-market trade, off-market trade, exercise of options, issuc of
securities under dividend reinvestment plan, participation in buy-back

On market trade - 250,000
Off market trade - 1,148,269

Part 2 — Change of director’s interests in contracts

Note: In the case of a company, interests which come within paragraph (ii) of the definition of “notifiable interest of a director” should be

disclosed in this part,

Detail of contract -

Nature of interest -

Name of registered holder -
(if issued securities)

Date of change -

No. and class of securities to | -
which interest related prior to
change

Note: Details arc only required for a contract in relation
to which the interest has changed

Interest acquired -

Interest disposed -

Value/Consideration -
Note: If consideration is non-cash, provide details and
an estimated valuation

Interest after change -

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

Appendix 3Y Page 2

11/3/2002




RECEIVED

Media Release oy -1 A % 13

con A TIONAL

Sunburn Trial Results Show Drug Can Reduce Sun‘lB@@fqﬁ,’éjEkSﬂ"oa (] 43
Fair-Skinned People, says Trial Head

Friday 28 November 2003: Fair-skinned people — who traditionally burn the most in the sun - benefited most from

an anti-sunburn drug which has finished Phase Il human trials, the Professor of Dermatology at Sydney University
said today.

Professor Ross Barnetson - a world authority in the field of photobiology, ultraviolet skin damage and the
immunology of skin tumours — ran the Phase Il human trials at Sydney University, alongside a concurrent trial at
Royal Adelaide Hospital. Eighty volunteers took part in the trial,

Results of the trial into the drug Melanotan - which stimulates the production of melanin in the skin - showed that;

There was a highly-significant increase in skin melanin in Melanotan-treated volunteers

Fairer-skin people (Types I/ll) recorded increases in melanin of up to 100% in some areas

Sunburn injury was reduced by more than 50% in the fair- skinned volunteers

People vastly underestimated their natural skin-protection levels. Only 7% of volunteers thought they had
Fitzpatrick Skin Type | (always burns/ never tans). The real number was 36%

“The aim of the trial was to determine how Melanotan could reduce the degree and toxicity of sunburn in 80 healthy
volunteers exposed to ultraviolet light both before and after a regime of the drug,” said Professor Bametson, “The
fair-skinned people who took Melanotan had half the skin damage after the study compared to before the study. The
results showed that fair-skinned people who have developed a tan are less likely to burn.”

The drug was administered daily for ten days in each of three consecutive months. Twenty volunteers received
placebos. The volunteers, of varying skin types, received controlled levels of UVA and UVB radiation onto a small
area of skin resulting in a leve! of burning similar to spending 30-120 minutes in strong sun without sunscreen. A skin
biopsy was taken from each to measure the leve! of resulting sunbum injury. The volunteers then received a regime
of Melanotan, the same UV radiation exposure, and another skin biopsy.

A volunteer in the trial, Rachel Preece, a 25-year-old medical student, said that the drug gave her an even, al-over
tan. She said she recognised the protective elements of the tan. “I am not a sun-lover and don't go on the beach
often. Being a medical student | see a lot of bad effects of sun-baking with skin cancers. | would take this drug if it
was commercialised.”

Professor Alan Cooper, Head of the Department of Dermatology at Sydney's Royal North Shore Hospital, said: |
think its reasonable that we can consider Melanotan to be an internal sunscreen. Melanin is the body’s natural
sunscreen and this is a way of increasing the amount of melanin we have.”

Dr Wayne Millen, Managing Director of EpiTan - the biotechnology company developing Melanotan - said he was
delighted with the results. “The results improve our chances of commercialising the word's first prescription
sunscreen. There is no other product available today to prevent sunburn apart from sunscreen. We expect Melanotan
to be especially beneficial to those people with fair skin types who are most at risk of sunburn injury and therefore of
developing skin cancers.”

EpiTan recently announced that, following a successful meeting with the United States Food & Drug Administration, it
would lodge an Investigational New Drug application in mid-2004. Clinical trials for a newly-developed long-acting
implant has begun at Q-Pharm in Queensland. This trial is expected to conclude in May 2004,

For more information contact:

Professor Ross Barnetson, Sydney University, 02 9515-6861

Mr lain Kirkwood, Chief Administrative Officer, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662-4688 or 0408 473 496
Mr Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620-3333 or 0403 493 049

A media conference will be held at Sydney University at 9.30am on Friday 28 November in Room 672, Blackburn
Building.
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Friday, 28 November 2003
Company Announcement

Phase Il clinical trial with Melanotan® shows significant reduction in sunburn
injury

For more information contact:

Dr Wayne Millen, Managing Director, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688

Mr lain Kirkwood, Chief Administrative Officer, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
Mr Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620 3333
mail@epitan.com.au

www.epitan.com.au

Melbourne, Australia

EpiTan Limited (ASX:EPT) today announced final results from its definitive sunburn
clinical trial. The trial’'s key objective of demonstrating the effectiveness of Melanotan
on reducing sunburn injury by increasing melanin density was achieved. For the first
time, results showed that, in particular, in fair-skinned volunteers, a drug could
achieve a 50% reduction in sunburn injury following exposure to UV radiation.

A major effect of sunburn injury is DNA and skin damage.

Trial data was examined by Professor Ross Barnetson, head of dermatology at the
Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, Sydney, a leading hospital in Australia for clinical
research. Professor Barnetson is a world authority in the field of photobiology,
ultraviolet skin damage and the immunology of skin tumours.

Key findings from the data were:

¢ A highly significant increase in skin melanin was seen in Melanotan-treated
volunteers compared to placebo at all body sites measured.

¢ Melanin density increases, as high as 100% percent, were observed in
fairer skin volunteers, in particular.

s Sunburn injury, as induced with solar-simulated UV radiation, was reduced
by more than 50% in the fair-skinned volunteers.

The trial was performed at Sydney’s Royal Prince Alfred Hospital and the Royal
Adelaide Hospital. The double blind, randomised, placebo-controlled comparative
study involved 81 Caucasian volunteers, 48 males and 33 females.

Prior to receiving Melanotan, the volunteers were subjected to controlled levels of
UVA and UVB radiation onto a small area of skin resulting in a level of burning similar



to spending 30 — 120 minutes in strong sun without sunscreen. A skin biopsy was
taken to measure the level of resulting sunburn injury.

After the volunteers had received the regime of Melanotan, they were re-exposed to
the same amount of UV radiation and a second skin biopsy was taken. Melanin

density levels at various skin sites were monitored throughout the three-month study
period.

An analysis of the skin types revealed that several genotypes in the volunteer
population were specifically identified as having a higher risk of developing skin
cancer. These subjects performed better than the normal population after taking
Melanotan.

Following this successful sunburn injury trial, a new provisional patent has been filed.

Dr Stuart Humphrey, Clinical Development Manager of EpiTan, said, "it is estimated
that 20% of the world’s Caucasian population have skin types that produce low levels
of melanin and are therefore very susceptible to sunburn injury following exposure to
UV radiation. By using Melanotan these skin types are now able to reduce sunburn
injury significantly by increasing their melanin density.”

Dr Wayne Millen, EpiTan’s Managing Director, said, “we are obviously delighted with
these results, as there is no ethical or OTC product available to prevent sunburn
injury other than sunscreens. We know from the results of the RAFT report, recently
published in the UK, some sunscreens may fall short of the protection expected.
Now, by using Melanotan, it has been shown that fair-skinned people can reduce
sunburn injury by as much as 50%. This is a huge advance, and when used in
conjunction with existing skin protection methods, should ensure that people have
the ability to protect themselves better from the harmful effects of UV radiation.

The worldwide potential market for Melanotan is significant, either as a new
prescription-based sunscreen or sunless tanning product. EpiTan is now in a very
select group of Australian biotechnology companies with an advanced drug
candidate on the road to commercialisation. Earlier this month the company
commenced a dose escalation trial at Q-Pharm in Queensiand for the newly
developed Melanotan implant.”

EpiTan has recently announced its intention to expand its clinical trials programme
into Europe to include the therapeutic indication of Polymorphous Light Eruption
(PMLE). The company also expects to lodge an Investigational New Drug (IND)
application with the US Food & Drug Administration in order to open the path for
clinical trials in the United States starting in the third quarter of 2004.

ABOUT THE COMPANY: EpiTan Limited (ASX: EPT) is an emerging biotechnology
company with a pre-eminent position on the prevention of DNA and skin damage
from UV) radiation exposure. Based in Melbourne, Australia, EpiTan holds a unique

technolbgy platform centred on its leading drug candidate Melanotan, one of a new
breed of pharmacogenomic drugs.



The company has the exclusive worldwide rights to develop Melanotan that, like
sunlight, stimulates the production of melanin in the skin or “melanogenesis” — a
unique biochemical process. However, and most importantly, the body's melanin
levels are increased before exposure to harmful UV radiation. This will become a
new photo-protective tool which will be of significant benefit to people with fair skin
who are most at risk of sunburn injury and therefore of developing skin cancers.

EpiTan has now successfully developed a more user-friendly drug delivery
formulation of Melanotan in the form of a slow release implant. A clinical trial to
determine the optimal dose is currently being conducted by Q-Pharm in Brisbane.
The implant will be used in the remaining clinical programme and the commercialised
product.

The company expects to lodge an Investigational New Drug (IND) application with
the Food and Drug Administration in order to open the path for sunburn injury clinical
trials in the United States starting in the third quarter of 2004.

EpiTan is also investigating Melanotan as a therapeutic agent for UV-induced skin
allergies such as PMLE and solar urticaria. PMLE is a significant UV-induced skin
allergy in northern latitudes and the company expects to begin trials in Europe in
early 2004 to examine the ability of Melanotan to alleviate or cure this disorder.

Potential markets worldwide for Melanotan for dermatology purposes are estimated
at US$2.5 billion. An even greater market (more than US$5 billion) exists for
Melanotan as a new safe (prescription) sunscreen drug.

-End-
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ange of Dlrector s Interest Notice

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information and
documents given to ASX become ASX's property and may be made public.

Introduced 30/9/2001.
ame of entity EPITAN LIMITED
IABN 88 089 644 119

We (the entity) give ASX the following information under listing rule 3.19A.2 and as agent for the
director for the purposes of section 205G of the Corporations Act.

Name of Director Wayne Millen

Date of last notice 22 December 2003

Part 1 - Change of director’s relevant interests in securities
In the case of a trust, this includes interests in the trust made available by the responsible entity of the trust

Note: In the case of a company, interests which come within paragraph (i) of the definition of “notifiable interest of a director” should be

disclosed in this part.

Direct or indirect interest

Indirect - 18,257,875
Direct - 10,000

Nature of indirect interest
(including registered holder)

Note: Provide details of the circumstances giving rise to the relevant
interest,

Weighton Pty Ltd (trustee of Millen Family
Trust)

Date of change

24 December 2003

No. of securities held prior to change

18,267,875

Class Ordinary Shares Fully Paid (“EPT”)
Number acquired Nil

Number disposed 241,500

Value/Consideration $20,612

Note: If consideration is non-cash, provide details and estimated

valuation

No. of securities held after change 18,026,375

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

11/3/2002
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Appendix 3Y
Change of Director’s Interest Notice

Nature of change Off market trade — 241,500

Example: on-market trade, off-market trade, exercise of options, issue of
securities under dividend reinvestment plan, participation in buy-back

Part 2 — Change of director’s interests in contracts

Note: In the case of a company, interests which come within paragraph (ii) of the definition of “notifiable interest of a director” should be
disclosed in this part.

Detail of contract -

Nature of interest -

Name of registered holder -
(if issued securities)

Date of change -

No. and class of securities to | -
which interest related prior to
change

; Note: Details are only required for a contract in relation
to which the interest has changed

Interest acquired -

Interest disposed -

Value/Consideration -
Note: If consideration is non-cash, provide details and
an estimated valuation

Interest after change -

. + See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 3Y
Change of Director’s Interest Notice

Rule 3.194.2

Appendix 3Y

Change of Director’s Interest Notice

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information and
documents given to ASX become ASX’s property and may be made public.

Introduced 30/9/2001.
ame of entity EPITAN LIMITED
BN 88 089 644 119

We (the entity) give ASX the following information under listing rule 3.19A.2 and as agent for the
director for the purposes of section 205G of the Corporations Act,

Name of Director Helmer Agersborg

Date of last notice 22 December 2003

Part 1 - Change of director’s relevant interests in securities
In the case of a trust, this includes interests in the trust made available by the responsible entity of the trust

Note: In the case of a company, interests which come within paragraph (i) of the definition of “notifiable interest of a director” should be
disclosed in this part.

Direct or indirect interest Direct

Nature of indirect interest N/A

(including registered holder)

Note: Provide details of the circumstances giving rise to the relevant

interest.

Date of change 30 March 2004
No. of securities held prior to change Nil

Class Fully paid ordinary shares
Number acquired 750,000
Number disposed Nil
Value/Consideration $225,000.00
Note: If consideration is non-cash, provide dctails and ecstimated

valuation

No. of securities held after change 750,000

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 3Y
Change of Director’s Interest Notice

. Nature of change

Example: on-market trade, off-market trade, exercise of options, issue of
securities under dividend reinvestment plan, participation in buy-back

Exercise of 750,000 directors’ options at
$0.30 per share

Part 2 — Change of director’s interests in contracts

Note: In the case of a company, interests which come within paragraph (ii) of the definition of “notifiable interest of a director™ should be

disclosed in this part.

Detail of contract -

Nature of interest -

Name of registered holder -
(if issued securities)

Date of change -

No. and class of securities to | -
which interest related prior to
change

Note: Details are only required for a contract in relation
to which the interest has changed

!. Interest acquired -

Interest disposed -

Value/Consideration -
Note: If consideration is non-cash, provide details and
an cstimated valuation

Interest after change -

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Thursday, 20 November 2003

Company Announcement
nECEIVED
Implant clinical trial starts g Y =) A %13
k T b 1»4-.
- reyCE OF THIERS 3
For more information contact: ' 1"5;{; ORATE FiRARCE

Dr Wayne Millen, CEO, EpiTan Limited, Tel 03 9662 4688

Mr lain Kirkwood, Chief Administrative Officer, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
Mr Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620 3333
mail@epitan.com.au

www.epitan.com.au

Melbourne, Australia

EpiTan Limited (ASX:EPT) today announced that the first six volunteers
(representing cohorts 1 and 2) in its implant trial have successfully received the
newly developed implant containing melanin-producing drug Melanotan®.

The trial is being conducted at Q-Pharm, which is based at the Clive Berghofer
Cancer Research Centre at Royal Brisbane Hospital in Queensland.

The key objective of this trial is to confirm an optimal dose for the implant as well as
the usual safety compliance and efficacy.

Twenty-four healthy volunteers, in cohorts of three, will receive escalating doses of
Melanotan in the long-acting implant. This trial is scheduled to conclude in May 2004.

The implant is made from the same material as is used in self-dissolving stitches and
is therefore known to be safe and reliable. The implant is biodegradable and does not
have to be removed at the end of the treatment.

The implant is a more commercially viable delivery mechanism and is a major

advancement on the daily aqueous injections used in the company’s Phase IIb
clinicat trial which concluded in September 2003.

Similar implants, such as Zoladex® (AstraZeneca) for the treatment of prostate
cancer, have already been approved for use in Australian and worldwide markets.

ABUT THE COMPANY : EpiTan Limited (ASX: EPT) is an emerging biotechnology
company with a pre-eminent position on the prevention of DNA and skin damage
from ultra-violet (UV) radiation exposure. Based in Melbourne, Australia, EpiTan

holds a unique technology platform centred on its leading drug candidate
Melanotan®, one of a new breed of pharmacogenomic drugs.

The company has the exclusive worldwide rights to develop Melanotan which, like
sunlight, stimulates the production of melanin in the skin or “melanogenesis” — a
unique biochemical process. However, and most importantly, the body’s melanin
levels are increased before exposure to harmful UV radiation. This will become a
new photo-protective tool which will be of significant benefit to people with fair skin
types who are most at risk of sunburn injury and therefore of developing skin
cancers.



Melanotan has concluded its Phase ilb clinical trials at two sites — the Royal Prince
Alfred Hospital in Sydney and the Royal Adelaide Hospital. These trials
demonstrated that Melanotan significantly increased skin melanin density and
reduced sunburn injury.

EpiTan has now successfully developed a more user-friendly drug delivery
formulation of Melanotan in the form of a slow release implant. This will be used in
the remaining clinical programme and the commercialised product.

EpiTan is also investigating Melanotan as a therapeutic agent for UV-induced skin
allergies such as polymorphous light eruption (“PMLE") and solar urticaria. PMLE is a
significant UV-induced skin allergy in northern latitudes and the company expects to
begin trials in Europe in early 2004 to examine the ability of Melanotan to alleviate or
cure this disorder.

Potential markets worldwide for Melanotan for dermatology purposes are estimated
at US$2.5 billion. An even greater market (more than US$5 billion) exists for
Melanotan as a new safe (prescription) sunscreen drug.

-End-
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11 November 2003

RECELY ED
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US Food & Drug Admlnlgtrétlon gives EplTan go ahead to file application for

Investigational New Druggcz GF \”‘Crg S UHCE
L. { QF‘?OI_\

Company Announcement

For more information contact:

Dr Wayne Millen, Managing Director, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688

Mr lain Kirkwood, Chief Administrative Officer, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
Mr Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620 3333
mail@epitan.com.au

www.epitan.com.au

Melbourne, Australia

EpiTan Limited (ASX:EPT) today announced that, following a successful meeting
with the United States Food & Drug Administration last month, the company expects
to lodge an Investigational New Drug (IND) application in mid-2004 and begin clinical
trials shortly thereafter.

Importantly, from EpiTan’s discussions with the FDA an acceptable indication for
Melanotan is expected to be for the prevention or reduction of UV-induced skin
damage (sunburn indication) in subjects at high risk (genetic or occupational).
The IND application will be for Melanotan® in a sustained-release implant
formulation.

Dr Stuart Humphrey, EpiTan’'s Manager, Clinical Development said, “Agreeing the
proposed clinical development pathway with the FDA is a major step forward. This
should allow EpiTan to develop an ethical product for the US market essentially in
the form of a prescription sunscreen using EpiTan’s newly developed long-acting
implant.

“Melanotan is one of a new breed of pharmacogenomic drugs which is expected to
be of significant benefit to those people with fair skin types who are most at risk of
sunburn injury and of developing skin cancers.”

Dr Wayne Millen, EpiTan’s CEO said, “We are delighted with the outcome of this
meeting with the FDA. This opens the way for EpiTan to start clinical trials next year
in the world’s biggest pharmaceutical market. Melanotan is a new photo-protective
tool that can be used safely in the fight against the harmful effects of UV radiation..
We are working flat out to bring Melanotan to commercialisation as soon as
possible.”

EpiTan’s recently completed a Phase lIb “sunburn injury” clinical trial in both Sydney
and Adelaide.

This month, clinical trials for the sustained-release implant formulation will begin at
Q-Pharm in Queensland. This trial is expected to conclude in May 2004, following
which clinical trials are expected to begin in the US once the FDA has approved the
company's IND application. '



ABOUT THE COMPANY: EpiTan Limited (ASX: EPT) is an emerging biotechnology
company with a pre-eminent position on the prevention of DNA and skin damage
from ultra-violet (UV) radiation exposure. Based in Melbourne, Australia, EpiTan
holds a unique technology platform centred on its leading drug candidate
Melanotan®, one of a new breed of pharmacogenomic drugs.

The company has the exclusive worldwide rights to develop Melanotan which, like
sunlight, stimulates the production of melanin in the skin or “melanogenesis” — a
unique biochemical process. However, and most importantly, the body's melanin
levels are increased before exposure to harmful UV radiation. This will become a
new photo-protective tool which will be of significant benefit to people with fair skin
types who are most at risk of sunburn injury and therefore of developing skin
cancers.

Melanotan has concluded its Phase llb clinical trials at two sites — the Royal Prince
Alfred Hospital in Sydney and the Royal Adelaide Hospital. These trials
demonstrated that Melanotan significantly increased skin melanin density and
reduced sunburn injury.

EpiTan has now successfully developed a more user-friendly drug delivery
formulation of Melanotan in the form of a slow release impfant. This will be used in
the remaining clinical programme and the commercialised product.

EpiTan is also investigating Melanotan as a therapeutic agent for UV-induced skin
allergies such as polymorphous light eruption (“PMLE") and solar urticaria. PMLE is a
significant UV-induced skin allergy in northern latitudes and the company expects to
begin trials in Europe in early 2004 to examine the ability of Melanotan to alleviate or
cure this disorder.

Potential markets worldwide for Melanotan for dermatology purposes are estimated
at US$2.5 billion. An even greater market (more than US$5 billion) exists for
Melanotan as a new safe (prescription) sunscreen drug.

-End-
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Company Announcements Office
Australian Stock Exchange Limited
20 Bridge Street

SYDNEY NSW 2000

Dear Sir

Annual General Meeting
EPITAN LIMITED

As required by section 251AA(2) of the Corporations Act the following statistics are provided in respect to
each motion on the agenda. In respect to each motion the total number of votes exercisable by all validly
appointed proxies was:

To re-elect Dr Winters as a director of the company

a Votes where the proxy directed to vote ‘for the motion 29,713,070
0 Votes where the proxy was directed to vote ‘against’ the motion 116,215
Q Votes where the proxy may exercise a discretion how to vote 829,034

In addition, the number of votes where the proxy was directed to abstain
from voting on the motion was 7,670

The results of voting on each motion is as follows:
The motion was carried on a show of hands as an ordinary resolution.

To ratify the placement of 14,500,000 shares

Q Votes where the proxy directed to vote “for’ the motion 23,971,427
Q Votes where the proxy was directed to vote ‘against’ the motion 773,912
0 Votes where the proxy may exercise a discretion how to vote 375,842

In addition, the number of votes where the proxy was directed to abstain
from voting on the motion was 41,600

The results of voting on each motion is as follows:

The motion was carried on a show of hands as an ordinary resolution.

epitan

EpiTan Limited

Level 10, 52 Collins Street
Meibourne 3000

Australia

te! +61 3 9662 4688

fax +61 3 9662 4788
www.epitan.com.au



To approve the issue of options to non-executive directors

Q Votes where the proxy directed to vote ‘for’ the motion 27,793,982
m] Votes where the proxy was directed to vote ‘against’ the motion 1,926,373
Q Votes where the proxy may exercise a discretion how to vote 385,842
In addition, the number of votes where the proxy was directed to abstain
from voting on the motion was 69,000
The results of voting on each motion is as follows:
The motion was carried on a show of hands as an ordinary resolution.
To re-appoint Dr Agersborg as a Director of the Company
Q Votes where the proxy directed to vote ‘for’ the motion 29,566,631
a Votes where the proxy was directed to vote 'against’ the motion 241,654
Q Votes where the proxy may exercise a discretion how to vote 843,034
In addition, the number of votes where the proxy was directed to abstain
from voting on the motion was 14,670
The results of voting on each motion is as follows:
The motion was carried on a show of hands as a special resolution.
Dated this 31%' day of October 2003
/”‘-
lain Kirkwood
Company Secretary
epitan
EpiTan Limited
Level 10, 52 Collins Street
Melboume 3000
Australia

tel +61 3 9662 4688
fax +61 3 9662 4788
www.epitan.com.au
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Good morning ladies and gentlemen and welcome to EpiTan’s 2003 Annual
General Meeting.

Introduction

It is with great pleasure that | can report to you of your company’s
significant and exciting progress over the past 12 months. As Melanotan®
continues to progress successfully through the clinical trial regime and we
develop more user-friendly delivery formulations, local and international

interest in EpiTan has increased considerably.

We believe this increased interest is warranted as your company has
achieved much in the past 12 months.

This has resulted in our shareholder base increasing significantly from 1,300
12 months ago to over 3,000 registered shareholders today. Even more
pleasing is the recognition of the potential value of our Melanotan drug
through the increase in your company’s share price from 11 cents with a
market cap of $9.5 million when | last addressed you at the 2002 AGM, to 73

cents at the close of trading yesterday - valuing EpiTan at $81.5 million.

Since the end of May this year when our share price started to recover from
below 20 cents, it has been volatile - influenced by excellent progress both
on the clinical trial front and drug development, but tempered by some
uncertainties in the market. Since May when we announced that the Phase
Iib sunburn injury trials were showing promise our share price started to
improve. The markets are now developing a greater appreciation of our
clinical results and what this can mean to EpiTan’s future. We are confident
that, with this, a greater stability will occur in our valuation.

Key milestones achieved during the year




. Before | talk about the exciting outlook for EpiTan, let me outline briefly
the major developments over the last year.

e A sustained-release implant formulation was developed in collaboration
with Southern Research Institute, of Alabama in the USA. This new
formulation is a small implant or pellet, designed to be placed under
the skin. It is made of the same material that has been used for many
years in “self-dissolving” stitches and is therefore known to be safe and
reliable. As the implant is totally biodegradable it does not have to be
removed at the end of the treatment. The formulation is a major
advancement on the daily protocol of injections which were used in our
Phase llb clinical trial and which finished in September. From now on,
future trials will use these implants and this is what we expect to be
available on the market first. The implants will commence clinical trials

in November at the Q-Pharm human trial facility in Queensland.

‘ e In June this year EpiTan signed a strategic collaborative agreement with
Thomas Skold of Sweden and CollaGenex Pharmaceuticals Inc. of

Pennsylvania in the USA, to develop a lotion or gel topical formulation.

Given previous technology was unable to achieve this objective, we
believe that Mr Skold’s Restoraderm technology improves the feasibility
of developing a topical formulation for Melanotan.

We have brought in Melbourne’s Monash University and the Institute of
Medical and Veterinary Science (IMVS), based in Adelaide, to work with
Mr Skold. The company believes these collaborative arrangements will
lead to a faster development of a formulation for topical application
and we expect to have a prototype ready for testing by mid-2004.

e In September we signed a collaborative agreement pSivida, a Perth-
based nanotechnology company which is listed on the ASX.



The agreement aims to develop a new liquid-based sustained release
method of administration for Melanotan incorporating pSivida’s
BioSilicon™ nanotechnology. We consider this is an outstanding
opportunity to combine Melanotan with this new sophisticated
nanotechnology. Initial proof-of-concept studies are expected to be
completed by the end of this year.

We are always looking to the future and the outcome of this work could
lead to a second-generation Melanotan product. As this product would
be a liquid-based sustained-release product delivered via a single dose
of approximately 0.5ml, it would give consumers further choice as to
how they could have Melanotan administered. In the future,
conceivably, consumers could choose between an implant, a liquid

injection or a topical application.

You will have noticed that, earlier this week, we announced the results
of our Phase Ilb trial. The results supported the interim announcement
made by the company in May of this year outlining that very

encouraging levels of melanin production had emerged from the trial.

Due to the likelihood of patent applications emerging from this study,
full disclosure of the data cannot yet be made. However, key

information that can be revealed is that:

Clinically visible tanning was noted in a large proportion of volunteers;

The difference between the Melanotan-treated group and the placebo
group was highly significant at all skin sites measured.

Importantly, the percentage increase in melanin density for fairer skin
types (Fitzpatrick 1/1l) was approximately double that for those with
darker skin types (Fitzpatrick l11/1V).



» Only 6 volunteers, or 7.4% of the total, thought they had Fitzpatrick
Skin Type |, (which means they always burn and never tan). After being
measured clinically, 29 or 35.8% were assessed by the Investigators as
Skin Type |. The inference is that Australians overestimate their in-built

skin protection levels, and that consequently, they need more
protection than they think they do.

The key data regarding these volunteers with fairer skin types confirms that
Melanotan may be effectively used as a prescription sunscreen to provide
protection against both Ultraviolet A (UVA) and Ultraviolet B sunlight (UVB).
It is a significant benefit to these people who normally produce little

melanin and consequently are most at risk of sunburn injury.
e FDA IND meeting

Your company also announced recently that we had completed a
meeting with the Food and Drug Administration in the USA. The meeting
was a “pre-IND discussion meeting” requested by the company for the
purpose of reviewing EpiTan’s proposal to submit a formal
Investigational New Drug (“IND”) application. An IND application must
be submitted to a regulatory agency (the FDA in the United States)
before a drug can be studied in humans and, accordingly, is a
prerequisite to starting (human) clinical trials.

We are conscious that the market is anticipating an announcement
concerning the result of this meeting. However, as previously stated, we
cannot make a definitive announcement until we have received the formal
FDA minutes of the meeting.

e Financially, EpiTan is in good shape. In the period between the end of
June and August we successfully raised over $10 million to secure our
immediate financial position. Firstly as our share price reached 30 cents

just before the end of June, we received $2.7 million from the exercise



of our listed 30 June 2003 options. Secondly, your directors decided to
take advantage of the strong surge in the company’s share price which
reacted positively to the excellent pipeline of progress | have just
detailed above. A placement of 14,500,000 shares was successfully
completed to institutional and sophisticated investors at 51 cents per
share, raising $7.4 million.

The funds raised will be used to expand and accelerate the company’s
clinical trial programme including the addition of studies in the USA and
Europe in 2004 and a genotype study in Australia to identify the skin cancer
risk among Caucasians. Additional volumes of drug and implants will also be
manufactured to support this acceleration and expansion of the company’s
clinical trial strategy.

Why Melanotan is such an important breakthrough in skin management

As a background to EpiTan’s core endeavours | would like to review for you
the origin of the Melanotan project and where we see its place in the
important world of skin protection.

Sunlight arrives on earth in three forms: infrared (heat), visible and

ultraviolet (UV) light, with UV light being classified into three categories:

e The first is UVA, which is also known as black light, which causes
tanning

¢ The second is UVB which causes damage in the form of sunburn

¢ The third is UVC which is filtered out by the atmosphere and never

reaches us,

99% of the sun's UV radiation at sea level is UVA. It is the UVB that causes
things like reddening, aging, wrinkles, and some skin cancers. Research is
increasingly implicating UVA as the main cause of melanoma.



One of the interesting things about UV radiation is that it is reflected by
different surfaces. These reflections can amplify the effects of UV exposure.
For example, snow reflects 90% of UV light. That is why you can get snow
blindness and severe sunburns from skiing on a sunny day. Sand can reflect
up to 20% of UVB that hits it, meaning that you can get extra UV exposure at
the beach.

On the other hand, certain things absorb almost all UV radiation partially or
completely. Glass is one of these substances - many glasses are very good
absorbers of UV (which is why you may have heard that you cannot get
sunburn in a greenhouse). Most sunscreens use chemicals that have the same
UV-absorbing properties.

As a flow on from this, much is known regarding the harmful effects of UV
radiation on the skin. Increasing research continues to highlight the real
danger of the impact of sun exposure and other sources of UV radiation upon
particularly fair skinned populations. At EpiTan we believe that Melanotan
will prove to be a crucial breakthrough as a photo-protective tool.

Melanotan can be safely used in the fight against sunburn injury particularly
for those people who have fair skin types. To date nothing other than
stronger and more broad-spectrum sunscreens have been available to assist
with sun protection.

Until Melanotan becomes available, the current, practical steps to achieve
optimal sun protection other than simply not going out into the sun, are
wearing photo-protective clothing or diligent application of broad-spectrum
sunscreens. However, notwithstanding the availability of sunscreens for
many years, the incidence of skin cancer is increasing and melanoma cases
are, for example, rising faster than any other type of cancer in, of all
places, the UK.



Scientists there are warning of a possible epidemic in young women,
especially those who seek the all-fashionable tanned look. The results of the
recently completed Phase IIb trial show that Melanotan will preferentially
assist those genotypes with fair skin and therefore with a higher
predisposition to skin cancer by increasing their in-built “SPF” factor.
Importantly, melanin protects against both UVB and UVA, something not all
sunscreens afford.

We know that when you get a tan, what is actually happening is that the
melanocytes are producing melanin pigment in reaction to UV light in
sunlight. Melanin pigment has the effect of absorbing the UV radiation in
sunlight, so it protects the cells from UV damage. But the real problem is
that melanin production takes a fair amount of time - that is why most
people cannot get a tan in one day, and most fair skin people burn first. You
have to first expose yourself to UV for a period of time to activate the
melanocytes for them to produce melanin over the course of hours. By
repeating this process over 5 to 7 days pigment builds up in your cells to a
level that is protective. Unfortunately, during this time of melanin build up,
the skin is vulnerable to damage.

It is against this background that Melanotan has its profound effect by
enabling the skin to produce the natural melanin pigment. By engineering
melanin production with Melanotan prior to exposure to UV radiation the
body is able to counteract the full damaging effects of UV when
subsequently exposed to it.

Melanotan is one of the series of drugs now catergorised in the new area of
"Pharmacogenomics”.

As Australia’s most recent Nobel Prize laureate, Dr Peter Doherty, stated in
The Australian this month, “The new science of genomics will also lead to
dramatic improvements in the way diseases are diagnosed and treated.

Knowing the sequence of the whole human genome has given us new, rapid,



DNA array technologies that can be used to identify abnormal patterns of
gene read-out in cancer cells and to determine which genetic profiles are
associated with increased risk”.

At EpiTan we have, through our recent Phase IIb clinical trials, been able to
determine that Melanotan can selectively enhance the melanin production
capability of those pale-skinned people who previously burnt in the sun and
could not tan easily. This is the only drug ever to have an effect on these
individuals with a propensity to develop skin cancer, and our ongoing work
in this area is groundbreaking.

Therapeutic applications for Melanotan

Now that our financial position is more sécure, the company can expand its
clinical trial strategy to include therapeutic indications such as
polymorphous light eruption, which is a significant UV-induced skin allergy
in northern latitudes. It is estimated that between 10-20% of the population
of North America, Britain and Scandinavia suffer from PMLE in spring and
early summer. We are becoming increasingly confident from our studies that
Melanotan can be used to address this and other sun-induced skin disorders.

A vitiligo study is also planned once the topical formulation is ready.
Outlook for Remaining 2003 and 2004
Our clinical programme is planned to continue with even greater momentum

both in Australia and overseas during the coming year.

In November our implant trials will get underway at the Queensland
Institute of Medical Research in Brisbane.

The start of PMLE trials is scheduled for the second quarter of 2004,
probably in Germany.



The IND submission to the FDA to commence trials in the USA is also
scheduled for the second quarter of 2004.

Commencement of the genotype study at the Queensland institute of
Medical Research and the sunburn injury trials in the USA are planned for
the third quarter of 2004.

Following the excellent results from our clinical programmes, the
understanding that Melanotan represents the first, and to our understanding
the only drug that can deliver control over "Melanogenesis”, the body’s
melanin production, is now being digested by the financial and scientific
communities. As our clinical programmes evolve in Europe and the USA, and
as the significance of the beneficial medical implications of Melanotan for
millions around the globe becomes better appreciated, there will be a larger
impact on the valuation of EpiTan.

To date, we firmly believe that we don’t have a better mousetrap - we have

the mousetrap.

It is a significant fact that Epitan is one of a select few biotech companies in
Australia with a drug having completed a Phase Il trial.

In conclusion, | thank you our shareholders and stakeholders for the
patience you have shown as EpiTan has evolved under difficult market
forces over the last year. |can assure you the next 12 months will be more

exciting than the last, and | seek your continuing support.

| personally have enjoyed, and have been invigorated by my many contacts
and discussions with you and look forward to continuing with the
interactions this coming year.

| also extend my thanks to my fellow directors whose support and valuable

guidance is always welcome, and is always readily available. The demands



on them will be even greater in this coming year as we look ever increasing

overseas to the global markets for our destiny.

Finally, a special tribute to the team at EpiTan who continue to work
tirelessly to make our company a success. There are only six of them, and
they achieved much in the past year. Their quest for the holy grail of
commercialisation of Melanotan is infectious and compelling. It is a
pleasure to stand here today, as part of that team in pursuit of what is fast

becoming a realistic event.

Thank you.
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Quarterly report
for entities admitted

on the basis of commitments

Introduced 31/3/2000, Amended 30/9/2001

Name of entity

Rule 4.7B

EPITAN LIMITED

ABN

88 089 644 119

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Cash flows related to operating activities

1.1

1.2

1.3
1.4

1.5
1.6
1.7

Receipts from customers

Payments for

Dividends received

received

Interest and other costs of finance paid
Income taxes paid

Other (GST refunds)

Quarter ended (“‘current quarter”)

30 September 2003

Current quarter Year to date
$A’000 (3 months)
$A°000
(a) staff costs (82) (82)
(b) advertising and marketing - .
(¢c) research and development (849) (849)
(d) leased assets - -
(e) other working capital (1,389) (1,389)
Interest and other items of a similar nature
37 37
%4 94
(2,189) (2,189)

Net operating cash flows

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

30/10/2003

Appendix 4C Page |



Appendix 4C
Quarterly report for entities
admitted on the basis of commitments

Current quarter Year to date
$A°000 (3 months)
$A°000
1.8 Net operating cash flows (carried forward) (2,189) (2,189)
Cash flows related to investing activities
1.9 Payment for acquisition of:
(a) businesses (item 5) - -
(b) equity investments - -
{c) intellectual - -
property
{d) physical non- @) @)
current assets
(e) other non-current - -
assets
1.10 Proceeds from disposal of:
(a) businesses (item 5) - -
(b) equity investments - -
(c) intellectual - -
property
(d) physical non- - -
current assets
(e) other non-current - -
assets
1.11 Loans to other entities ' - -
1.12 Loans repaid by other entities - -
1.13 Other (provide details if material) - -
Net investing cash flows R (7)
1.14 Total operating and investing cash flows (2,196) (2,196)
Cash flows related to financing activities
1.15 Proceeds from issues of shares, options, ete. 8,947 8,947
1.16 Proceeds from sale of forfeited shares - -
1.17 Proceeds from borrowings - -
1.18 Repayment of borrowings - -
1.19 Dividends paid - -
1.20 Other (provide details if material) - -
Net financing cash flows 8,947 8,947
Net increase (decrease) in cash held 6,751 6,751
1.21 Cash at beginning of quarter/year to date 2,612 2,612
1.22 Exchange rate adjustments to item 1.20 - -
1.23 Cash at end of quarter 9,363 9,363

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

30/10/2003 Appendix 4C Page 2



Appendix 4C
Quarterly report for entities
admitted on the basis of commitments

Payments to directors of the entity and associates of the directors

Payments to related entities of the entity and associates of the related entities

Current quarter
$A'000

1.24 Aggregate amount of payments to the parties included in item 1.2 47

1.25 Aggregate amount of loans to the parties included in item 1.11 (see note 1)

1.26 Explanation necessary for an understanding of the transactions

Non-cash financing and investing activities

2.1 Details of financing and investing transactions which have had a material effect on consolidated
assets and liabilities but did not involve cash flows

2.2 Details of outlays made by other entities to establish or increase their share in businesses in which
the reporting entity has an interest

Financing facilities available
Add notes as necessary for an understanding of the position. (See AASB 1026 paragraph 12.2).

Amount available Amount used
$A’000 $A’000
3.1 Loan facilities - -

3.2 Credit standby arrangements - -

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

30/10/2003 Appendix 4C Page 3



Appendix 4C
Quarterly report for entities
admitted on the basis of commitments

Reconciliation of cash

Reconciliation of cash at the end of the quarter (as | Current quarter Previous quarter

shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows) to | $A’000 $A°000

the related items in the accounts is as follows.

4.1 Cash on hand and at bank 256 256
9,107 9,107

4.2 Deposits at call

43 Bank overdraft

4.4  Other (provide details)

Total: cash at end of quarter (item 1.22) 9,363 9,363
Acquisitions and disposals of business entities
Acquisitions Disposals
(Item 1.9(a)) (Item 1.10¢a))

5.1 Name of entity - -

5.2 Place of incorporation | - -
or registration
5.3  Consideration for - -
acquisition or disposal
5.4  Total net assets - -

5.5  Nature of business - -

Compliance statement

1 This statement has been prepared under accounting policies which comply with
accounting standards as defined in the Corporations Act (except to the extent that
information is not required because of note 2) or other standards acceptable to ASX.

2 This statement does {does-ret* (delete one) give a true and fair view of the matters
disclosed.

s . % \
Sign here: X%Mw Date: 30 October 2003

(Birestor/Company secretary)

Print name: lain Kirkwood

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

30/10/2003 Appendix 4C Page 4



Appendix 4C
Quarterly report for entities
admitted on the basis of commitments

Notes

1. The quarterly report provides a basis for informing the market how the entity’s
activities have been financed for the past quarter and the effect on its cash position.
An entity wanting to disclose additional information is encouraged to do so, in a note
or notes attached to this report.

2. The definitions in, and provisions of, AASB 1026: Statement of Cash Flows apply to
this report except for the paragraphs of the Standard set out below.

J 6.2 - reconciliation of cash flows arising from operating activities to
operating profit or loss
) 9.2 - itemised disclosure relating to acquisitions
. 9.4 - itemised disclosure relating to disposals
) 12.1(a)- policy for classification of cash items
. 12.3 - disclosure of restrictions on use of cash
. 13.1 - comparative information
3. Accounting Standards. ASX will accept, for example, the use of International

Accounting Standards for foreign entities. If the standards used do not address a
topic, the Australian standard on that topic (if any) must be complied with.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

30/10/2003
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Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

Rule2.7,3.10.3,3.10.4, 3.10.5

Appendix 3B

- New issue announcement,
application for quotation of additional securities
and agreement

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information and
documents given to ASX become ASX's property and may be made public.

Introduced 1/7/96. Origin: Appendix 5. Amended 1/7/98, 1/9/99, 1/7/2000, 30/9/2001, 11/3/2002, 1/1/2003.

Name of entity

EPITAN LIMITED

ABN
38 089 644 119

We (the entity) give ASX the following information.

Part 1 - All issues

You must complete the relevant sections (attach sheets if there is not enough space).

1 *Class of Tsecurities issued or to be | Ordinary Shares
issued

2 Number of *securities issued or to | 141,556 ordinary shares
be issued (if known) or maximum
number which may be issued

3 Principal terms of the *securities (eg, | Exercise of 141,556 director options at 30 cents
if options, exercise price and expiry | each
date; if partly paid *securities, the
amount outstanding and due dates
for payment; if “*convertible
securities, the conversion price and
dates for conversion)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

31/03/2003 Appendix 3B Page |



Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

4 Do the *securities rank equally in all | Yes
respects from the date of allotment
with an existing *class of quoted
*securities?

If the additional securities do not

rank equally, please state:

o the date from which they do

o the extent to which they
participate for the next dividend,
(in the case of a trust,
distribution) or interest payment

s the extent to which they do not
rank equally, other than in
relation to the next dividend,
distribution or interest payment

5 Issue price or consideration 30 cents per director option. Total $42,466.80

6  Purpose of the issue Exercise of 141,556 director options
(If issued as consideration for the
acquisition of assets, clearly identify
those assets)

7 Dates of entering *securities into | 28 October 2003
uncertificated holdings or
despatch of certificates

Number *Class

8 Number and *class of all *securities | 111,817,302 EPT ordinary
quoted on ASX (including the
securities in clause 2 if applicable)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 3B

New issue announcement

10

Number and *class of all *securities
not quoted on ASX (including the
securities in clause 2 if applicable)

Dividend policy (in the case of a
trust, distribution policy) on the
increased capital (interests)

Number

+Class

6,823,339

EpiTan Incentive
Option Plan

Ordinary shares ranking equally with existing

ordinary shares

Part 2 - Bonus issue or pro rata issue

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

19

Is security holder approval
required?

Is the issue renounceable or non-
renounceable?

Ratio in which the *securities will be
offered

*Class of *securities to which the
offer relates

*Record date to determine
entitlements

Will holdings on different registers
(or subregis ters) be aggregated for
calculating entitlements?

Policy for deciding entitlements in
relation to fractions

Names of countries in which the
entity has *security holders who will
not be sent new issue documents

Note: Security holders must be told how their
entitlements are to be dealt with.

Cross reference: rule 7.7,

Closing date for receipt of
acceptances or renunciations

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

31/03/2003
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Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

Names of any underwriters

Amount of any underwriting fee or
commission

Names of any brokers to the issue

Fee or commission payable to the
broker to the issue

Amount of any handling fee
payable to brokers who lodge
acceptances or renunciations on
behalf of *security holders

If the issue is contingent on
*security holders’ approval, the date
of the meeting

Date entitlement and acceptance
form and prospectus or Product
Disclosure Statement will be sent to
persons entitled

If the entity has issued options, and
the terms entitle option holders to
participate on exercise, the date on
which notices will be sent to option
holders

Date rights trading will begin (if
applicable)

Date rights trading will end (if
applicable)

How do *security holders sell their
entitlements in full through a
broker?

How do *security holders sell part
of their entitlements through a
broker and accept for the balance?

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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32 How do *security holders dispose
of their entitlements (except by sale
through a broker)?

33 *Despatch date

Part 3 - Quotation of securities

You need only complete this section if you are applying for quotation of securities

34 Type of securities
(tick one)

(a) & Securities described in Part 1

(b) D All other securities

Example: restricted securities at the end of the escrowed period, partly paid securities that become fully paid, employee
incentive share securities when restriction ends, securities issued on expiry or conversion of convertible securities

Entities that have ticked box 34(a)

Additional securities forming a new class of securities

Tick to indicate you are providing the information or
documents

35 If the *securities are "equity securities, the names of the 20 largest holders of the

additional *securities, and the number and percentage of additional *securities held by
those holders

36 D If the *securities are *equity securities, a distribution schedule of the additional
*securities setting out the number of holders in the categories
1-1,000
1,001 - 5,000
5,001 - 10,000
10,001 - 100,000
100,001 and over

37 D A copy of any trust deed for the additional *securities

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Entities that have ticked box 34(b)

38

39

40

41

42

Number of securities for which
*quotation is sought

Class of ‘*securities for which
quotation is sought

Do the *securities rank equally in all
respects from the date of allotment
with an existing *class of quoted
*securities?

If the additional securities do not

rank equally, please state:

o the date from which they do

e the extent to which they
participate for the next dividend,
(in the case of a trust,
distribution) or interest payment

¢ the extent to which they do not
rank equally, other than in
relation to the next dividend,
distribution or interest payment

Reason for request for quotation
now

Example: In the case of restricted securities, end of
restriction period

(if issued upon conversion of
another security, clearly identify that
other security)

Number and *class of all *securities
quoted on ASX (including the
securities in clause 38)

Number

*Class

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Quotation agreement

1 *Quotation of our additional *securities is in ASX’s absolute discretion. ASX may
quote the *securities on any conditions it decides.

2 We warrant the following to ASX.

The issue of the *securities to be quoted complies with the law and is not for
an illegal purpose.

There is no reason why those *securities should not be granted *quotation.

An offer of the "securities for sale within 12 months after their issue will not
require disclosure under section 707(3) or section 1012C(6) of the
Corporations Act.

Note: An entity may need to obtain appropriate warranties from subscribers for the securities in order to be able to
give this warranty

Section 724 or section 1016E of the Corporations Act does not apply to any
applications received by us in relation to any *securities to be quoted and
that no-one has any right to return any *securities to be quoted under
sections 737, 738 or 1016F of the Corporations Act at the time that we
request that the *securities be quoted.

We warrant that if confirmation is required under section 1017F of the
Corporations Act in relation to the *securities to be quoted, it has been
provided at the time that we request that the *securities be quoted.

If we are a trust, we warrant that no person has the right to return the
*securities to be quoted under section 1019B of the Corporations Act at the
time that we request that the *securities be quoted.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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3 We will indemnify ASX to the fullest extent permitted by law in respect of any claim,
action or expense arising from or connected with any breach of the warranties in this
agreement.

4 We give ASX the information and documents required by this form. If any
information or document not available now, will give it to ASX before *quotation of
the *securities begins. We acknowledge that ASX is relying on the information and
documents. We warrant that they are (will be) true and complete.

LIV

Sign here: WA Date: 28 October 2003
(Direeter/Company secretary)

Print name: ILM. Kirkwood

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Phase lIb clinical trial an outstanding success

For more information contact:

Dr Wayne Millen, Managing Director, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688

Mr lain Kirkwood, Chief Administrative Officer, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
Mr Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620 3333
mail@epitan.com.au

www.epitan.com.au

Melbourne, Australia

EpiTan Limited (ASX.EPT) today announced that the outstanding results recorded in its
recently completed Phase IIb “sunburn injury” clinical trial represent a massive step forward
in the drug’'s commercialisation progress.

EpiTan also announced that new data generated from this successful trial is being examined
by medical and legal experts and is expected to be the subject of new patent applications.
Consequently, to avoid compromising the company's intellectual property rights, full
disclosure of data from the clinical trial is being withheld until the relevant patent applications
have been lodged.

The trial’s key objective was the measurement of the effectiveness of Melanotan® on
increasing skin melanin density and reducing sunburn injury. A major effect of sunburn injury
is DNA and skin damage. The trial was performed at Sydney’s Royal Prince Alfred Hospital
and the Royal Adelaide Hospital.

The double blind, randomised, placebo-controlled comparative study involved 81 caucasian
volunteers, 48 males and 33 females with an average age of 39.3 years. Prior to receiving
Melanotan, the volunteers were subjected to controlled levels of UVA and UVB radiation onto
a small area of skin resulting in a level of burning similar to spending 30 — 120 minutes in
strong sun without sunscreen. A skin biopsy was taken to measure the level of resulting
sunburn injury. After the volunteers had received the regime of Melanotan, they were re-
exposed to the same UV radiation exposure, and another skin biopsy. Melanin density levels
at various skin sites were monitored throughout the three month study period.

Key information available from the trial data, that the company is in a position to disclose at
this stage, revealed:

¢ Clinically visible tanning was noted in a large proportion of volunteers;

+ The difference between the Melanotan-treated group and the placebo group was
highly significant at all skin sites measured.



* importantly, the percentage increase in melanin density for fairer skin types
(Fitzpatrick I/1l) was approximately double that for those with darker skin types
(Fitzpatrick N/V).

¢ Only 6 volunteers, or 7.4% of the total, thought they had Fitzpatrick Skin Type |,
(always burns/ never tans). After being measured clinically, 29 or 35.8% were
assessed by the Investigators as Skin Type |.

Dr Stuart Humphrey, Clinical Development Manager of EpiTan, said, “The key data regarding
those volunteers with fairer skin types confirms that Melanotan may be effectively used as a
prescription sunscreen to provide both UVA and UVB protection when commercialised. We
are very excited about the trial results which provide substantial support for our
understanding of melanogenesis. Melanotan is one of a new breed of pharmacogenomic
drugs which is expected to be of significant benefit to those people with fair skin types who
normally produce little melanin and consequently are most at risk of sunburn injury and
therefore of developing skin cancers”

Dr Humphrey also added, “It is worthwhile noting that half the number of volunteers who
subjectively declared themselves as having the ability to tan and rarely burn (Fitzpatrick 11I/1V
skin type) turned out, in fact, to be Fitzpatrick Type l/Il (usually burn/ tan with difficulty) The
use of Melanotan in conjunction with other skin protection methods should ensure that
people have the ability to protect themselves better from the harmful effects of UV radiation”.

Dr Wayne Millen, EpiTan's Managing Director, said “This is a massive step forward and
EpiTan is now in a very select group of Australian biotechnology companies with an
advanced drug candidate on the road to commercialisation. Next month we start a dose
escalation trial for the newly developed implant containing Melanotan. This trial is scheduled
to conclude in May 2004, after which we will be in a strong position to advance our clinical
trial programme towards Phase [il.”

As previously announced, EpiTan is expanding its clinical trials into Europe to include the
therapeutic indication of PMLE and expects to lodge an investigational New Drug (IND)
application with the Food and Drug Administration in order to open the path for clinical trials
in the United States.

ABOUT THE COMPANY: EpiTan Limited (ASX: EPT) is an emerging biotechnology
company with a pre-eminent position on the prevention of DNA and skin damage from ultra-
violet (UV) radiation exposure. Based in Melbourne, Australia, EpiTan holds a unique

technology platform centred on its leading drug candidate Melanotan®, one of a new breed
of pharmacogenomic drugs.

The company has the exclusive worldwide rights to develop Melanotan which, like sunlight,
stimulates the production of melanin in the skin or “melanogenesis” - a unique biochemical
process. However, and most importantly, the body’s melanin levels are increased before
exposure to harmful UV radiation. This will become a new photo-protective tool which will be
of significant benefit to people with fair skin types who are most at risk of sunburn injury and
therefore of developing skin cancers.

Melanotan conciuded its Phase iib clinical trials in September at two sites — the Royal Prince
Alfred Hospital in Sydney and the Royal Adelaide Hospital.

EpiTan has now successfully developed a more user-friendly drug delivery formulation of
Melanotan in the form of a slow release implant. This will be used in the remaining clinical
programme and the commercialised product.



EpiTan is also investigating Melanotan as a therapeutic agent for other indications such as
vitiligo, albinism and psoriasis and UV induced skin allergies such as polymorphous light
eruption (“PMLE") and solar urticaria. PMLE is a significant UV induced skin allergy in
northern latitudes.

Potential markets worldwide for Melanotan for dermatology purposes are estimated at
US$2.5 billion. An even greater market (more than US$5 billion) exists for Melanotan as a
new safe (prescription) sunscreen drug.

-End-
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For more information contact:

Dr Wayne Millen, Managing Director, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688

Mr lain Kirkwood, Chief Administrative Officer, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
Mr Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620 3333
mail@epitan.com.au

www.epitan.com.au

Melbourne, Australia

EpiTan Limited (ASX:EPT) today confirmed that it had met with the United States
Food & Drug Administration in Washington, USA on 7 October 2003.

The meeting was a “pre-IND discussion meeting” requested by the company for the
purpose of reviewing EpiTan’s proposal to submit a formal Investigational New Drug
(“IND”) application. An IND application must be submitted to a regulatory agency (the
FDA in the United States) before a drug can be studied in humans and, accordingly,
is a prerequisite to starting (human) clinical trials.

EpiTan is aware that the market is anticipating an announcement concerning the
result of this meeting. The company advises that it is not in a position to make a
definitive announcement until it has received the formal FDA minutes of the meeting.
The company understands that the FDA's normal practice is to finalse the minutes in
approximately two weeks.

ABOUT THE COMPANY: EpiTan Limited (ASX: EPT) is an emerging biotechnology
company with a pre-eminent position on the prevention of DNA and skin damage
from ultra-violet (UV) radiation exposure. Based in Melbourne, Australia, EpiTan
holds a unique technology platform centred on its leading drug candidate
Melanotan®. The company has the exclusive worldwide rights to develop Melanotan
which, like sunlight, stimulates the production of melanin in the skin or
“melanogenesis” — a unique biochemical process. A resulting natural tan develops
without exposure to harmful levels of UV light.

Melanotan has concluded its Phase lIb clinical trials at two sites — the Royal Prince
Alfred Hospital in Sydney and the Royal Adelaide Hospital. These trials are designed
to demonstrate that Melanotan can reduce the incidence of skin damage resulting
from harmful exposure to UV light. The last of 80 volunteers completed their
participation in the trial in mid-September and preliminary results are anticipated
early November 2003.

EpiTan has now successfully developed a more user-friendly drug delivery
formulation of Melanotan in the form of a slow release implant. This will be used in
the remaining clinical programme and the commercialised product.



EpiTan is also investigating Melanotan as a therapeutic agent for other indications
such as vitiligo, albinism and psoriasis and UV induced skin allergies such as
polymorphous light eruption (“PMLE”) and solar urticaria. PMLE is a significant UV
induced skin allergy in northern latitudes.

Potential markets worldwide for Melanotan for dermatology purposes are estimated

at US$2.5 billion. An even greater market (more than US$5 billion) exists for
Melanotan as a new safe (sunless) tanning drug.

-End-
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For more information contact:

Mr lain Kirkwood, Chief Administrative Officer, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
Mr Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620 3333

Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, Tel: 02 9515 6111

Melbourne, Australia

A drug that increases melanin levels in the skin could be a significant addition to traditional skin cancer
protection, a leading Sydney dermatologist has said in the wake of British studies that show sunscreens a
not protecting people enough against malignant melanoma, the worst form of skin cancer.

Professor Ross Barnetson, from Sydney’s Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, said the studies in Britain — which
found that sunscreens fail to stop harmful ultraviolet A (UVA) rays from penetrating the skin — were
especially worrying for Australians, who have among the highest rates of skin cancer in the world.

Professor Barnetson said he had high hopes for a new drug, Melanotan®, which he is currently taking
through Phase Il “sunburn” trials in Sydney. Melanotan increases melanin levels in the skin, which increas
protection against harmful UVA rays.

“The British research shows that our traditional methods of protection against the worst form of skin cance
malignant melanoma, are not working,” said Professor Barnetson. “If Melanotan is shown to be effective,
then it could be another key bullet to fire in the fight against malignant melanoma.”

In Britain this week Professor Roy Sanders, a consultant plastic surgeon with the Restoration of Appearan
and Function Trust (RAFT), said sunscreens were much less effective at blocking UVA light, which can
cause the skin cancer melanoma, than UVB.

The RAFT study examined skin samples that had been exposed to UVA light at intensities similar to that ¢
sunlight. The skin had been treated with three popular high-factor sunscreens, al!l of which said they conta
some UVA protection. The results showed that, while the creams prevented the sun from burning the skin.
they did not stop UVA rays from penetrating it.

"When ultraviolet A impinges on the skin, it triggers the release of highly reactive chemicals called free
radicals, which we believe can induce a malignant change," Professor Sanders told BBC Radio. "Since
ambient sunlight is principally ultraviolet A and since sunscreens protect mostly against ultraviolet B, if we
use the sunscreens, it may increase the risk of us developing malignant melanoma.”

In Britain, cases of malignant melanoma have doubled every 10 years since the 1950s and the cancer no
kills around 1,500 British people every year. RAFT predicts that by the year 2010, the lifetime risk of the
disease will approach one in 50 of the British population.

Professor Sanders said the concern was that people were using the creams believing that they offered
protection against cancer and, comforted by that, might be putting themselves at risk. "We're lulled into a
sense of false security ... and so people are inclined to take a much greater dose of the sun," he said.

Melanotan, developed by Melbourne based biotechnology company EpiTan Limited, is
currently completing Phase 1lb “sunburn” trials at both the Royal Prince Alfred Hospital in
Sydney and the Royal Adelaide Hospital, where it was tested on 80 healthy volunteers. Results
of the trial are expected by early November 2003



ABOUT THE COMPANY: EpiTan Limited (ASX: EPT) is an emerging biotechnology
company with a pre-eminent position on the prevention of DNA and skin damage from ultra-
violet (UV) radiation exposure. Based in Melbourne, Australia, EpiTan holds a unique
technology platform centred on its leading drug candidate Melanotan®. The company has
the exclusive worldwide rights to develop Melanotan which, like sunlight, stimulates the
production of melanin in the skin or “melanogenesis” - a unique biochemical process. A
resulting natural tan develops without exposure to harmful levels of UV light.

Melanotan has concluded its Phase IIb clinical trials at two sites — the Royal Prince Alfred
Hospital in Sydney and the Royal Adelaide Hospital. These trials are designed to
demonstrate that Melanotan can reduce the incidence of skin damage resuiting from harmful
exposure to UV light. The last of 80 volunteers completed their participation in the trial in mid-
September and preliminary results are anticipated early November 2003.

EpiTan has now successfully developed a more user-friendly drug delivery formulation of
Melanotan in the form of a slow release implant. This will be used in the remaining clinical
programme and the commercialised product.

EpiTan is also investigating Melanotan as a therapeutic agent for other indications such as
vitiligo, albinism and psoriasis and UV induced skin allergies such as polymorphous light
eruption (“PMLE") and solar urticaria. PMLE is a significant UV induced skin allergy in
northern latitudes.

Potential markets worldwide for Melanotan for dermatology purposes are estimated at

US$2.5 billion. An even greater market (more than US$5 billion) exists for Melanotan as a
new safe (sunless) tanning drug.

-End-



_

EpiTan Limited

ABN 88 089 644 119 ‘ All correspondence to:
o¥n C g—i 1 E n Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
e Wl ¥ b GPO Box 242 Melbourne

\ ) Victoria 3001 Australia
Zﬁﬁgg !}H{ - ’Y Yy RS Enquiries {within Australia) 1300 850 505
’ {outside Australia) 61 3 9615 5970

OFFICE OF IHTERM Facsimile 613 9473 2555

CORFORAT E ORI AN , oy h www.computershare.com
gy o ooy o0
MR JOHN SMITH
FLAT 123
123 SAMPLE STREET
SAMPLEVILLE VIC 3030
EPT
19 September 2003

Dear Shareholder

| enclose a Notice of Meeting for the 2003 Annual General Mesting of the Company which is to be held at 10.00am on
31 October 2003 in the Edinburgh Room, Level 1, Stamford Plaza Melbourne, 111 Little Collins Street, Melbourne,
Vicloria,

In addition to receiving the Company's financial reports, shareholders will be asked to consider and vote on the following
proposals:

Ordinary Resolutions:

. the re-election of Dr Winters as a Director of the Company;

. the ratification of a placement of 14,500,000 million shares completed on 25 August 2003; and
o the issue of a total of 750,000 options to the non-executive Directors;

Special Resolution:

. the re-appointment of Dr Agersborg as Director of the Company.

Further details of the resolutions to be put before the members are set out in the Explanatory Memorandum, which
accompanies and forms part of this Notice of Annual General Meeting.

Your directors {excluding the Directors concerned with the respective resolutions) consider the proposed resolutions to
be in the best interests of the Company and its sharsholders and recommend that shareholders vote in favour of all
resolutions.

If any shareholders are unable to attend the Annual General Mesting, they are strongly urged to complete the attached
proxy form and return it by mail or facsimile (to be received no later than 10.00am on 29 October 2003).

I look forward to welcoming you to EpiTan's 2003 Annual General Meeting.

Yours faithfully
EPITAN LIMITED

AN,

Dr W. A. Millen
Executive Chairman

EPT WIP 103IR50/00000 1 /000001



EpiTan Limited

. ABN 88 089 644 119

KEEP INFORMED OF OUR MOVEMENTS!

We have updated our website http://www.epitan.com.au/ to deliver more information on

Epitan’s products and locations; our activities within the market and keep you abreast of
exciting developments.

Register via the Internet

Q Simply visit our website at www.epitan.com.au and click on the *INVESTOR
RELATIONS” tab at the top of the page.

0 On the left, a menu will open showing all the options contained within our Investor Centre.
Click on the “EMAIL ALERTS" option.

O To register, fill in your details and choose which information you would like us to update
you on, The current options are:

o ASX Announcements
o Latest News and
o Analyst Reports

Registration only takes a minute and Email Alerts are free, so why not subscribe!

Register via Paper Form

If you would rather not register online, we can sign you up for the Email Alerts service
manually. All you need to dois:

O Fill in the paper form attached with your personal details.
O Fax or mail the form back to us using the details printed on it.

0 We will then register you for Email Alerts. You will receive an email confirming your
subscription once we have set you up.

We Take Your Privacy Very Seriously.

OQur Privacy Policy can be viewed by clicking the Privacy link in the bottom, right hand corner
of our website, Additional questions can be phoned through on 03 9662-4688 or emailed to
privacy@epitan.com.au

We hope to be alerting you via email soon!

TOT WIP 101%<3/0r¥00 1 NONGS



REGISTER FOR EMAIL ALERTS

To register for Email Alerts, simply fill in the information requested on this form and fax or mail
it back to us. Qur details are as follows:

Fax: 03 9662 4788
Mai: Epitan Limited
Email Alerts Registration

Level 10, 52 Collins Street
Melbourne VIC 3000

Please Fill In Your Details

First Name:

Last Name:

Email Address:

Contact Phone No:

Postcode:

Country:

Please tick the boxes to indicate which information would like us to send you:

ASX Announcements: O
Latest News: O
Analyst Reports |

Please tick one box below to indicate which group you best fit into:

Analyst:

Broker

Financial Adviser:
Fund Manager:
Institutional Investor:
Sophisticated Investor;
Private Investor:
Media Representative:

OoooooOooo

Do you currently hold shares in this company?

Yes & No 0



EpiTan Limited Proxy Form |
ABN 88 089 644 119 All correspondence to:

Mark this box with an °X" if you have made any changes 10 your address details (see reverse)

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
GPO Box 242 Melbourne

Victoria 3001 Australia

Enquiries {within Australia) 1300 850 505
(outside Australia) 61 3 9615 5370
Facsimile 61 3 9473 2555
www.computershare.com

000001 Securityholder Reference Number (SRN)
MR JOHN SMITH
FLAT 123
123 SAMPLE STREET
EPT
Appointment of Proxy I 1234567890 IND

1/We being a member/s of EpiTan Limited and entitled to attend and vote hereby appoint

the Chairman Write here the name of the person you are appointing .. -
of the Meeting OR this person is someone other than the Chairman of the
(meark with an ‘X)) i T Meeting.

or failing the person named, or if no person is named, the Chairman of the Meeting, as my/our proxy to act generally at the meeting on my/our behalf and to vote in accordance with the following directions {or

if no directions have been given, as the proxy sees fit) at the Annual General Mesting of EpiTan Limited to be held at the Stamford Plaza Melboume, 111 Collins Street, Melboume in the Edinburgh Room ¢n
Level 1 on Friday, 31 October 2003 at 10.00am and at any adjournment of that meeting.

Voting directions to your proxy - please mark

Ordinary Business ltem 3 To approve the issue of
Item 1 To re-elect Dr Winters as a
director of the Company

ltem2  To ratify the placement of
14,500,000 Shares

IMPORTANT: FOR ITEMS 2 AND 3 BELOW

If the Chairman of the Meeting is your nominated proxy, or may be appointed by default, and you have not directed your proxy how to vote on ltems 2 and 3 below, piease place a
mark in this box. By marking this box you acknowledge that the Chairman of the Meeting may exercise your proxy even if he has an interest in the outcome of those ltems and that
votes cast by him, other than as proxy holder, would be disregarded because of that interest. if you do not mark this box, and you have not directed your proxy how to vote, the
Chairman of the Meeting will not cast your votes on ltems 2 and 3 and your votes will not be counted in computing the required majority if a poll is called on these ltems, The
Chairman of the Megting intends to vote undirected proxies in favour of each item.

to indicate your directions

For  Against _ Abstain’

options to non executive
directors

Special Resolution

To re-appoint Or Agersborg
as a director of the Company

* If you mark the Abstain box for a parlicutar item, you are directing your proxy nol to vote an your behalf on a show of hands or on a poll, or if your votes entitlement cannot be
voted by the Chairman of the Meeting, your votes wil! not be counted in computing the required mgjority onappett. -

Appointing a second Proxy
MWe wish o appoint a second proxy

Mark with an X' if you
wish to appoint a second  AND
proxy.

PLEASE SIGN HERE This section must be signed in accordance with the instructions overleaf to enahle your directions to be implemented.

i State the percentage of your vating rights or the number
of securities for this Proxy Form.

&

Individual or Sec!

PRI

urityholder 1 Securityholder 2 Securityholder 3

e

ST B e

Individual/Sole Director and Director Director/Company Secretary
Sole Company Secretary
/ /
Contact Name Contact Daytime Telephone Date

W crT

7PR +

EPT_WIP_103859/000001/000003/i



How to complete the Proxy Form

Your Address

This is your address as it appears on the company’s share register. If this information is incorrect, please mark the box and make the
correction on the form. Securityholders sponsored by a broker (in which case your reference number overleaf will commence with an ‘x)
should advise your broker of any changes. Please nate, you cannot change awnership of your securities using this form,

Appointment of a Proxy

If you wish to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as your proxy, mark the box. If the person you wish to appoint as your proxy is someone
other than the Chairman of the Meeting please write the name of that person. If you leave this section blank, or your named proxy does not
attend the meeting, the Chairman of the Meeting will be your proxy. A proxy need not be a securityholder of the company.

Votes on Items of Business

You may direct your proxy how to vote by placing a mark in one of the three boxes opposite each item of business. All your securities will
be voted in accordance with such a direction unless you indicate only a portion of voting rights are to be voted on any item by inserting the
percentage or number of securities you wish to vate in the appropriate box or boxes. If you do not mark any of the boxes on a given item,
your proxy may vote as he or she chooses. |f you mark more than one box on an item your vote on that item will be invalid.

Appointment of a Second Proxy
You are entitled to appoint up to two persons as proxies to attend the meeting and vote on a poll. If you wish to appoint a second proxy, an
additional Proxy Form may be obtained by telephoning the company's share registry or you may copy this form.

To appoint a second proxy you must:

{(a) indicate that you wish to appoint a second proxy by marking the box.

(b)  oneach of the first Proxy Form and the second Proxy Form state the percentage of your voting rights or number of securities
applicable to that form. If the appointments do not specify the percentage or number of votes that each proxy may exercise, each
proxy may exercise half your votes. Fractions of votes will be disregarded.

{¢)  return both forms together in the same envelope.

Signing Instructions
You must sign this form as follows in the spaces provided:

Individual: where the holding is in one name, the holder must sign.
Joint Holding: where the holding is in more than one name, all of the securityholders should sign.
Power of Attorney: to sign under Power of Attorney, you must have already lodged this document with the registry. 1f you have

not previously lodged this document for notation, please attach a certified photocopy of the Power of Attorney
to this form when you return it.

Companies: where the company has a Sole Director who is also the Sole Company Secretary, this form must be signed by
that person. If the company (pursuant to section 204A of the Corporations Act 2001) does not have a
Company Secretary, a Sole Director can also sign alone. Otherwise this form must be signed by a Director
jointly with either another Director or a Company Secretary. Please indicate the office held by signing in the
appropriate place.

If a representative of the corporation is to attend the meeting the appropriate “Certificate of Appointment of Corporate Representative® should
be produced prior to admission. A form of the certificate may be obtained from the company's share registry.

Lodgement of a Proxy

This Proxy Form (and any Power of Attorney under which it is signed) must be received at an address given below no later than 48 hours
before the commencement of the meeting at 10.00am on Friday, 31 October 2003. Any Proxy Form received after that time will not be valid
for the scheduled meeting.

Documents may be lodged using the reply paid envelape or: EpiTan Limited share registry
by posting, delivery or facsimile to EpiTan Limited share registry at the address Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
opposite, or GPO Box 242
by delivery to the Registered Office of EpiTan Limited being Melbourne Victoria 3001
Level 10, 52 Collins Street Australia
Melbourne Victoria 3000 Facsimile 61 3 9473 2555

Australia



EPITAN LIMITED
ABN 88 089 644 119

NOTICE OF MEETING

Notice is given that the 2003 Annual General Meeting of shareholders will be held in the Edinburgh
Room, Level 1 Stamford Plaza Melbourne, 111 Little Collins Street, Melbourne, Victoria on Friday 31
October, 2003 commencing at 10.00am.

BUSINESS
A. Financial Statements

To table the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2003 and to provide
shareholders with the opportunity to raise any issues or ask questions of the Directors (and the auditor)
generally concerning the financial statements and the business operations of the Company.

B. Ordinary Resolutions
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as ordinary resolutions:

Re-¢election - Dr Winters

1. That Dr Terence Winters, a Director retiring in accordance with the Constitution of the
Company, being eligible and having signified his candidature for the office, is re-elected as a
Director.

Placement of shares

2. That, in accordance with the requirements of Listing Rule 7.4, shareholders ratify the issue
on 25 August 2003 of 14,500,000 fully paid ordinary shares in the Company at an issue price
of $0.51 per share, to the placees listed below:

Allottee No of Shares
UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 3,000,000
Chartport Financial Services Pty Ltd 2,000,000
Intersuisse Issues Pty Ltd 1,390,000
Permanent Trustee Australia Limited 1,000,000
Manikato Financial Services Pty Ltd 920,000
Janette Mary Waterhouse 500,000
Droga Capital Pty Ltd 500,000
Peters Investments Pty Ltd 500,000
Roscious Pty Ltd 400,000
Dixson Trust Pty Limited 300,000
Westpac Custodian Nominees Ltd 250,000
Penleigh Banner Pty Lid 240,000
Alfred Murray Estates Pty Ltd 200,000
Calibrate Recruitment Pty Lid 200,000
Forty Fifth Sepeida Pty Ltd 200,000
Hollywell investments Pty Ltd 200,000
Intersuisse Nominees Pty Ltd 200,000
Koy Pty Ltd 200,000
MM & E Capital Pty Ltd 200,000
Ohio Holdings Pty Ltd 200,000
Runyon Pty Ltd 200,000
Wrap Pty Ltd 200,000
Bruce Birnie Pty Lid 200,000
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Commodity Traders (NZ) Ltd 200,000
Delbairn Pty Ltd 200,000
Golden Words Pty Limited 200,000
Victory Capital Pty Ltd 200,000
Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited 200,000
JFR Investments Pty Ltd 150,000
Mr Doug McLachlan & Mrs Wendy McLachlan 150,000
Issue of options to non-executive directors
3. That, in accordance with Listing Rules 10.11 and 10.13, the members approve the issue of

750,000 options to subscribe for a like number of fully paid ordinary shares in the capital of the
Company (‘Options'} to the following non-executive Directors of the Company in the numbers
and on the terms set out in the Explanatory Memorandum attached to and forming part of this

Notice:
Non-executive Director Number of Options
Mr Stanley McLiesh 250,000
Dr Terence Winters 250,000
Dr Helmer {Hank} Agersborg 250,000

C. Special Resolution

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as a special resolution:

Re-election - Dr Agersborg

4, That pursuant to section 201C(8) of the Corporations Act 2001, Dr Helmer (Hank) Agersborg,
aged 74 years, being a candidate for election as a Director who has turned 72, is re-elected
as a Director to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the

Company.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD
lain Kirkwood

Company Secretary

19 September 2003
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VOTING EXCLUSION

Resolution 2

The Company will disregard any votes cast on Resolution 2 by:

all persons who participated in the issue of the shares; and
any associate of any such person.

However, the Company need not disregard a vote if:

it is cast by a person as proxy for a person who is entitled to vote and it is cast in accordance
with the directions on the proxy form; or

it is cast by the person chairing the meeting as proxy for a person who is entitled to vote and
itis cast in accordance with a direction on the proxy form to vote as the proxy decides.

Resolution 3

The Company will disregard any votes cast on Resolution 3 by:

any non-executive Director; and
any associate of any such person.

However, the Company need not disregard a vote if:

NOTES:

itis cast by a person as proxy for a person who is entitled to vote and it is cast in accordance
with the directions on the proxy form; or

it is cast by the persen chairing the meeting as proxy for a person who is entitled to vote and
it is cast in accordance with a direction on the proxy form to vote as the proxy decides.

The details of the resolutions contained in the Explanatory Memorandum accompanying this
Notice of Annual General Meeting should be read together with and form part of this Notice of
Annual General Meeting.

The Company has determined, in accordance with regulation 7.11.37 of the Corporations
Regulations 2001, that the shares of the Company that are quoted on the Australian Stock
Exchange as at 5.00pm on 30 October 2003 will be taken, for the purposes of the Annual
General Meeting, to be held by the persons who held them at that time. Accordingly those
persons will be entitied to attend and vote at the meeting.
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PROXIES:

1.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two
persons as the member's proxy to attend and vote for the member at the meeting.

If a member is entitled to cast two or more votes at the meeting, they may appoint two
proxies {but no more). Where more than one proxy is appointed, each proxy must be
appointed to represent a specified proportion of the member's voting rights. Neither proxy
may vote on a show of hands

A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

The Form of Proxy must be signed by the member or his or her attorney. Proxies given by
corporations must be signed in accordance with the constitution of the corporation giving the
proxy and either in accordance with the requirements of section 127 of the Corporations Act
20017 or under the hand of a duly authorised officer or attorney.

If any shareholder is unable to attend the Annual General Meeting, he/she is strongly urged
to complete the attached proxy form. To be valid, the Form appointing the proxy and the
power of attorney or other authority {if any) under which it is signed (or any attested copy
thereof) must be returned by hand, facsimile or mail {to be received no later than 10.00am on
29 October 2003) to either of the following offices:

EpiTan Limited

Level 10, 52 Collins Street
Melbourne Victoria 3000
Facsimile number: (03) 9662 4788

or

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
GPO Box 242

Melbourne Victoria 3001

Facsimile number: (03) 9473 2555

if the Form of Proxy is signed but is blank in all other material respects, it will be taken to
mean that it is in favour of the Chairperson of the Meeting for the full voting rights and the
Chairperson intends to vote, as proxy for that shareholder, in favour of the resolution or
resolutions at the meeting.

A proxy may decide whether to vote on any motion, except where the proxy is required by
law or the constitution of the Company to vote, or abstain from voting, in their capacity as
proxy. |f a proxy is directed how to vote on an item of business, the proxy may vote on that
item only in accordance with the direction. If a proxy is not directed how to vote on an item of
business, the proxy may vote as he or she thinks fit.

The Form of Proxy accompanies this Notice of Annual General Meeting.
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EXPLANATORY MEMORANDUM
PURPOSE OF INFORMATION
The purpose of this Explanatory Memorandum (which is included in and forms part of the Notice of
Annual General Meeting dated 19 September 2003) is to provide shareholders with an explanation of
the resolutions to be proposed and considered at the Annual General Meeting on 31 October 2003.
Shareholders should read the full text of this Explanatory Memorandum before deciding how to vote.
If you are in any doubt about the action which you should take in relation to the proposals contemplated
in this Explanatory Memorandum, you should consult your financial or other professional adviser

immediately.

Words or expressions used in this Explanatory Memorandum are defined below. Unless otherwise
stated, all references to sums of money, '$' and 'dolfars' are references to Australian currency.

DEFINITIONS

In this Explanatory Memorandum the following terms have the following meanings:
ASX means Australian Stock Exchange Limited.

Board means the Board of Directors of the Company.

Company means EpiTan Limited ACN 089 644 119.

Constitution means the constitution of the Company.

Director means a director of the Company from time to time.

Listing Rules means the official Listing Rules of the ASX.

Notice of Meeting means the notice of Annual General Meeting dated 19 September 2003 referred to
in and which accompanies this Explanatory Memorandum.

Resolution means a resolution referred to in the Notice of Meeting.

Shares means ordinary fully paid shares in the Company.

Shareholders means the holders of Shares.

THE RESOLUTIONS

{a) To re-elect Dr Terence (Terry) Winters as a Director;

(b) To ratify the issue of 14,500,000 Shares;

{c) To approve the issue of 250,000 options to each of the non-executive directors

(d) To re-elect Dr Helmer (Hank) Agersborg as a Director.
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WHY THE MEETING NEEDS TO BE HELD

(a)

(b)

Financial Statements and Reports

Pursuant to the Corporations Act 2001, the directors of a public company that is required to
hold an annual general meeting must table the financial statements and reports of the
company for the previous year before the members at that annual general meeting.

The Company's financial statements and reports for the year ended 30 June 2003 are
included in the Company's Annual Report for the year ended on that date. A copy of the
Annual Report has been forwarded to each Shareholder. A copy of the Annual Report will be
tabled at the meeting.

Shareholders should note that the sole purpose of tabling the financial statements of the
Company at the Annual General Meeting is to provide Shareholders with the opportunity to
ask questions of the Directors (or the auditor) or discuss matters arising from the financial
statements or the reports on the Company's operations at the meeting. it is not the purpose
of the meeting that the financial statements be accepted, rejected or modified in any way.
Further, as it is not required by the Corporations Act 2001, no resolution to adopt, receive or
consider the Company's financial statements wili be put to the members at the meeting.

Resolution 1: Re-election of Director (Dr Winters)

Under clause 57 of the Company's Constitution, at each Annual General Meeting, one third
of the Directors (or, if their number is not a multiple of 3, then the number nearest to but not
exceeding one third) must retire from office.

The Directors retire by rotation, with the Directors who have been the longest in office since
being elected or re-elected being the Directors who must resign in any year, The Company's
Constitution ensures that no Director is able to remain in office for longer than 3 years without
facing re-election.

Under the Constitution of the Company, the Managing Director (i.e. Dr Millen) is exempt from
the requirement to retire by rotation. Further, under the Constitution, any Director who is
required to retire under clause 55.2 of the Constitution is not to be taken into account when
determining the directors who must retire by rotation.

Likewise, under the Corporations Act 2001 a Director whose office is vacated under
s 201C(3) of the Corporations Act 2001 (ie Dr Agersborg) is not to be taken into account
when determining the Directors who must retire by rotation.

Accordingly, if the Company is to comply with the requirements of clause 57 of its
Constitution and the ASX Listing Ruies, Dr Winters, being the Director longest in office since
his last re-election, must retire at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. As Dr Winters
wishes to continue as a Director of the Company, and is entitled under the Constitution to
seek re-election as a Director at the Annual General Meeting which coincides with his
retirement, Dr Winters offers himself for re-election as a Director.
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Resolution 2: Ratification of placement of Shares

This explanation and information concerning the placement of 14,500,000 Shares at $0.51
per Share completed on 25 August 2003 ('Placement') is provided under Rule 7.5 of the
Listing Rules.

Under Listing Rule 7.1, the approval of the Shareholders is not required prior to an issue of

securities by a listed company if the number of securities to be issued will, when aggregated
with the other securities issued by the Company during the previous 12 months, not exceed
15% of the number of securities on issue at the commencement of that 12 month period.

Under Listing rule 7.4, the shareholders of a listed company can ratify an issue of securities
made without approval under Listing Rule 7.1 if the issue, at the time it was undertaken, did
not breach Listing Rule 7.1. As the number of Shares constituting the Placement plus the
number of other securities issued by the Company in the 12 month period to 25 August 2003
did not exceed the 15% limit, the Placement was not in breach Listing Rule 7.1 and the issue
of the Placement Shares can be ratified under Listing Rule 7.4..

The effect of ratifying the Placement is that all the Placement Shares are immediately
deemed to have been on issue prior to the commencement of the 12 month period applicable
under Listing Rule 7.1 for determining the 15% limit. By ratifying the Placement, the
Company regains immediately the ability to issue securities comprising up to 15% of its
expanded capital without the need for shareholder approval. If the Resolution is approved,
the Company will be able to raise more capital by the issue of further securities without the
delay involved in obtaining shareholder approval. In that regard, it will be well placed to
readily take advantage of opportunities as they arise.

As required by Listing Rule 7.5, the terms and conditions of the Placement were as follows:

. The number of Shares issued was 14,500,000 Shares.

) The issue price of the Shares was $0.51 per share.

The placees of the Shares are institutional, sophisticated and other professional
investor clients (within the meaning of section 708 of the Corporations Act 2007)of the
Melbourne based broker, Intersuisse Limited.

3 The Shares ranked equally with the existing issued Shares from the date of issue.

. The funds raised by the Placement will be used to expand and accelerate the
Company’s clinical trial programme for its leading drug candidate Melanotan. This
includes the addition of studies in the USA and Europe in 2004 and a genotype study
in Australia to identify the skin cancer risk among caucasians. Additional volumes of
drug and implants will also be manufactured to support this acceleration and
expansion of the Company's clinical trial strategy.

A voting exclusion statement relating to this Resolution is included in the Notice of
Annual General Meeting.
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Resolution 3: Approval of the Issue of Options to the Non-executive Directors

Listing Rule 10.11 requires that no securities may be issued to a director of a listed company
without the approval of shareholders by ordinary resolution.

Subject to the approval of the Shareholders, it is proposed to issue further options to the non-
executive Directors. The Company has recently completed a full review of its remuneration
arrangements for its executive officers, senior management and non-executive Directors.
The review was conducted by an independent remuneration consultant, Geoffrey Nunn &
Associates Pty Ltd.

For the non-executive Directors, after assessing all relevant factors, including but not limited
to the recent changes in the regulatory environment and risks confronting directors of listed
companies and the remuneration paid to the non-executive directors of comparable listed
companies, the independent report concluded that the non-executive Directors were not
currently being fairly remunerated by reference to their peers and community expectations.
The Remuneration Committee of the Board has acted on the recommendations of Geoffrey
Nunn & Associates Pty Lid and has approved an increase in the annual fee payable to each
of the non-executive Directors to $40,000 (applicable from 1 November 2003). This increase
does not require Shareholder approval. Further, even after the increase in the fees, the non-
executive Director annual fee remain less than the median fee level for listed Chemicals,
Healthcare & Biotechnology companies - 2003. This is reflective of the Company's decision,
subject to Shareholder approval, to issue options to the non-executive Directors.

In addition, the Remuneration Committee has recommended that further options be issued to
the non-executive Directors. The Resolution will, if approved, authorise the Board to issue of
250,000 Options to each of Dr Agersborg, Dr Winters and Mr McLiesh on the terms and
conditions set out in this Explanatory Memorandum (including Annexure A). As this would be
an issue of securities to a director of a listed company, in accordance with Listing Rule 10.11
Shareholder approval is sought for the issue of the following Options:

Directors Number of Options
Mr Stanley McLiesh 250,000
Dr Terence Winters 250,000
Dr Helmer {Hank) Agersborg 250,000

The maximum number of Options for which approval is sought under the Resolution is
750,000.

if approved by the Shareholders, the Options to be issued to the non-executive Directors will
be issued within 1 month of the date of the meeting. No funds will be raised by the issue of
the Options.

Shareholders should note the following terms of the Options:

(@)  the Exercise Price will be equal (to the nearest whole cent) the volume weighted
average sale price of the Shares on ASX in the 5 trading days commencing on {and
including) 3 November 2003.

(b)  the final date for exercise of the Options will be 31 December 2007;
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(¢)  No Options will be capable of exercise for 12 months after the date of issue.
Thereafter, subject to the limitations in the following sentence, one third of the Options
will vest in the following 12 months, a further one third of the Options will vest in the
next 12 month period and all Options will vest in the holder and be able to be
exercised on and after 3 years from the date of issue. Importantly, vesting of the
Options is dependent on the recipient remaining a Director and continuing to be an
active participate in the activities of the Board;

{d) the issue of the Options is not under any form of employee incentive scheme. It is
separate to and is not part of the Company's Employee Option Plan; and

(¢)  an approval by the Sharehclders under Listing Rule 10.11 will obviate the need for
approval of the issue of the Options as an exception to Listing Rule 7.1.

The full terms of the Options are annexed to this Explanatory Memorandum as Annexure A.
(e) Special Resolution: Re-election of Director (Dr Agersborg)

Under section 201C of the Corporations Act 2001, any director aged in excess of 72 years
can only be re-elected as a director to hold office until the conclusion of the company’s next
annual general meeting. Further, if the director wishes to be re-elected, his/her re-election
must be approved by the members by special resolution and the resolution must state the
person's age and that the person is a candidate for election as a director who has turned 72.
Under the Corporations Act 2001 a special resaluticn is a resolution passed by at least 75%
of the votes cast by members attending the meeting (in person or by proxy/representative)
and entitled to vote on the resolution.

As Dr Agersborg is aged 74, that being an age in excess of 72 years, his re-glection as a
Director is subject to the satisfaction of the requirements of section 201C of the Corporations
Act 2001. Dr Agershorg wishes to seek re-election as a Director of the Company.
Accordingly, Resolution 4 is proposed in order to comply with the requirements of section
201C(8) of the Corporations Act 2001.

HOW TO VOTE
To vote on the Resolutions you will need to follow these steps:

EITHER 1. Complete the Form of Proxy and return it by facsimile or mail (to be received
no later than 10.00am on 29 October 2003 to the following offices or
facsimile numbers:

EpiTan Limited

Level 10, 52 Collins Street
Melbourne Victoria 3000
Facsimile number: (03) 9662 4788

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
GPO Box 242
Melbourne Victoria 3001
Facsimile number: (03) 9473 2555
OR 2. Aftend the meeting.

The lodging of a completed Form of Proxy will not prevent you from attending and voting at the meeting.
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DIRECTORS' RECOMMENDATION

Your Directors recommend that you vote in favour of the Resolutions being put to you at this meeting for
the reascns outlined above. Each Director who has an interest in the outcome of a particular Resolution
has abstained from making a recommendation on those Resolutions.

The Directors recommend that all Shareholders consider very carefully all the information set out in this
Explanatory Memorandum before deciding how to vote on the Resolutions.

QUERIES

If your have any queries about the meeting, the financial statements to be put to the meeting or the
Resolutions being considered, please contact the Managing Director, Dr Wayne Millen at EpiTan
Limited on (03) 9662 4688

COPIES OF DOCUMENTS

This document may be inspected at the Company's registered office at Level 10, 52 Collins Street,
Melbourne, Victoria at any time during business hours.

lain Kirkwood
Company Secretary
EpiTan Limited

19 September 2003
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ANNEXURE A

TERMS OF ISSUE OF OPTIONS

Each option ("Option") entitles the holder of the Option ('Option Holder') to subscribe for and be issued one fully
paid ordinary share ('Share') in EpiTan Limited ABN 88 089 644 119 ('Company') on the terms and conditions set
out below:

1.1

1.2

14

1.5

16

Subject to clauses 1.2 to 1.8 inclusive and 12, each Option is exercisable during the period
commencing on the date the Company grants the Option and concluding at 5.00 pm (AEST) on 31
December 2007 (‘Expiry Date’).

Subject to clauses 1.3 to 1.7 inclusive the following restrictions on exercise of the Options will apply:

{i) no Options may be exercised on or before the first anniversary of the Issue Date;

(ii) no more than 33% of the Options may be exercised on or before the second anniversary of
the Issue Date

{iii) no more than 67% of the Options may be exercised on or before the third anniversary of
the Issue Date; and,

(iv) no restrictions on the exercise of the Options will apply after the third anniversary of the
Issue Date (ie the remaining 33% of the Options will become capable of exercise).

(a) a takeover offer or a takeover announcement is made in respect of the Shares; and

(b) the takeover offer or offer pursuant to the announcement (as the case may be} is accepted
by the holders of not less than 50% in number of the Shares,

all Options currently held by the Option Holder will become immediately capable of exercise.

If an offer for the Shares is made to the members of the Company under a scheme of arrangement
which has been approved in accordance with the Comporations Act 2001, all Options currently held by
the Option Holder will become immediately capable of exercise within the period notified by the
Company.

If the Option Holder ceases for any reason to be a director of the Company on or before 31 October
2004, all Options held by the Option Holder will lapse.

If the Option Holder ceases for any reason to be a director of the Company in the period between 1
November 2004 and before 31 October 2008, the following number of Options held by the Option
Holder will immediately lapse:

X
L = —xY
24
where L= the number of Options that will automatically lapse on the Cption
Holder ceasing to be a Director;
Y= the number of Options equal to 67% of the Options initially granted
to the Option Holder;
X= the number of completed months in the period beginning on the

date that the Option Holder ceases to be a Director and ending on
31 October 2006. (For the purpose of this definition, a part only of
a month will not count as a month.)
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1.7 If in the 12 month periods commencing on 1 November 2004 and 1 November 2005 respectively, the
Option Holder does not attend (personally or by telephone or by other effective telecommunication
service) at least 80% of the meetings of the Board, then, for each year in which that occurs, the
number of Options determined by application of the following formula that would otherwise become
exercisable by the Option Holder for the first time at the commencement of the following year (under
clause 1.2) will lapse:

L= A B2
12" B

wherel = the number of Options to lapse;

N = the number of Options which, under clauses 1.2(jii) or 1.2(iv), as the case
may be, will vest in the Option Holder for the first time on the
commencement of the following 12 month period;

A = the number of months during the relevant year that the Option Holder was
a Director;

Z = the number of Board meetings attended by the Option Holder during the
year or, if the Option Holder ceases to hold office as a Director during the
year, in the period prior to the date that he ceased to hold that office; and

B = the total number of Board meetings held during the year or, if the Option
Holder ceases to hold office as a Director during the year, in the period
prior o the date that he ceased to hold that office.

[Note: Clause 1.5, 1.6 and 1.7 have operative effect independently and cumulatively. For example: if
an Option Holder (who was allocated 1,000,000 Options) ceases to be a Director in the sixth month of
the second year (ie during April 2005) and in the second year attended only 3 of the 4 Board meetings
in that six month period, the number of Options that would lapse is as follows:

Under clause 1.5, the following Options would lapse:

L=£xY
24

[where X =6 and Y = 670,000]
= 167,500 Options would lapse

Under clause 1.7, because the Option Holder only attended 75% of the meetings in the
relevant part of the second year, the following further Options would lapse:

L= o A B - Z)
12 B

where N = 330,000 (the number of Options that will vest at the commencement of year 3
under clause 1.2 (iii)

B =4 (the number of Board meetings in the relevant period}

Z =3 (the number of Board meetings attended by the Option Holder in the
relevant period)
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= 300,000x1—62- x(i-_—?)—)

= 41,250 further Options would lapse

Therefore, in the present example, owing to the cumulative effect of clauses 1.5 and 1.7,
208,750 Options originally granted to the Option Holder would lapse.]

The Company may, at its sole discretion, waive the conditions set out in clauses 1.5, 1.6 and 1.7. If
50, then subject to clauses 1.2, 1.3 and 1.4, which will continue to be applicable, the Option Holder will
be entitled to exercise the Options notwithstanding that he/she may have ceased to be a director of
the Company.

The Options may be exercised wholly or in part by giving notice in writing ('Notice of Exercise') in the
form provided to the Company at any time during the Option Period,

If the fully paid ordinary shares of the Company are listed on the ASX, the Company will apply to the
ASX for, and will use its best endeavours to obtain, quotation or listing of all share(s) issued on the
exercise of an Option within 10 business days (s defined in the Listing Rules of the ASX) of issue.
The Company gives no assurance that such quotation or listing will be granted,

The exercise price for each Option is $##[the volume weighted average sale price of the Company's
shares on ASX in the 5 trading days on and from 3 November 2003] ('Exercise Price') and is payable
immediately on exercise.

On receipt by the Company of the Notice of Exercise and payment of the Exercise Price, the Company
must, within 14 business days (as defined in the Listing Rules of Australian Stock Exchange Limited
(‘ASX")), allot to the Option Holder one ordinary share in respect of each Option exercised by the
Option Holder and despatch the relevant acknowledgment of issue as soon as is reasonably
practicable,

Shares issued on the exercise of an Option will rank equally in all respects with the then existing
issued ordinary fully paid shares in the Company and will be subject to the provisions of the
constitution of the Company.

An Option does not confer the right to participate in any new issue of securities of the Company,
unless the Option Holder has first exercised the Option.

No adjustment to the number of shares over which each Option exists and/or the Exercise Price will be
made except in accordance with clause 9.
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Adjustments to the number of shares over which Options exist and/or the Exercise Price will be made
to take account of changes to the capital structure of the Company by way of pro rata bonus and cash
issues as follows:

(a) Pro-Rata Cash issues

Where a pro-rata issue is made (except a bonus issue) to the holders of underying
securities, the Exercise Price of an Option may be reduced according to the following

formula:

oo ElP=(s+D)
N+1

where;

0'= the new exercise price of the Option.

O = the cld exercise price of the Option.

E = the number of underlying securities into which cne Option is Exercisable.

P= the average market Price per security (weighted by reference to volume) of the
undertying securities during the 5 frading days ending on the day before the ex
rights date or ex entitlements date.

S = the Subscription price for a security under the pro rata issue.
D= the Dividend due but not yet paid on the existing underlying securities (except
those to be issued under the pro rata issue).
N = the Number of securities with rights or entitlements that must be held to receive
a right to one new security.
(b} Pro-Rata Bonus issues

If there is a bonus issue to the holders of the underlying securities, on the exercise of any
Options, the number of shares received will include the number of bonus shares that would
have been issued if the Options had been exercised prior to the record date for bonus
issues. The Exercise Price will not change.

In the event of any reorganisation (including consolidation, sub-division, reduction or retum) of the
issued capital of the Company, the rights of the Option Holder including the number of Options or the
Exercise Price or both shall be reorganised (as appropriate) to the extent necessary to comply with the
Listing Rules of Australian Stock Exchange Limited applying to a reorganisation of capital at the time
of the reorganisation.

Itis not the intention of the Company to apply for quotation or listing of the Options on the ASX.
In the event of the liquidation of the Company, all unexercised Options will lapse.

Except for transfers to superannuation funds or trusts associated with and controlled by the Option
Holder, the Options are not transferable except with the prior written consent of the Company. !f the
Options are transferred to superannuation funds or trusts associated with and controlled by the Option
Holder or the Company consents to the transfer of the Options, the Company may impose any
conditions on the transferee, including a condition that the transferee agree to be bound by the above
terms and conditions, that it in its sole discretion determines to be appropriate.

Notices may be given by the Company to the Option Holder in the manner prescribed by the
constitution of the Company for the giving of notices to the Shareholders of the Company and the
relevant provisions of the constitution will apply with all necessary modification to notices to be given.
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Melbourne, Australia

EpiTan Limited (ASX:EPT) today announced it has signed a collaborative agreement
with pSiMedica Limited, a subsidiary of pSivida (ASX:PSD), a Perth-based
nanotechnology company.

The agreement aims to develop a new liquid-based sustained-release formulation for
MelanotanQd incorporating pSivida's BioSilicon™ nanotechnology.

pSivida is committed to the biomedical applications of nanotechnology and has as its
core focus the development and commercialisation of nano -structured porous silicon
(BioSilicon™) in biocompatible and biodegradable forms for use in human and
animal healthcare.

Michael Kleinig, EpiTan’s Pharmaceutical and New Business Development Manager,
said: “We aim to use pSivida’'s nanotechnology to load up microscopic porous
particles — which have a honeycomb structure — with Melanotan. After injecting
perhaps as little as one millilitre of this solution into the body the drug would be
released into the body over 20-30 days.”

“This is an outstanding opportunity to combine Melanotan with this new sophisticated
nanotechnology. Initial proof-of-concept studies are expected to be completed by the
end of this year. This work follows the successful development of the sustained-
release implant which will commence clinical trials in November at Q-Pharm in
Queensland.”

“We are always looking to the future and the outcome of this work could lead to a
second-generation Melanotan product,” said Dr Wayne Millen, EpiTan’s Managing
Director. “As this product would be a liquid-based sustained-release product
delivered via a single dose, it would give consumers further choice as to how they
could have Melanotan administered. They could now conceivably have the choice of
an implant, a liquid injection or a topical application.”

Mr Gavin Rezos, pSivida's Managing Director, said: “We believe BioSilicon™ is an
ideal drug delivery vehicle for Melanotan. BioSilicon™ provides significant control
over the timing of drug release, which can be altered from hours, days, weeks and
months by simply adjusting the porosity of BioSilicon™. Importantly BioSilicon™



biodegradeable and dissolves to produce silicic acid, the natural form of silicon which
is found in everyday foodstuffs.”

Today EpiTan also announced that the volunteer participation aspect of the
company’s Phase lIb “sunburn injury” clinical trials with Melanotan concluded in mid-
September. The data collected from these trials is currently being processed and
preliminary results are anticipated in early November.

ABOUT THE COMPANY: EpiTan Limited (ASX: EPT) is an emerging biotechnology
company with a pre-eminent position on the prevention of DNA and skin damage
from ultra-violet (UV) radiation exposure. Based in Melbourne, Australia, EpiTan
holds a unique technology platform centred on its leading drug candidate
Melanotan®. The company has the exclusive worldwide rights to develop Melanotan
which, like sunlight, stimulates the production of melanin in the skin or
“melanogenesis” — a unique biochemical process. A resulting natural tan develops
without exposure to harmful levels of UV light.

Melanotan has concluded its Phase Ilb clinical trials at two sites — the Royal Prince
Alfred Hospital in Sydney and the Royal Adelaide Hospital. These trials are designed
to demonstrate that Melanotan can reduce the incidence of skin damage resulting
from harmful exposure to UV light. The last of 80 volunteers completed their
participation in the trial in mid-September and preliminary results are anticipated
early November 2003.

EpiTan has now successfully developed a more user-friendly drug delivery
formulation of Melanotan in the form of a slow release implant. This will be used in
the remaining clinical programme and the commercialised product.

EpiTan is also investigating Melanotan as a therapeutic agent for other indications
such as vitiligo, albinism and psoriasis and UV induced skin allergies such as
polymorphous light eruption (“PMLE") and solar urticaria. PMLE is a significant UV
induced skin allergy in northern latitudes.

Potential markets worldwide for Melanotan for dermatology purposes are estimated
at US$2.5 billion. An even greater market (more than US$5 billion) exists for
Melanotan as a new safe (sunless) tanning drug.

ABOUT pSIVIDA Limited

pSivida is an Australianbased biotechnology company committed to the biomedical
applications of nano-technology and which has as its core focus the development
and commercialisation of nano-structured porous silicon (BioSilicon™) in
biocompatible and biodegradable forms for use in human and animal healthcare
through its UK subsidiary pSiMedica Limited, and in conjunction with UK Government
owned QinetiQ plc. As a true ‘platform technology’, BioSilicon™ has multiple
potential applications across the high growth healthcare sector, including controlled
drug delivery, tissue engineering and orthopaedics.

pSivida is listed on the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX Code: PSD).
www.pSivida.com.au

-End-
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Melbourne, Australia

Significant progress on development of the melanin-producing drug Melanotan®, securing
collaborations to develop different formulations for the drug, leading to a major capital raising
post-year end, were significant achievements for drug-development company EpiTan Limited
for the year ending July 2003, Managing Director Dr Wayne Millen said today.

“EpiTan made enormous progress on a number of fronts in the last financial year”, said Dr
Millen. “Progress on development of the melanin-producing drug Melanotan® was excellent,
as announced in May, and important collaborations were secured to develop more user
friendly delivery formulations. Our major capital raising post-year end has put the company in
a strong financial position to accelerate its clinical trial programme”.

EpiTan announced a loss for the year ending June 2003 of $4.0 million, following a year of
major development of Melanotan, the company’s leading drug candidate in the field of
melanogenesis, the process in which the body produces melanin.

This result was achieved after fully expensing all clinical development and drug delivery
research costs totalling $2.6 million. Income for the period, representing bank interest,
totalled $136,404. The company has no borrowings and had cash reserves at the end of the
year of $2.6 million.

Since the year-end the company has successfully raised a further $9 million from a
combination of options exercise and a placement of ordinary shares to institutional and
sophisticated investors. The money will be used to expand and accelerate the company’s
clinical trial programme for its leading drug candidate Melanotan. This includes the addition
of studies in the USA and Europe in 2004 and a genotype study in Australia to identify the
skin cancer risk among Caucasians. Additional volumes of drug and implants will also be
manufactured to support this acceleration and expansion of the company’s clinical trial
strategy.

Dr Millen said that 2003 was a “very pleasing year”, highlighted by:

O Excellent progress on human trials with Melanotan at different sites throughout
Australia;

0 Securing important collaborations for additional drug delivery formulations;

0 Securing a meeting with the US Food & Drug Administration for the purpose of
obtaining approval to begin trials in the USA,

O Anincrease in the company's market capitalisation to over $70 million at the end of
August.



“The successful capital raising underscores the excellent progress made during the year and
is recognition from investors that our leading drug candidate, Melanotan, is advancing
towards commercialisation,” said Dr Millen. “The reality is that very few drugs in Australia

have got to the stage of undertaking Phase Il trials whereas our drug is just about to
conclude its Phase Il study.”

Phase lIb “sunburn injury” trial

During the year EpiTan’s Phase Il clinical “sunburn” trial began at two sites — Sydney’s Royal
Prince Alfred Hospital and the Royal Adelaide Hospital. The trial involves eighty healthy
volunteers being administered Melanotan and the key objective is to measure the
effectiveness of the drug to increase skin melanin density and reduce sunburn injury which
results in DNA and skin damage

In May 2003 the company announced that the first group of subjects had completed the
three-month study and that the results were “excellent”. EpiTan reported that it was
“extremely encouraged by the progress reports and fully expects the results to show that
sunburn damage is markedly reduced following Melanotan treatment”. The last of the 80

volunteers are expected to complete their regime in mid September 2003 with preliminary
results available in early November 2003,

Head of the trial, Professor Ross Barnetson from Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, said he was
happy with the progress of the trial. “A number of the volunteers developed a tan as
expected,” he said. “Australia has the highest incidence of skin cancer in the world and itis a
very expensive problem. | think Melanotan will cut down the incidence of skin cancer in the
long term.”

Sustained release implant formulation

In February 2003, EpiTan announced the successful development of a sustained-release
formulation for Melanotan which the company considers a major improvement on the current
daily injection being used in the Phase IIb “sunburn injury” trial. The new formulation was the
product of a successful strategic collaborative agreement with Southern Research Institute
(Alabama, USA) initiated in May 2002.

The new formulation is a small implant designed to be placed under the skin. It is made of
the same material that has been used for many years in self-dissolving stitches and is
therefore known to be safe and reliable. As the implant is totally biodegradabile it does not
have to be removed at the end of the treatment. The new formulation allows Melanotan to be
released into the body over a period of time

In June 2003 EpiTan announced that it had obtained approval from the Queensland Institute
of Medical Research (QIMR) to begin its first human implant triais (Phase { & ). These trials
are scheduled to take six months to complete.

In the trials up to 24 healthy volunteers will receive only one injection of Melanotan contained
in a long acting implant. This formulation is a much more commercially viable delivery
mechanism. Similar implants, such as ZoladexO (AstraZeneca) for the treatment of prostate
cancer, have already been approved for use in Australian and worldwide markets.

Collaborative agreements

In early June, EpiTan announced it had signed collaborative research agreements with
Monash University, based in Melbourne, and the Institute of Medical and Veterinary Science,
based in Adelaide. This followed the announcement in May of a collaborative arrangement
with CollaGenex Pharmaceutical (USA) and Thomas Skéld (Sweden) to use their
Restoraderm™ technology.

Collectively these agreements will spearhead the development of a topical formulation for
Melanotan.



FDA meeting

EpiTan is meeting with the US Food & Drug Administration next month to obtain approval to
begin trials in the USA, via an Investigational New Drug, with Melanotan implants.

Expansion of clinical trial strategy in 2004

During 2004 the company will expand its clinical trial strategy to include therapeutic
indications such as polymorphous light eruption (PMLE) which is a significant UV-induced
skin allergy in northern latitudes. It is estimated that between 10-20% of the population of
North America, Britain and Scandinavia suffer from PMLE in spring and early summer.
EpiTan is becoming increasingly confident from its studies that Melanotan can be used to
address these sun-induced skin disorders.

A genotype study will also commence in Australia to identify the skin cancer risk among
Caucasians and the company will begin planning for the final Phase Il| trials for Melanotan,
which are expected to take place in the USA, Europe and Australia.

ABOUT THE COMPANY: EpiTan Limited (ASX: EPT) is an emerging biotechnology
company with a pre-eminent position on the prevention of DNA and skin damage from ultra-
violet (UV) radiation exposure. Based in Melbourne, Australia, EpiTan holds a unique
technology platform centred on its leading drug candidate Melanotan®. The company has
the exclusive worldwide rights to develop Melanotan, which, like sunlight, stimulates the
production of melanin in the skin — “Melanogenesis”, a unique biochemical process. A
resulting natural tan develops without exposure to harmful levels of UV light.

Melanotan is in the concluding stages of Phase IIb clinical trials at two sites — the Royall
Prince Alfred Hospital in Sydney and the Royal Adelaide Hospital. These trials are designed
to demonstrate that Melanotan can reduce the incidence of skin damage resulting from
harmful exposure to ultra-violet light. The last of the 80 volunteers are expected to complete
their participation in the trial in mid September 2003.

EpiTan has now successfully developed a more user-friendly drug delivery formulation of
Melanotan in the form of a slow release implant. This will be used in the remaining clinical
programme and the commercialised product. EpiTan has obtained approval from the
Queensland Institute of Medical Research (QIMR) to begin its first human implant trial which
is expected to begin in November 2003 and is scheduled to take six months to complete.

EpiTan is also investigating Melanotan as a therapeutic agent for other indications such as
vitiligo, albinism, psoriasis and various recognised sun allergies such as polymorphous light
eruptions (PMLE or sun poisoning) and solar urticaria. Clinical trials for PMLE are being
planned for Europe in early 2004.

Potential markets worldwide for Melanotan for dermatology purposes are estimated at
US$1.5 billion. An even greater market (more than US$5 billion) exists for Melanotan as a
new safe (sunless) tanning drug.
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RESULTS FOR ANNOUNCEMENT TO THE MARKET

The results of EpiTan Limited for the year ended 30 June 2003 are as foliows:

~Change
compared
Revenues and Results from Ordinary to 2002 2003
Activities: % $
Revenues from ordinary activities Down 47% to 136,404
Loss from ordinary activities after tax Loss has 27% to (3,976,770)
attributable to members increased
Net Loss for the period aftributable to Loss has 27% to (3,976,770)
members increased

Dividends:

No dividends have been paid or declared by the entity since the beginning of the

current report period.

No dividends were paid for the previous corresponding period.

Brief explanation of figures reported above:

The loss of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2003 after provision for income
tax of nil was $3,976,770 ($2002: $3,141,224). This result has been achieved after
fully expensing all clinical development and drug delivery research costs totalling
$2,642,767. income for the period totalled $136,404 representing interest income.
The company has no borrowing and at 30 June 2003 cash reserves of $2,611,853.




COMMENTARY ON RESULTS

The loss of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2003 after provision for income
tax of nil was $3,976,770 (2002 - $3,141,224). This result has been achieved after
fully expensing all clinical development and drug delivery research costs totalling
$2,642,767. Income for the period totalled $136,404 representing interest income.
The company has no borrowing and at 30 June 2003 cash reserves of $2,611,853.
Subsequent to year end:

(a) The sum of $1,527,341 was received in July from the exercise of 5,485,909

listed options which were the subject of an underwriting agreement in place
as at 30 June 2003.

(b) A placement of 14,500,000 ordinary shares was successfully completed on
25 August 2003 to institutional and sophisticated investors pursuant to s.708
of The Corporations Act. Total proceeds amounted to $7,395,000 before
expenses.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activity of the consolidated entity during the financial year was to further
develop, ‘Melanotan’, the company’s leading drug candidate in the field of
melanogenesis, a unique biochemical process whereby melanin is produced in the
body.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Financial

At the beginning of the year the company'’s cash resources were $4,414,100. During
the year the company spent $3,412,046 including $2,642,7670on clinical trials and
drug formulation research and development, earned $136,404 in bank interest and
received $140,428 in GST refunds. During the year a total of $1,316,380 was raised
in fresh capital from both the Share Purchase Plan in March and the exercise of
listed options in June. At the end of the financial year, the company’s financial
resources amounted to $2,611,853; this figure excludes cash of $1,527,341 received
in the first week of July from options exercised under an underwriting arrangement in
place as at 30 June 2003.

Clinical trials

The Phase Il clinical “sunburn” trial got underway at two sites — Sydney's Royal
Prince Alfred Hospital and the Royal Adelaide Hospital. The trial involves eighty
healthy volunteers being administered Melanotan. The trial’s key objective is to
measure the effectiveness of the drug to increase skin melanin density and reduce
sunburn injury which results in DNA and skin damage The subjects, of varying skin
types, receive controlled levels of UVA and UVB radiation onto a small area of skin
resulting in a level of burning similar to spending 30 — 120 minutes in strong sun
without sunscreen. A skin biopsy is taken to measure the level of resulting sunburn



injury. The volunteers then receive a regime of Melanotan, the same UV radiation
exposure, and another skin biopsy. In May 2003 the company announced that the
first group of subjects had completed the three month study and that the results were
“excellent”. The last group of volunteers are now nearing the completion of their
regime and preliminary results are expected in early October.

Drug delivery formulations

Two major developments in drug delivery formulations were made during the year.
These new formulations both have potential to increase the commercialisation of
Melanotan compared to the current daily injection.

In February 2003, EpiTan announced the successful development of a sustained-
release formulation for Melanotan. The new formulation was the product of a
successful strategic collaborative agreement with Southern Research Institute
(Alabama, USA) initiated in May 2002.

The new formulation is a small implant designed to be placed under the skin. Itis
made of the same material that has been used for many years in “self-dissolving”
stitches and is therefore known to be safe and reliable. As the implant is totally
biodegradable it does not have to be removed at the end of the treatment.

The formulation is a major improvement on the daily injections being used in the
current Phase lib clinical trial. Melanotan will be released into the body over a period
of time so that the subjects participating in the next clinical trial will need only one
injection.

Similar implants, such as ZoladexO (AstraZeneca) for the treatment of prostate
cancer, have already been approved for use in Australian and worldwide markets.

In May 2003, EpiTan announced the signing of a strategic collaborative agreement
with CollaGenex Pharmaceuticals Inc. of Newtown, Pennsylvania, USA and Mr
Thomas Skéld of Norrtélje, Sweden to develop a topical formulation. CollaGenex
acquired the rights to the novel drug delivery system, known as Restoraderm™
technology, from Mr Thomas Skoéld, the inventor of the technology, in 2002. EpiTan
has sub-licensed this technology from CollaGenex.

This technology improves the feasibility of developing a topical formulation for
Melanotan, as previous technology was unable to achieve this objective. It is
envisaged a new formulation may enable Melanotan to be released directly into the
skin to the melanin producing cells. This will build on the successful development of a
single dose slow-release implant.

In addition, it is important that EpiTan continues to investigate the development of
additional delivery mechanisms including lotions and patches. It is expected that
Melanotan will be first launched onto the market with the implant. In due course, the
successful development of a topical lotion will offer patients and doctors the choice of
an alternative user-friendly and convenient delivery for Melanotan.

Outlook

The company will continue to build on its unique melanogenesis platform technology
through its leading drug candidate Melanotan. In September, the Phase llb clinical
trials using the daily injection delivery mechanism will be completed. EpiTan is
confident that this trial will confirm its earlier, interim progress report of increasing the
skin’s melanin density and reducing sunburn injury.

In November 2003, the company will begin trials using the newly developed
sustained release formulation. These Phase | and Il trials will be conducted at the



Queensland Institute of Medical Research (QIMR) and will involve up to 24 healthy
human volunteers. Aside form the usual safety and toxicity data, the trials will confirm
the optimal dose of drug to be placed in the long acting implant. This trial is
scheduled to take six months.

The company is meeting with the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in early
October 2003 for the purpose of obtaining approval to begin trials in the USA, via an
IND, with Melanotan implants.

During 2004 the company expects to expand and accelerate the company’s clinical
trial programme for its leading drug candidate Melanotan. This includes the addition
of studies in the USA and Europe in 2004 and a genotype study in Australia to
identify the skin cancer risk among Caucasians. Additional volumes of drug and
implants will also be manufactured to support this acceleration and expansion of the
company’s clinical trial strategy. The company is currently actively seeking a
partnership with a larger pharmaceutical company to assist with Phase Il trials and
commercialisation.

lain Kirkwood
Company Secretary
8 September 2003
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EPITAN LIMITED
A.B.N. 88089 644 119
AND CONTROLLED ENTITY

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The Board has the responsibility for ensuring the Company is properly managed so as to protect and
enhance shareholders’ interests in a manner which is consistent with the Company’s responsibility to meet
its obligations to all parties with which the Company interacts. The following is a summary of the
Company’s Corporate Governance policies.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is comprised of a majority of non-executive directors to ensure that the Board remains
independent of day-to-day management.

The terms and conditions relating to the appointment and retirement of non-executive directors are
determined on a case-by-case basis and in conformity with the requirements of the ASX Listing Rules and
the Corporations Act 2001,

For the purposes of the proper performance of their duties, directors are entitled to seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The current Board comprises the members of the audit committee. Dr W.A. Millen is a non-voting member,
The principal functions of the Audit Committee include reviewing and making recommendations to the
Board regarding:

» assisting the Board in the discharge of its responsibilities in respect of the preparation of the
Company’s financial statements and the Company’s internal controls;

» recommending to the Board nominees for appointment as external auditors;

s providing a line of communications between the Board and the external auditors; and

*  examining the external auditors evaluation of internal controls and management’s response.

Two meeting of the Audit Committee were held during the financial year.

William Buck was appointed company auditor on 28 November 2000. The Audit Committee is responsible
for the terms of the appointment. The external auditor is invited to attend all Audit Committee meetings
during the year. Although the appointment of the external auditor is reviewed regularly by the Audit
Committee, it is anticipated that the audit engagement partner will be rotated every 5 years.

The auditors do not prepare the primary accounting records nor are they involved in Company decision
making. The technical expertise of the auditors is called upon from time to time to assist the directors in
discharging various statutory responsibilities. The following is a summary of fees paid to William Buck and
related entities for non-audit services for the financial year ended 30 June 2003.

* Financial accounting assistance - $18,352

» Income tax and compliance services including preparation and lodgement of various statutory
requirements - $4,220

» Indirect tax and R&D concession advice $7,070



2.

EPITAN LIMITED
A.B.N. 88 089 644 119
AND CONTROLLED ENTITY

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee constitutes the full Board and is responsible for determining

the appropriate level of remunerations for directors, executives and senior managers details of which are
outlined in the Directors’ Report. This committee is also responsible for the nomination of directors and
reviewing the balance, nature and experience required of directors to properly fulfil its duties.

ADOPTION OF A CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE PROTOCOL

The Company has adopted a continue disclosure protocol. The Chief Executive Officer has been appointed
the Disclosure Officer and is required to collate and, where appropriate, disclose share price sensitive
information.

IDENTIFICATION AND MANAGEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT BUSINESS RISK

The Company has prepared a detailed plan for the Melanotan project. The Board receives regular reports in
order to monitor the progress of the Company’s major project.

ETHICAL STANDARDS

The Company recognises the need for directors and employees to observe the highest standards of
behaviour and business ethics when engaging in corporate activity.

The Company intends to maintain a reputation for integrity. The Board has adopted a Code of Ethics which
sets out the principles and standards with which all officers and emplo yees are expected to comply in the
performance of their respective functions.

A key element of that Code is the requirement that officers and employees act in accordance with the law
and with the highest standards of propriety. The Code and its implementation are to be reviewed each year.

DETAILS OF OPTIONS TERMS AND CONDITIONS
Details of the Employee Option Plan are included at note 23(b) of the financial statements.

The company engaged Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte™) to prepare a report providing the fair market
value of the options issued to Directors, Employees and Consultants.

For the purposes of Deloitte’s opinion, fair market value is defined as the amount at which the options
would change hands between a knowledgeable willing buyer and a knowledgeable willing seller, neither
being under a compulsion to buy or sell. The value derived represents a theoretical value as there is not and
is not likely to be a market for these options.

The valuation has been undertaken to ensure the company’s compliance with the newly published ASIC
“Guidelines to Valuing Options in Annual Directors’ Reports” (“ASIC guidelines™) and IASB Exposure
Draft “ED2/ED108 Share-Based Payment (“ED2/ED108”). The methodology utilised incorporates the

necessary parameters as specified by the ASIC guidelines and ED2/ED108.

The staff eligible to participate in the scheme may exercise 33.3% of their options after 12 months of being
issued, a further 33.3% after 24 months and the remaining options 36 months after issue. The conditions for
exercise require the closing sales price of the Company’s shares on the ASX to equal or exceed a specified
price for a period of not less than 5 consecutive trading days. In addition, the staff must satisfy some
performance benchmarks specifically related to their area of expertise. The exercise price is determined at
the time of the employee joining the company and the term is 5 years.



One of the consultants eligible for the scheme may exercise 33.3% of his options after 12 months of being
issued, a further 33.3% after 24 months and the remaining options 36 months after issue. Another
consultant may exercise 25,000 options for each month of the service agreement completed. The
consultants may only exercise their options when the closing sales price of the Company’s shares on the
ASX equals or exceeds a specified price for a period of not less than 5 consecutive trading days. The
exercise price is determined at the time of appointment and the term is 5 years.

One of the directors eligible to participate in the scheme may exercise 33.3% of his options after 12 months
of being issued, a further 33.3% after 24 months and the remaining options 36 months after issue. The other
directors may exercise 33.3% of their options immediately after issue, a further 33.3% after 9 months and
the remaining options after 21 months of issue. If a director ceases to be a director or attends less than 80%
of Board meetings then a proportion of the options will lapse. The exercise price is $0.30 and the term is
3.5 or 2.75 years.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Your directors present their report on the company and its controlled entity for the financial year ended 30
June 2003.

DIRECTORS

The names of directors in office at any time during or since the end of the year are:

Dr W.A. Millen

Dr HP K. Agersborg

Dr T.E. Winters

Dr A.J. Cooper (resigned 30 April 2003)

Mr S.R. McLiesh (appointed 12 September 2002)

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise
stated,

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activity of the consolidated entity during the financial year was to further develop,
‘Melanotan’, the company’s leading drug candidate in the field of melanogenesis, the process whereby
melanin is produced in the body.

OPERATING RESULTS

The consolidated loss of the consolidated entity after providing for income tax amounted to $3,976,770
(2002 - $3,141,224).

DIVIDENDS PAID OR RECOMMENDED

No dividends were paid or declared during the financial year.
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Highlights for the year

.0 Phase II clinical trials progressing extremely well and scheduled to be completed in September
2003;

O Successful development of a long acting implant and now ready to go into human clinical trials in
November 2003;

0 Secured the rights through a collaborative agreement signed with CollaGenex and Thomas Skéld to
develop a topical formulation;

[0 Collaborative research agreement signed with Monash University (Mebourne) and the Institute of
Medical and Veterinary Science (IMVS) based in Adelaide to fast track development of the topical
formulation;

D Additional $1.3 million capital raised from existing and new shareholders;

O Market capitalisation increased to $24.6 million (2002 — $9.5 million).

Financial

At the beginning of the year the consolidated entity’s cash resources were $4,414,100. During the year the
consolidated entity spent $3,412,046 including $2,642,767 on clinical trials and drug formulation research
and development, earned $136,404 in bank interest and received $140,428 in GST refunds. During the year



-4-

EPITAN LIMITED
A.B.N. 88 089 644 119
AND CONTROLLED ENTITY

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

a total of $1,316,380 was raised in fresh capital from both the Share Purchase Plan in March ($271,005) and
the exercise of listed options in June (3926,946). At the end of the financial year, the consolidated entity’s
financial resources amounted to $2,611,853; this figure excludes cash of $1,527,341 received in the first
week of July from options exercised under an underwriting arrangement in place as at 30 June 2003.

Clinical trials

The Phase II clinical “sunburn” trial got underway at two sites — Sydney’s Royal Prince Alfred Hospital and
the Royal Adelaide Hospital. The trial involves eighty healthy volunteers being administered Melanotan.
The trial’s key objective is to measure the effectiveness of the drug to increase skin melanin density and
reduce sunbumn injury which results in DNA and skin damage The subjects, of varying skin types, receive
controlled levels of UVA and UVB radiation onto a small area of skin resulting in a level of burning similar
to spending 30 — 120 minutes in strong sun without sunscreen. A skin biopsy is taken to measure the level
of resulting sunburn injury. The volunteers then receive a regime of Melanotan, the same UV radiation
exposure, and another skin biopsy. In May 2003 the company announced that the first group of subjects had
completed the three month study and that the results were “excellent”. The last group of volunteers are now
nearing the completion of their regime and preliminary results are expected in early October.

Drug delivery formulations

Two major developments in drug delivery formulations were made during the year. These new formulations
both have potential to increase the commercialisation of Melanotan compared to the current daily injection.

In February 2003, EpiTan announced the successful development of a sustained-release formulation for
Melanotan. The new formulation was the product of a successful strategic collaborative agreement with
Southern Research Institute {Alabama, USA) initiated in May 2002.

The new formulation is a small implant designed to be placed under the skin. It is made of the same
material that has been used for many years in “self-dissolving” stitches and is therefore known to be safe
and reliable. As the implant is totally biodegradable it does not have to be removed at the end of the
treatment.

The formulation is a major improvement on the daily injections being used in the current Phase IIb clinical
trial. Melanotan will be released into the body over a period of time so that the subjects participating in the
next clinical trial will need only one injection.

Similar implants, such as ZoladexJ (AstraZeneca) for the treatment of prostate cancer, have already been
approved for use in Australian and worldwide markets.

In May 2003, EpiTan announced the signing of a strategic collaborative agreement with CollaGenex
Pharmaceuticals Inc. of Newtown, Pennsylvania, USA and Mr Thomas Skdld of Norrtélje, Sweden to
develop a topical formulation. CollaGenex acquired the rights to the novel drug delivery system, known as
Restoraderm™ technology, from Mr Thomas Skdld, the inventor of the technology, n 2002. EpiTan has
sub-licensed this technology from CollaGenex.

This technology improves the feasibility of developing a topical formulation for Melanotan, as previous
technology was unable to achieve this objective. It is envisaged a new formulation may enable Melanotan to
be released directly into the skin to the melanin producing cells. This will build on the successful
development of a single dose slow-release implant.

In addition, it is important that EpiTan continues to investigate the development of additional delivery
mechanisms including lotions and patches. It is expected that Melanotan will be first launched onto the
market with the implant. In due course, the successful development of a topical lotion will offer patients and
doctors the choice of an alternative user-friendly and convenient delivery for Melanotan.
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Outlook

The company will continue to build on its unique melanogenesis platform technology through its leading
drug candidate Melanotan. In September, volunteers participating in the Phase IIb clinical trials using the
daily injection delivery mechanism will complete the regime. EpiTan is confident that this trial will confirm
its earlier, interim progress report of increasing the skin’s melanin density and reducing sunburn injury. In
November 2003, the company will begin trials using the newly developed sustained release formulation.
These Phase I/I1 trials will be conducted at the Queensland Institute of Medical Research (QIMR) and will
involve up to 24 healthy human volunteers. Aside form the usual safety and toxicity data, the trials will
confirm the optimal dose of drug to be placed in the long acting implant. This trial is scheduled to take six
months,

The company is meeting with the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in early October 2003 for the
purpose of obtaining approval to begin trials in the USA, via an IND, with Melanotan implants.

During 2004 the company will begin planning for the final Phase III trials for Melanotan which are
expected to take place in the US, Europe and Australia.

The company is currently actively seeking a partnership with a larger pharmaceutical company with the
view to securing funding for the Phase III trials and commercialisation stages.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS
There have been no significant changes in the state of affairs.
SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE

Directors are not aware of any significant events that may have occurred subsequent to balance date, except
that:

i a further 5,485,909 ordinary shares were issued in July 2003 as a result of the exercise of listed
options which were the subject of an underwriting agreement in place as at 30 June 2003. Total cash
received after 30 June as a result of this issue was  $1,527,341.

ii.  a placement of 14,500,000 ordinary shares was completed on 25 August 2003 to institutional and

sophisticated investors pursuant to s.708 of the Corporations Act. Total proceeds amounted to
$7,395,000 before expenses.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS
The directors anticipate that the company will continue its clinical trial and drug development program.
ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE

The consolidated entity’s operations are rot regulated by any significant environmental regulation under a
law of the Commonwealth or of a State or Territory.
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INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS

Dr Wayne A, Millen
Chairman and Managing Director

Age: 62
Qualifications: BSc(Hons) PhD FRACI C CHEM FAusIMM AFAIM

Experience:  Dr Millen is the founding Managing Director of EpiTan Limited.
He has a PhD in chemistry and biochemistry from the University of Western Australia and is a Chartered
Chemist with extensive experience over 30 years operating his own commercial enterprises.

Dr Millen has extensive experience in venture and development capital investment with an emphasis on
companies involved in technological innovation and has been the lead investor and strategist in several
private and public companies.

He has considerable experience in establishing and managing start-up enterprises and brings to the company
operational skills embracing corporate, technological and marketing disciplines.

Interest in shares and options: 19,656,144 ordinary shares.

Dr Helmer P.K. Agersborg
Non-executive Deputy Chairman

Age: 74
Qualifications: BSc PhD

Experience:  Dr Agersborg is Chairman and President of MelanoTan Corp, President of Afferon Corp
and director of Virxsys Corporation, all pharmaceutical companies. He has been President of Wyeth-Ayerst
Research.

During his distinguished forty years in the pharmaceutical industry, more than 50 new drug applications
were approved in the United States, countless marketing applications were approved outside the United
States and innumerable IND’s were accepted around the world by companies under his direction.

Dr Agersborg contributes broad international pharmaceutical development experience at the highest level to
the company.

Interest in shares and options: 750,000 options to acquire ordinary shares.
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INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS (Cont’d)

Dr Terry E. Winters
Non-Executive Director

Age: 61
Qualifications: BSc PhD

Experience:  Dr Winters is a director of four private US based companies and a Special Limited Partner
of Valley Ventures, a $50 million venture capital fund based in Scottsdale, Arizona.

In 1983, he co-founded, and is a General Partner of, Columbine Venture Fund which has invested over
$125 million in life science and technology companies in the western USA.

From the Columbine investments, successful companies have been Orthologic Corp, CollaGenex
Pharmaceuticals, Nanophase Technologies, Curis, Neogen (all NASDAQ quoted) and Microgenics.

Interest in shares and options: 15,315,415 ordinary shares and 750,000 options to acquire ordinary shares.

Mr Stanley Roy McLiesh
Non-Executive Director

Age: 66
Qualifications: BEd

Mr McLiesh has extensive experience in commercialising pharmaceutical products internationally.
Formerly General Manager, Pharmaceuticals at CSL Limited, he was closely involved in the transition of
CSL from government ownership to corporatisation to a highly successful listed company.

While at CSL, Mr McLiesh brokered numerous in-licensing arrangement with international companies
which enabled CSL to expand into new markets profitably. Mr McLiesh has considerable experience in the
international pharmaceutical industry.

Interest in shares and options: 750,000 options to acquire ordinary shares.
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DIRECTORS’ AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS’ EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments of each director are as follows:

Salary Directors’ Superannuation Allowances Options Total
Fees Contributions

$ $ $ $ $ $

Dr W.A. Millen 205,800 - 19,200 12,631 - 237,631
Dr H.P.K Agersborg - 30,000 - - 26,890 56,890
Dr T.E. Winters - 30,000 - - 26,890 56,890
Mr S.R. McLiesh - 21,951 2,097 - 26,814 50,862
Mr A.J. Cooper - 22,861 2,139 - 24,371 49,371

At the date of this financial report, there are no executive officers that are not directors of the company.
MEETING OF DIRECTORS
During the financial year, 9 meetings of directors were held. Attendances were:

Directors’ Meetings

Directors No. eligible to attend No. attended
Dr W.A. Millen 9 9
Dr H.P.K Agersborg 9 9
Dr T.E Winters 9 9
Dr A.J Cooper 8 8
Mr S.R. McLiesh 7 7

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICER

During or since the end of the financial year the company has given an indemnity or entered an agreement
to indemnify, or paid or agreed to pay insurance premiums as follows.

The company has paid premiums to insure each of the directors against liabilities for costs and expenses
incurred by them in defending any legal proceedings arising of their conducts while acting in the capacity of

director of the company, other than conduct involving wilful breach of duty in relation to the company. The
amount of the premium was $72,150.

EMPLOYEES

The consolidated entity employed 6 employees as at 30 June 2003 (2002: S employees).
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SHARE OPTIONS

At the date of this report, unissued ordinary shares of the company under option are:

Expiry Date Exercise Price Number of Options
30 September 2004 $0.30 / share 1,935,937
30 September 2005 $0.30 / share 428,958
31 March 2006 $0.30 / share 750,000
3 April 2006 $0.10 / share 1,250,000
22 October 2006 $0.10 / share 1,300,000
30 May 2007 $0.12 / share 300,000
2 February 2008 $0.16 / share 750,000
13 June 2008 $0.29 / share 500,000

During the year 3,089,825 shares were issued as a result of the exercise of the company’s listed options
(“EPTO”). A further 5,485,909 shares were issued after 30 June 2003 as a result of the exercise of listed
option which were the subject of an underwriting arrangement.

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the company or intervene in any
proceedings to which the company is party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the
company for all or any part of those proceedings.

The company was not party to any such proceedings during the year.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors:

Al WL Y.

S.R. MCLIESH W.A.MILLEN
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

Dated this 8" day of September, 2003.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2003

Consolidated EpiTan Limited
Note 2003 2002 2003 2002

$ S $ $
Revenues from ordinary activities 2 136,404 257,507 136,404 257,507
Total expenses from ordinary activities 2 (4,113,174) (3,398,731) (4,113,174) (4,269,171)
Profit(loss) from ordinary activities
before related income tax expense (3,976,770) (3,141,224) (3,976,770) (4,011,664)
Income tax expense (benefit) relating to
ordinary activities 3 - - - -
Profit(loss) from ordinary activities after
related income tax expense _(3,976,770) (3,141,224 (3,976,770) _(4,011,664)
Net profit(loss) (3,976,770) (3,141,224) (3,976,770} (4,011,664)
Net profit(loss) attributable to members
of EpiTan Limited (3,976,770) (3,141,224) (3,976,770) (4,011,664
Total changes in equity other than those
resulting from transactions with owners
as owners _ (3,976,770) (3,141,224) (3,976,770) ~(4,011,664)
Basic earnings per share - cents per share 15 (4.6) (3.6)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.



STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash assets

Receivables
Other

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
NON CURRENT ASSETS
Receivables

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Other financial assets

TOTAL NON CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables

Provisions

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Contributed equity
Accumulated losses

TOTAL EQUITY
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AS AT 30 JUNE 2003
Consolidated EpiTan Limited
Note 2003 2002 2003 2002
3 $ $ $

16(a) 2,611,853 4,414,100 2,611,859 4,414,092
4 30,832 29,602 30,832 29,602
5 105,643 39,391 105,643 39,391
2,748,328 4,483,093 2,748,334 4,483,085
4 - - 5,110,098 5,857,410
6 147,176 141,535 147,176 141,535
7 5,170,662 5,895,734 60,560 38,334
8 - - 169 169
5,317,838 6,037,269 5,318,003 6,037,448
8,066,166 10,520,362 8,066,337 10,520,533
10 465,826 156,874 465,826 156,874
1 69,625 53,954 69,625 53,954
535,451 210,828 535,451 210,328
535,451 210,828 535,451 210,828
7,530,715 10,309,534 7,530,886 10,309,705
12 16,580,441 15,382,490 16,580,441 15,382,490
13 (9,049,726) (5,072,956) (9,049,555) (5,072,785)
7,530,715 10,309,534 7,530,886 10,309,705

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2003

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Refund from ATO

Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received

Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Payments for property, plant and equipment
Loans to related parties

Payments for trademarks

Payments for patents

Net cash provided by (used in) investing
activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares
Proceeds from ordinary shares not yet issued
Payment of share issue costs

Net cash provided by (used in) financing
activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held
Cash at beginning of the year

Cash at end of the year

Consolidated EpiTan Limited
Note 2003 2002 2003 2002

$ ] 8 $
140,428 106,207 140,428 106,207
(3,334,729) (2,856,716) (3,248,946) (2,807,831)
152,992 260,346 152,992 260,346
16(b) _(3,041,309) (2,490,163) (2,955,526} (2,441,278)
(48,727) (63,551) (48,727) (63,551)
- - (85,769) (48,824)
(17,012) (9,468) (17,012) (9,468)
(9,087) (3,268) (9,087) (3,268)
(74,826) (76,287) (160,595) (125,111)
1,197,950 - 1,197,950 -
118,429 - 118,429 -
(2,491) - (2,491 -
1,313,888 - 1,313,888 -
(1,802,247) (2,566,450) (1,802,233) (2,566,389)
4,414,100 6,980,550 4,414,092 6,980,481
16(a) 2,611,853 4,414,100 2,611,859 4,414,062

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2003

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with
Accounting Standards, Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views, other authoritative pronouncements
of the Australian Accountancy Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. The financial
report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs and does not take into
account changing money values or, except where stated, current valuations of non current assets.
Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. The accounting
policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

The following is a summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the economic entity
in the preparation of the financial report.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated accounts comprise the accounts of EpiTan Limited and its controlled entity. A
controlled entity is any entity controlled by EpiTan Limited. Control exists where EpiTan Limited
has the capacity to dominate the decision-making in relation to the financial and operating activities
of another entity so that the other entity operates with EpiTan Limited to achieve the objectives of
EpiTan Limited. A list of controlled entities is contained in Note 9 to the financial statements.

All inter-company balances and transactions between entities in the economic entity, including any
unrealised profits or losses, have been eliminated on consolidation.

Where controlled entities have entered or left the economic entity during the year, their operating
results have been included from the date control was obtained or until the date control ceased.

Income Tax

The consolidated entity adopts the liability method of tax effect accounting whereby the income tax
expense is based on the profit from ordinary activities adjusted for any permanent differences.

Timing differences which arise due to the different accounting periods in which items of revenue
and expense are included in the determination of accounting profit and taxable income are brought
to account as either a provision for deferred income tax or as a future income tax benefit at the rate
of income tax applicable to the period in which the benefit will be received or the liability will
become payable.

Future income tax benefits are not brought to account unless realisation of the asset is assured
beyond any reasonable doubt. Future income tax benefits in relation to tax losses are not brought to
account unless there is virtual certainty of realisation of the benefit.

The amount of benefits brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on the
assumption that no adverse change will occur in income tax legislation and the anticipation that the
company will derive sufficient future assessable income and comply with the conditions of
deductibility imposed by the law.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2003

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Cash

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and at call deposits with
banks or financial institutions.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are brought to account at cost or at independent or directors’
valuation, less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation or amortisation. The carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in
excess of the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the
basis of the expected net cash flows which will be received from the assets’ employment and
subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have not been discounted to their present values
in determining recoverable amounts.

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated over the assets” useful lives to the
economic entity commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate
Office equipment 20 - 40%
Furniture and fittings 20%

Investments

Non-current investments are brought to account at cost or a directors’ valuation. The carrying
amount of investments is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in excess of the
recoverable amount of these investments. The recoverable amount is assessed from the underlying
net assets in the particular entities. The expected net cash flows from investments have not been
discounted to their present value in determining the recoverable amounts.

Research and Development Expenditure

Research and development costs are charged to profit from ordinary activities before income tax as
incurred or deferred where it is expected beyond any reasonable doubt that sufficient future benefits
will be derived so as to recover those deferred costs. No research and development costs have been
deferred during this financial year.

Deferred research and development expenditure is amortised on a straight line basis over the period
during which the related benefits are expected to be realised, once commercial production has
commenced.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Intellectual Property
@ Sub-licence

The sub-licence to develop and commercialise Mehnotan has been recorded at cost. Cost
is based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for the assets.

The consideration given for the acquisition of the sub-licence was the issue of 11,167,000
ordinary shares and attaching options in the company. Hence the cost of the sub-licence
has been determined by assessing the fair value of net assets of the economic entity
immediately after the sub-licence was acquired. For the purpose of valuing the assets of the
company, an independent valuation of the sub-licence was performed. The valuation was
based on discounted future cash flows expected to flow from the right to the sub-licence.
The valvation was adjusted for the probability of success.

The directors have determined that it is appropriate to record the sub-licence at cost rather
than revalued to market value at this time.

(i) Amortisation of Sub-licence

The sub-licence to develop and commercialise Melanotan is amortised on a straight-line
basis over 10 years. The directors have assessed this to be the period over which the future
economic benefits of the sub-licence are expected to be realised. The period approximates
the remaining life and likely extensions of the patents subject to the sub-licence.

(i)  Amortisation of Trademarks

Trademarks are amortised on a straight line basis over their expected useful lives.

Payables

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received,
whether or not billed to the economic entity.

Employee Benefits

Provision is made for the economic entity’s liability for employee benefits arising from services
rendered by employees to balance date. Liabilities arising in respect of salaries and wages, annual
leave and any other employee benefits expected to be settled within twelve months of the reporting
date are measured at their nominal amount based on remuration rates which are expected to be paid
when the liability is settled. All other employee benefit liabilities are measured at the present value
future cash outflow to be made.

Employee benefits expenses and revenues arising in respect of the following categories; wages and
salaries, non-monetary benefits, annual leave, long service leave, sick leave and other leave benefits
are charged against profits on a net basis in their respective categories.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
@) Employee Benefits (con’t)

The value of the employee option scheme described in note 23 is not being charged as an employee
benefit expense.

Contributions are made by the economic entity to employee superannuation funds and are charged
as expenses when incurred.

)] Directors’ Remuneration

Directors’ remuneration includes all remuneration in connection with the management of the
company and means any money, consideration or benefit. Remuneration includes the value of share
options granted. Options over shares have been valued at grant date using an option pricing model
in accordance with current ASIC guidance, Australian Exposure Draft ED 108 and International
Exposure Draft ED 2. The value of options issued to directors has been included in the
determination of directors’ remuneration during the period from grant date to vesting date. In
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, share options have not been expensed.

(k) Revenue
Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis.
()] Share Capital

Ordinary share capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the company.
Any transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary shares are recognised directly in equity as a
reduction of the shares proceeds received.

(m)  Earnings Per Share

(i) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing net profit after income tax attributable to
members of the company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for
bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.

(it) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share
to take into account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been
issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.

(n) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST
is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense
receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.



(0) Leases

Leases payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the
lessors, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

(r) Comparatives

Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current
year disclosure.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2003

PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM ORDINARY
ACTIVITIES

(a) Revenues from ordinary activities

Interest revenue ~ other persons
Total revenues

(b) Expenses from ordinary activities

Clinical development costs

Drug delivery research costs

Occupancy costs

Marketing costs

Finance & administration costs

Total expenses from ordinary activities

(c) Profit/(loss) from ordinary activities
before income tax has been determined
after:

Depreciation

Amortisation of sub-licence

Amortisation of trademarks

Research & development costs

Doubtful debts — wholly owned
subsidiary

Operating lease expense — minimum lease
payments

Note

Consolidated EpiTan Limited
2003 2002 2003 2002

8 $ $ $
136,404 257,507 136,404 257,507
136,404 257,507 136,404 257,507
1,693,328 1,871,867 946,030 1,124,569
949,439 372,758 949,439 372,758
75,080 81,252 75,080 81,252
118,275 108,437 118,275 108,437
1,277,052 964,417 2,024,350 2,582,155
4,113,174 3,398,731 4,113,174 4,269,171
43,086 38,405 43,086 38,405
747,298 747,299 - -
3,873 319 3,873 319
1,895,496 1,497,326 1,895,496 1,497,326
- - 833,082 1,666,625
83,964 78,205 83,964 78,205
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Consolidated

Naote 2003

$
INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The prima facte tax on profit(loss) from
ordinary activities before income tax is
reconciled to the income tax
expense(benefit) as follows:

Prima facie tax payable on profit(loss)
from ordinary activities before income
tax at 30% (1,193,031)

Add:

Tax effect of permanent differences

- non deductible amortisation 1,162
- other non allowable items -
Write off FITB due to lack of virtual

certainty 1,191,869

2002
S

(942,367)

96
1,455

940,816

EpiTan Limited

2003
$

(1,193,031)

1,162

1,191,869

2002
$

(1,203,499)

96
1,455

1,201,948

Future income tax benefits arising from
unconfirmed tax losses and net timing
differences not brought to account at
balance date as realisation of the
benefit is not regarded as virtually
certain. The benefits will only be
obtained if the conditions set out in
note 1(b) occur:

Tax losses 2,086,038
Net timing differences 618,975

1,411,312
104,652

1,928,464
776,620

1,000,694
512,450

2,705,013

1,515,964

2,705,104

1,513,144
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Consolidated EpiTan Limited
Note 2003 2002 2003 2002

$ 3 b $
RECEIVABLES
Current
Sundry debtors 30,832 13,014 30,832 13,014
Accrued income - 16,588 - 16,588

30,832 29,602 30,832 29,602
Non-Current
Receivable from wholly owned entity 20 - - 7,609,805 7,524,035
Provision for non-recovery - - (2,499,707) (1,666,625)

- - 5,110,098 5,857,410

OTHER ASSETS
Current
Prepayments 105,643 39,391 105,643 39,391
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Office equipment
Atcost 192,483 157,376 192,483 157,376
Less: Accumulated depreciation (95,163) (62,301) (95,163) (62,301)

97,320 95,075 97,320 95,075
Furniture and fittings
At cost 77,358 63,738 77,358 63,738
Less: Accumulated depreciation (27,502) (17,278) (27,502) (17,278)

49,856 46,460 49,856 46,460
Total property, plant and equipment 147,176 141,535 147,176 141,535

Movements in Carrying Amounts

Movements in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the

end of the financial year

Furniture
Office and
Equi pment Fittings Total
$ $ $

Consolidated & EpiTan Limited - 2003

Carrying amount at the beginning of year 95,075 46,460 141,535
Additions 35,107 13,620 48,727
Depreciation expense (32,862) (10,224) (43,086)
Carrying amount at the end of year 97,320 49,856 147,176
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2003

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Sub-licence to develop and
commercialise Melanotan — at cost
Less: Accumulated amortisation

Trademarks
Less: Accumulated amortisation

Patents

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Non-Current
Investments at cost comprise:
Shares in unlisted controlled entity

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Melanotan (Australia) Pty Ltd
Incorporated in Australia.
Percentage of equity interest held by
the consolidated entity: 100% (2002:
100%)

PAYABLES

Current

Trade creditors

Sundry creditors and accrued expenses
Ordinary shares yet to be issued

Apggregate amounts payable to:
- directors and director-related entities

Australian dollar equivalents of
amounts payable in foreign currencies
not effectively hedged:

- Swedish krone

- US dollars

Terms and conditions:

Trade and sundry creditors are non-
interest bearing and normally settled
on 30 day terms.

Note

Consolidated EpiTan Limited
2003 2002 2003 2002

5 $ $ $
7,472,983 7,472,983 - -
(2,362,881) (1,615,583) - -
5,110,102 5,857,400 -
47,567 30,555 47,567 30,555
(4,192) (319) (4,192) (319)
43,375 30,236 43,375 30,236
17,185 8,098 17,185 8,098
5,170,662 5,895,734 60,560 38,334
- - 169 169
235,929 69,458 235,929 69,458
111,468 87,416 111,468 87,416
118,429 - 118,429 -
465,826 156,874 465,826 156,874
47,401 55,554 47,401 55,554
14,423 - 14,423 -
96,991 11,046 96,991 11,046
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PROVISIONS

Current
Employee benefits

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

Issued and paid up capital
fully paid ordinary shares

Movements in shares on issue

At the beginning of the financial year
Issued during the year

- share purchase plan

- options exercise

Less: transaction costs

Share Options

Note

Consolidated EpiTan Limited
2003 2002 2003 2002

$ $ $ $
69,625 53,954 69,625 53,954
16,580,441 15,382,490 16,580,441 15,382,490

2003

No. $ No. $
86,414,254 15,382,490 86,414,254 15,382,490
1,935,753 271,005 - -
3,089,825 926,946 - -
91,439,832 16,580,441 86,414,254 15,382,490

As at 30 June 2003 the following share options existed which if exercised, would result in the issue of fully paid

ordinary shares.

Expiry Date

30 September 2004
30 September 2005
31 March 2006

3 April 2006

22 October 2006
30 May 2007

2 February 2008

13 June 2008

Exercise Price

$0.30 / share
$0.30 / share
$0.30/ share
$0.10 / share
$0.10/ share
$0.12/ share
$0.16 / share
$0.29 / share

Number of Options

1,935,937
428,958
750,000

1,250,000

1,300,000
300,000
750,000
500,000

During the year the following share options were issued which if exercised, would result in the issue of fully paid

ordinary shares.

Expiry Date

31 March 2006
30 May 2007

2 February 2008
13 June 2008

Exercise Price
$0.30 / share
$0.12 / share
$0.16 / share
$0.29 / share

Terms and conditions of contributed equity

Ordinary Shares

Number of Options

750,000
150,000
750,000
500,000

Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends & declared and, in the event of winding up the company, to
participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on
shares held. Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the company.
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A further 5,485,909 ordinary shares were issued in July 2003 as a result of the exercise of listed options which were the
subject of an underwriting agreement in place as at 30 June 2003. Total cash received after 30 June as a result of this

issue was $1,527,341.

ACCUMULATED LOSSES

Accumulated losses at the
beginning of the year

Net loss attributable to the
members of EpiTan Limited
Accumulated losses at the end of
the financial year

LEASE COMMITMENTS
Operating lease commitments

Non-cancellable operating leases

Contracted for but not capitalised in

the accounts:

Payable

- not later than | year

- later than 1 year but not later
than 5 years

EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS)

Basic earnings per share — cents per

share

The Weighted Average Number of

Ordinary Shares (WANOS) used in
the calculation of Basic Earnings Per

Share

The numerator used in the calculation

of Basic Earnings Per Share.

Note

Consolidated EpiTan Limited
2003 2002 2003 2002
5 b § $
(5,072,956) (1,931,732) (5,072,785) (1,061,121)
(3,976,770) (3,141,224) (3,976,770) (4,011,664)
(9,049,726) (5,072,956)  _ (9,049,555) (5,072,785)
90,354 48,951 90,354 48,951
150,590 - 150,590 -
240,944 48,951 240,944 48,951
Consolidated
2003 2002
(4.6) (3.6)
86,923,303 86,414,254
(3,976,770) (3,141,224)

Since 30 June 2003 a further 5,485,909 ordinary shares were issued in July 2003 as a result of the exercise of listed
options which were the subject of an underwriting agreement in place as at 30 June 2003.

Potential Ordinary Shares not considered Dilutive

As at 30 June 2003 the company had on issue 6,714,895 options over unissued capital. The details of which are
included in Notes 12(c) and 23(b). These options are not considered dilutive as they do not increase the net loss per

share.
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CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Reconciliation of Cash

For the purposes of the Statement of
Cash Flows, cash includes cash on
hand and with banks.

Cash at the end of the financial year as
shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is
reconciled to the related items in the
balance sheet as follows:

Cash on hand
Cash at bank

Reconciliation of cash flows from
operating activities with operating
profit(loss)

Operating profit(loss) after income tax

Non cash flows in operating (loss):
Depreciation expense
Amortisation expense
Doubtful debt expense

Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/decrease in receivables
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments
Increase/(decrease) in payables
Increase/(decrease) in provisions

Net cash used in operating activities

Consolidated EpiTan Limited
Note 2003 2002 2003 2002

$ $ $ $
31 250 31 250
2,611,822 4,413,850 2,611,828 4,413,842
2,611,853 4,414,100 2,611,859 4,414,092
(3,976,770) (3,141,224) (3,976,770) (4,011,664)
43,086 38,405 43,086 38,405
751,171 747,619 3,873 319
- - 833,082 1,666,625
(1,230) 5,316 (1,230) 5,316
(66,252) (26,502) (66,252) (26,502)
193,015 (140,112) 193,014 (140,112)
15,671 26,335 15,671 26,335
(3,041,309) (2,490,163)  _ (2,955,526) (2,441,278)
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Consolidated

Note 2003
$

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

Income paid or payable, or otherwise

made available, in respect of the

financial year, to all directors of each

entity in the consolidated entity,

directly or indirectly, by the entities of

which they are directors or any related

party: 451,644

2002
$

355,382

Income paid or payable, or otherwise
made available, in respect of the
financial year, to all directors of
EpiTan Limited, directly or indirectly,
from the entity or any related party:

The number of directors of EpiTan
Limited whose income (including
superannuation contributions) falls
within the following bands is:

30 - 89,999

$10,000 - $19,999
$30,000 - $39,999
$40,000 - 49,999
$50,000 - $59,999
$230,000 - $239,99%
$240,000 - $249,999

REMUNERATION OF EXECUTIVES

All executives are directors of EpiTan
Limited.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Amounts received or due and receivable

by William Buck for:

- audit services 20,000
- other services 29,642

12,500
57,875

EpiTan Limited

2003
$

451,644

2002
]

355,382

No.

[ S B |

20,000
29,642

No.

[ 7S Iy

12,500
57,873

49,642

70,375

49,642

70,375
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20. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Directors
The directors of EpiTan Limited during the financial year were:

W. A. Millen A.J. Cooper (resigned 30 April 2003)
H. P. K. Agersborg S.R.McLiesh  (appointed 12 September 2002)
T. E. Winters

Wholly-owned group transactions

Loans

The loan receivable by EpiTan Limited from Melanotan (Australia) Pty Ltd is non-interest bearing. Repayment of
the loan will commence upon commercialisation of the company’s drug candidate. A provision for non-recovery
has been raised in the accounts of EpiTan Limited to the extent that a deficiency in net assets exists in Melanotan
(Australia) Pty Ltd.

Equity instruments of directors
Interests at balance date

Interests in equity instruments of EpiTan Limited held by directors of the reporting entity and their director-
related entities:

Ordinary Shares Options over
Fully Paid Ordinary Shares
2003 2002 2003 2002
Number Number Number Number
W. A. Millen 19,675,908 19,591,144 - 11,979,638
H.P.K. Agersborg - - 750,000 750,000
T. E. Winters 15,315,415 15,288,154 750,000 9,982,185
S.R. McLiesh - - 750,000 -
A.J. Cooper - - 428,958 750,000

On 30 June 2003, the entity’s listed options to acquire ordinary shares lapsed. As a consequence, options held by
Dr W.A. Millen and Dr T.E. Winters and their respective director related entities amounting to 12,061,246 and
9,624,911 respectively lapsed.

During the year Mr S.R. McLiesh was issued 750,000 non-tradeable options to acquire ordinary shares. Due to
the resignation of Professor A.J. Cooper 321,042 options to acquire ordinary shares were forfeited.

All equity dealings with directors have been entered into with terms and conditions no more favourable than
those that the entity would have adopted if dealing at arm’s length.
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21. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The economic entity operates solely in the biotechnology industry. The economic entity operates predominantly
in Australia.

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Interestrate risk

The economic entity’s exposure to interest rate risks and the effective interest rates of financial assets and
financial liabilities, both recognised and unrecognised at the balance date, are as follows:

Weighted Average Non-Interest Balances Subject to a Total
Effective Interest Bearing Floating Interest Rate
Rate
2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002
% % $ $ S $ $ $
(i) Financial Assets
Cash at bank 4.1 4.5 31 250 2,611,822 4,413,850 2,611,853 4,414,100
Receivables N/A N/A 30,832 29,602 - - 30,832 29,602
Total 30,863 29,852 2,611,822 4,413,850 2,642,685 4,443,702
' (ii) Financial Liabilities

Payables N/A N/A 465,826 156,874 - - 465,826 151,322
Total 465,826 156,874 - - 465,826 151,322

(b) Net fair values
All financial assets and liabilities have been recognised at the balance date at their net fair values.

(¢) Credit risk exposures
The economic entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the statement of financial position.

23. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS Consolidated EpiTan Limited
2003 2002 2003 2002
b $ b §

(a) The aggregate employee benefit
liability is comprised of :

- Provisions 69,625 53,954 69,625 53,954

- Accrued wages, salaries and on
costs 78,168 61,583 78,168 61,583
147,793 115,537 147,793 115,537
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CON'T)

Employee Option Plan

An employee option plan has been established where directors, staff and consultants are issued with options
over the ordinary shares of EpiTan Limited. The options, issued for nil consideration, are issued in
accordance with performance guidelines established by the directors of EpiTan Limited. The options are
issued for a term of § years, however this does vary for the various plan participants. The options cannot be
transferred and will not be quoted on the ASX. There are currently three directors, five staff and three
consultants eligible for this scheme.

Information with respect to the number of options granted under the employee option scheme is as follows :

2003 2002
Number Weighted Number of Weighted
of Options average Options average
exercise exercise
price price
Balance at beginning of year 5,385,937 $0.20 1,250,000 $0.10
- granted 1,650,000 $0.22 4,450,000 $0.24
- forfeited (321,042) $0.30 (314,063) $0.30
- exercised - - - -
Balance at end of year 6,714,895 $0.20 5,385,937 $0.20
Exercisable at end of year 3,200,277 $0.19 1,136,873 $0.21

The following table summarises information about options outstanding and exercisable at 30 June 2003.

Number of options :

Exercise price Expiry date Outstanding Exercisable
$0.10 3 April 2006 1,250,000 1,250,000
$0.10 22 October 2006 1,300,000 466,666
$0.12 30 May 2007 300,000 50,000
$0.30 30 September 2004 1,935,937 1,290,625
$0.30 30 September 2005 428,958 142,986
$0.30 31 March 2006 750,000 -
$%0.16 2 February 2008 750,000 -

6,714,895 3,200,277




-28-
EPITAN LIMITED
A.B.N. 88 089 644 119
AND CONTROLLED ENTITY

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

In the opinion of the directors:

1. the financial statements and notes, of the company and of the consolidated entity, are in accordance
with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(a) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and the consolidated entity’s financial position
as at 30 June 2003 and of their performance for the year ended on that date;
®) complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

2. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when
they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Al WA Y .

S.R. MCLIESH W.AMILLEN
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

Dated this 8" day of September, 2003.



> William Buck

Business Consultants
Chartered Accountants

Independent audit report to members of
EpiTan Limited

Scope

The financial report and directors’ responsibility

The financial report comprises the statement of financial position, statement of financial
performance, statement of cash flows, accompanying notes to the financial statements, and the
directors’ declaration for both EpiTan Limited {the company) and EpiTan Limited and controlied
entities (the consolidated entity), for the year ended 30 June 2003. The consoclidated entity
comprises both the company and the entities it controlled during that year.

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of
the financial report in accordance with the Corporations Act 2007. This includes responsibility for
the maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls that are designed to prevent
and delect fraud and error, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in
the financial report.

Audit approach

We conducted an independent audit in order to express an opinion {0 the members of the
company. Our audil was conducted in accordance with Australian Audiling and Assurance
Standards in order to provide reasonable assurance as to whether the financial report is free of
material misstatement. The nature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of
professional judgement, selective testing, the inherent limitations of intemal control, and the
availability of persuasive rather than conclusive evidence. Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee
that afl material misstatements have been detected..

We performed procedures 1o assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents
fairly, in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and other mandatory
financial reporting requirements in Australia, a view which is consistent with our understanding of
the company’s and the consolidated entity's financial position, and of their performance as
represented by the results of their operations and cash flows.

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included;

= Examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial report; and

» Assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors.

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting
when determining the nature and extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide
assurance on internal controls.

{(1612)



2 William Buck

Business Consultants
Chartered Accountants

Independence
In conducting our audit, we followed applicable independence requirements of Australian
accounting ethical pronouncements and the Corporations Act 2001.
Audit opinion
In our opinion, the financial report of EpiTan Limited is in accordance with:
(a) the Corporations Act 2001, including:
)] gives a true and fair view of EpiTan Limited’s and the consolidated entity’s
financial position as at 30 June 2003 and of their performance for the year

ended on that date; and

(i)  complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations
Regulations 2001;and

(b).  other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia.

1Y BTN
e 45 -
» .
/’7

William Buck
Chartered Accountants

Dated this &2 day of o(;a,é{;é/ 2003.

Melboume, Australia.
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ADDITONAL INFORMATION REQUIRED BY THE AUSTRALIAN STOCK EXCHANGE

Additional information required by the Australian Stock Exchange and not shown elsewhere in this

report is as follows. The information is current at 29 August 2003.

. Shareholding

(a) Distribution of Shareholders Number

Category (size of Holding)
1 - 1,000

1,001 - 5,000

5,001 — 10,000

10,001 — 100,000

100,001 — and over

Ordinary Shares
118
779
604
327
83

2411

{b) The number of shareholdings held in less than marketable parcels is 1 for ordinary shares.

(c) The names of the substantial shareholders listed in the holding company’s register as at 30 June

2002 are:

Weighton Pty Ltd

MelanoTan Corporation USA
Chartport Financial Services Pty Ltd

(d) Voting Rights

Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the

company.

(e) 20 Largest Shareholders — Ordinary Shares

Name

Weighton Pty Ltd

MelanoTan Corporation USA

Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Ltd
Chartport Financial Services Pty Ltd
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited
National Nominees Limited

ANZ Nominees Limited

Mr Stephen Charles O’Halloran
Grunwald Design International Pty Ltd
Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited
JFR Investments Pty Ltd

ol AR Sl o e

— o

Number of
Ordinary
Fully Paid
Shares Held
19,531,380
15,165,415
2,902,123
2,256,188
1,886,002
1,841,252
1,299,716
961,950
854,332
852,404
713,228

% Held of
Issued
Ordinary
Capital
21.10
15.61
2.99
2.32
1.94
1.89
1.34
0.99
0.88
0.88
0.73
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(e) 20 Largest Shareholders ~ Ordinary Shares (Cont)

Number of % Held of
Ordinary Issued
Fully Paid Ordinary
Name Shares Held Capital
12, Mr Cheng Han 531,690 0.55
13.  Mr Doug McLachlan & Mrs Wendy McLachlan 530,000 0.55
14.  Lippo Securities Nominees Ltd 465,000 0.48
15.  Seawise Nominees Pty Ltd 434,503 0.45
16.  Mr Michisuke Asami 425,000 0.44
17.  Dynamic Press Investments Pty Ltd 400,000 0.41
18.  Mr Alan Douglas Parker & Mrs Jannette Rachel Parker 400,000 041
19. Edward St Consulting Pty Ltd 392,382 0.40
20.  Mr David John Lewis 347,198 0.36
52,189,763 53.72

Company Secretary
The name of the company secretary is Mr Iain Kirkwood.
Registered Office

The address of the principal registered office in Australia is Level 10, 52 Collins Street, Melbourne,
Victoria, 3000, Telephone (03) 9662 4688.

. Register of Securities

Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd
Level 12, 565 Bourke Street
Melbourne Vic 3000

Stock Exchange Listing

Quotation has been granted for all the ordinary shares of the company on all Member Exchanges of the
Australian Stock Exchange Limited (ASX code: EPT).

. Restricted Securities

Restricted securities on issue at 30 June 2003: Nil
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cpcEivED  epitan

. 1~ Friday 29 August 2003
Ly A 9
om vt -7 |
For release to the market o rERHATILCE
O$ ‘CE O A T F‘ P
CORPCRATE

Information naotification
ASIC CO 02/1180 - Category 1

For more information contact:

Dr Wayne Millen, CEO, EpiTan Limited, Tel 03 9662 4688

Mr lain Kirkwood, Company Secretary, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
mail@epitan.com.au

www.epitan.com.au

Name of Issuer: EpiTan Ltd ACN 089 644 119

The Issuer named above notifies ASX that there is no information to be disclosed to
ASX of the kind that would be required to be disclosed under subsection 713(5) of
the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) if a prospectus were to be issued in reliance on
section 713 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) in relation to an offer of the securities
described below.

Details of the issue or offer of securities
Class of securities: Fully paid ordinary shares
ASX Code of the securities: EPT
Date of the issue or expected issue of the securities: 29 August 2003

Total number of securities issued or expected to be issued: 14,500,000

Signed for and on behalf of the Issuer:

Wb

lain Kirkwood
Company Secretary
29 August 2003

-End-



Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

Rule 2.7,3.10.3,3.10.4, 3.10.5

Appendix 3B

New issue announcement,
application for quotation of additional securities
and agreement

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information and
documents given to ASX become ASX's property and may be made public.

Introduced 1/7/96. Origin: Appendix 5, Amended 1/7/98, 1/9/99, 1/7/2000, 30/9/2001, 11/3/2002, 1/1/2003.

Name of entity

PITAN LIMITED

ABN

38 089 644 119

We (the entity) give ASX the following information.

Part 1 - All issues

You must complete the relevant sections (attach sheets if there is not enough space).

1

*Class of *securities issued or to be
issued

Number of *securities issued or to
be issued (if known) or maximum
number which may be issued

Principal terms of the *securities (eg,
if options, exercise price and expiry
date; if partly paid *securities, the
amount outstanding and due dates
for payment, if “convertible
securities, the conversion price and
dates for conversion)

Ordinary Shares

14,500,000 ordinary shares
New allotment

Issue of 14,500,000 ordinary shares at 51 cents
each that rank equally with existing ordinary
shares

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

31/03/2003

Appendix 3B Page 1



Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

4 Do the *securities rank equally in all | Yes
respects from the date of allotment
with an existing *class of quoted
*securities?

If the additional securities do not

rank equally, please state:

¢ the date from which they do

s the extent to which they
participate for the next dividend,
(in the case of a trust,
distribution) or interest payment

o the extent to which they do not
rank equally, other than in
relation to the next dividend,
distribution or interest payment

5 Issue price or consideration 51 cents per ordinary share. Total
$7,395,000.00
6  Purpose of the issue Share placement to fund ongoing project

(If issued as consideration for the | development and working capital purposes
acquisition of assets, clearly identify

those assets)

7 Dates of entering *securities into | 29 August 2003
uncertificated holdings or despatch
of certificates

Number *Class

8 Number and *class of all 111,675,746 EPT ordinary
*securities quoted on ASX
(including the securities in clause 2
if applicable)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

Appendix 3B Page 2 31/03/2003



Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

Number “Class
9 Number and *class of all 6,964,895 EpiTan Incentive
*securities not quoted on ASX Option Plan
(including the securities in clause 2
if applicable)

10 Dividend policy (in the case of a Ordinary shares ranking equally with existing
trust, distribution policy) on the ordinary shares
increased capital (interests)

Part 2 - Bonus issue or pro rata issue

1t Is security holder approval
required?

12 Is the issue renounceable or non-
renounceable?

13 Ratio in which the *securities will
be offered

14 *Class of *securities to which the
offer relates

15 *Record date to determine
entitlements

16 Will holdings on different registers
" (or subregisters) be aggregated for
calculating entitlements?

17 Policy for deciding entitlements in
relation to fractions

18 Names of countries in which the
entity has *security holders who will
not be sent new issue documents

Note: Security holders must be told how their
entitlements are to be dealt with.

Cross reference: rule 7.7.

19 Closing date for receipt of
acceptances or renunciations

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

31/03/2003 Appendix 3B Page 3



Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

l 20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

Names of any underwriters

Amount of any underwriting fee or
commission

Names of any brokers to the issue

Fee or commission payable to the
broker to the issue

Amount of any handling fee payable
to brokers who lodge acceptances
or renunciations on behalf of
*security holders

If the issue is contingent on
*security holders’ approval, the date
of the meeting

Date entitlement and acceptance
form and prospectus or Product
Disclosure Statement will be sent to
persons entitled

If the entity has issued options, and
the terms entitle option holders to
participate on exercise, the date on
which notices will be sent to option
holders

Date rights trading will begin (if
applicable)

Date rights trading will end (if
applicable)

How do *security holders sell their
entitlements in full through a
broker?

How do *security holders sell part
of their entitlements through a
broker and accept for the balance?

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

Appendix 3B Page 4

31/03/2003



Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

32 How do *security holders dispose of
their entitlements (except by sale
through a broker)?

33 *Despatch date

Part 3 - Quotation of securities

You need only complete this section if you are applying for quotation of securities

34  Type of securities
(tick one)

(@) @ Securities described in Part 1

(b) All other securities

Example: restricted securities at the end of the escrowed period, partly paid securitics that become fully paid, employee
incentive share sceurities when restriction ends, securities issued on expiry or conversion of convertible securities

Entities that have ticked box 34(a)

Additional securities forming a new class of securities

Tick to indicate you are providing the information or

documents

35 If the *securities are *equity securities, the names of the 20 largest holders of the
additional *securities, and the number and percentage of additional *securities held by
those holders

36 If the *securities are *equity securities, a distribution schedule of the additional

L “securities setting out the number of holders in the categories

1-1,000
1,001 - 5,000

5,001 - 10,000
10,001 - 100,000
100,001 and over

37 D A copy of any trust deed for the additional *securities

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

31/03/2003 Appendix 3B Page 5



Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

Entities that have ticked box 34(b)

38

39

40

41

42

Number of securities for which
*quotation is sought

Class of “securities for which
quotation is sought

Do the *securities rank equally in all
respects from the date of allotment
with an existing *class of quoted
*securities?

If the additional securities do not

rank equally, please state:

¢ the date from which they do

o the extent to which they
participate for the next dividend,
(in the <case of a trust,
distribution) or interest payment

e the extent to which they do not
rank equally, other than in
relation to the next dividend,
distribution or interest payment

Reason for request for quotation
now

Example: In the case of restricted securities, end of
restriction period

(if issued upon conversion of
another security, clearly identify that
other security)

Number and *class of all *securities
quoted on ASX (including the
securities in clause 38)

Number

*Class

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

Appendix 3B Page 6
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Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

Quotation agreement

1 *Quotation of our additional *securities is in ASX’s absolute discretion. ASX may
quote the *securities on any conditions it decides.

2 We warrant the following to ASX.

The issue of the *securities to be quoted complies with the law and is not
for an illegal purpose.

There is no reason why those *securities should not be granted *quotation.

An offer of the “securities for sale within 12 months after their issue will
not require disclosure under section 707(3) or section 1012C(6) of the
Corporations Act.

Note: An entity may need to obtain appropriate warranties from subscribers for the securities in order to be able to give
this warranty

Section 724 or section 1016E of the Corporations Act does not apply to any
applications received by us in relation to any *securities to be quoted and
that no-one has any right to return any ‘securities to be quoted under
sections 737, 738 or 1016F of the Corporations Act at the time that we
request that the *securities be quoted.

We warrant that if confirmation is required under section 1017F of the
Corporations Act in relation to the *securities to be quoted, it has been
provided at the time that we request that the *securities be quoted.

If we are a trust, we warrant that no person has the right to return the
*securities to be quoted under section 1019B of the Corporations Act at the
time that we request that the *securities be quoted.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

31/03/2003

Appendix 3B Page 7



Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

3 We will indemnify ASX to the fullest extent permitted by law in respect of any
claim, action or expense arising from or connected with any breach of the
warranties in this agreement.

4 We give ASX the information and documents required by this form. If any
information or document not available now, will give it to ASX before *quotation

of the *securities begins. We acknowledge that ASX is relying on the information
and documents. We warrant that they are (will be) true and complete.

Wi/ .
Sign here: lm%/\;»\}g;- ' Date: 29 August 2003

(Pireeter/Company secretary)

Print name: 1M, Kirkwood

I
I
I
I
i

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

Rule 2.7, 3.10.3,3.10.4, 3.10.5

New issue announcement,
application for quotation of additional securities
and agreement

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information and
documents given to ASX become ASX’s property and may be made public.

Introduced 1/7/96. Origin: Appendix 5. Amended 1/7/98, 1/9/99, 1/7/2000, 30/9/2001, 11/3/2002, 1/1/2003.

Name of entity
PITAN LIMITED

ABN
88 089 644 119

We (the entity) give ASX the following information.

Part 1 - All issues

You must complete the relevant sections (attach sheets if there is not enough space).

1 *Class of *securities issued or to be | Ordinary Shares
issued

2 Number of *securities issued or to | 250,000 ordinary shares
be issued (if known) or maximum
number which may be issued

3 Principal terms of the *securities (eg, | Exercise of 250,000 employee incentive
if options, exercise price and expiry | options at 10 cents each
date; if partly paid *securities, the
amount outstanding and due dates
for payment; if *convertible
securities, the conversion price and
dates for conversion)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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4 Do the *securities rank equally in all | Yes
respects from the date of allotment
with an existing *class of quoted
*securities?

If the additional securities do not

rank equally, please state:

o the date from which they do

e the extent to which they
participate for the next dividend,
(in the case of a trust,
distribution) or interest payment

s the extent to which they do not
rank equally, other than in
relation to the next dividend,
distribution or interest payment

5  Issue price or consideration 10 cents per employee incentive option. Total
$25,000.00
6  Purpose of the issue Exercise of 250,000 employee incentive options

(If issued as consideration for the
acquisition of assets, clearly identify
those assets)

7 Dates of entering *securities into | 27 August 2003
uncertificated holdings or despatch
of certificates

Number +Class

8 Number and *class of all 97,175,746 EPT ordinary
*securities quoted on ASX
(including the securities in clause 2
if applicable)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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New issue announcement

10

Number and *class of all
*securities not quoted on ASX
(including the securities in clause 2
if applicable)

Dividend policy (in the case of a
trust, distribution policy) on the
increased capital (interests)

Number

+Class

6,964,895

EpiTan Incentive
Option Plan

Ordinary shares ranking equally with existing

ordinary shares

Part 2 - Bonus issue or pro rata issue

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

Is security holder approval
required?

Is the issue renounceable or non-
renounceable?

Ratio in which the *securities will
be offered

*Class of *securities to which the
offer relates

*Record date to determine
entitlements

Will holdings on different registers
(or subregisters) be aggregated for
calculating entitlements?

Policy for deciding entitlements in
relation to fractions

Names of countries in which the
entity has *security holders who will
not be sent new issue documents

Note: Security holders must be told how their
entitlements are to be dealt with.

Cross reference: rule 7.7,

Closing date for receipt of
acceptances or renunciations

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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New issue announcement

@ ’

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

Names of any underwriters

Amount of any underwriting fee or
commission

Names of any brokers to the issue

Fee or commission payable to the
broker to the issue

Amount of any handling fee payable
to brokers who lodge acceptances
or renunciations on behalf of
*security holders

If the issue is contingent on
*security holders’ approval, the date
of the meeting

Date entitlement and acceptance
form and prospectus or Product
Disclosure Statement will be sent to
persons entitled

If the entity has issued options, and
the terms entitle option holders to
participate on exercise, the date on
which notices will be sent to option
holders

Date rights trading will begin (if
applicable)

Date rights trading will end (if
applicable)

How do *security holders sell their
entitlements in full through a
broker?

How do *security holders sell part
of their entitlements through a
broker and accept for the balance?

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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32 How do *security holders dispose of
their entitlements (except by sale
through a broker)?

33 “*Despatch date

Part 3 - Quotation of securities

You need only complete this section if you are applying for quotation of securities

34  Type of securities
(tick one)

(a) & Securities described in Part 1

() All other securities

Example: restricted sccurities at the end of the escrowed period, partly paid securities that become fully paid, employce
incentive share securities when restriction ends, securities issued on expiry or conversion of convertible securities

Entities that have ticked box 34(a)

Additional securities forming a new class of securities

Tick to indicate you are providing the information or

documents

35 If the *securities are *equity securities, the names of the 20 largest holders of the
additional *securities, and the number and percentage of additional *securities held by
those holders

36 If the *securities are *equity securities, a distribution schedule of the additional
*securities setting out the number of holders in the categories
1-1,000
1,001 - 5,000

5,001 - 10,000
10,001 - 100,000
100,001 and over

37 I:I A copy of any trust deed for the additional *securities

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Entities that have ticked box 34(b)

38

39

40

41

42

Number of securities for which
*quotation is sought

Class of ‘*securities for which
quotation is sought

Do the *securities rank equally in all
respects from the date of allotment
with an existing *class of quoted
*securities?

If the additional securities do not

rank equally, please state:

¢ the date from which they do

e the extent to which they
participate for the next dividend,
(in the case of a trust,
distribution) or interest payment

¢ the extent to which they do not
rank equally, other than in
relation to the next dividend,
distribution or interest payment

Reason for request for quotation
now

Example: In the case of restricted securities, end of
restriction period

(if issued upon conversion of
another security, clearly identify that
other security)

Number and *class of all *securities
quoted on ASX (including the
securities in clause 38)

Number

*Class

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Quotation agreement

1 *Quotation of our additional *securities is in ASX’s absolute discretion. ASX may
quote the *securities on any conditions it decides.

2 We warrant the following to ASX,

The issue of the *securities to be quoted complies with the law and is not
for an illegal purpose.

There is no reason why those *securities should not be granted *quotation.

An offer of the "securities for sale within 12 months after their issue will
not require disclosure under section 707(3) or section 1012C(6) of the
Corporations Act.

Note: An entity may need to obtain appropriate warranties from subscribers for the sccurities in order to be able to give
this warranty

Section 724 or section 1016E of the Corporations Act does not apply to any
applications received by us in relation to any *securities to be quoted and
that no-one has any right to return any *securities to be quoted under
sections 737, 738 or 1016F of the Corporations Act at the time that we
request that the *securities be quoted.

We warrant that if confirmation is required under section 1017F of the
Corporations Act in relation to the *securities to be quoted, it has been
provided at the time that we request that the *securities be quoted.

If we are a trust, we warrant that no person has the right to return the
*securities to be quoted under section 1019B of the Corporations Act at the
time that we request that the *securities be quoted.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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New issue announcement

3 We will indemnify ASX to the fullest extent permitted by law in respect of any
claim, action or expense arising from or connected with any breach of the
warranties in this agreement.

4 We give ASX the information and documents required by this form. If any
information or document not available now, will give it to ASX before *quotation

of the *securities begins. We acknowledge that ASX is relying on the information
and documents. We warrant that they are (will be) true and complete.

Sign here: &Mm;,ﬂ. ! Date: 27 August 2003

(Bireeter/Company secretary)

Print name: ILM. Kirkwood

!
il
il
n
n
Il
Il

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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EpiTan raises $7.4 million through placement of shares

For more information contact:

Dr Wayne Millen, CEO, EpiTan Limited, Tel 03 9662 4688

Mr lain Kirkwood, Chief Administrative Officer, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
Mr Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620 3333
mail@epitan.com.au

www.epitan.com.au

Melbourne, Australia

EpiTan Limited (ASX:EPT) today announced that it has successfully completed a
placement of 14,500,000 shares to institutional and sophisticated investors pursuant
to 5.708 of the Corporations Act. The share placement, which was managed by
Intersuisse Corporate, was placed at $0.51 per share raising total proceeds of
$7,395,000.

The funds raised will be used to expand and accelerate the company’s clinical trial
programme for its leading drug candidate Melanotan. This includes the addition of
studies in the USA and Europe in 2004 and a genotype study in Australia to identify
the skin cancer risk among Caucasians . Additional volumes of drug and implants will
also be manufactured to support this acceleration and expansion of the company’s
clinical trial strategy.

Dr Wayne Millen, EpiTan’s Managing Director said, “We are delighted to have
successfully completed this placement which increases our cash resources to over
$10 million. The company is now in a financially secure position to move on rapidly
with its clinical trial programme for our leading drug candidate, Melanotan In
addition, the company can now expand its clinical trial strategy to include therapeutic
indications such as polymorphous light eruption (“PMLE”) which is a significant UV
induced skin allergy in northern latitudes. It is estimated that between 10-20% of the
population of North America, Britain and Scandinavia suffer from PMLE in spring and
early summer. We are becoming increasingly confident from our studies that
Melanotan can be used to address these sun induced skin disorders.”

ABOUT THE COMPANY: EpiTan Limited (ASX: EPT) is an emerging biotechnology
company with a pre-eminent position on the prevention of DNA & skin damage from
ultra-violet (UV) radiation exposure. Based in Melbourne, Australia, EpiTan holds a
unique technology platform centred on its leading drug candidate Melanotan®. The
company has the exclusive worldwide rights to develop Melanotan, which, like
sunlight, stimulates the production of melanin in the skin resulting in a natural tan. It
allows a tan to develop without exposure to harmfui levels of UV light.

Melanotan is currently in Phase IIb clinical trials at two sites — the Royal Prince Alfred
Hospital in Sydney and the Royal Adelaide Hospital. These trials are designed to



demonstrate that Melanotan can reduce the incidence of skin damage resulting from
harmful exposure to ultra-violet light.

EpiTan has now successfully developed a more user-friendly drug delivery
formulation of Melanotan in the form of a slow release implant. This will be used in
the remaining clinical programme and the commercialised product. EpiTan has
obtained approval from the Queensland Institute of Medical Research (QIMR) to
begin its first human implant trial which is expected to begin in November 2003 and is
scheduled to take six months to complete.

EpiTan is also investigating Melanotan as a therapeutic agent for other indications
such as vitiligo, albinism, psoriasis and various recognised sun allergies such as
polymorphous light eruptions (PMLE or sun poisoning) and solar urticaria.

Potential markets worldwide for Melanotan for dermatology purposes are estimated

at US$1.5 billion. An even greater market (more than US$5 billion) exists for
Melanotan as a new safe (sunless) tanning drug.

-End-
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15 August 2003

Rick lversen

Companies Advisor
Australian Stock Exchange
Level 3, 530 Collins Street,
Melbourne, Victoria 3000

Dear Mr lversen,

Re: Price Query

| refer to your facsimile of 15 August and respond to your questions as follows:
ITEM 1:

No. There is no information concerning EpiTan Limited (EpiTan) that has not been
announced which, if known, would explain the recent trading in EpiTan’s shares.

The Directors of EpiTan believe that the recent trading in its shares is primarily due to the
increased awareness in the market place of EpiTan and of the progress of the clinical trials of
its primary drug candidate, Melanotan.

In that context, EpiTan draws the attention of the Exchange to its announcement on 5 May
2003 reporting progress on its Phase b drug study. EpiTan reported that it was “extremely
encouraged by the progress reports and fully expects the results to show that sunburn
damage is markedly reduced following Melanotan treatment”.

EpiTan also confirmed in that announcement that the last of the eighty volunteers are
expected to complete their regime on 11 September 2003. The preliminary results of the
Phase lIb trial are expected in early October 2003.

EpiTan also announced on 16 June 2003 that it had obtained approval to begin its first human
implant trial for Melanotan and that it planned to meet with the US Food and Drug
Administration on 8 October 2003 for the purpose of obtaining approval to begin trials in the
US, via an IND, with Melanotan implants.

ITEM 2: Not applicable.

ITEM 3: Subject to the statement in item 1 above and the comment below, EpiTan has no
other explanation for the price change and increase in volume in the trading of its shares.

EpiTan is actively seeking a partnership with a larger pharmaceutical company to assist with
the commercialisation of Melanotan. It is also seeking to accelerate and expand its clinical
trial programme. These matters have previously been announced. EpiTan will need to raise

EpiTan Limited A.B.N. 88 089 644 119
Level 10, 52 Collins Street, Melbourne Victoria Australia 3000
Tel: +613 9662 4688 Fax: +613 9662 4788
www.epitan.com.au



additional capital to fully fund those ongoing initiatives. It is intended that the road shows for
the further capital raising will take place in the immediate future. While EpiTan does not
regard its intended capital raising as in any way explaining the recent price change and
increase in volume in the trading of its shares, EpiTan believes that it is important that
investors are aware of its intentions in that regard.

ITEM 4: Yes. EpiTan has complied and will continue to comply fully with the Listing Rules
and, in particular, Listing Rule 3.1. EpiTan and its directors are fully aware of their continuous
disclosure obligations under the Listing Rules.

Yours sincerely
Wh
/":

lain Kirkwood
Company Secretary

EpiTan Limited A.B.N. 88 089 644 119
Level 10, 52 Collins Street, Melbourne Victoria Australia 3000
Tel: +613 9662 4688 Fax: +613 9662 4788
www.epitan.com.au
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Quarterly report for entities
admitted on the basis of commitments

Appendix 4C

Quarterly report
for entities admitted

on the basis of commitments

Introduced 31/3/2000. Amended 30/9/2001

Name of entity

Rule 4.7B

EPITAN LIMITED

ABN

38 089 644 119

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Cash flows related to operating activities

o

1.2

1.3
14

1.5
1.6
17

Receipts from customers

Payments for ~ (a) staff costs
(b) advertising and marketing
(c) research and development
(d) leased assets
(e) other working capital
Dividends received
Interest and other items of a similar nature
received
Interest and other costs of finance paid
Income taxes paid
Other (provide details if material) GST Refund

Net operating cash flows

Quarter ended (“current quarter™)

30 June 2003

Current quarter Year to date
$A’000 (12 months)
$A’000
(134) (422)
(448) (1,749)
(203) (1,062)
23 153
41 118
(721) (2,962)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 4C

Quarterly report for entities
admitted on the basis of commitments

Current quarter
$A°000

Year to date
(12 months)
$A’000

1.8

Net operating cash flows (carried forward)

(721)

(2,962)

1.9

1.10

1.14

Cash flows related to investing activities
Payment for acquisition of:
(a) businesses (item 5)
(b) equity investments
(c) intellectual
property
(d) physical non-
current assets
{e) other non-current
assets
Proceeds from disposal of:
(a) businesses (item 5)
(b) equity investments
(c) intellectual
property
(d) physical non-
current assets
(e) other non-current
assets

Loans to other entities
Loans repaid by other entities
Other (provide details if material)

Net investing cash flows

Total operating and investing cash flows

(9-0)

amn

(1(;8)

(48)

(107

(156)

(828)

(3,118)

1.15
1.16
1.17
1.18
1.19
1.20

Cash flows related to financing activities
Proceeds from issues of shares, options, etc.
Proceeds from sale of forfeited shares
Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Dividends paid

Other (provide details if material)

Net financing cash flows

1,317

1.21
1.22

1.23

Net increase (decrease) in cash held

Cash at beginning of quarter/year to date
Exchange rate adjustments to item 1.20

Cash at end of quarter

(218)

2,395

(1,801)

4,414

2,613

2,613

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Quarterly report for entities
admitted on the basis of commitments

Payments to directors of the entity and associates of the directors

Payments to related entities of the entity and associates of the related
entities

Current quarter
$A'000

1.24 Aggregate amount of payments to the parties included in item 1.2 54

1.25 Aggregate amount of loans to the parties included in item 1.11 (see note 1) -

1.26 Explanation necessary for an understanding of the transactions

Non-cash financing and investing activities

2.1  Details of financing and investing transactions which have had a material effect on consolidated
assets and liabilities but did not involve cash flows

2.2 Details of outlays made by other entities to establish or increase their share in businesses in which
the reporting entity has an interest

Financing facilities available
Add notes as necessary for an understanding of the position. (See AASB 1026 paragraph 12.2).

Amount available Amount used
$A000 $A’000

3.1 Loan facilities - .

3.2 Credit standby arrangements - -

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Reconciliation of cash

Reconciliation of cash at the end of the quarter (as | Current quarter Previous quarter
shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows) to | $A°000 $A’000

the related items in the accounts is as follows.

4.1 Cash on hand and at bank 1,135 487
4.2 Deposits at call 1,478 1,908

4.3 Bank overdraft - -

4.4  Other (provide details) - -

Total: cash at end of quarter (item 1.22) 2,613 2,395

Acquisitions and disposals of business entities

Acquisitions Disposals

(Item 1.9(a)) (Ttem 1.10(a))

5.1  Name of entity - -

5.2 Place of incorporation | - -
or registration

5.3  Consideration for - -
acquisition or disposal

5.4  Total net assets - -

5.5 Nature of business - -

Compliance statement

1 This statement has been prepared under accounting policies which comply with
accounting standards as defined in the Corporations Act (except to the extent that

information is not required because of note 2) or other standards acceptable to
ASX.

2 This statement does /dees-net* (delete one) give a true and fair view of the
matters disclosed.

Sign here: W‘M Date: 25 July 2003

et

{(Company secretary)

Print name: Iain Kirkwood

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Quarterly report for entities
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Notes

1. The quarterly report provides a basis for informing the market how the entity’s
activities have been financed for the past quarter and the effect on its cash
position. An entity wanting to disclose additional information is encouraged
to do so, in a note or notes attached to this report.

2. The definitions in, and provisions of, AASB 1026: Statement of Cash Flows
apply to this report except for the paragraphs of the Standard set out below.

. 6.2 - reconciliation of cash flows arising from operating activities
to operating profit or loss

. 9.2 - itemised disclosure relating to acquisitions

. 9.4 - itemised disclosure relating to disposals

. 12.1(a)- policy for classification of cash items

. 12.3 - disclosure of restrictions on use of cash

] 13.1 - comparative information

3. Accounting Standards. ASX will accept, for example, the use of
International Accounting Standards for foreign entities. If the standards used
do not address a topic, the Australian standard on that topic (if any) must be
complied with.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

25/07/2003 Appendix 4C Page §



Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

Rule 2.7,3.10.3,3.10.4, 3.10.5
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New issue announcement,
application for quotation of additional securities
and agreement

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information and
documents given to ASX become ASX's property and may be made public.

Introduced 1/7/96. Origin: Appendix 5. Amended 1/7/98, 1/9/99, 1/7/2000, 30/9/2001, 11/3/2002, 1/1/2003.

Name of entity

[EPITAN LIMITED

ABN
88 089 644 119

We (the entity) give ASX the following information.

Part 1 - All issues

You must complete the relevant sections (attach sheets if there is not enough space).

1 *Class of *securities issued or to be | Ordinary Shares
issued

2 Number of *securities issued or to | 8,575,734 ordinary shares
be issued (if known) or maximum
number which may be issued

3 Principal terms of the *securities (eg, | Exercise of 8,575,734 EPTO options at 30
if options, exercise price and expiry | cents each
date; if partly paid *securities, the
amount outstanding and due dates
for payment; if “fconvertible
securities, the conversion price and
dates for conversion)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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4 Do the *securities rank equally in all
respects from the date of allotment
with an existing *class of quoted
*securities?

If the additional securities do not
rank equally, please state:

the date from which they do

the extent to which they
participate for the next dividend,
(in the case of a trust,
distribution) or interest payment
the extent to which they do not
rank equally, other than in
relation to the next dividend,
distribution or interest payment

5  Issue price or consideration

6  Purpose of the issue
(If issued as consideration for the
acquisition of assets, clearly identify
those assets)

Dates of entering *securities into
uncertificated holdings or despatch
of certificates

Number and *class of all
*securities quoted on ASX
(including the securities in clause 2
if applicable)

Yes

30 cents per EPTO option. Total $2,572,720.20

Exercise of 8,575,734 options

9 July 2003
Number *Class
96,925,746 EPT ordinary

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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New issue announcement

10

Number and *class of all
*securities not quoted on ASX
(including the securities in clause 2
if applicable)

Dividend policy (in the case of a
trust, distribution policy) on the
increased capital (interests)

Number

*Class

6,714,895

EpiTan Incentive
Option Plan

Ordinary shares ranking equally with existing

ordinary shares

Part 2 - Bonus issue or pro rata issue

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

Is security holder approval
required?

Is the issue renounceable or non-
renounceable?

Ratio in which the *securities will
be offered

*Class of *securities to which the
offer relates

*Record date to determine
entitlements

Will holdings on different registers
(or subregisters) be aggregated for
calculating entitlements?

Policy for deciding entitlements in
relation to fractions

Names of countries in which the
entity has *security holders who will
not be sent new issue documents

Note: Security holders must be told how their
entitlements are to be dealt with.

Cross reference: rule 7.7,

Closing date for receipt of
acceptances or renunciations

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

Names of any underwriters

Amount of any underwriting fee or
commission

Names of any brokers to the issue

Fee or commission payable to the
broker to the issue

Amount of any handling fee payable
to brokers who lodge acceptances
or renunciations on behalf of
*security holders

If the issue is contingent on
*security holders” approval, the date
of the meeting

Date entitlement and acceptance
form and prospectus or Product
Disclosure Statement will be sent to
persons entitled

If the entity has issued options, and
the terms entitle option holders to
participate on exercise, the date on
which notices will be sent to option
holders

Date rights trading will begin (if
applicable)

Date rights trading will end (if
applicable)

How do *security holders sell their
entitlements in full through a
broker?

How do *security holders sell part
of their entitlements through a
broker and accept for the balance?

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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32 How do *security holders dispose of
their entitlements (except by sale
through a broker)?

33 *Despatch date

Part 3 - Quotation of securities

You need only complete this section if you are applying for quotation of securities

34  Type of securities
(tick one)

(a) E Securities described in Part 1

(b) All other securities

Example: restricted securities at the end of the escrowed period, partly paid securitics that become fully paid, employee
incentive share securities when restriction ends, securities issued on expiry or conversion of convertible securities

Entities that have ticked box 34(a)

Additional securities forming a new class of securities

Tick to indicate you are providing the information or

documents

35 If the *securities are *equity securities, the names of the 20 largest holders of the
additional *securities, and the number and percentage of additional *securities held by
those holders

36 If the *securities are *equity securities, a distribution schedule of the additional
*securities setting out the number of holders in the categories
1-1,000
1,001 - 5,000
5,001 - 10,000

10,001 - 100,000
100,001 and over

37 D A copy of any trust deed for the additional *securities

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Entities that have ticked box 34(b)

38 Number of securities for which
*quotation is sought

39  Class of *securities for which
quotation is sought

40 Do the *securities rank equally in all
respects from the date of allotment
with an existing *class of quoted
*securities?

If the additional securities do not

rank equally, please state:

o the date from which they do

e the extent to which they
participate for the next dividend,
(in the case of a trust,
distribution) or interest payment

¢ the extent to which they do not
rank equally, other than in
relation to the next dividend,
distribution or interest payment

41 Reason for request for quotation
now

Example: In the case of restricted securities, end of
restriction period

(if issued upon conversion of
another security, clearly identify that
other security)

Number *Class

42 Number and *class of all *securities
quoted on ASX (including the
securities in clause 38)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Quotation agreement

1 *Quotation of our additional *securities is in ASX’s absolute discretion. ASX may
quote the *securities on any conditions it decides.

2 We warrant the following to ASX.

The issue of the *securities to be quoted complies with the law and is not
for an illegal purpose.

There is no reason why those *securities should not be granted *quotation.

An offer of the securities for sale within 12 months after their issue will
not require disclosure under section 707(3) or section 1012C(6) of the
Corporations Act.

Note: An entity may need to obtain appropriate warranties from subscribers for the securities in order to be able to give
this warranty

Section 724 or section 1016E of the Corporations Act does not apply to any
applications received by us in relation to any *securities to be quoted and
that no-one has any right to return any *securities to be quoted under
sections 737, 738 or 1016F of the Corporations Act at the time that we
request that the *securities be quoted.

We warrant that if confirmation is required under section 1017F of the
Corporations Act in relation to the *securities to be quoted, it has been
provided at the time that we request that the *securities be quoted.

If we are a trust, we warrant that no person has the right to return the
*securities to be quoted under section 1019B of the Corporations Act at the
time that we request that the *securities be quoted.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

9/07/2003
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Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

3 We will indemnify ASX to the fullest extent permitted by law in respect of any
claim, action or expense arising from or connected with any breach of the
warranties in this agreement.

4 We give ASX the information and documents required by this form. If any
information or document not available now, will give it to ASX before *quotation

of the *securities begins. We acknowledge that ASX is relying on the information
and documents. We warrant that they are (will be) true and complete.

Sign here: \?M’%Jy;f ) Date: 9 July 2003

(Birester/Company secretary)

Print name: .M. Kirkwood

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 3Y
Change of Director’s Interest Notice

KeUEIVED

Rule 3.194.2

. 100 HAY - 18
Appendix 3Y TARIS
UFFICE OF (HTERNATIOHAL
CORPORATE FINAMCE
Change of Director’s Interest Notice

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information and
documents given to ASX become ASX's property and may be made public.

Introduced 30/9/2001,
ame of entity EPITAN LIMITED
IABN 88 089 644 119

We (the entity) give ASX the following information under listing rule 3.19A.2 and as agent for the
director for the purposes of section 205G of the Corporations Act.

Name of Director Wayne Millen

Date of last notice 4 July 2003

Part 1 - Change of director’s relevant interests in securities
In the case of a trust, this includes interests in the trust made available by the responsible entity of the trust

Note: In the case of a company, interests which come within paragraph (i) of the definition of “notifiable interest of a director” should be
disclosed in this part.

Direct or indirect interest Indirect - 19,656,144
Direct - 10,000
Nature of indirect interest Weighton Pty Ltd (trustee of Millen Family
(including registered holder) Trust)
Note: Provide details of the circumstances giving rise to the relevant
interest.
Date of change 17 December 2003
No. of securities held prior to change 19,666,144
Class Ordinary Shares Fully Paid (“EPT”)
Number acquired Nil
Number disposed 1,398,269
Value/Consideration $435,000
Note: If consideration is non-cash, provide details and estimated
valuation
No. of securities held after change 18,267,875

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 3Y
Change of Director’s Interest Notice

Nature of change On market trade - 250,000

Example: on-market trade, off-market trade, exercise of options, issue of Off market trade - l 148 269
securities under dividend reinvestment plan, participation in buy-back ’ ’

Part 2 — Change of director’s interests in contracts

Note: In the case of a company, interests which come within paragraph (ii) of the definition of “notifiable interest of a director” should be
disclosed in this part.

Detail of contract -

Nature of interest -

Name of registered holder -
(if issued securities)

Date of change -

No. and class of securities to | -
which interest related prior to
change

Note: Details are only required for a contract in relation
to which the interest has changed

Interest acquired -

Interest disposed -

Value/Consideration -
Note: If consideration is non-cash, provide details and
an estimated valuation

Interest after change -

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 3Y
Change of Director’s Interest Notice

Rule 3.194.2

Appendix 3Y

Change of Director’s Interest Notice

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information and
documents given to ASX become ASX’s property and may be made public.

Introduced 30/9/2001.

ame of entity EPITAN LIMITED

IABN 88 089 644 119

We (the entity) give ASX the following information under listing rule 3.19A.2 and as agent for the
director for the purposes of section 205G of the Corporations Act.

Name of Director Terry Winters

Date of last notice 4 June 2003

Part 1 - Change of director’s relevant interests in securities
In the case of a trust, this includes interests in the trust made available by the responsible entity of the trust

Note: In the case of a company, interests which come within paragraph (i) of the definition of “notifiable interest of a director” should be
disclosed in this part.

Direct or indirect interest Indirect

Nature of indirect interest Melanotan Corporation USA (director)
(including registered holder)

Note: Provide details of the circumstances giving rise to the relevant

interest.

Date of change 1 July 2003

No. of securities held prior to change 9,624,911

Class Options (EPTO)
Number acquired Nil

Number disposed 9,624,911 (lapse)
Value/Consideration N/A

Note: If consideration is non-cash, provide details and estimated

valuation

No. of securities held after change Nil

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 3Y
Change of Director’s Interest Notice

Nature of change

Example: on-market trade, off-market trade, exercise of options, issue of
securities under dividend reinvestment plan, participation in buy-back

Lapse on expiry of EPTO options at S5pm 30
June 2003

Part 2 — Change of director’s interests in contracts

Note: In the case of a company, interests which come within paragraph (ii) of the definition of “notifiable interest of a director” should be

disclosed in this part.

Detail of contract -

Nature of interest -

Name of registered holder -
(if issued securities)

Date of change -

No. and class of securities to | -
which interest related prior to
change '

Note: Details are only required for a contract in relation
to which the interest has changed

Interest acquired -

Interest disposed -

Value/Consideration -
Note: If consideration is non-cash, provide details and
an estimated valuation

Interest after change -

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Company Announcement

CE OF tRTERY WATIC AL
EpiTan announces underwriting agreement for OptlonSCQppf R”&TE FlANCE

For more information contact:

Dr Wayne Millen, CEO, EpiTan Limited, Tel 03 9662 4688

Mr lain Kirkwood, Chief Administrative Officer, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
Mr Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620 3333
mail@epitan.com.au

www.epitan.com.au

Melbourne, Australia

EpiTan Limited (ASX:EPT) today announced that it has entered into an agreement
with Intersuisse Corporate Pty Ltd (“Intersuisse”) to underwrite the exercise of
8,333,334 options having a value of $2500,000.20 plus any options which are duly
exercised in accordance with the options exercise terms and accepted by the
company after the 30 June 2003. Intersuisse will be paid an underwriting fee of
$0.055 cents for each shortfall share subscribed pursuant to its underwriting
agreement out of which it will pay fees to participating brokers, institutions and other
parties. v

Dr Wayne Millen, EpiTan's Managing Director said, “We are delighted to receive this
support from option holders and institutional investors. The additional funds received
from the option exercise increases our cash on hand to over $4 million We will
continue to press on with the final clinical trials required to progress our leading drug
candidate, Melanotan towards commercialisation. In particular EpiTan will now fast
track the clinical trials of its newly developed slow release implant and seek FDA
approval paving the way for Phase lll clinical trials in the USA.”

The Underwriting Agreement has standard termination clauses. All shares issued
pursuant to the underwriting will rank equally with existing ordinary shares on issue.

Intersuisse Corporate has also been appointed as corporate adviser to EpiTan and
pursuant- to this -agreement will be ‘paid-a management fee of 2.5% of the
underwritten amount which will be offset against the corporate advisory retainer paid
to date.

ABOUT THE COMPANY: EpiTan Limited (ASX: EPT) is an emerging biotechnology
company with a pre-eminent position on the prevention of DNA & skin damage from
ultra-violet (UV) radiation exposure. Based in Melbourne, Australia, EpiTan holds a
unique technology platform centred on its leading drug candidate Melanotan®. The
company has the exclusive worldwide rights to develop Melanotan, which, like
sunlight, stimulates the production of melanin in the skin resulting in a natural tan. It
allows a tan to develop without exposure to harmful levels of UV light.

Melanotan is currently in Phase IIb clinical trials at two sites — the Royal Prince Alfred
Hospital in Sydney and the Royal Adelaide Hospital. These trials are designed to
demonstrate that Melanotan can reduce the incidence of skin damage resulting from
harmful exposure to ultra-violet light.



EpiTan has now successfully developed a more user-friendly drug delivery
formulation of Melanotan in the form of a slow release implant. This will be used in
the remaining clinical programme and the commercialised product. EpiTan has
obtained approval from the Queensland Institute of Medical Research (QIMR) to
begin its first human implant trial which is expected to begin in November 2003 and is
scheduled to take six months to complete.

EpiTan is also investigating Melanotan as a therapeutic agent for other indications
such as vitiligo, albinism, psoriasis and various recognised sun allergies such as
polymorphous light eruptions (PMLE or sun poisoning) and solar urticaria.

Potential markets worldwide for Melanotan for dermatology purposes are estimated
at US$1.5 billion. An even greater market (more than US$5 billion) exists for
Melanotan as a new safe (sunless) tanning drug.

-End-
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Company Announcement
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EpiTan announces human implant trials to begin “7£$8 95 MTERER T2

For more information contact:

Dr Wayne Millen, CEO, EpiTan Limited, Tel 03 9662 4688

Mr lain Kirkwood, Chief Administrative Officer, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
Mr Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620 3333
mail@epitan.com.au

www.epitan.com.au

Melbourne, Australia

EpiTan Limited (ASX:EPT) today announced that it had obtained approval from the
Queensland Institute of Medical Research (QIMR) to begin its first human implant
trial for its leading drug candidate Melanotan®. This trial is scheduled to take six
months to complete.

In this trial up to twenty four healthy volunteers wiil receive only one injection of
Melanotan contained in a long acting implant. This formulation is a much more
commercially viable delivery mechanism and is a major advancement on the daily
injections currently being used in the company’s Phase llb clinical trial shortly to be
completed in September 2003. Similar implants, such as Zoladexd (AstraZeneca) for
the treatment of prostate cancer, have already been approved for use in Australian
and worldwide markets.

Dr Wayne Millen, EpiTan’s Managing Director, said, “We are delighted to receive this
approval from QIMR’s Human Research Ethics Committee to begin these important
human trials. The fact that this type of sustained-release formulation has already
been proven to work with Melanotan in our preclinical studies is of great assistance.
The implant will now be used in the remaining clinical program and Melanotan is
likely to be commercialised first in this formulation.”

“EpiTan plans to meet with the US Food & Drug Administration later this year in order
to obtain an IND approval for the Melanotan implant.”

The company also announced that it had engaged Southern Research Institute,
USA, (Southern Research) to manufacture the implants, which are expected to be
available in November 2003.

Mr Michael Kleinig, EpiTan’s Pharmaceutical Development Manager, said, ‘The
implant, which was developed in collaboration with Southern Research, is designed
to be placed under the skin, enabling a uniform delivery of Melanotan.”

“The implant is made from the same material as is used in self-dissolving stitches
and is therefore krown to be safe and reliable. The implant is totally biodegradable
and therefore does not have to be removed at the end of the treatment.”



EpiTan has already announced that it is also working on a topical delivery form to
provide consumers with a choice of how they can take Melanotan — as an implant or
topical formulation.

ABOUT THE COMPANY: EpiTan Limited (ASX: EPT) is an emerging biotechnology
company with a pre-eminent position on the prevention of DNA & skin damage from
ultra-violet (UV) radiation e xposure. Based in Melbourne, Australia, EpiTan holds a
unique technology platform centred on its leading drug candidate Melanotan®. The
company has the exclusive worldwide rights to develop Melanotan, which, like
sunlight, stimulates the production of melanin in the skin resulting in a natural tan. It
allows a tan to develop without exposure to harmful levels of UV light.

Melanotan is currently in Phase lIb clinical trials at two sites — the Royal Prince Alfred
Hospital in Sydney and the Royal Adelaide Hospital. These trials are designed to
demonstrate that Melanotan can reduce the incidence of skin damage resulting from
harmful exposure to ultra-violet light.

EpiTan has now successfully developed a more user-friendly drug delivery
formulation of Melanotan in the form of a slow release implant. This will be used in
the remaining clinical programme and the commercialised product.

EpiTan is also investigating Melanotan as a therapeutic agent for other indications
such as vitiligo, albinism, psoriasis and various recognised sun allergies such as
polymorphous light eruptions (PMLE or sun poisoning) and solar urticaria.

Potential markets worldwide for Melanotan for dermatology purposes are estimated
at US$1.5 billion. An even greater market (more than US$5 billion) exists for
Melanotan as a new safe (sunless) tanning drug.

ABOUT SOUTHERN RESEARCH: Southern Research Institute, an affiliate of the
University of Alabama, at Birmingham, USA, was established in 1941 and has a long
reputation for leadership and excelence in drug discovery and development of
delivery formulations. Their drug-delivery programs range from feasibility studies,
pre-formulation studies, pre-clinical development, scale up and clinical trial material
production.

-End-
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Initial Director’s Interest Notice

Rule 3.194.1

Y
s‘%.f‘

Appendlx 3X

Inltlal Director’s Interest Notice (Amended)

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information and
documents given to ASX become ASX's property and may be made public.

Introduced 30/9/2001.

Name of entity EpiTan Limited
ABN 88 089 644 119

We (the entity) give ASX the following information under listing rule 3.19A.1 and as agent
for the director for the purposes of section 205G of the Corporations Act.

Name of Director Terry Winters

Date of appointment 22 August 2000

Part 1 - Director’s relevant interests in securities of which the director is the registered
holder

In the case of a trust, this includes interests in the trust made available by the responsible entity of the trust

Number & class of securities

150,000 Ordinary shares
750,000 Directors’ Options

Part 2- Director’s relevant interests in securities of which the director is not the registered
holder

In the case of a trust, this includes interests in the trust made available by the responsible entity of the trust

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 3X
Initial Director’s Interest Notice

Name of holder & nature of interest | Number & class of Securities
Note; Provide details of the circumstances
giving rise to the relevant interest.

Melanotan Corporation USA 15,165,415 Ordinary Shares
(director) 9,624,911 Options

Part 3- Director’s interests in contracts

Detail of contract -Nil-

Nature of interest

Not applicable
Name of registered holder '
(if issued securities) Not applicable
No. and class of securities to which .
interest relates Not applicable

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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CORPORATE FIRANCE

3 June, 2003

Rick lversen

Companies Advisor
Australian Stock Exchange
Level 3, 530 Collins Street,
Melbourne, Vic 3000

Dear Mr Iversen,

Re: Letter to option holders

EpiTan sent out Option Expiry Notices on Friday 30 May 2003 to all option holders in
accordance with ASX Listing Rules (Appendix 6A — 6.1). The Notices were accompanied with a
letter from the company’s Chairman, lodged online with ASX the same day.

it has come to our attention that the Chairman’s letter lodged online with ASX was not the same
version that was sent to option holders. The company advises that the differences between the
two (versions) are not material.

The company is submitting herewith the (correct) letter that was sent out to option holders. it is
included in this electronic file.

We apologise for any inconvenience caused.

Yours sincerely,
e

lain Kirkwood
Company Secretary

epitan Leve! 10, 52 Collins Street Melbourne Australia 3000 Tel: +61 3 9662 4688 Fax: + 61 3 8662 4788 mail@epitan.com.au www.epitan.com.au



epitan

30 May 2003
Dear Optionholder,
OPTIONS EXPIRING 30 JUNE 2003

Under ASX listing rules EpiTan Limited is required to advise you that the Options to subscribe for
fully paid ordinary shares in the capital of EpiTan Limited, registered in your name, expire at 5.00pm
(Melbourne time) on Monday 30 June 2003.

The Options, which are listed on the ASX under the code EPTO, can only be exercised by the
payment of 30 cents for each Option exercised on or before 5.00pm (Melbourne time) on Monday 30
June 2003. You may elect to exercise all or only some of your Options. Alternatively, you may
decide not to exercise any Options in which case you may ignore this letter and the Option Exercise
Notice.

Further details on the exercise of the Options are contained in the accompanying Option Expiry
Notice, including all information required by the ASX Listing Rules. Your Directors encourage you to
read this document carefully.

Over recent weeks there has been a significant increase in the sale price of the Company's shares
on ASX. On 28 May 2003, EpiTan shares were traded at 28 cents, which is only 2 cents below the
exercise price of the Options. Your Directors attribute this improvement in the market price in large
part to two important recent announcements conceming EpiTan's leading drug candidate,
Melanotan®

« 5 May 2003 - a progress report on the Phase llb human “sunburn” trial.

= 20 May 2003 - the signing of a collaboration agreement to develop a topical (lotion)
formulation for Melanotan.

These announcements and the Company's ability to build on the successful development earlier this
year of the development of a single dose slow-release implant provide further evidence of the
Company's ability to complete the development and commercialisation of this drug. Copies of the
recent announcements and a short video animation of how Melanotan works can be viewed on the
Company’s website at www.epitan.com.au.

Options not exercised by 5.00pm {Melbourne time) on Monday 30 June 2003 will lapse. Your
Directors believe it is most important that, before making any investment decision, you are aware of
the latest developments concerning the drug Melanotan and the recent movement in the market
price of the Company's shares on ASX. If you are in doubt about any matter set out in this letter or
about making any further investment in EpiTan, | strongly urge you to seek independent professional
financial, legal or taxation advice.

If you have any questions about your security holding, please contact our share registry,
Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited, on 1300 850 505 or visit their website at
www.computershare.com.

Yours sincerely

M D .

Dr Wayne Millen
Chairman and Managing Director
EpiTan Limited

EpiTan Limited ABN 88 089 644 119 Level 10,52 Collins Street Melbourne VIC 3000 Tel 03 9662 4688 Fax 03 9662 4788 www.epitan.com.au

03621V, 006C58



EpiTan Limited

ABN 88 089 644 119

ST

SAMPLE CUSTOMER
SAMPLE STREET
SAMPLE STREET
SAMPLE STREET
SAMPLE STREET

SAMPLETOWN TAS 7000

b el eters | A B | 1 2 3.
inside the grey areas. e L
Option Expiry Notice

Computershare

Pleass retum completed form to:
Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
GPO Box 52 Melbourne

Victoria 8060 Australia

Enquiries (within Australia) 1300 850 505
{outside Australia) 61 3 9615 5970

Facsimile 61 3 9473 2529
web.queries@computershare.com.au
www.computershare.com

Securityholder Reference Number (SRN)

(TN

Options exercisable at A$0.30 per option expiring on 5pm Melbourne time on 30th June 2003

Dear Optionholder(s)

You are reminded that the Options to subscribe for Fully Paid Ordinary Shares in the capital of
EpiTan Limited registered in your name expire on 30th June 2003. These Options are

exercisable wholly or in part by the payment of A$0.30 for each

option exercised. Payment has

fo be received at either of the addresses overleaf, by Spm Melbourne time on 30th June 2003.
For every one option exercised, the optionholder will be allotted One Fully Paid

Ordinary Share in the capital of EpiTan Limited.

Options not exercised by 5pm Melbourne time on 30th June 2003 will lapse.

To be completed by Optionholder

Number of Options to be exercised

| 1234567890 IND

Optlonholder Entltlement details

_Subreglster I lssuer |
:Asx"ckod'e" l XXX XXX |
‘Number of Oplons registered |

y:ﬂnzrn?e ptions registered in l OO, XXX XXX I
:S’;‘t?o“_n"é o g | X XXX XXX XX
Number of Fully Paid Ordinary*

S.:;e:ftg be“Jks);ueadI i IXXX,XXX,XXY‘

Amount enclosed at A$0.30 per Option

To the Directors
EpiTan Limited

We enclose my/our payment for the amount shown above being payment of A$0.30 per Option.

I/We the abovenamed being the registered helder(s) of the options, hereby exercise myfour option for Fully Paid Ordinary Shares in EpiTan Limited and lwe
request you allot such Fully Paid Ordinary Shares to me/us and Iwe agree to be bound by the Constitution of the Company.

Cheque details - Make your cheque or bank draft payable to EpiTan Limited and crossed “Not Negotiable”

E Drawer Cheque Number BSB Number Account Number Amount of cheque
Drawer Chegue Number v BS‘B‘.N‘umber Account Number Amount of cheque

Sign Here - This section must be signed for your instructions to be executed

a

Individual or Optionholder 1

Optionholder 2

Optionholder 3

Director

Dlrector/Company Secretary

Sole Director and Sole Company Secretary

The directors reserve the right to make amendments to this form where appropriate. Please refer to the lodgement instructions overleaf.

This form may not be used to effect an address change. Please contact Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited on 1300 850 505 for an appropriate form, or download &
Change of Address Notification form from www.computershare.com See back of form for completion guidelines

EPT OEN

003621 v_008BLA
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How to complete this form

Exercise of your Options in full or part

B

Registration Name(s)

The Fully Paid Ordinary Shares will be registered in the name(s) printed on
the form.

Options Exercised

Enter the number of Options you wish to exercise.

Exercise Monies

Enter the amount of exercise monies. To calculate the amount payable,
multiply the number of Options exercised by the exercise price.

Payment

Make your cheque or bank draft payable to EpiTan Limited in Australian
currency and cross it Not Negotiable. Your cheque or bank draft must be
drawn on an Australian Bank.

Complete the cheque details in the boxes provided. The total amount must
agree with the amount shown in box C.

Cheques will be processed on the day of receipt and as such, sufficient
cleared funds must be held in your account as cheques returned unpaid
may not be re-presented and may result in your Expiry Notice being
rejected. Pin {do not staple) your cheque(s) to the Options Expiry Notice
where indicated. Cash will not be accepted, Receipt for payment will not
be forwarded.

E Signature(s)

You must sign the form as follows in the space provided:
Joint holding: where the holding is in more than one name all of the
securityholders must sign.

Power of Attorney:  to sign under Power of Attorney, you must have aiready
lodged this document with the registry. Alternatively,
attach a certified copy of the Power of Attomey to this
form when you return it.

Deceased Estate:  all executors must sign and, if not already noted by
the registry, a certified copy of Prabate or Letters of
Administration must accompany this form.

Companies: this form must be signed by either 2 Directors or a
Director and a Company Secretary. Altematively, where
the company has a Sole Director and, pursuant to the
Corporations Act, there is no Company Secretary, or
where the Sole Director is also the Sole Company
Secretary, that Director may sign alone. Delete titles as
applicable,

This is an important document and requires your immediate attention. If you are in any doubt as to how to deal with it, please consult your Financial or other
Professionat Advisor.

Lodgement of Notice
Option Expiry Notices must be received at the Melbourne office of Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited by no later than S5pm Melbourne time on 30th June 2003.
Return the Option Expiry Notice with chegque(s) attached to:

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited OR

GPO Box 52 Level 12

MELBOURNE VIC 8060 565 Bourke Street
MELBOURNE VIC 3000

Privacy Statement
Personal information is collected on this form by Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited ("CIS"), as registrar for securities issuers ("the issuer”), for the purpose of
maintaining registers of securityholders, facilitating distribution payments and other corporate actions and communications. Your persenal information may be disclosed to our
related bodies corporate, to external service companies such as print or mail service providers, or as otherwise required or permitted by law. If you would like details of your
personal information held by CIS, or you would like to correct information that is inaccurate, incorrect or out of date, please contact CIS. In accordance with the Corporations Act
2001, you may be sent material (including marketing material) approved by the issuer in addition to general corporate communications. You may elect not to receive marketing
material by contacting CIS. You can contact C!S using the details provided on the front of this form or E-mail privacy@computershare.com.au

Recent Ordinary Fully Paid Share Prices on Australian Stock Exchange

Latest available market sale price of the Ordinary Fully Paid Share was 23.5 cents on 28 May 2003.

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited

Highest sale price during the 3 months proceeding Ordinary Fully Paid Share was 28.0 cents on 28 May 2003.
Lowest sale price during the 3 months proceeding Ordinary Fully Paid Share was 11.5 cents on 30 Aprit 2003.

Last trading day of Options on the Australian Stock Exchange will be on 23rd June 2003.

If you have any enquiries concerning your Option holding, please contact Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited on 1300 850 505.

Please return the completed form in the
envelope provided or to the address opposite:

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
GPO Box 52

Melbourne Victoria 8060

Australia

002621 V_006BMB.
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Company Announcement
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EpiTan expands group [a F, atlonj’ omtoplcal formulation of

Melanotan®

For more information contact:

Dr Wayne Millen, CEO, EpiTan Limited, Tel 03 9662 4688

Mr lain Kirkwood, Chief Administrative Officer, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
Mr Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620 3333
mail@epitan.com.au

www.epitan.com.au

Melbourne, Australia

EpiTan Limited (ASX:EPT) today announced it has signed collaborative research
agreements with Monash University, based in Melbourne, Australia, and the Institute
of Medical and Veterinary Science (“IMVS”) based in Adelaide, Australia. This follows
the recent announcement of a collaborative arrangement with CollaGenex
Pharmaceutical (USA) and Thomas Skoéld (Sweden) to use their RestoradermO
technology.

Collectively these agreements will spearhead the development of a topical
formulation for Melanotan.

Dr Wayne Millen, EpiTan’s Managing Director, said, “EpiTan’s commitment is to
ensure that Melanotan's commercial potential is fully exploited as quickly as possible.
EpiTan already enjoys highly productive relationships with Monash University and
IMVS, and we continue to work closely with these institutions”.

Mr Michael Kleinig, EpiTan’s Pharmaceutical & Business Development Manager
said, “This collaboration cements a world class team to work on a lotion for the
delivery of Melanotan. We now have the inventor of the RestoradermO technology,
Thomas Skold, working with first class scientists and laboratory facilities to fast track
a Melanotan topical formulation. Both Monash University and IMVS are well regarded
as centres of excellence in their respective fields of research”.

He added: “We believe that many people will be eager to use Melanotan in a topical
form and this collaboration should speed up its development. We would like to
provide consumers with a choice of how they can take Melanotan — as an implant or
topical formulation.”

The work on the development of a Melanotan lotion will be performed within the
Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology at Monash University and the
Veterinary Services Division of IMVS, headed by Dr Tim Kuchel.

The terms of the agreements provide EpiTan with all intellectual property and
commercialisation rights.



ABOUT THE COMPANY: EpiTan Limited (ASX: EPT) is an emerging biotechnology
company with a pre-eminent position on the prevention of DNA & skin damage from
ultra-violet (UV) radiation exposure. Based in Melbourne, Australia, EpiTan holds a
unique technology platform centred on its leading drug candidate Melanotan®. The
company has the exclusive worldwide rights to develop Melanotan, which, like
sunlight, stimulates the production of melanin in the skin resulting in a natural tan. It
allows a tan to develop without exposure to harmful levels of UV light.

Melanotan is currently in Phase lib clinical trials at two sites — the Royal Prince Alfred
Hospital in Sydney and the Royal Adelaide Hospital. These trials are designed to
demonstrate that Melanotan can reduce the incidence of skin damage resulting from
harmful exposure to ultra-violet light.

EpiTan has now successfully developed a more user-friendly drug delivery
formulation of Melanotan in the form of a slow release implant. This will be used in
the remaining clinical programme and the commercialised product.

EpiTan is also investigating Melanotan as a therapeutic agent for other indications
such as vitiligo, albinism, psoriasis and various recognised sun allergies such as
polymorphous light eruptions and solar urticaria.

Potential markets worldwide for Melanotan for dermatology purposes are estimated
at US$1.5 billion. An even greater market (more than US$5 billion) exists for
Melanotan as a new safe (sunless) tanning drug.

-End-
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Dear Optionholder,

OPTIONS EXPIRING 30 JUNE 2003

Under ASX listing rules EpiTan Limited is obligated to remind you that the Options to
subscribe for fully paid ordinary shares in the capital of EpiTan Limited, registered in
your hame, expire on Monday 30 June 2003.

These options, which are listed as EPTO, are exercisable wholly or in part by the
payment of A$0.30 (30 cents) for each Option exercised. Further details are
contained in the accompanying Option Expiry Notice, including all information
required by the ASX listing rules. Your directors encourage you to read this
document carefully.

The latest available market price of EpiTan shares (ASX ticker: EPT) was [25] cents
on 27 May 2003, which is 5 cents below the option exercise price.

Over the past few weeks there has been a significant increase in the company’s
share price. Your directors attribute this improvement in large part to increasing
investor awareness of the excellent progress the company has been making in the
development of its leading drug candidate, Melanotan®. More specifically, the
company made two important announcements during May:

* Monday 5 May - a progress report on the Phase Ilb human “sunburn”
trial;

s Tuesday 20 May - the signing of a collaboration agreement to develop a
topical (fotion) formulation for Melanotan.

These announcements continue to build on the successful development of a single
dose slow-release implant announced earlier this year, and further confirms our
confidence in our ability to complete the development and commercialisation of this
drug. These announcements, including a short video animation of how Melanotan
works, can be viewed on the company’s website at www.epitan.com.au.

In view of the current market price for EpiTan shares, your directors consider it
important that you should be in possession of the appropriate Option Expiry Notice. If
the share price continues to increase to equal or exceed 30 cents before 30 June
2003, you may elect to pay the exercise price to convert your EPTO options.
However, if the market price for EpiTan shares remains below 30 cents on or before
30 June 2003,the directors recommend that you do not pay the exercise price.

Options not exercised by Spm Melbourne time on Monday 30 June 2003 will lapse.
It is important therefore that, before making any investment decision, you seek your
own independent and professional financial, legal and taxation advice.

EpiTan Limited ABN 88 089 644 119 Level 10,52 Collins Street Melbourne VIC 3000 Tel 03 9662 4688 Fax 03 9662 4788 www.epitan.com.au



If you have any questions about your security holding, please contact our share
registry, Computershare Registry Services, on 1300 850 505 or visit their website at

www.computershare.com.

Yours sincerely

Myl

EpiTan Limited

EpiTan Limted ABN 88 089 644 119 Level 10,52 Collins Street Melbourne VIC 3000 Tel 03 9662 4688 Fax 03 9662 4788 www.epitan.com.au
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SAMPLE The sample Company
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SAMPLE CUSTOMER
SAMPLE STREET
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SAMPLE STREET
SAMPLETOWN TAS 7000
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Please retumn completed form to:
Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
GPQ Box 52 Melbourne

Victoria 8060 Australia

Enquiries {within Australia) 1300 850 505
{outside Australia} 61 3 9615 5970

Facsimile 61 3 9473 2529
web.queries@computershare.com.au
www.computershare.com

Securityholder Reference Number (SRN)

T
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, | 1234567890 IND
Use a b_Iac_k pen. R
Print in CAPITAL letters C 123
inside the grey areas. e —
Option Expiry Notice
Options exercisable at <A$xx.xx> expiring on <Time> <Time Zone> on <Date>
Dear Optionholder(s) Optionholder Entitlement details
You are reminded that the Options to subscribe for <Units> in the capital of <Client Name> Subregister | Issuer l
registered in your name expire on <Date>. These Options are exercisable wholly or in part by _
the payment of <A$xxxx> for each option exercised. Payment has to be received at either of the | ASX Code - ] XXXXXX |
addresses overleaf, by <Time> <Time Zone> on <Date>. For every one option exercised, the N‘ -” o "f  Ootiohs registored R
optionholder wil be allotted <Security> <Units> in the capital of <Client Name>. y:un: nearn?e .p Ions registered in lXXX,XXX,XXX l
Options not exercised by <Time> <Time Zone> on <Date> will lapse. Amount payable on ul exerciss of | X, XXX XXX.XXI

To be completed by Optionholder
E Number of Options to be exercised

To the Directors
The Sample Company

Opnons at <A$xx X%> per Option

Number of<3ecunty> to be issued ! XXX XXX XXX |

Amount enclosed at <A$xx.xx> per Option

IWe enclose mylour payment for the amount shown above being payment of <A$xx.xx> per Option.

I/We the abovenamed being the registered holder(s) of the options, hereby exercise myfour option for <Units> in <Client Name> and 1we request you aflot
such <Security> to me/us and |we agree to be bound by the Constitution of the Company.

Cheque details - Make your cheque or bank draft payable to <Cheque Payee>

m Drawer Cheque Number BSB Number Account Number Amount of cheque
Drawer Chegque Number BSB Numb_er » Accqun( Nu_mber Amount of cheque
Sign Here - This section must be signed for your instructions to be executed

Optionholder 2

Optionholder 3

E Individual or Optionholder 1

Director

Director/Company Secretary

Sole Director and Scle Company Secretary

The directors reserve the right to make amendments to this form where appropriate, Please refer to the lodgement instructions overeaf.
This form may not be used to effect an address change. Please contact Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited on 1300 850 505 for an appropriate form, or download a

Change of Address Nofification form from www.computershare.com

OEN

See back of form for completion guidelines



How to complete this form

Exercise of your Options in full or part

“ Registration Name(s) E Signature(s)
The <Security> will be registered in the name(s) printed on the form. You must sign the form as follows in the space provided:

E Options Exercised Joint holding: where the holding is in more than one name all of the
Enter the number of Options you wish fo exercise. securityholders must sign.

. . Power of Attorney:  to sign under Power of Attorney, you must have already

Exercise Monies lodged this document with the registry. Altematively,
Enter the amount of exercise monies. To calculate the amount payable, attach a certified copy of the Power of Attorey to this
multiply the number of Options exercised by the exercise price. form when you return it.

E Payment Deceased Estate:  alf executors must sign and, if not already noted by

the registry, a certified copy of Probate or Letters of

Make your cheque or bank draft payable to <Cheque Payee> in Australian Administration must accompany this form.

currency and cross it Not Negotiable. Your cheque or bank draft must be

drawn on an Austratian Bank. Companies: this form must be signed by either 2 Directors or a

Director and a Company Secretary. Altematively, where
the company has a Sole Director and, pursuant to the
Corporations Act, there is no Company Secretary, or
where the Sole Director is also the Sole Company
Cheques will be processed on the day of receipt and as such, sufficient Secretary, that Director may sign alone. Delet tilles as
cleared funds must be held in your account as cheques returned unpaid applicable.

may not be re-presented and may result in your Expiry Notice being

rejected. Pin {do not staple) your cheque(s) to the Options Expiry Notice

where indicated. Cash will not be accepted. Receipt for payment will not

Complete the cheque details in the boxes provided. The total amount must
agree with the amount shown in box C.

be forwarded.

This is an important document and requires your immediate attention. If you are in any doubt as to how to deal with it, please consult your Financial or other
Professional Advisor.

Lodgement of Notice
Option Expiry Notices must be received at the <Melbourne> office of Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited by no later than <Time> <Time Zone> on <Date>.
Return the Option Expiry Notice with cheque(s) attached to:

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited OR Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
GPO Box <52 <Level 12
MELBOURNE VIC 800> 565 Bourke Street

. MELBOURNE VIC 3000>
Privacy Statement

Personal information is collected on this form by Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited ("CIS"), as registrar for securities issuers {"the issuer”), for the purpose of
maintaining registers of securityholders, facilitating distribution payments and other corporate actions and communications. Your personal information may be disclosed to our
related bodies corporate, to extemal service companies such as print or mail service providers, or as otherwise required or permitted by law. If you would fike details of your
personal information held by CIS, or you would like to correct information that is inaccurate, incorrect or out of date, please contact CIS. In accondance with the Corporations Act
2001, you may be sent materia! (including marketing material) approved by the issuer in addition to general corporate communications. You may elect not to receive marketing
material by contacting CIS. You can contact GIS using the details provided on the front of this form or E-mail privacy@computershare.com.au

Recent <Secuirty> Prices on Australian Stock Exchange

Latest available market sale price of the <Security> was <Units>on <Date>,
Highest sale price during the 3 months proceeding <Date> was <Units>on <Date>.
Lowest sale price during the 3 months proceeding <Date> was <Units>on <Date>.

Last trading day of Options on the Australian Stock Exchange will be on <Date>.

Details of Underwriting Agreement

<Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetuer adipiscing elit, sed diem nonummy nibh euismod tincidunt ut lacrest dolore magna aliguam erat volutpat. Ut wisis enim ad minim
veniam, quis nostrud exercl tution ullamcorper suscipit lobortis nis! ut aliquip ex ea commodo consequat. Duls te feugifacilisi. Duis autem dolor in hendrerit in vulputate velit esse
molestie consequat, vel ilum dolore eu feugiat nulla facilisis at vero eros et accumsan et justo odio dignissim qui blandit praesent luptatum zzrif delenit au gue duis dolore te feugat
nulia facilisi>.

If you have any enquiries concerning your Option holding, please contact Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited on <1300 850 505>.

OEN
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Please return the completed form in the Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
GPO Box <52

envelope provided or to the address opposite: Melbourne Victoria 8060>

Australia
N +
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Company Announcement

EpiTan Signs Collaboration Agreement to Develop Topical
Formulation for Melanotan®

For more information contact:

2

Mr lain Kirkwood, Chief Administrative Officer, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662%1‘68

Dr Wayne Millen, CEO, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688 “{; 2 =

Mr Robert Ashley, Senior Vice President, CollaGenex, Tel: +1 215 579 7388L;C3n
Mr Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620 3333 D
mail@epitan.com.au e
. (ﬁﬁ\
www.epitan.com.au 4\7%
27
Melbourne, Australia wZ
s

EpiTan Limited (ASX: EPT) today announced the signing of a strategic collaborative
agreement with CollaGenex Pharmaceuticals Inc. of Newtown, Pennsylvania, USA
and Mr Thomas Skold of Norrtalje, Sweden to develop a topical formulation for its
lead drug candidate, Melanotan®.

CollaGenex acquired the rights to the novel drug delivery system, known as
Restoraderm™ technology, from Mr Thomas Skéld, the inventor of the technology,
in 2002. EpiTan has sub-licensed this technology from CollaGenex.

This technology improves the feasibility of developing a topical formulation for
Melanotan, as previous technology was unable to achieve this objective. It is
envisaged a new formulation may enable Melanotan to be released directly into the
skin and hence be delivered directly to the melanin producing cells.

Mr Michael Kleinig, EpiTan’s Pharmaceutical & Business Development Manager,
said, “Working with the inventor should enable us to fast track this development as all
of the background knowledge and know how will be directly available to us.”

Dr Wayne Millen, EpiTan’s Managing Director, said, “This will build on the successful
development of a single dose slow-release implant announced earlier this year.
However, it is important that we continue to investigate the development of additional
delivery mechanisms including lotions and patches. We expect Melanotan to be first
launched onto the market with the implant. In due course, the successful
development of a topical lotion will offer patients and doctors the choice of an
alternative user-friendly and convenient delivery for Melanotan”.

“This collaboration with CollaGenex and Thomas Skoéld to develop a lotion follows the
excellent progress of our current Phase lib clinical trials reported recently.”

Melanotan is undergoing Phase lIb human trials in both Sydney and Adelaide

ABOUT THE COMPANY: EpiTan Limited (ASX: EPT) is an emerging biotechnology
company with a pre-eminent position on the prevention of DNA & skin damage from
ultra-violet (UV) radiation exposure. Based in Melbourne, Australia, EpiTan holds a
unigue technology platform centred on its leading drug candidate Melanotan®. The



company has the exclusive worldwide rights to develop Melanotan which, like
sunlight, stimulates the production of melanin in the skin resulting in a natural tan. It
allows a tan to develop without exposure to harmful levels of UV light.

Melanotan is currently in Phase llIb clinical trials at two sites — the Royal Prince Alfred
Hospital in Sydney and the Royal Adelaide Hospital. These trials are designed to
demonstrate that Melanotan can reduce the incidence of skin damage resulting from
harmful exposure to ultra-violet light.

EpiTan has now successfully developed a more user-friendly drug delivery
formulation of Melanotan in the form of a slow release implant. This will be used in
the remaining clinical programme and the commercialised product.

EpiTan is also investigating Melanotan as a therapeutic agent for other indications
such as vitiligo, albinism, psoriasis and various recognised sun allergies such as
polymorphous light eruptions and solar urticaria.

Potential markets worldwide for Melanotan for dermatology purposes are estimated
at US$1.5 billion. An even greater market (more than US$5 billion) exists for
Melanotan as a new safe (sunless) tanning drug.

ABOUT COLLAGENEX: CollaGenex Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Nasdag: CGPI) is a
specialty pharmaceutical company currently focused on providing innovative medical
therapies to the dental and dermatology markets.

To receive additional information on CollaGenex, please visit their website at
www.collagenex.com which does not form part of this press release.

-End-



14 May 2003

Company Announcements Office
Australian Stock Exchange Limited
20 Bridge Street

SYDNEY NSW 2000

Dear Sir/Madam

Re: Directors Interests

Please find attached:

1. Three initial Director’s Interests Notices - Appendix 3X
2. Two Final Director’s Interest Notices — Appendix 3Z (one of which is an
amendment)
s
MWk
lain Kirkwood

Company Secretary

Epl an Limited ABN 88 089 644 B Leve U, B2 Collins Streel Melbourme VIC 3000 Tel: 03 9662 4688 Fax: 03 9662 4788 www .epitan.com.au



Appendix 3X
Initial Director’s Interest Notice

Rule 3.194.1

Appendix 3X

Initial Director’s Interest Notice

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information and documents given
to ASX become ASX's property and may be made public.

Introduced 30/9/2001.

Name of entity EpiTan Limited
ABN 88 089 644 119

We (the entity) give ASX the following information under listing rule 3.19A.1 and as agent
for the director for the purposes of section 205G of the Corporations Act.

Name of Director Stanley McLiesh

Date of appointment 12 September 2002

Part 1 - Director’s relevant interests in securities of which the director is the registered holder
In the case of a trust, this includes interests in the trust made available by the responsible entity of the trust

Note: In the case of a company, interests which come within paragraph (i) of the definition of “notifiable interest of a director” should be disclosed inthis part.

Number & class of securities

750,000 Director Options

Part 2 - Director’s relevant interests in securities of which the director is not the registered holder
In the case of a trust, this includes interests in the trust made available by th e responsible entity of the trust

Name of holder & nature ofinterest | Number & class of Securities

Note: Provide details of the circumstances giving rise to
the relevant interest.

Nil - Not Applicable




Part 3 - Director’s interests in contracts

' Note: In the case of a company, interests which come within paragraph (ii) of the definition of “notifiable interest of a director” should be disclosed in this part,
Detail of contract Nil
Nature of interest Not applicable
Name of registered holder Not applicable

(if issued securities)

No. and class of securities to Not applicable
which interest relates




Appendix 3X
Initial Director’s Interest Notice

Rule 3.194.1

Appendix 3X

Initial Director’s Interest Notice

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information and documents given
to ASX become ASX'’s property and may be made public.

Introduced 30/9/2001.

Name of entity EpiTan Limited
ABN 868 089 644 119

We (the entity) give ASX the following information under listing rule 3.19A.1 and as agent
for the director for the purposes of section 205G of the Corporations Act.

Name of Director Alan Cooper

Date of appointment 21 March 2002

Part 1 - Director’s relevant interests in securities of which the director is the registered holder
In the case of a trust, this includes interests in the trust made available by the responsible entity of the trust

Number & class of securities

750,000 Director Options

Part 2 - Director’s relevant interests in securities of which the director is not the registered holder
In the case of a trust, this includes interests in the trust made available by the responsible entity of the trust

Name of holder & nature of interest Number & class of Securities
Note: Provide details of the circumstances giving
rise to the relevant interest.

Nil - not applicable




Part 3 - Director’s interests in contracts

Detail of contract Nil

Nature of interest Not applicable
Name of registered holder Not applicable
(if issued securities)

No. and class of securities to Not applicable

which interest relates




Appendix 3X
Initial Director’s Interest Notice

Rule 3.194.1

Appendix 3X

Initial Director’s Interest Notice

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information and documents given
to ASX become ASX'’s property and may be made public.

Introduced 30/9/2001.

Name of entity EpiTan Limited
ABN 88 089 644 119

We (the entity) give ASX the following information under listing rule 3.19A.1 and as agent
for the director for the purposes of section 205G of the Corporations Act.

Name of Director Helmer Agersborg

Date of appointment 25 May 2000

Part 1 - Director’s relevant interests in securities of which the director is the registered holder
In the case of a trust, this includes interests in the trust made available by the responsible entity of the trust

Number & class of securities

750,000 Directors Options

Part 2 - Director's relevant interests in securities of which the director is not the registered holder
In the case of a trust, this includes interests in the trust made available by the responsible entity of the trust

Name of holder & nature of interest | Number & class of Securities
Note: Provide details of the circumstances giving
rise to the relevant interest.

Nil — Not applicable




Part 3 - Director’s interests in contracts

which interest relates

Detail of contract Nil

Nature of interest Not applicable
Name of registered holder Not applicable
(if issued securities)

No. and class of securities to Not applicable




Appendix 3Z
Final Director’s Interest Notice

Rule 3.194.3

Appendix 3Z

Final Director’s Interest Notice

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information and documents given
to ASX become ASX's property and may be made public.

Introduced 30/9/2001.

Name of entity  EpiTan Limited

IABN 88 089 644 119

We (the entity) give ASX the following information under listing rule 3.19A.3 and as agent for the director for
the purposes of section 205G of the Corporations Act.

Name of director Alan Cooper
Date of last notice 14 May 2003
Date that director ceased to be director 30 April 2003

Part 1 - Director’s relevant interests in securities of which the director is the registered holder
In the case of a trust, this includes interests in the trust made available by the responsible entity of the trust

Note: In the case of a company, interests which come within paragraph (i) of the definition of “notifiable interest of a director” should be disclosed in this part.

Number & class of securities

428,958 Director Options retained
321,042 Director Options automatically lapsed on resignation




Part 2 - Director's relevant interests in securities of which the director is not the registered holder
‘ Note: In the case of a company, interests which come within paragraph (ii) of the definition of “notifiable interest of a director” should be disclosed in this part.

In the case of a trust, this in cludes interests in the trust made available by the responsible entity of the trust

Name of holder & nature of interest Number & class of securities
Note: Provide details of the circumstances giving rise
to the relevant interest

Nil - Not applicable

Part 3 - Director’s interests in contracts

Detail of contract Nil
Nature of interest Not Applicable
‘ Name of registered holder Not Applicable

(if issued securities)

No. and class of securities to Not Applicable
which interest relates

14 May 2003



Appendix 3Z
Final Director’s Interest Notice

Appendix 3Z

Final Director’s Interest Notice

Rule 3.194.3

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information and documents given
to ASX become ASX’s property and may be made public.

Introduced 30/9/2001.

Name of entity EpiTan Limited
IABN 88 089 644 119

We (the entity) give ASX the following information under listing rule 3.19A.3 and as agent for the director for
the purposes of section 205G of the Corporations Act.

Name of director Malcolm McComas
Date of last notice 28 June, 2002
Date that director ceased to be director 26 June, 2002

Part 1 - Director’s relevant interests in securities of which the director is the registered holder
In the case of a trust, this includes interests in the trust made available by the responsible entity of the trust

Note: In the case of a company, interests which come within paragraph (i) of the definition of “notifiable interest of a director” should be disclosed in this part.

Number & class of securities

435,937 Director Options retained
314,063 Director Options automatically lapsed on resignation




Part 2 - Director’s relevant interests in securities of which the director is not the registered holder

Note: In the case of a company, interests which come within paragraph (ii) of the definition of “notifiable interest of a director” should be disclosed in this part.

In the case of a trus, this includes interests in the trust made available by the responsible entity of the trust

Name of holder & nature of interest Number & class of securities
Note: Provide details of the circumstances giving rise
to the relevant interest

Movilli Pty Ltd 1,033,423 Options
(As Trustee for the McComas
Family Trust)

Part 3 - Director’s interests in contracts

Detail of contract Nil
Nature of interest Not Applicable
Name of registered holder Not Applicable

(if issued securities)

No. and class of securities to Not Applicable
which interest relates

28 June 2002
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Sunburn injury drug study

i TERMATICHAL
First subjects successfully complete trial °7 LS 2f 1 IERIA TITHS

PORATE FINABMCE

For more information contact:

Dr Wayne Millen, Managing Director, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
lain Kirkwood, Chief Administration Officer, Tel: 03 9662 4688

Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications. Tel: 03 9620 3333
mail@epitan.com.au

www.epitan.com.au

Melbourne, Australia

EpiTan Limited (“EpiTan”) (ASX:EPT) today announced that the first group of subjects in
its Phase Ilb human “sunburn” trial have now completed the three month study. The trial's
key objective is the measurement of the effectiveness of EpiTan’s natural tanning drug
Melanotan® on increasing skin melanin density and reducing the sunburn injury which
results in DNA and skin damage. The trial is being performed at Sydney’s Royal Prince
Alfred Hospital and the Royal Adelaide Hospital where more than half the projected 80
volunteers have now been recruited. Trial completion is expected in August this year.

The volunteers, of varying skin types, receive controlled levels of UVA and UVB radiation
onto a small area of skin resulting in a level of burning similar to spending 30 - 120
minutes in strong sun without sunscreen. A skin biopsy is taken to measure the level of
resulting sunburn injury. The volunteers then receive a regime of Melanotan, the same UV
radiation exposure, and another skin biopsy.

Professor Ross Barnetson, Head of Dermatology at the Royal Prince Alfred Hospital and
principal investigator in this clinical trial, said, “It has been relatively easy to recruit the
volunteers so far as quite a lot of people do want to tan. The great advantage of obtaining
a tan with Melanotan is that people don'’t get the sun damage in getting it.”

Dr Stuart Humphrey, Clinical Development Manager of EpiTan, said, “We have been
extremely encouraged by progress reports and fully expect results to show that sunburn
skin damage is markedly reduced following Melanotan treatment.”

Dr Wayne Millen, EpiTan’'s Managing Director, said, “We are excited by this further
confirmation of our confidence in Melanotan. We expect to satisfactorily conclude the
Phase lib study in August and are extremely well positioned to be able to move into Phase
Il clinical trials in 2004. We plan to conduct those trials in Australia and a number of other
countries including the USA, Great Britain and in Europe, using a recently developed
single dose slow-release implant.”

www.epitan.com.au Page 1 of 4



Dr Millen added, “EpiTan is now in a very select group of biotechnology companies with an
advanced drug candidate on the road to commercialisation.”

ABOUT THE COMPANY: EpiTan Limited (ASX ticker: “EPT") is an emerging
biotechnology company with a pre-eminent position on the prevention of DNA & skin
damage from ultra-violet (UV) radiation exposure. Based in Melbourne, Australia, EpiTan
holds a unique technology platform centred on its leading drug candidate Melanotan®. The
company has the exclusive worldwide rights to develop Melanotan® which, like sunlight,
stimulates the production of melanin in the skin resulting in a natural tan. It allows a tan to
develop without exposure to harmful levels of UV light.

Melanotan is currently in Phase Ilb clinical trials at two sites — the Royal Prince Alfred
Hospital in Sydney and the Royal Adelaide Hospital. These trials are designed to
demonstrate that Melanotan can reduce the incidence of skin damage resulting from
harmful exposure to ultra-violet light.

EpiTan has now successfully developed a more user-friendly drug delivery formulation of
Melanotan in the form of a slow release implant. This will be used in the remaining clinical
programme and the commercialised product.

EpiTan is also investigating Melanotan as a therapeutic agent for other indications such as
vitiligo, albinism, psoriasis and various recognised sun allergies such as polymorphous
light eruptions and solar urticaria.

Potential markets worldwide for Melanotan for dermatology purposes are estimated at
US$1.5 billion. An even greater market (more than US$5 billion) exists for Melanotan as a
new safe (sunless) tanning drug.

-End-
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Media Release

First Tanning Drug Trial Volunteer Reports “Excellent Results”
on Sunburn Protection

Monday 5 May, 2003

A Sydney-based surf lifesaver who has completed his participation in the Phase Il human
trial into the sunburn-prevention aspects of the natural tanning drug Melanotan® at
Sydney’'s Royal Prince Alfred Hospital has reported “excellent results”.

Adrian (whose surname cannot be divulged due to the strict trial protocol), a competitive
surf lifesaver, says he believes the drug has given him a tan and that he has ceased to
burn when going out in the sun.

“Since taking Melanotan | have developed a very good tan and am not burning at all when
| go out in the sun,” he said. “l used to have quite pale skin, especially on my face and my
upper chest but now have developed a heaithy tan. It's been excelient.”

Melanotan, like sunlight, stimulates the production of melanin in the skin resulting in a
normal tan. Importantly, it allows a tan to develop without exposure to harmful levels of
ultraviolet radiation typically received from exposure in the sun or in a solarium. The drug
is being developed by Melbourne-based biotechnology company EpiTan Limited and will
probably be administered by implant when available commercially.

The trial, being held at Sydney’s Royal Prince Alfred Hospital and the Royal Adelaide
Hospital, is to measure the effectiveness of Melanotan in reducing sunburn among a group
of 80 healthy volunteers. The trial is now at the halfway stage and is scheduled for
completion in August.

The volunteers, of varying skin types, receive controlled levels of UVA and UVB radiation
onto a small area of skin resulting in a level of burning similar to spending 30— 120
minutes in strong sun without sunscreen. A skin biopsy is taken to measure the level of
resulting sunburn injury. The volunteers then receive a regime of Melanotan, the same UV
radiation exposure, and another skin biopsy.

Head of the trial, Professor Ross Barnetson from Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, says he is
happy with the progress of the trial. “A number of the volunteers have developed a tan as
expected,” he said.

Professor Barnetson says he believes Melanotan could contribute to the reduction of skin
cancer in Australia. “Australia has the highest incidence of skin cancer in the world and it
is a very expensive problem. | think Melanotan will cut down the incidence of skin cancer
in the long term,” he says. “People will always want a tan and the benefit of Melanotan is
that they don't get the sun damage before they tan. Melanotan stimulates the melanocytes
to produce melanin, so it's a natural function that is being accelerated by this process,

www.epitan.com.au Page 3 of 4



that's the great advantage of this. The only way to get a tan at present is to get the
damage first. The market for this drug will certainly stretch beyond Australia to places like
the United States and Europe.”

Professor Alan Cooper, Head of the Department of Dermatology at Sydney’'s Royal North
Shore Hospital, says: “If people have natural protection that reduces their likelihood of
burning, then they will significantly reduce their likelihood of getting skin cancer. This is a
tan that is good. Where you can get a tan without UV radiation, then that tan is a safe tan,
and it can have protective benefits.”

For more information contact:

Dr Wayne Millen, Managing Director, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688,
mail@epitan.com.au

Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620 3333

www.epitan.com.au
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Wednesday 30 Aprit 2003

Company Announcement

EpiTan Board Announces Resignation of Director

For more information contact:

Dr Wayne Millen, Managing Director, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
lain Kirkwood, Company Secretary, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620 3333
mail@epitan.com.au

www.epitan.com.au

Melbourne, Australia

Directors of Melbourne-based biotechnology company EpiTan Limited (ASX; EPT)
today announced with regret the resignation of Clinical Associate Professor Alan
Cooper OAM as a director, effective immediately.

Professor Cooper takes up in May the prestigious position of President of the
Australasian College of Dermatologists. In his new role corporate governance issues
prevent Professor Cooper from retaining any positions where there may be a.
perception of a conflict of interest.

Dr Wayne Millen, Managing Director of EpiTan, said, "EpiTan has been fortunate to
have had Professor Cooper on its board, and understands the corporate governance
issues facing him in his new position. As a leading dermatologist, Professor Cooper
has made a significant contribution in helping establish EpiTan with a pre-eminent
position in the prevention of DNA and skin damage from ultra-violet {sun) damage.
EpiTan’s leading drug candidate Melanotan® is now well established in Phase lib

clinical trials. The board would like to express its thanks to Professor Cooper for his
contribution and wishes him well.”

EpiTan will appoint a replacement director with additional independent skills as soon
as possible.

ABOUT THE COMPANY:: EpiTan Limited (ASX: EPT) is an emerging biotechnology
company with a pre-eminent position on the prevention of DNA & skin damage from
ultra-violet (UV) radiation exposure. Based in Melbourne, Australia, EpiTan holds a
unique technology piatform centered on its leading drug candidate Melanotan®. The
company has the exclusive worldwide rights to develop Melanotan which, like
sunlight, stimulates the production of melanin in the skin resulting in a tan. It allows a
tan to develop without exposure to harmful levels of UV light.



Melanotan is currently in Phase llb clinical trials at two sites — the Royal Prince Alfred
Hospital in Sydney and the Royal Adelaide Hospital. These trials are designed to
demonstrate that Melanotan can reduce the incidence of skin damage resulting from
harmful exposure is ultra-violet light.

EpiTan has now successfully developed a more user-friendly drug delivery
formulation of Melanotan in the form of a slow release implant. This will be used in
the remaining clinical programme and the commercialized product.

EpiTan is also investigating Melanotan as a therapeutic agent for other indications

such as vitiligo, albinism, psoriasis and various recognised sun allergies such as
polymorphous light eruptions and solar urticaria.

Potential markets worldwide for Melanotan for dermatology purposes are estimated
at US$1.5 billion. An even greater market (more than US$5 billion) exists for
Melanotan as a new safe (sunless) tanning drug.

-End-
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Quarterly report

for entities admitted
on the basis of commitments

Introduced 31/3/2000. Amended 30/9/2001

Name of entity

EPITAN LIMITED

ABN Quarter ended (“‘current quarter”)

88 089 644 119 31 March 2003

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Current quarter Year to date
Cash flows related to operating activities $A°000 (9 months)
$A7000
1.1 Receipts from customers - -
1.2 Payments for (a) staff costs (172) (288)
(b) advertising and marketing - -
(c) research and development (493) (1,301)
(d) leased assets - -
(e) other working capital (152) (782)
1.3 Dividends received -
1.4  Interest and other items of a similar nature 12 130
received
Interest and other costs of finance paid - -
Income taxes paid - -
Other (provide details if material) - -
(80%5) (2,241)
Net operating cash flows

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 4C

Quarterly report for entities
admitted on the basis of commitments

Current quarter

Year to date

$A°000 ( 9 months)
$A°000
1.8 Net operating cash flows (carried forward) (805) (2,241)
Cash flows related to investing activities
1.9 Payment for acquisition of:
(a) businesses (item 5) - -
(b) equity investments - -
(c) intellectual (14) (18)
property
(d) physical non- 4) 3D
current assets
(e) other non-current - -
assets
1.10 Proceeds from disposal of:
(a) businesses (item 5) - -
(b) equity investments - -
(¢) intellectual - -
property
(d) physical non- - -
current assets
(e) other non-current - -
assets
1.11 Loans to other entities - -
1.12 Loans repaid by other entities - -
1.13 Other (provide details if material) - -
Net investing cash flows (18) (49)
1.14 Total operating and investing cash flows (823) (2,290)
Cash flows related to financing activities
1.15 Proceeds from issues of shares, options, etc. 271 271
116 Proceeds from sale of forfeited shares - -
1.17 Proceeds from borrowings - -
1.18 Repayment of borrowings - -
1.19 Dividends paid - -
1.20 Other (provide details if material) - -
. 271 271
Net financing cash flows
Net increase (decrease) in cash held
1.21 Cash at beginning of quarter/year to date 2,947 4,414
1.22 Exchange rate adjustments to item 1.20 - -
1.23 Cash at end of guarter 2,395 2,395

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

17/04/2003
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Appendix 4C
Quarterly report for entities
admitted on the basis of commitments

Payments to directors of the entity and associates of the directors

Payments to related entities of the entity and associates of the related
entities

Current quarter
$A'000

1.24 Aggregate amount of payments to the parties included in item 1.2 54

1.25 Aggregate amount of loans to the parties included in item 1.11 (see note 1)

1.26 Explanation necessary for an understanding of the transactions

Non-cash financing and investing activities

2.1  Details of financing and investing transactions which have had a material effect on consolidated
assets and liabilities but did not involve cash flows

2.2 Details of outlays made by other entities to establish or increase their share in businesses in which
the reporting entity has an interest

Financing facilities available
Add notes as necessary for an understanding of the position. (See AASB 1026 paragraph 12.2).

Amount available Amount used
$A’000 $A’000

3.1 Loan facilities - R

3.2 Credit standby arrangements - -

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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admitted on the basis of commitments

Reconciliation of cash

Reconciliation of cash at the end of the quarter (as | Current quarter Previous quarter
shown in the consplidated statement of cash flows) to [ $A’000 $A°000

the related items in the accounts is as follows.

4.1 Cash on hand and at bank 487 179
42  Deposits at call 1,908 2,768

4.3 Bank overdraft - -

4.4 Other (provide details) - .

Total: cash at end of quarter (item 1.22) 2,395 2,947

Acquisitions and disposals of business entities

Acquisitions Disposals
(Item 1.9(a)) (Item 1.10(a))

5.1  Name of entity - -

5.2  Place of incorporation
or registration

5.3  Consideration for - -
acquisition or disposal

5.4 Total net assets - -

5.5 Nature of business - -

Compliance statement

1 This statement has been prepared under accounting policies which comply with
accounting standards as defined in the Corporations Act (except to the extent
that information is not required because of note 2) or other standards acceptable
to ASX.

2 This statement does /deesneot* (delefe one) give a true and fair view of the
matters disclosed.

Sign here: ‘:Q%Mg Date: 17 April 2003

(Company secretary)

Print name: lain Kirkwood

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Notes

1. The quarterly report provides a basis for informing the market how the entity’s
activities have been financed for the past quarter and the effect on its cash
position. An entity wanting to disclose additional information is encouraged to
do so, in a note or notes attached to this report.

2. The definitions in, and provisions of, AASB 1026: Statement of Cash Flows
apply to this report except for the paragraphs of the Standard set out below.

O 6.2 - reconciliation of cash flows arising from operating activities
to operating profit or loss

0 9.2  -itemised disclosure relating to acquisitions

0 9.4 - itemised disclosure relating to disposals

o 12.1(a)- policy for classification of cash items

0 12.3 - disclosure of restrictions on use of cash

0 13.1 - comparative information

3. Accounting Standards. ASX will accept, for example, the use of
International Accounting Standards for foreign entities. |f the standards used
do not address a topic, the Australian standard on that topic (if any) must be
complied with.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

17/04/2003 Appendix 4C Page 5



RECEY!

NEAY -7 A @

Fey

m
O

OFFICE OF iNTERwu . -
31 March 2003 CORPORATE £

Dear Shareholder,

On behalf of the board, | would like to thank you for your support of the Share
Purchase Plan in subscribing for additional shares in EpiTan Limited (“EpiTan”).

EpiTan continues to make solid progress as it works through its clinical trial
programme for its main drug candidate Melanotan. Qur confidence is supported by
the fact that we are one of the few bio-technology companies in Australia with a drug
candidate in such a mature stage of development and having achieved important
milestones. Two of these milestones have already been announced this year:

= Phase lib clinical trials for Melanotan are now well underway at two sites —
the Royal Prince Alfred Hospital in Sydney and the Royal Adelaide Hospital.
Approximately half the scheduled number of healthy volunteers have been
administered the drug and we will make every effort to provide progress
reports as soon as possible and practicable.

* The slow release implant to deliver Melanotan has been developed and is
shortly to go into production for use in clinical trials later this year. This is a
much more user-friendly drug delivery formulation.

Enclosed with this letter you will find:
» your CHESS allotment confirmation notice of your additional shares; and

= anissuer sponsored holding statement showing your updated balance.

If you have any questions about your security holding, please contact our share
registry, Computershare Registry Services, on 1300 850 505 or visit their website at
www.computershare.com

We look forward to a long and rewarding association and, once again, we sincerely
appreciate your support of EpiTan.

Yours sincerely

Yy

Dr Wayne Millen
Chairman and Managing Director
EpiTan Limited

EpiTan Limited ABN 88 088 644 119 Level 10,52 Collins Street Melbourne VIC 3000 Tel 03 9662 4688 Fax 03 9662 4788 www.epitan.com.au



Appendix 3B
New issue announcement
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Appendix 3B

New issue announcement,
application for quotation of additional securities
and agreement

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information and
documents given to ASX become ASX’s property and may be made public.

Introduced 1/7/96. Origin: Appendix 5. Amended 1/7/98, 1/9/99, 1/7/2000, 30/9/2001, 11/3/2002, 1/1/2003.

Name of entity

[EPITAN LIMITED

ABN
88 089 644 119

We (the entity) give ASX the following information.

Part 1 - All issues

You must complete the relevant sections (attach sheets if there is not enough space).

1 *Class of *securities issued or to be | Ordinary Shares
issued

2 Number of Tsecurities issued or to | 1,935,753
be issued (if known) or maximum| New Allotment
number which may be issued

3 Principal terms of the *securities (eg, | Ordinary shares that rank equally with existing
if options, exercise price and expiry | ordinary shares
date; if partly paid *securities, the
amount outstanding and due dates
for payment; if “convertible
securities, the conversion price and
dates for conversion)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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New issue announcement

4 D

o the *securities rank equally in all

respects from the date of allotment

w

ith an existing *class of quoted

*securities?

If the additional securities do not
rank equally, please state:

0
a

the date from which they do

the extent to which they
participate for the next dividend,
(in the case of a trust,
distribution) or interest payment
the extent to which they do not
rank equally, other than in
relation to the next dividend,
distribution or interest payment

5 Issue price or consideration

6  Purpose of the issue

a

f issued as consideration for the

acquisition of assets, clearly identify
those assets)

Dates of entering *securities into
uncertificated holdings or
despatch of certificates

Number and *class of all *securities
quoted on ASX (including the
securities in clause 2 if applicable)

Yes

14 cents per share

Share purchase plan for project development
purposes

31 March 2003

Number +Class

88,350,012 ordinary

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

Appendix 3B Page 2
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Appendix 3B

New issue announcement

10

Part 2 - Bonus issue or pro rata issue

1

12

13

14

18

19

Number and *class of all *securities
not quoted on ASX (including the
securities in clause 2 if applicable)

Number

*Class

Dividend policy (in the case of a
trust, distribution policy) on the
increased capital (interests)

[s security holder approval
required?

Is the issue renounceable or non-
renounceable?

Ratio in which the *securities will be
offered

*Class of *securities to which the
offer relates

*Record date to determine
entitlements

Will holdings on different registers
(or subregisters) be aggregated for
calculating entitlements?

Policy for deciding entitlements in
relation to fractions

Names of countries in which the
entity has *security holders who will
not be sent new issue documents

Note: Security holders must be told how their
entitlements are to be dealt with.

Cross reference: rule 7.7.

Closing date for receipt of
acceptances or renunciations

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

31/03/2003
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New issue announcement

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

Names of any underwriters

Amount of any underwriting fee or
commission

Names of any brokers to the issue

Fee or commission payable to the
broker to the issue

Amount of any handling fee
payable to brokers who lodge
acceptances or renunciations on
behalf of *security holders

If the issue is contingent on
*security holders’ approval, the date
of the meeting

Date entitlement and acceptance
form and prospectus or Product
Disclosure Statement will be sent to
persons entitled

If the entity has issued options, and
the terms entitle option holders to
participate on exercise, the date on
which notices will be sent to option
holders

Date rights trading will begin (if
applicable)

Date rights trading will end (if
applicable)

How do *security holders sell their
entitlements in full through a
broker?

How do *security holders sell part
of their entitlements through a
broker and accept for the balance?

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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32 How do *security holders dispose
of their entitlements (except by sale
through a broker)?

33 *Despatch date

Part 3 - Quotation of securities

You need only complete this section if you are applying for quotation of securities

34 Type of securities
(tick one)

(a) & Securities described in Part 1

(b) D All other securities

Example: restricted securities at the end of the escrowed period, partly paid securities that become fully paid, employee
incentive share securities when restriction ends, securities issued on expiry or conversion of convertible securities

Entities that have ticked box 34(a)

Additional securities forming a new class of securities

Tick to indicate you are providing the information or
documents

35 If the *securities are *equity securities, the names of the 20 largest holders of the
additional "securities, and the number and percentage of additional *securities held by
those holders

36 D If the *securities are “equity securities, a distribution schedule of the additional
*securities setting out the number of holders in the categories
1-1,000
1,001 - 5,000
5,001 - 10,000
10,001 - 100,000
100,001 and over

37 |:| A copy of any trust deed for the additional *securities

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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New issue announcement
o

Entities that have ticked box 34(b)

38 Number of securities for which
*quotation is sought

39 Class of “*securities for which
quotation is sought

40 Do the *securities rank equally in all
respects from the date of allotment
with an existing *class of quoted
*securities?

If the additional securities do not

rank equally, please state:

O the date from which they do

0O the extent to which they
participate for the next dividend,
(in the «case of a trust,
distribution) or interest payment

O the extent to which they do not
rank equally, other than in
relation to the next dividend,
distribution or interest payment

41 Reason for request for quotation
now

Example: In the case of restricted securities, end of
restriction period

(if issued wupon conversion of
another security, clearly identify that
other security)

Number *Class

42 Number and “class of all *securities
quoted on ASX (including the
securities in clause 38)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Quotation agreement

1 *Quotation of our additional *securities is in ASX’s absolute discretion. ASX may
quote the *securities on any conditions it decides.

2 We warrant the following to ASX.

0 The issue of the *securities to be quoted complies with the law and is not for
an illegal purpose.

0 There is no reason why those *securities should not be granted *quotation.

0 An offer of the “securities for sale within 12 months after their issue will not

require disclosure under section 707(3) or section 1012C(6) of the
Corporations Act.

Note: An entity may need to obtain appropriate warranties from subscribers for the securities in order to be able to
give this warranty

O Section 724 or section 1016E of the Corporations Act does not apply to any
applications received by us in relation to any *securities to be quoted and
that no-one has any right to return any *securities to be quoted under
sections 737, 738 or 1016F of the Corporations Act at the time that we
request that the *securities be quoted.

O We warrant that if confirmation is required under section 1017F of the
Corporations Act in relation to the *securities to be quoted, it has been
provided at the time that we request that the *securities be quoted

0 If we are a trust, we warrant that no person has the right to return the
*securities to be quoted under section 1019B of the Corporations Act at the
time that we request that the *securities be quoted.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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3 We will indemnify ASX to the fullest extent permitted by law in respect of any claim,
action or expense arising from or connected with any breach of the warranties in this
agreement.

4 We give ASX the information and documents required by this form. If any
information or document not available now, will give it to ASX before *quotation of

the *securities begins. We acknowledge that ASX is relying on the information and
documents. We warrant that they are (will be) true and complete.

§
Sign here: iww ’ Date: 31 March 2003

(Bireetor/Company secretary)

Print name: I.M. Kirkwood

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Rule 2.7, 3.10.3, 3.10.4, 3.10.5

New issue announcement,
application for quotation of additional securities
and agreement

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information and
documents given to ASX become ASX'’s property and may be made public.

Introduced 1/7/96. Origin: Appendix 5. Amended 1/7/98, 1/9/99, 1/7/2000, 30/9/2001, 11/3/2002, 1/1/2003.

Name of entity

EPITAN LIMITED

ABN

88 089 644 119

We (the entity) give ASX the following information.

1

Part 1 - All issues

You must complete the relevant sections (attach sheets if there is not enough space).

*Class of *securities issued or to be
issued

Number of *securities issued or to
be issued (if known) or maximum
number which may be issued

Principal terms of the “securities
(eg, if options, exercise price and
expiry date; if partly paid
*securities, the amount outstanding
and due dates for payment; if
*convertible securities, the
conversion price and dates for
conversion)

Ordinary Shares

300,000 ordinary shares

Exercise of 300,000 employee incentive options
at 12 cents each

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

31/03/2003
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4 Do the *securities rank equally in alf | Yes
respects from the date of allotment
with an existing *class of quoted
*securities?

If the additional securities do not

rank equally, please state:

s the date from which they do

o the extent to which they
participate for the next dividend,
(in the «case of a trust,
distribution) or interest payment

e the extent to which they do not
rank equally, other than in
relation to the next dividend,
distribution or interest payment

5 Issue price or consideration 12 cents per employee incentive option. Total
$36,000.00
6  Purpose of the issue Exercise of 300,000 employee incentive options

(If issued as consideration for the
acquisition of assets, clearly identify
those assets)

7 Dates of entering *securities into | 17 March 2004
uncertificated holdings or despatch
of certificates

Number *Class

8 Number and *class of all 112,117,302 EPT ordinary
*securities quoted on ASX
(including the securities in clause
2 if applicable)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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10

Number and *class of all
*securities not quoted on ASX
(including the securities in clause
2 if applicable)

Dividend policy (in the case of a
trust, distribution policy) on the
increased capital (interests)

Number *Class

7,648,339 EpiTan Incentive
Option Plan

Ordinary shares ranking equally with existing
ordinary shares

Part 2 - Bonus issue or pro rata issue

11

12

14

15

16

17

18

19

Is security holder approval
required?

Is the issue renounceable or non-
renounceable?

Ratio in which the *securities will
be offered

*Class of *securities to which the
offer relates

*Record date to determine
entitlements

Will holdings on different registers
(or subregisters) be aggregated for
calculating entitlements?

Policy for deciding entitlements in
relation to fractions

Names of countries in which the
entity has *security holders who
will not be sent new issue
documents

Note: Security holders must be told how their
entitlements are to be dealt with.

Cross reference: rule 7.7.

Closing date for receipt of
acceptances or reriunciations

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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I 20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

Names of any underwriters

Amount of any underwriting fee or
commission

Names of any brokers to the issue

Fee or commission payable to the
broker to the issue

Amount of any handling fee
payable to brokers who lodge
acceptances or renunciations on
behalf of *security holders

If the issue is contingent on
*security holders’ approval, the
date of the meeting

Date entitlement and acceptance
form and prospectus or Product
Disclosure Statement will be sent to
persons entitled

If the entity has issued options, and
the terms entitie option holders to
participate on exercise, the date on
which notices will be sent to option
holders

Date rights trading will begin (if
applicable)

Date rights trading will end (if
applicable)

How do *security holders sell their
entitlements in full through a
broker?

How do *security holders sell part
of their entitlements through a
broker and accept for the balance?

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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32 How do *security holders dispose
of their entitlements (except by sale
through a broker)?

33 *Despatch date

Part 3 - Quotation of securities

You need only complete this section if you are applying for quotation of securities

34 Type of securities
(tick one)

(a) @ Securities described in Part 1

(b) All other securities

Example: restricted securities at the end of the escrowed period, partly paid securities that become fully paid, employee
incentive share securities when restriction ends, securities issued on expiry or conversion of convertible securities

Entities that have ticked box 34(a)

Additional securities forming a new class of securities

Tick to indicate you are providing the information or
documents

35 If the *securities are *equity securities, the names of the 20 largest holders of the

additional *securities, and the number and percentage of additional *securities held by
those holders

36 |:] If the *securities are *equity securities, a distribution schedule of the additional
*securities setting out the number of holders in the categories
1-1,000
1,001 - 5,000
5,001 - 10,000
10,001 - 100,000
100,001 and over

37 D A copy of any trust deed for the additional *securities

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Entities that have ticked box 34(b)

38

39

40

41

42

Number of securities for which
*quotation is sought

Class of “securities for which
quotation is sought

Do the *securities rank equally in all
respects from the date of allotment
with an existing *class of quoted
*securities?

If the additional securities do not

rank equally, please state:

¢ the date from which they do

e the extent to which they
participate for the next dividend,
{in the case of a trust,
distribution) or interest payment

e the extent to which they do not
rank equally, other than in
relation to the next dividend,
distribution or interest payment

Reason for request for quotation
now

Example: In the case of restricted securities, end of
restriction period

(if issued upon conversion of
another security, clearly identify that
other security)

Number and *class of all *securities
quoted on ASX (including the
securities in clause 38)

Number

*Class

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

Appendix 3B Page 6

31/03/2003



Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

Quotation agreement

1 *Quotation of our additional *securities is in ASX’s absolute discretion. ASX may
quote the *securities on any conditions it decides.

2 We warrant the following to ASX.

. The issue of the *securities to be quoted complies with the law and is not for
an illegal purpose.

. There is no reason why those *securities should not be granted *quotation.

o An offer of the "securities for sale within 12 months after their issue will

not require disclosure under section 707(3) or section 1012C(6) of the
Corporations Act.

Note: An entity may need to obtain appropriate warranties from subscribers for the securities in order to be able to give
this warranty

U Section 724 or section 1016E of the Corporations Act does not apply to any
applications received by us in relation to any *securities to be quoted and
that no-one has any right to return any *securities to be quoted under
sections 737, 738 or 1016F of the Corporations Act at the time that we
request that the *securities be quoted.

. We warrant that if confirmation is required under section 1017F of the
Corporations Act in relation to the *securities to be quoted, it has been
provided at the time that we request that the *securities be quoted.

. If we are a trust, we warrant that no person has the right to return the
*securities to be quoted under section 1019B of the Corporations Act at the
time that we request that the *securities be quoted.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

3 We will indemnify ASX to the fullest extent permitted by law in respect of any
claim, action or expense arising from or connected with any breach of the warranties
in this agreement.

4 We give ASX the information and documents required by this form. If any
information or document not available now, will give it to ASX before *quotation of

the *securities begins. We acknowledge that ASX is relying on the information and
documents. We warrant that they are (will be) true and complete.

Sign here: E%%‘N'L::'w ’ Date: 17 March 2004

(Birector/Company secretary)

Print name: LM. Kirkwood

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Company Secretary appointment

For more information contact:

Dr Wayne Millen, Managing Director, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
mail@epitan.com.au

www.epitan.com.au

Melbourne, Australia

EpiTan Limited announced the appointment of Mr lain Kirkwood as Company Secretary replacing
Mr David McBain who resigned today.

Mr Kirkwood was appointed EpiTan’s Chief Administrative Officer on 3™ February 2003. He has
had a successful career over more than 25 years in Australia, Britain and the USA, holding a range
of senior financial positions with major public companies including Faulding Limited, Santos
Limited and Pilkington plc. He is a Chartered Accountant, CPA, former President of the Finance
and Treasury Association of Australia and a member of the Institute of Company Directors.

ABOUT THE COMPANY: EpiTan Limited is an emerging biotechnology company with a focus on
skin protection, headquartered in Melbourne, Australia. The company has the exclusive worldwide
rights to develop its unique leading drug candidate Melanotan. Melanotan, like sunlight, stimulates
the production of melanin in the skin resulting in a tan. It allows a tan to develop without exposure
to harmful levels of ultraviolet (UV) light.

Melanin is the body's natural defence mechanism against skin damage resulting from exposure to
sunlight and UV radiation, essentially acting like an internal sunscreen. EpiTan believes
Melanotan may assist in reducing skin damage from sun exposure and thus the incidence of skin
cancer.

Research shows that people with high levels of melanin have a far lower incidence of skin cancer
than those with fair skin. For example, skin cancer rates among white Americans are 100 times
higher than those among the African-American population. Melanotan is a synthetic analogue of
the body's own tanning hormone O-MSH (alpha-MSH). Melanotan however is 1000 times more
active and has a longer duration in the body than the natural hormone.

EpiTan is listed on the Australian Stock Exchange.
-End-

. Page 1 of 1
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Appendix 4B
Half yearly/preliminary final report

Rules 4.1, 4.3

oy -1 A S Appendix 4B

LeEICE OF IRTERMA T
© FC‘&%RFORATE rsH

Introduced 30/6/2002.

f:;)?earlylpreliminary final report

Name of entity
EpiTan Ltd

ABN or equivalent company Half yearly  Preliminary Half year/financial year ended
reference (tick) final (tick)  (‘current period’)

88 089 644 119 v 31 December 2002

For announcement to the market
Extracts from this report for announcement to the market (see note 1).

$A'000
Revenues from ordinary activities (item 1.1) up 43% to 86
Profit (loss) from ordinary activities after tax down 25% to (1,871)
attributable to members (item 1.22)
Profit (loss) from extraordinary items after tax gain {loss) N/A
attributable to members (item 2.5(d)) of
Net profit (loss) for the period attributable to up 25% to (1,871)

members (item 1.11)

Dividends (distributions) Amount per Franked amount per
security security

Final divid;eg'i)(Preliminary final report only - item N/A ¢ N/A ¢

Interim dividend (Half yearly report only - item 15.6)

Previous corresponding period (Preliminary final
report - item 15.5; half yearly report - item 15.7) N/A ¢ N/A ¢

*Record date for determining entitlements to
the dividend,

(in the case of a trust, distribution) (see item N/A
15.2)

Brief explanation of any of the figures reported above (see Note 1) and short details of any
bonus or cash issue or other item(s) of importance not previously released to the market:

If this is a half yearly report it is to be read in conjunction with the most recent annual financial
report.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 4B

Half yearly/preliminary final report

Condensed consolidated statement of financial performance

Previous
Current period | corresponding
- $A'000 period -
$A'000
1.1 Revenues from ordinary activities (see items 1.23 -1.25) 86 151
1.2 Expenses from ordinary activities (see items 1.26 & 1.27) (1,957) (1,652)
1.3 Borrowing costs -
1.4 Share of net profits (losses) of associates and joint -
venture entities (see item 16.7)
1.5 Profit (loss) from ordinary activities before tax (1,871) (1,501)
1.8 Income tax on ordinary activities (see note 4) - -
1.7  Profit (loss) from ordinary activities after tax (1,871) (1,501)
1.8  Profit (loss) from extraordinary items after tax (see item - -
2.5)
1.9  Net profit (loss) (1,871) (1,501)
110 Net profit (loss) attributable to outside *equity interests B B
(1,501)
1.11 Net profit (loss) for the period attributable to members (1,871)
Non-owner transaction changes in equity
1.12 Increase (decrease) in revaluation reserves - -
1.13 Net exchange differences recognised in equity - -
1.14 Other revenue, expense and initial adjustments
recognised directly in equity (attach details) - -
Initial adjustments from UIG transitional provisions - -
1.16 Total transactions and adjustments recognised directly in
equity (items 1.12 to 1.15) - -
1.17 Total changes in equity not resulting from
transactions with owners as owners (1,871) (1,501)
Earnings per security (EPS)
Current period Previous
corresponding
period
1.18 Basic EPS (2.1 cents) (1.7cents)
1.19 Diluted EPS N/A N/A

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 4B

Half yearly/preliminary final report

Profit (loss) from ordinary activities attributable to members

Current period Previous
- $A'000 corresponding
period -
$A'000
1.20  Profit (loss) from ordinary activities after tax (item 1.7) (1,871) (1,501)
1.21 Less (plus) outside *equity interests N -
1.22 Profit (loss) from ordinary activities after tax,
attributable to members (1,871) (1,501)
Revenue and expenses from ordinary activities (see note 15)
Current period Previous
- $A'000 corresponding
period -
$A'000
1.23  Revenue from sales or services - -
1.24  Interest revenue 86 1561
1.25  Other relevant revenue - -
1.26  Details of relevant expenses
Clinical development costs (710) (1,011)
Drug delivery research costs (604) (54)
Occupancy costs (33) (36)
Marketing costs (118) (56)
Finance & administration costs (470) (477)
1.27  Depreciation and amortisation excluding amortisation of (22) (18)
intangibles (see item 2.3)
Capitalised outlays
1.28 Interest costs capitalised in asset values - -
1.29  Outlays capitalised in intangibles (unless arising from an
*acquisition of a business) - -
Consolidated retained profits
Current period Previous
- $A'000 corresponding
period -
$A'000
1.30  Retained profits (accumulated losses) at the beginning
of the financial period (5,073) (1,932)
1.31  Net profit (loss) attributable to members (item 1.17) (1,871) (1,501)
1.32  Net transfers from (to) reserves (details if material) - -
1.33  Net effect of changes in accounting policies - -
1.34  Dividends and other equity distributions paid or payable - -
1.35 Retained profits (accumulated losses) at end of
financial period (6,944) (3,433)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 4B

Haif yearly/preliminary final report

Intangible and extraordinary items

Consolidated - current period
Before tax | Related tax Related Amount
$A'000 $A'000 outside (after tax)
*+equity attributable
interests tO members
$A'000 $A'000
(@) (b) (c) (d)
2.1 Amortisation of goodwill - - -
2.2 Amortisation of other intangibles 374 - 374
2.3  Total amortisation of
tangibles 374 - 374
2.4  Extraordinary items (details) - - -
2.5 Total extraordinary items - - -

Comparison of half year profits

(Preliminary final report only)

3.1

3.2

Consolidated profit (loss) from ordinary activities after tax
attributable to members reported for the 7st half year (item
1.22 in the half yearly report)

Consolidated profit (loss) from ordinary activities after tax
attributable to members for the 2nd half year

Current year - | Previous year -
$A'000 $A'000
N/A N/A
N/A N/A

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 4B

Half yearly/preliminary final report

Condensed consolidated statement of financial position

At end of As shown in | As in last half
current last annual yearly report
period report $A'000 $A'000
$A’000

Current assets
41 Cash 2,947 4,414 5,709
4.2 Receivables 18 30 46
4.3 Investments - - -
4.4 Inventories ) ) i
45 Tax assets - - -
4.6 Other (provide details if material) 162 39 66
4.7 Total current assets 3,127 4,483 5,821

Non-current assets
4.8 Receivables - - -
49 investments (equity accounted) - - -
410 Other investments - - -
4.11 Inventories - - -
412 Exploration and evaluation expenditure

capitalised (see para .71 of AASB 1022) - - -
413 Development properties (*mining

entities) - - -
4.14 Other property, plant and equipment

(net) 177 141 127
4.15 Intangibles (net) 5,525 5,896 6,256
4,16 Tax assets
417 Other (provide details if material)
4.18 Total non-current assets 5,702 6,037 6,383
4.19 Total assets 8,829 10,520 12,204

Current liabilities
420  Payables 336 157 218
4.21 Interest bearing liabilities - - -
4.22 Tax liabilities - -
423  Provisions exc. tax liabilities 55 54 37
4.24 Other (provide details if material) - - -
4.25 Total current liabilities 391 211 255

Non-current liabilities
4.26 Payables - - -
4.27 Interest bearing liabilities - - -
4.28 Tax liabilities - - -
4.29 Provisions exc. tax liabilities - - -
4.30 Other (provide details if material) - - -
4.31 Total non-current liabilities - - -
4.32 Total liabilities 391 211 255
4.33 Net assets 8,438 10,308 11,949

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 4B

Half yearly/preliminary final report

Condensed consolidated statement of financial position (con’t)

Equity
4.34  Capital/contributed equity 15,382 15,382 15,382
435 Reserves - -
4.36  Retained profits (accumulated losses) (6,944) (5,073) (3,433)
4.37 Equity attributable to members of the

parent entity 8,438 10,309 11,949
438  Outside Tequity interests in controlled

entities - B -
439 Total equity 8,438 10,309 11,949
4.40 _ Preference capital included as part of 4.37 | - | -] -]

Notes to the condensed consolidated statement of financial position

Exploration and evaluation expenditure capitalised

(To be completed only by entities with mining interests if amounts are material. Include all expenditure

incurred.)
Current period Previous
$A'000 corresponding
period - $A'000
5.1  Opening balance
5.2 Expenditure incurred during current period
5.3  Expenditure written off during current period N/A N/A
5.4 Acquisitions, disposals, revaluation increments, etc.
5.5 Expenditure transferred to Development Properties
5.6 Closing balance as shown in the consolidated
balance sheet (item 4.12)
Development properties
(To be completed only by entities with mining interests if amounts are material)
Current period Previous
$A’000 corresponding
period -
$A'000
6.1  Opening balance
6.2 Expenditure incurred during current period
6.3 Expenditure transferred from exploration and evaluation N/A N/A
6.4 Expenditure written off during current period
6.5 Acquisitions, disposals, revaluation increments, etc.
6.6 Expenditure transferred to mine properties
6.7 Closing balance as shown in the consolidated

balance sheet (item 4.13)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 4B

Half yearly/preliminary final report

Condensed consolidated statement of cash flows

Current Previous
period $A'000 | corresponding
period -
$A'000
Cash flows related to operating activities
7.1 GST Refund from ATO 25 52
7.2 Payments to suppliers and employees (713) (731)
7.3 Dividends received from associates - -
7.4 Other dividends received - -
7.5 Interest and other items of similar nature received 102 133
7.6 Interest and other costs of finance paid - -
7.7 Income taxes paid - -
7.8 Other — research & development (820) (691)
7.9 Net operating cash flows (1,406) (1.237)
Cash flows related to investing activities
7.10 Payment for purchases of property, plant and equipment (58) (29)
7.1 Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment -
7.12 Payment for purchases of equity investments
7.13 Proceeds from sale of equity investments -
7.14 Loans to other entities -
7.15 Loans repaid by other entities -
‘ 7.16  Other (provide details if material) (3 (6)
7.17 Net investing cash flows (61) (35)
Cash flows related to financing activities
7.18 Proceeds from issues of *securities (shares, options,
etc.) - B
7.19 Proceeds from borrowings - -
7.20 Repayment of borrowings - -
7.21 Dividends paid - -
7.22 Other (provide details if material) - -
7.23 Net financing cash flows ) j
7.24 Net increase (decrease) in cash held (1,467) (1,272)
7.25 Cash at beginning of period (see Reconciliation of cash) 4,414 -
7.26 Exchange rate adjustments to item 7.25. - 6,981
Cash at end of period (see Reconciliation of cash)
7.27 ( 2,947 5,709

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 4B

Half yearly/preliminary final report

Non-cash financing and investing activities
Details of financing and investing transactions which have had a material effect on consolidated

assets and liabilities but did not involve cash flows are as follows. (If an amount is quantified,
show comparative amount.)

N/A

Reconciliation of cash

Reconciliation of cash at the end of the period (as shown in the Current period Previous
consolidated statement of cash flows) to the related items in the $A'000 corresponding
accounts is as follows. period -
$A'000
8.1 Cash on hand and at bank 2,947 5,709
8.2 Deposits at call - -
8.3 Bank overdraft - -
8.4 Other (provide details) - -
8.5 Total cash at end of period (item 7.27) 2,947 5,709
Other notes to the condensed financial statements
Ratios Current period Previous
corresponding
period
Profit before tax / revenue
9.1 Consolidated profit (loss) from ordinary activities before (4.70%) (9.94%)
tax (item 1.5) as a percentage of revenue (item 1.1
Profit after tax / Yequity interests
9.2 consolidated net profit (loss) from ordinary activities after
tax attributable to members (item 1.171) as a percentage of (0.22%) {0.13%)
equity (similarly attributable) at the end of the period (item
4.37)

Earnings per security (EPS)

10. Details of basic and diluted EPS reported separately in accordance with paragraph 9 and
18 of AASB 1027: Earnings Per Share are as follows.
Current period Previous
corresponding
period
10.1 | Calculation of the following in accordance with AASB
1027: Earnings per Share
(a) Basic EPS (2.1 cents) (1.7 cents)
(b) Diluted EPS N/A N/A
(c) Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the period used in the calculation
of the Basic EPS. 86,414,254 86,414,254
NTA backing Current period Previous
(see note 7) corresponding
period
111 Net tangible asset backing per *ordinary security $0.04 $0.07

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Half yearly/preliminary final report

Discontinuing Operations
(Entities must report a description of any significant activities or events relating to discontinuing
operations in accordance with paragraph 7.5 (g) of AASB 1029: Interim Financial Reporting, or, the
details of discontinuing operations they have disclosed in their accounts in accordance with AASB
1042: Discontinuing Operations (see note 17).)

12.14

Discontinuing Operations

N/A

Control gained over entities having material effect

13.1

13.2

13.3

13.4

Name of entity (or group of
entities)

N/A

Consolidated profit (|loss) from ordinary activities and
extraordinary items. after tax of the controlled entity (or
group of entities) since the date in the current period

on which control was *acquired

N/A

Date from which such profit has been calculated

N/A

Profit (loss) from ordinary activities and extraordinary
items after tax of the controlled entity (or group of
entities) for the whole of the previous corresponding
period

N/A

Loss of control of entities having material effect

14.1

14.2

14.3

14.4

14.5

Name of entity (or group of
entities)

N/A

Consolidated profit (loss) from ordinary activities and
extraordinary items after tax of the controlled entity (or
group of entities) for the current period to the date of
loss of control

Date to which the profit (loss) in item 14.2 has been
calculated

Consolidated profit (loss) from ordinary activities and
extraordinary items after tax of the controlled entity (or
group of entities) while controlled during the whole of the
previous corresponding period

Contribution to consolidated profit (loss) from ordinary
activities and extraordinary items from sale of interest
leading to loss of control

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Half yearly/preliminary final report

Dividends (in the case of a trust, distributions)

15.1 Date the dividend (distribution) is payable NIA
15.2 +Record date to determine entitlements to the dividend
(distribution) (ie, on the basis of proper instruments of
transfer received by 5.00 pm if *securities are not N/A
*CHESS approved, or security holding balances
established by 5.00 pm or such later time permitted by
SCH Business Rules if *securites are *CHESS
approved)
15.3 Ifitis a final dividend, has it been declared? N/A
(Preliminary final report only)
Amount per security
Amount per Franked Amount per
security amount per security of
security at foreign source
% tax (see dividend
note 4)
(Preliminary final report only)
15.4 Final dividend: Current year N/A N/A N/A
15.5 Previous year N/A N/A N/A
(Half yearly and preliminary final reports)
15.6 Interim dividend: Current year N/A N/A N/A
16.7 Previous year N/A N/A N/A
Total dividend (distribution) per security (interim plus final)
(Preliminary final report only)
Current year Previous year
15.8 +Ordinary securities N/A N/A
15.8  preference *securities N/A N/A
Half yearly report - interim dividend (distribution) on all securities or
Preliminary final report - final dividend (distribution) on all securities
Current period | Previous
$A'000 corresponding
period - $A'000
15.10 *Qrdinary securities (each class separately) N/A N/A
1511 preference *securities (each class separately) N/A N/A
15.12 Other equity instruments (each class separately) N/A N/A
15.13 Total

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 4B

Half yearly/preliminary final report

The *dividend or distribution plans shown below are in operation.

N/A

The last date(s) for receipt of election notices for the
*dividend or distribution plans

N/A

Any other disclosures in relation to dividends (distributions). (For half yearly reports, provide details in
accordance with paragraph 7.5(d) of AASB 1029 Interim Financial Reporting)

N/A

Details of aggregate share of profits (losses) of associates and joint venture

entities

Group’s share of associates’ and joint venture entities’:

16.1 Profit {loss) from ordinary activities before tax
16.2 Income tax on ordinary activities

16.3 Profit (loss) from ordinary activities after tax
16.4 Extraordinary items net of tax

16.5 Net profit (loss)

16.6 Adjustments

16.7 Share of net profit (loss) of associates and joint
venture entities

Current period Previous
$A'000 corresponding
period -
$A'000
N/A N/A
N/A N/A
N/A N/A
N/A N/A
N/A N/A
N/A N/A
N/A N/A

Material interests in entities which are not controlled entities
The economic entity has an interest (that is material to it) in the following entities. (/f the interest
was acquired or disposed of during either the current or previous corresponding period, indicate
date of acquisition (“from dd/mm/lyy”) or disposal (“to dd/mmiyy”).)

Name of entity Percentage of ownership Contribution to net profit (loss)
interest held at end of period (item 1.9)
or date of disposal
17.1 Equity Cur(ent Previous_ Current period Previous.

) period corresponding $A'000 corresponding
accounted . . \
associates and period period - $A'000
joint venture
entities

N/A N/A N/A N/A

17.2 Total N/A N/A N/A N/A

17.3 Other material N/A N/A N/A N/A
interests

17.4 Total N/A N/A N/A N/A

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Issued and quoted securities at end of current period

(Description must include rate of interest and any redemption or conversion rights together with prices

and dates)
Issue Amount
Category of *securities Total Number | price per | paid up
number quoted security per
(see security
note 14) | (see note
(cents) 14)
(cents)
18.1  preference *securities (description) B - - -
18.2  Changes during current period
(a) Increases through issues - - - -
(b) Decreases through returns of capital, - - - -
buybacks, redemptions
18.3  +Ordinary securities 86,414,254 | 86,414,254
18.4  Changes during current period
(a) Increases through issues - - - -
(b) Decreases through returns of capital, - - - -
buybacks
18.5  +Convertible debt securities (description
and conversion factor)
18.6  Changes during current period
(a) Increases through issues - - - -
(b) Decreases through securities matured, - - - -
converted
18.7 Options (description and conversion Exercise | Expiry
factor) price date
(if any)
Share Options 60,285,919 | 60,285,919 $0.30 30/6/03
Employee Options 1,250,000 - $0.10 3/4/06
“ 1,300,000 - $0.10 | 22/10/06
“ - 300,000 - $0.12 30/5/07
“ 1,935,937 - $0.30 30/9/04
“ 750,000 - $0.30 30/9/05
“ 750,000 - $0.30 31/3/08
18.8  Issued during current period 150,000 - $0.12 30/5/07
750,000 - $0.30 31/3/06
18.9  Exercised during current period - - - -
18.10 Expired during current period - - - -
18.11 Debentures (description)
18.12 Changes during current period
(a) Increases through issues - -
(b) Decreases through securities matured,
converted - .
18.13 Unsecured notes (description)
Changes during current period
18.14 (a) Increases through issues - -

(b) Decreases through securities matured,
converted

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Segment reporting

(Information on the business and geographical segments of the entity must be reported for the current
period in accordance with AASB 1005: Segment Reporting and for half year reports, AASB 1029:
Interim Financial Reporting. Because entities employ different structures a pro forma cannot be
provided. Segment information in the iayout employed in the entity’s *accounts should be reported
separately and attached to this report.)

EpiTan Ltd and its controlied entity operate solely in the biotechnology industry in Australia.

Comments by directors

(Comments on the following matters are required by ASX or, in relation to the half yearly report, by
AASB 1029: Interim Financial Reporting. The comments do not take the place of the directors' report
and statement (as required by the Corporations Act) and may be incorporated into the directors' report
and statement. For both half yearly and preliminary final reports, if there are no comments in a
section, state NIL. If there is insufficient space to comment, attach notes to this report.)

Basis of financial report preparation

19.1 If this report is a half yearly report, it is a general purpose financial report prepared in
accordance with the listing rules and AASB 1029: Interim Financial Reporting. It should be
read in conjunction with the last *annual report and any announcements to the market
made by the entity during the period. The financial statements in this report are “condensed
financial statements” as defined in AASB 1029: Interim Financial Reporting. This report does not
include all the notes of the type normally included in an annual financial report. [Delete if
preliminary final report.]

19.2 Material factors affecting the revenues and expenses of the economic entity for the current
period. In a half yearly report, provide explanatory comments about any seasonal or irregular
factors affecting operations.

N/A

19.3 A description of each event since the end of the current period which has had a material effect
and which is not already reported elsewhere in this Appendix or in attachments, with financial
effect quantified (if possible).

N/A

19.4 Franking credits available and prospects for paying fully or partly franked dividends for at least
the next year.

N/A

19.5 Unless disclosed below, the accounting policies, estimation methods and measurement bases
used in this report are the same as those used in the last annual report. Any changes in
accounting policies, estimation methods and measurement bases since the last annual report
are disclosed as follows. (Disclose changes and differences in the half yearly report in
accordance with AASB 1029: Interim Financial Reporting. Disclose changes in accounting
policies in the preliminary final report in accordance with AASB 1001: Accounting Policies-
Disclosure).

N/A

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

30/6/2002 Appendix 4B Page 13



Appendix 4B
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19.6 Revisions in estimates of amounts reported in previous interim periods. For half yearly reports
the nature and amount of revisions in estimates of amounts reported in previous +annual
reports if those revisions have a material effect in this half year.

N/A

19.7 Changes n contingent liabilities or assets.

For half yearly reports, changes in contingent

liabilities and contingent assets since the last " annual report.

N/A

Additional disclosure for trusts

20.1  Number of wunits held by the
management company or responsible | N/A
entity or their related parties.

202 A statement of the fees and
commissions payable to the
management company or responsible
entity. N/A
Identify:

D initial service charges
0 management fees
a other fees

Annual meeting

(Preliminary final report only)

The annual meeting will be held as follows:

Place N/A

Date N/A

Time N/A

Approximate date the *annual report will be N/A

available

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

30/6/2002

Appendix 4B Page 14



Appendix 4B
Half yearly/preliminary final report

‘ Compliance statement

1. This report has been prepared in accordance with AASB Standards, other AASB authoritative
pronouncements and Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views or other standards acceptable to
ASX (see note 12).

Identify other standards used

N/A
2. This report, and the “accounts upon which the report is based (if separate), use the same
accounting policies.
3. This report does/does not* (delete one) give a true and fair view of the matters disclosed (see
note 2).
4, This report is based on *accounts to which one of the following applies.
(Tick one)
a The “accounts have been H© The ‘accounts have been
audited. subject to review.
] The ‘accounts are in the O The “accounts have not yet
process of being audited or been audited or reviewed.
subject to review.
5. The review report by the auditor is attached.
6. The entity has/does-rothave* (delete one) a formally constituted audit committee.
Sign here: Date: .o

Print NamMe: e

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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For announcement to the market The percentage changes referred to in this section are the
percentage changes calculated by comparing the current period’s figures with those for the
previous corresponding period. Do not show percentage changes if the change is from profit to
loss or loss to profit, but still show whether the change was up or down. If changes in
accounting policies or procedures have had a material effect on reported figures, do not show
either directional or percentage changes in profits. Explain the reason for the omissions in the
note at the end of the announcement section. Entities are encouraged to attach notes or fuller
explanations of any significant changes to any of the items in page 1. The area at the end of
the announcement section can be used to provide a cross reference to any such attachment.

True and fair view [f this report does not give a true and fair view of a matter (for exampie,
because compliance with an Accounting Standard is required) the entity must attach a note
providing additional information and explanations to give a true and fair view.

Condensed consolidated statement of financial performance

ltem 1.1 The definition of “revenue” and an explanation of “ordinary activities” are set
out in AASB 1004: Revenue, and AASB 1018: Statement of Financial
Performance.

ltem 1.6 This item refers to the total tax attributable to the amount shown in item 1.5,

Tax includes income tax and capital gains tax (if any) but excludes taxes
treated as expenses from ordinary activities (eg, fringe benefits tax).

Income tax If the amount provided for income tax in this report differs (or would differ but for
compensatory items) by more than 15% from the amount of income tax prima facie payable on
the profit before tax, the entity must explain in a note the major items responsible for the
difference and their amounts. The rate of tax applicable to the franking amount per dividend
should be inserted in the heading for the column “Franked amount per security at % tax” for
items 15.4 to 15.7.

Condensed consolidated statement of financial position

Format The format of the consolidated statement of financial position should be followed as
closely as possible. However, additional items may be added if greater clarity of exposition
will be achieved, provided the disclosure still meets the requirements of AASB 1029: Interim
Financial Reporting, and AASB 1040: Statement of Financial Position. Also, banking
institutions, trusts and financial institutions may substitute a clear liquidity ranking for the
Current/Non-Current classification.

Basis of revaluation If there has been a material revaluation of non-current assets (including
investments) since the last *annual report, the entity must describe the basis of revaluation
adopted. The description must meet the requirements of AASB 71010: Accounting for the
Revaluation of Non-Current Assets. |If the entity has adopted a procedure of regular
revaluation, the basis for which has been disclosed and has not changed, no additional
disclosure is required.

Condensed consolidated statement of cash flows For definitions of “cash” and other
terms used in this report see AASB 71026: Statement of Cash Flows. Entities should follow
the form as closely as possible, but variations are permitted if the directors (in the case of a
trust, the management company) believe that this presentation is inappropriate. However, the

presentation adopted must meet the requirements of AASB 1026. *Mining exploration entities
may use the form of cash flow statement in Appendix 5B.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 4B
Half yearly/preliminary final report

Notes (con’t)

7. Net tangible asset backing Net tangible assets are determined by deducting from total
tangible assets all claims on those assets ranking ahead of the *ordinary securities (ie, all
liabilities, preference shares, outside *equity interests etc). *Mining entities are not required
to state a net tangible asset backing per *ordinary security.

8. Gain and loss of control over entities The gain or loss must be disclosed if it has a material
effect on the ‘accounts. Details must include the contribution for each gain or loss that
increased or decreased the entity's consolidated profit (loss) from ordinary activities and
extraordinary items after tax by more than 5% compared to the previous corresponding period.

9. Rounding of figures This report anticipates that the information required is given to the
nearest $1,000. If an entity reports exact figures, the $A’000 headings must be amended. If
an entity qualifies under ASIC Class Order 98/0100 dated 10 July 1998, it may report to the
nearest million dollars, or to the nearest $100,000, and the $A'000 headings must be
amended.

10. Comparative figures Comparative figures are to be presented in accordance with AASB
1018 or AASB 1029 Interim Financial Reporting as appropriate and are the unadjusted figures
from the latest annual or half year report as appropriate. However, if an adjustment has been
made in accordance with an accounting standard or other reason or if there is a lack of
comparability, a note explaining the position should be attached. For the statement of financial
performance, AASB 1029 Interim Financial Reporting requires information on a year to date
basis in addition to the current interim period. Normally an Appendix 4B to which AASB 1029
Interim Financial Reporting applies would be for the half year and consequently the
information in the current period is also the year to date. If an Appendix 4B Half yearly version
is produced for an additional interim period (eg because of a change of reporting period), the
entity must provide the year to date information and comparatives required by AASB 1029
Interim Financial Reporting. This should be in the form of a multi-column version of the
consolidated statement of financial performance as an attachment to the additional Appendix
4B.

11. Additional information An entity may disclose additional information about any matter, and
must do so if the information is material to an understanding of the reports. The information
may be an expansion of the material contained in this report, or contained in a note attached
to the report. The requirement under the listing rules for an entity to complete this report does
not prevent the entity issuing reports more frequently. Additional material lodged with the

*ASIC under the Corporations Act must also be given to ASX. For example, a director’s
report and declaration, if lodged with the *ASIC, must be given to ASX.

12 Accounting Standards ASX will accept, for example, the use of International Accounting
Standards for foreign entities. If the standards used do not address a topic, the Australian
standard on that topic (if one exists) must be complied with.

13. Corporations Act financial statements This report may be able to be used by an entity
required to comply with the Corporations Act as part of its halfyear financial statements if
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.

14. Issued and quoted securities The issue price and amount paid up is not required in items
18.1 and 18.3 for fully paid securities.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 4B
Half yearly/preliminary final report

Notes (con’t)

15.

16

17.

18.

Details of expenses AASB 7078 requires disciosure of expenses from ordinary activities
according to either their nature or function. For foreign entities, there are similar requirements
in other accounting standards accepted by ASX. AASB ED 105 clarifies that the disclosures
required by AASB 7018 must be either all according to nature or all according to function.
Entities must disclose details of expenses using the layout (by nature or function) employed in

their *accounts.
The information in lines 1.23 to 1.27 may be provided in an attachment to Appendix 4B.

Relevant Items AASB 71018 requires the separate disclosure of specific revenues and
expenses which are not extraordinary but which are of a size, nature or incidence that
disclosure is refevant in explaining the financial performance of the reporting entity. The term
“relevance” is defined in AASB 1018. There is an equivalent requirement in AASB 1029:
Interim Financial Reporting. For foreign entities, there are similar requirements in other
accounting standards accepted by ASX.

Dollars If reporting is not in A$, all references to $A must be changed to the reporting
currency. If reporting is not in thousands of dollars, all references to “000” must be changed to
the reporting value.

Discontinuing operations

Half yearly report

All entities must provide the information required in paragraph 12 for half years beginning on
or after 1 July 2001.

Preliminary final report

Entities must either provide a description of any significant activities or events relating to
discontinuing operations equivalent to that required by paragraph 7.5 (g) of AASB 1029:
Interim Financial Reporting, or, the details of discontinuing operations they are required to
disclose in their “accounts in accordance with AASB 1042 Discontinuing Operations.

In any case the information may be provided as an attachment to this Appendix 4B.

Format

This form is a Word document but an entity can re-format the document into Excel or similar
applications for submission to the Companies Announcements Office in ASX.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Company Announcement
EpiTan Announces Second Phase Il Trial Site

Melbourne, Australia

Drug-development company EpiTan Limited (ASX:EPT) today announced it had received approval from a
second site to undertake Phase |lb clinical trials on its melanin-producing drug, Melanotan. Part of the
Phase lib clinica! trial will now be conducted at the Royal Adelaide Hospital.

This follows EpiTan's announcement on 24 October regarding approval by the Ethics Committee at Sydney's
Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, who will also conduct part of the Phase lib trial.

The Adelaide trial will be conducted by Dr Catherine Reid, Director of Dermatology at the Royal Adelaide

Hospital, where EpiTan’s successful Phase I/lla clinical trial was completed earlier this year. This trial
demonstrated safety and efficacy for Melanotan.

“We continue to expand our clinical program and the addition of this second site will significantly enhance the
rate of recruitment of volunteers to meet our goal of completing the study in the shortest time,” said Dr.
Wayne Millen, EpiTan’s Chief Executive Officer. "We are pleased to be working again with the Royal
Adelaide Hospital as their experience and commitment in this area is well documented.”

The Phase [Ib study will commence this month and will take around eight months to complete.

The study will determine the ability of Melanotan to reduce the degree and toxicity of sunburn while
enhancing tanning in approximately 80 healthy volunteers exposed to uitraviolet light both before and after a

regime of Melanotan. The drug will be administered daily for 10 days in each of three consecutive months.
Twenty volunteers will receive placebos.

ABOUT THE COMPANY: EpiTan Limited is an emerging biotechnology company with a focus cn skin
protection, headquartered in Melbourne, Australia. The company has the exclusive worldwide rights to
develop its unique leading drug candidate Melanotan.

Melanotan, like sunlight, stimulates the production of melanin in the skin resulting in a tan. It allows a tan to
develop without exposure to harmful levels of ultraviolet (UV) light.

Melanin is the body's natural defence mechanism against skin damage resulting from exposure to sunlight
and UV radiation, essentially acting like an internal sunscreen. Epi Tan believes Melanotan may assist in
reducing skin damage from sun exposure and thus the incidence of skin cancer.

Research shows that people with high levels of melanin have a far lower incidence of skin cancer than those
with fair skin. For example, skin cancer rates among white Americans are 100 times higher than those
among the African-American poputation.

Melanotan is a synthetic analogue of the body's own tanning hormone O-MSH (alpha-MSH). Melanotan
however is 1000 times more active and has a longer duration in the body than the natural hormone.

EpiTan is listed on the Australian Stock Exchange.
-End-

For more information contact:

Dr Wayne Millen, Managing Director, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620 3333
mail@epitan.com.au

www.epitan.com.au
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Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

o Rule 2.7, 3.10.3, 3.10.4, 3.10.5
kY

Appendix 3B

New issue announcement,
application for quotation of additional securities
and agreement

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information and
documents given to ASX become ASX'’s property and may be made public.

Introduced 1/7/96. Origin: Appendix 5. Amended 1/7/98, 1/9/99, 1/7/2000, 30/9/2001, 11/3/2002, 1/1/2003.

Name of entity
EPITAN LIMITED

ABN
88 089 644 119

We (the entity) give ASX the following information.

Part 1 - All issues

You must complete the relevant sections (attach sheets if there is not enough space).

1 *Class of "securities issued or to be
issued

2 Number of *securities issued or to
be issued (if known) or maximum
number which may be issued

3 Principal terms of the *securities (eg,
if options, exercise price and expiry
date; if partly paid *securities, the
amount outstanding and due dates
for payment; if “*convertible
securities, the conversion price and
dates for conversion)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

4 Do the *securities rank equally in all
respects from the date of allotment
with an existing *class of quoted
*securities?

If the additional securities do not

rank equally, please state:

O the date from which they do

0 the extent to which they
participate for the next dividend,
(in the case of a trust,
distribution) or interest payment

O the extent to which they do not
rank equally, other than in
relation to the next dividend,
distribution or interest payment

5  Issue price or consideration

6  Purpose of the issue
(If issued as consideration for the
acquisition of assets, clearly identify
those assets)

7 Dates of entering *securities into
uncertificated holdings or
despatch of certificates

8 Number and *class of all *securities
quoted on ASX (including the
securities in clause 2 if applicable)

Number

*Class

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

Appendix 3B Page 2
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Appendix 3B

New issue announcement

10

Part 2 - Bonus issue or pro rata issue

11

12

15

16

17

18

19

Number and *class of all *securities
not quoted on ASX (including the
securities in clause 2 if applicable)

Dividend policy (in the case of a
trust, distribution policy) on the
increased capital (interests)

Is security holder approval
required?

Is the issue renounceable or non-
renounceable?

Ratio in which the *securities will be
offered

*Class of *securities to which the
offer relates

*Record date to determine
entitlements

Will holdings on different registers
(or subregisters) be aggregated for
calculating entitlements?

Policy for deciding entitlements in
relation to fractions

Names of countries in which the
entity has *security holders who will
not be sent new issue documents

Note: Security holders must be told how their
entitlements are to be dealt with,

Cross reference: rule 7.7.

Closing date for receipt of
acceptances or renunciations

Number

*Class

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

1/1/2003
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Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

Names of any underwriters

Amount of any underwriting fee or
commission

Names of any brokers to the issue

Fee or commission payable to the
broker to the issue

Amount of any handling fee
payable to brokers who lodge
acceptances or renunciations on
behalf of *security holders

If the issue is contingent on
*security holders’ approval, the date
of the meeting

Date entitlement and acceptance
form and prospectus or Product
Disclosure Statement will be sent to
persons entitled

If the entity has issued options, and
the terms entitle option holders to
participate on exercise, the date on
which notices will be sent to option
holders

Date rights trading will begin (if
applicable)

Date rights trading will end (if
applicable)

How do *security holders sell their
entitlements in full through a
broker?

How do *security holders sell part
of their entitlements through a
broker and accept for the balance?

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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32 How do *security holders dispose
of their entitlements (except by sale
through a broker)?

33 *Despatch date

Part 3 - Quotation of securities

You need only complete this section if you are applying for quotation of securities

34 Type of securities
(tick one)

(a) D Securities described in Part 1

(b) All other securities

Example: restricted securities at the end of the escrowed period, partly paid securities that become fully paid, employee
incentive share securities when restriction ends, securities issued on expiry or conversion of convertible securities

Entities that have ticked box 34(a)

Additional securities forming a new class of securities

Tick to indicate you are providing the information or
documents

35 If the *securities are ‘equity securities, the names of the 20 largest holders of the
additional *securities, and the number and percentage of additional *securities held by
those holders

36 I::l If the *securities are *equity securities, a distribution schedule of the additional
*securities setting out the number of holders in the categories
1-1,000
1,001 - 5,000
5,001 - 10,000
10,001 - 100,000
160,001 and over

37 D A copy of any trust deed for the additional *securities

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

1/1/2003 Appendix 3B Page 5
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Entities that have ticked box 34(b)

38 Number of securities for which | 37,957,228 Ordinary shares fully paid
*quotation is sought 23,148,669 Share options

39 Class of *securities for which | Ordinary shares fully paid
quotation is sought Share options

40 Do the *securities rank equally in all | Yes
respects from the date of allotment
with an existing *class of quoted
*securities?

If the additional securities do not

rank equally, please state:

O the date from which they do

O the extent to which they
participate for the next dividend,
(in the case of a trust,
distribution) or interest payment

0 the extent to which they do not
rank equally, other than in

relation to the next dividend,
. distribution or interest payment

41 Reason for request for quotation | End of restriction period
now

N/A

Example: In the case of restricted securities, end of
restriction period

(if issued upon conversion of
another security, clearly identify that
other security)

Number *Class
42 Number and *class of all *securities | 86,414,254 Ordinary shares fully paid

quoted on ASX (including the | 60,285,919 Share options
securities in clause 38)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 3B
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Quotation agreement

1

*Quotation of our additional *securities is in ASX’s absolute discretion. ASX may
quote the *securities on any conditions it decides.

We warrant the following to ASX.

O

The issue of the *securities to be quoted complies with the law and is not for
an illegal purpose.

There is no reason why those *securities should not be granted *quotation.

An offer of the *securities for sale within 12 months after their issue will not
require disclosure under section 707(3) or section 1012C(6) of the
Corporations Act.

Note: An entity may need to obtain appropriate warranties from subscribers for the securities in order to be able to
give this warranty

Section 724 or section 1016E of the Corporations Act does not apply to any
applications received by us in relation to any *securities to be quoted and
that no-one has any right to retwrn any *securities to be quoted under
sections 737, 738 or 1016F of the Corporations Act at the time that we
request that the *securities be quoted.

We warrant that if confirmation is required under section 1017F of the
Corporations Act in relation to the *securities to be quoted, it has been
provided at the time that we request that the *securities be quoted.

If we are a trust, we warrant that no person has the right to return the
*securities to be quoted under section 1019B of the Corporations Act at the
time that we request that the *securities be quoted.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

1/1/2003
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3 We will indemnify ASX to the fullest extent permitted by law in respect of any claim,
action or expense arising from or connected with any breach of the warranties in this
agreement.

4 We give ASX the information and documents required by this form. If any
information or document not available now, will give it to ASX before *quotation of

the *securities begins, We acknowledge that ASX is relying on the information and
documents. We warrant that they are (will be) true and complete.

Signhere: e Date: ..coovveverreireaenn

Print name: oo

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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13 February 2003

Company Announcements Office
Australian Stock Exchange Limited
20 Bridge Street

SYDNEY NSW 2000

Dear Sir/Madam

Share Purchase Plan
Please find attached the foliowing documents which are being sent to shareholders today:

O Chairman’s letter

0 Application Form including terms and conditions

[0 Company announcement of 10 February 2003 referred to in Chairman’s letter (EpiTan
Develops Sustained Release Formulation for Melanotan)

EpiTan will pay a 2% handling fee to facilitate acceptances under the Share Purchase Plan, the
terms and conditions of which are detailed in the Application Form. The consideration will be
payable to any Participating Organisation of the Australian Stock Exchange:

1. whose stamp appears on the Acceptance Form; or
2. where the acceptance for a broker sponsored client is initiated through CHESS by
a broker participant, on behalf of their client.

EpiTan anticipates it will pay the handling fee to each Participating Organisation in late March
2003.

lain Kirkwood
Chief Administrative Officer

Page 1 of 1
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epitan
|

13th February 2003

SAMPLE CUSTOMER
SAMPLE STREET
SAMPLE STREET
SAMPLE STREET
SAMPLE STREET
SAMPLETOWN TAS 7000

Dear Shareholder,
Share Purchase Plan

| am pleased to advise you that the directors of EpiTan Limited (EpiTan) have established a share purchase plan (Plan) to give existing
shareholders the opportunity to purchase additional shares in EpiTan.

Under the Plan your directors are offering shareholders the oppertunity to purchase a maximum of $5,000 worth of EpiTan shares.
Shares purchased under the Plan will not attract brokerage, stamp duty or any cther transaction costs.

During the course of 2003 EpiTan expects to raise additional capital for its projects including by way of private placements to 'exempt’
. professional investors. This offer provides EpiTan's loyal investors with the opportunity to also participate in EpiTan's equity raising
programs prior to any other placements occurring.

| was able to report at the AGM in November that ethics committee approval had been received from the Royal Prince Alfred Hospital
in Sydney to conduct Phase b clinical trials on EpiTan's Melanotan drug candidate. Following the AGM, similar approval was
received for conducting trials at a second site, the Royal Adelaide Hospital, enabling the trial to be completed in a shorter time. These
trials are designed to demonstrate that Melanotan can reduce the incidence of skin damage resulting from exposure to ultra-violet
light. The trials are now well underway at both sites. This is a major achievement, with only a handful of companies in Australia
having drugs at the Phase lib level.

At the same time as EpiTan has been working through its clinical program, considerable advances have been made in the
development of a user-friendly drug delivery formulation. The company announced last May that it had commenced a development
program with Southern Research Institute of Alabama to produce a new drug formulation. | am very pleased to report here that this
program has been successful and a slow release implant to deliver Melanotan has now been developed. The enclosed company
announcement to the ASX describes the importance of this in more detail.

It is the norm in the pharmaceutical industry that the development time for a drug from "test tube to prescription pad' is approximately
15 years. Melanotan has been on a development path now for about 12 years and given continued successes with its clinical
programs, is right on schedule for commercialisation in approximately 2006.

Potential markets worldwide for Melanotan for dermatology purposes are estimated at US$1.5 billion per annum. As a new safe
(sunless) 'tanning' drug Melanotan will be positioned alongside solariums and skin stains in a market now greater than US$5 billion
per annum in the US alone.

In the recent annual report and in my address to shareholders at the AGM | made reference to the fact that several enquiries had
been received from major pharmaceutical companies exploring the possibility of partnership arrangements with EpiTan.

This normally would involve repatriation of some funds spent already on test work as well as new financial support for ongoing

The progress to date with our Melanctan work will enhance prospects of developing a collaborative arrangement with a major group.
‘ Melanotan project activities prior to 2008.

EpiTan Limited ABN 88 089 644 119 Level 10, 52 Collins Street Melbourne VIC 3000 Tel 03 9662 4688 Fax 03 9662 4788 www.epitan.com.au

003638 V_005828



As at January 31, 2002 EpiTan's cash position was $2.52 million and against the background of these successes with Melanotan,
your company is now seeking further funds to accelerate its research and development and clinical trial programs. These programs
will involve activities to further other drug delivery formulations and more advanced clinical trials leading to the registration and
commercialisation of Melanotan.

An offer is being made under the Plan to all shareholders who at 5.00 pm Melbourne time on Friday 7th February 2003 are registered
as holders of ordinary shares in EpiTan and whose registered address is in Australia. The offer is non-renounceable, which means
that you cannot transfer your right to purchase shares under the offer to anyone else. Detalils of the Plan and offer are set out in the
attached Offer and Acceptance Form.

Applications must be made for a minimum of $1,000 worth of shares, with multiples thereafter of $1,000, up to a maximum of $5,000
worth of shares set by ASIC 02/831 Class Order. The shares will be issued at 14 cents representing a 14.3% discount to the volume
weighted average sale price of EpiTan's shares in the trading days between Friday 31st January and Thursday 6th February 2003. It
is expected that shares issued under the Plan will be quoted on the Australian Stock Exchange on or about 28th March 2003 and you
should receive your holding statement shortly after this date.

The offer under the Plan has been structured to comply with the Class Order. As such, the maximum application for $5,000 worth of
shares applies to all eligible shareholders even if they receive more than one offer from EpiTan (for example, because they are a joint
holder of shares or because they hold more than one shareholding under separate share accounts). EpiTan reserves the right to
reject any application for shares where it believes this requirement has not been complied with.

The closing date for the offer is 5.00pm Melbourne time on 14th March 2003 (Closing Date). If you wish to participate in the offer, you
will need to return your completed Offer and Acceptance Form together with your cheque in Australian doflars for the full amount to
which your acceptance relates, in the enclosed reply paid envelope so that we receive it by no later than 5.00 pm Meibourne time on
the Closing Date.

The directors may extend the Closing Date or bring the Closing Date forward. Accordingly, we encourage you to submit your
applications as early as possible.

Given Melanotan's advanced stage of development and global market potential | commend this opportunity to you to participate in
the acceleration of the company’s Melanotan program.

In deciding whether to take up the enclosed offer of shares, you should of course seek your own independent financial, legal and
taxation advice in respect of the offer.

If you have any gquestions in relation to the Plan, please contact:

lain Kirkwood

Chief Administrative Officer

Tel: 03 9662 4688

Fax: 03 9662 4788

email: iain kirkwocd@epitan.com.au

Yours sincerely,

Y

Dr Wayne Millen
Chairman and Managing Director
EpiTan Limited

EpiTan Limited ABN 88 089 644 119 Level 10, 52 Collins Street Melbourne VIC 3000 Tel 03 9662 4688 Fax 03 9662 4788 www.epitan.com.au

003638 V_{06838



. All correspondence to: .
e p ' a n Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited

GPO Box 52 Melbourne

ABN 88 089 644 119 Victoria 3001 Australia
Enquiries (within Austrafia] 1300 850 505
SHARE PURCHASE PLAN ("PLAN") {outside Australia) 613 9615 5970

Facsimile 6139611 2529
web.queries@computershare.com.au
www.computershare.com

Record Date ; 7 Feb 2003
"|'|”|Ill'l'l”'”l"’ll"”"'ll" o::rmg Saete: 139F;ubar[1yary 2003
SAMPLE CUSTOMER Closing Date : 14 March 2003
SAMPLE STREET
SAMPLE STREET

SAMPLE STREET
SAMPLE STREET
SAMPLETOWN TAS 7000

| 1234567890 JNT

APPLICATION FORM

Securityholder Reference Number (SRN)

A APPLICATION —

IMWe, the above shareholder(s), being registered as ordinary shareholder(s) in the Company as at the Record Date for this offer do hereby apply for new shares as indicated below
at an issue price calculated in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the EpiTan Limited Share Purchase Pian, as attached and as otherwise set out in the accompanying
letter dated 13 February 2003.

¢ Applications must be made for a minimum of $1,000 worth of shares, with muitiples of $1,000 thereafter, up to a maximum of $5,000 worth of shares.
Indicate your choice below by marking one box only.

$1,000 ] s2000
7,143 shares Si 14,286 shares

$3,000 o] 4000 $5,000
21,429 shares o 28,572 shares ) 35,715 shares

-

B PAYMENT DETAILS

INSERT DETAILS OF YOUR CHEQUE OR BANK CHEQUE - PLEASE COMPLETE IN BLOCK LETTERS
Drawer BSB Number Amount of Cheque

AS
Drawer BSB Number — A‘mounléfCheque
C CERTIFICATION

For the purpose of the ASIC Class Order 02/831, you certify and confirm that the aggregate price for:
(a) shares you have applied for under this application; and
{b) any other shares you have applied for under this Plan or any other Company share purchase plan or similar arrangement in the 12 months prior to the date of your

application,
(including through joint and/or beneficial holdings) does not exceed $5,000.
Individual or Securityholder 1 Securityholder 2 Securityholder 3
Director/Company Secretary Sole Director and Sole Company Secretary
Contact Name N Telephone Number - Business Hours / After Hours

(

If you want to participate in this offer, please carefully read the Terms and Conditions of the cffer attached.

Complete all the required details on the Application Form, noting that all amounts are expressed in Austratian Dollars.

Write the cheque for the exact amount of the Shares you want to acquire. Please make the cheque payable to EpiTan Share Purchase Plan.
Please retum the Application Form, together with the cheque, to EpiTan Limited in the enclosed reply paid envelope.

Ensure that your Application Form and cheque reach us by the closing date of the offer being no later than AEST 5 pm on 14 March 2003,

If signed under power of attorney, the attomey states that they have not received a notice of revocation of that power.

By accepting this offer you agree to be bound by the Terms and Conditions of the Offer and the Constitution of the Company.

e

. E P T S P P 003836 V_DO52ZD +



EPITAN LIMITED
SHARE PURCHASE PLAN

Pursuant to the EpiTan Limited Share Purchase Plan ("Plan™), EpiTan Limited ACN 089 644 119 ("EpiTan") offers eligible shareholders the ability to apply
for a minimum of $1,000 and a maximum of $5,000 worth of fully paid ordinary shares ("Shares”) in EpiTan ("Offer’).

If you are eligible to apply for Shares, you may apply for a minimum of $1,000 worth of Shares and in multiples of $1,000 thereafter, up to a maximum of
$5,000 worth of Shares.

Please carefully read the Terms and Conditions relating to the Offer as you will be bound by them. By lodging this form with your cheque, you
confirm that you have read, understood and agreed to the terms and conditions of the Plan.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1.

Participation

Participation in the share purchase plan (‘Plan’) is open to all persons
who, as at the record date determined by the directors of EpiTan
('Board'), are registered as holders of ordinary shares in EpiTan, except
those shareholders whose registered address is in a country where, in
the reasonable opinion of the Board, it is unlawful or impractical for
EpiTan to issue offers under the Plan.

Participation in the Plan is optional and is subject to these terms and
conditions.

Offers

Offers under the Plan will be non-renounceable and shares may be
issued only to the shareholder to whom they are offered.

Each offer will be made on the same terms and conditions. All eligible
shareholders of EpiTan will receive the same offer, imespective of the
number of shares which they hold on the record date.

Offers to subscribe for shares under the Plan may be made once a year,
or as otherwise determined by the Board.

in any consecutive 12 month period, the maximum value of shares for
which each eligible shareholder may subscribe under the Plan is $5,000
{or such lesser amount as the Board may determine in its discretion).
This limit applies to each shareholder even if that person holds shares
in more than one capacity - for example, as a sole holder and as a first
(or subsequent) named holder of two or more joint holders. However, a
trustee or nominee expressly noted on a company register may receive
an offer for each occasion they are separately recorded as a trustee or
nominee for a different beneficiary named on that register.

Offers will be made subject to any terms and conditions that the Board
thinks fit which are consistent with these terms and conditions, including
any minimum subscription amount. The Board may also determine the
multiple(s) of shares, or the fixed dollar amount(s), for which each
eligible sharehoider may subscribe under any given offer under the
Plan.

Issue Price

Shares will be issued under the Plan at the issue price determined by
the Board, which must be less than the market price during a specified
pericd in the 30 days prior to either the date of the offer or the date of
issue of shares under the offer.

Costs of Participation

No brokerage, commissions, stamp duty or other transaction costs will
be payable by shareholders in respect of the application for, and issue
of, shares under the Plan.

Issue of Shares

EpiTan will issue shares for the purposes of an offer as soon as
reasonably practicable after the closing date of the relevant offer.

Shares issued under the Plan will rank equally with all other ordinary
shares in EpiTan on issue as of the date of issue and will therefore carry
the same voting rights, dividend rights and other entitlements as those
shares.

EpiTan will apply for shares issued under the Plan to be quoted on
Austraiian Stock Exchange Limited {ASX").

6.

10.

EpiTan will, within the period required by the ASX Listing Rules, send
participants a holding statement in respect of any shares issued to them
under the Plan.

Acceptance of Offers

An offer to participate in the Plan may be accepted by an eligible
shareholder only by completing and retuming the acceptance form
provided by EpiTan, together with the appropriate payment for the
amount to which the acceptance relates, by no later than the closing
date for the offer specified on the acceptance form.

Payment may be made only by cheque in Australian dollars drawn on an
Australian bank.

An offer will be taken to have been accepted by an eligible shareholder
only if the cheque which accompanies the shareholder's acceptance
form s paid in full on first presentation.

If one or more acceptance forms are received by an eligibie shareholder
in relation to shares with a value greater than 35,000 in any consecutive
12 month period, the shareholder will be issued with the maximum
number of shares permitted by the Plan and the excess subscription
monies will be refunded (without interest).

If an eligible shareholder subscribes for an amount which is not exactly
divisible by the issue price for the shares, in calculating the number of
shares fo be issued, all fractional entittements will be rounded up to the
nearest whole number.

Amendment, Suspension and Termination of the Plan

The Board may, in its discretion, amend, suspend or terminate the Plan
at any time and adopt any administrative procedures it thinks
appropriate in relation to the Plan. EpiTan may issue o any person
fewer shares than subscribed for under the Plan (or none at all) if EpiTan
believes that the issue and allotment of those shares would contravene
any law or the rules of any stock exchange on which EpiTan shares are
quoted.

Dispute Resolution

EpiTan may settle, in any manner it thinks fit, any difficulties, anomalies
or disputes which may arise under or in connection with the operation of
the Plan, whether generally or in relation to any participant or class of
participants, offer, application or shares, and the decision of EpiTan shall
be conclusive and binding on all participants and other persons to whom
the determination relates.

EpiTan reserves the right to waive compliance with any provision of
these terms and conditions.

Notices

Notices and statements to participating shareholders may be given in
any manner determined by the Board from time to time.

Privacy

Chapter 2C of the Corporations Act 2001 requires information about
shareholders (including name, address and details of the shares held)
to be included in EpiTan's public register. If a shareholder ceases to be
a shareholder, Chapter 2C of the Corporations Act 2001 requires this
information to be retained in EpiTan's public register. These statutory
obligations are not altered by the Privacy Act 1988 (Cth) as amended.
Information is collected to administer shareholders’ security holdings

003639 V_00530A
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EpiTan Develops Sustained Release Formulation for Melanotanogﬁ“rt%}f“gfﬁsg%féaL

For more information contact:

lain Kirkwood, Chief Administrative Officer, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications, Tel; 03 9620 3333

Dr Tom Tice, Southern Research Institute, Tel: + 1 205 581 2383
mail@epitan.com.au

www.gpitan.com.au

Melboume, Australia

Drug-development company EpiTan Limited (ASX.EPT) today announced the development of its sustained-release formulation for
the melanin inducing drug Melanotan. The new formulation is a result of the strategic collaborative agreement with Southern
Research Institute of Birmingham, Alabama, USA, initiated in May 2002.

The new formulation is a small implant designed to be placed under the skin. It is made of the same material that has been used for
many years in "self-dissolving” stitches and is therefore known to be safe and reliable. As the implant is totally biodegradable it does
not have to be removed at the end of the treatment.

The formulation is a major advancement on the daily injections being used in the company's current Phase b clinical trial. Melanotan
will be released into the body over a period of time so that the subjects participating in the next clinical trial will need only one injection.

Similar implants, such as Zoladex® (AstraZeneca) for the treatment of prostate cancer, have already been approved for use in
Australian and worldwide markets.

Southern Research Institute, an affiliate of the University of Alabama, was established in 1941 and has a long reputation for
leadership and excellence in drug discovery and development of delivery formulations. Their drug-delivery programs range from
feasibility studies, pre-formulation studies, pre-clinical development, scale up and clinical trial material production.

EpiTan recently announced that the first of the volunteers in its Phase ib human "sunburn” trial had been administered Melanotan at
Sydney's Royal Prince Alfred Hospital and the Royal Adelaide Hospital. The trial is to measure the effectiveness of Melanotan in
reducing sunbum among a group of eighty healthy volunteers.

"The successful development of the sustained release implant builds on EpiTan's successes of its completed Phase I/l trial and the
recent commencement of the Phase ilb clinical trial," said Dr Wayne Millen, EpiTan's Managing Director. "The fact that this type of
sustained-release formulation has already been proven to work with Melanotan in our preclinical studies will accelerate the
development of this product towards the completion of our clinical trial program.”

“Southern Research Institute's capabilities were extremely well suited to our drug-delivery development program,” said Mr Michael
Kleinig, EpiTan's Pharmaceutical Development Manager. "The group's expertise and experience has enabled the development of the
implant on time and to budget.”

ABOUT EPITAN: EpiTan Limited is an emerging biotechnology company with a focus on skin protection, headquartered in
Melbourne, Australia. The company has the exclusive worldwide rights to develop its unique leading drug candidate Melanotan.

Melanotan, like sunlight, stimulates the production of melanin in the skin resulting in a tan. it allows a tan to develop without exposure
to harmful levels of ultraviolet (UV) light.

Melanin is the body's natural defence mechanism against skin damage resulting from exposure to sunlight and UV radiation,
essentially acting like an internal sunscreen. EpiTan believes Melanotan may assist in reducing skin damage from sun exposure and
thus the incidence of skin cancer.

Research shows that people with high levels of melanin have a far lower incidence of skin cancer than those with fair skin. For
example, skin cancer rates among white Americans are 100 times higher than those among the African-American population.

Melanotan is a synthetic analogue of the body's own tanning hormone a-MSH (alpha-MSH). Melanotan however is 1000 times more
active and has a longer duration in the body than the natural hormone.

EpiTan is listed on the Australian Stock Exchange.
-End-

EpiTan Limited ABN 88 089 644 119 Level 10, 52 Collins Street Melbourne VIC 3000 Tel 03 9662 4688 Fax 03 9662 4788 www.epitan.com.au
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Company Announcement

EpiTan Develops Sustained Release Formulation for Melanotan

For more information contact:

lain Kirkwood, Chief Administrative Officer, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
Richard Alien, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620 3333

Dr Tom Tice, Southern Research Institute, Tel: + 1 205 581 2383
mail@epitan.com.au

www.epitan.com.au

Melbourne, Australia

Drug-development company EpiTan Limited (ASX.EPT) today announced the development of its
sustained-release formulation for the melanin inducing drug Melanotan. The new formulation is a
result of the strategic collaborative agreement with Southern Research Institute of Birmingham,
Alabama, USA, initiated in May 2002.

The new formulation is a small implant designed to be placed under the skin. It is made of the
same material that has been used for many years in “self-dissolving” stitches and is therefore
known to be safe and reliable. As the implant is totally biodegradable it does not have fo be
removed at the end of the treatment.

The formulation is a major advancement on the daily injections being used in the company'’s
current Phase b clinical trial. Melanotan will be released into the body over a period of time so
that the subjects participating in the next clinical trial will need only one injection.

Similar implants, such as ZoladexO (AstraZeneca) for the treatment of prostate cancer, have
already been approved for use in Australian and worldwide markets.

Southern Research Institute, an affiliate of the University of Alabama, was established in 1941 and
has a long reputation for leadership and excellence in drug discovery and development of delivery
formulations. Their drug-delivery programs range from feasibility studies, pre-formulation studies,

pre-clinical development, scale up and clinical trial material production.

EpiTan recently announced that the first of the volunteers in its Phase llb human “sunburn” trial
had been administered Melanotan at Sydney’s Royal Prince Alfred Hospital and the Royal
Adelaide Hospital. The trial is to measure the effectiveness of Melanotan in reducing sunburn
among a group of eighty healthy volunteers.

“The successful development of the sustained release implant builds on EpiTan's successes of its
completed Phase I/1i trial and the recent commencement of the Phase IlIb clinical trial," said Dr
Wayne Millen, EpiTan’s Managing Director. "The fact that this type of sustained-release
formulation has already been proven to work with Melanotan in our preclinical studies will
accelerate the development of this product towards the completion of our ¢linical trial program.”

“Southern Research Institute’s capabilities were extremely well suited to our drug-delivery
development program,” said Mr Michael Kleinig, EpiTan's Pharmaceutical Development Manager.
“The group’s expertise and experience has enabled the development of the implant on time and to
budget.”

Page 10of2
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. ABOUT EPITAN: EpiTan Limited is an emerging biotechnology company with a focus on skin
protection, headquartered in Melbourne, Australia. The company has the exclusive worldwide
rights to develop its unique leading drug candidate Melanotan.

Melanotan, like sunlight, stimulates the production of melanin in the skin resulting in a tan. |t
allows a tan to develop without exposure to harmful levels of ultraviolet (UV) light.

Melanin is the body's natural defence mechanism against skin damage resulting from exposure to
sunlight and UV radiation, essentially acting like an internal sunscreen. EpiTan believes
Melanotan may assist in reducing skin damage from sun exposure and thus the incidence of skin
cancer.

Research shows that people with high levels of melanin have a far lower incidence of skin cancer
than those with fair skin. For example, skin cancer rates among white Americans are 100 times
higher than those among the African-American population.

Melanotan is a synthetic analogue of the body's own tanning hormone U-MSH (alpha-MSH).

Melanotan however is 1000 times more active and has a longer duration in the body than he
natural hormone.

EpiTan is listed on the Australian Stock Exchange.
-End-
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AND CONTROLLED ENTITY VFFICE OF INTERMATIONAL
CORPORATE FIMANCE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Your directors submit the Appendix 4B “Half-Yearly Report” of the economic entity for the
half-year ended 31 December 2002.

DIRECTORS

The names of directors who held office during or since the end of the half-year:

Dr Alan Cooper

Dr HPK Agersborg

Dr WA Millen

Mr SR McLiesh (appointed 12 September 2002)
Dr TE Winters

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Phase IIb clinical trials for EpiTan’s drug candidate Melanotan commenced at two sites,
Sydney’s Royal Prince Alfred Hospital and the Royal Adelaide Hospital, in November 2002.

Development of a sustained-delivery formulation for Melanotan under a collaborative
research agreement with Southern Research Institute of Alabama, also progressed on
schedule.

ROUNDING
The economic entity has applied the relief available to it in ASIC Class Order 98/100 and
accordingly certain amounts in the half-yearly financial report have been rounded off to the

nearest $1,000.

This report is signew .1 accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors:

WA Millen
Director

7 February, 2003



EPITAN LIMITED
A.B.N. 88 089 644 119
AND CONTROLLED ENTITY

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

The directors of the company declare that:
1. The financial statements and notes as set out in Appendix 4B “Half Yearly Report™:

a. comply with Accounting Standard AASB 1029: Interim Financial Reporting
and the Corporations Regulations; and

b. give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at
31 December 2002 and its performance for the half-year ended on that date.

2. In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company
will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

WA Millen
Director

Dated this 7" day of February, 2003



William Buck

Business Consultants
Chartersd Accountants

INDEPENDENT REVIEW REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF EPITAN LIMITED

Seope

We have reviewed the financial report of EpiTan Limited for the half-year ended 31 December 2002 in the form of
Appendix 4B “Half Yearly Report™ of the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) Listing Rules, consisting of the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Performance, Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated
Swiement of Cash Flows, accompanying notes as set out in Appendix 4B “Half Yearly Report™ and the Directors’
Declaration..

The financial report includes the financial staterents of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the
entities it controlied at the end of the half-year or from time to time during the halfeyear. The company's direcrors
are responsible for the financial report.

We have performed un independent review of the fisancial report in onder 10 state whether, on the basis of
procedures described, anything has come to our attention that would indicate that the financial report is not
presented fairly in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 1029: Interim Financial Reporting and other
mandatory professional reporting requirements, statutory requirements and ASX Listing Rules as they relate to
Appendix 4B, so as to present a view which is consistent with our understanding of thé consolidated entity’s
financial position, and performance as represented by the resuits of its operations and its cash {flows, and in order
for the company to meet its obligations 1o lodge the financial report with the Australian Securities and Investments
Commission and the ASX.

Qur review has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards applicable 10 review
engagements. A review is-limited primarily 10 inquiries of the company’s personnel and analytical procedures
applied to the financial data. These procedures do not provide all the evidence that would be required in en audit,
thus the level of assurance is less than given in an sudit. 'We have not performed an audit and, accordingly, we do
not express an sudit opinion.

Staternent

Based on our review, which is not an audit, we have not become aware of any matter that makes us believe that the
half.year financial report, as defined in the scope section of EpiTan Limited is not in accordance with:

{2) the Corporations Act 2001, including:

{y giving a true and fRir view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 31 December 2002
and of its performance for the half-year ended on that date; and

(i)  complying with Accounting Standard AASB 1029 Interim Financial Reponting and the
Corporations Regulations 2001; and

{®) other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia and ASX Listing Ruies as they relate to

Appendix 4B “Half Yearly Report”.
w ) ) K A\ LN
Accountants \
:,-f '3 , ”
Dated this é ¢ dsy of ~f‘“5¢?f‘fﬁ’*‘;r 2003.
,,,/f
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Former Faulding CFO Joins EpiTan

For more information contact:

Dr Wayne Millen, Managing Director, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620 3333
mail@epitan.com.au

www.epitan.com.au

Melbourne, Australia

EpiTan Limited today announced the appointment of Mr lain Kirkwood as Chief Administrative
Officer. The former Chief Financial Officer at F.H.Faulding & Co. Limited, Mr Kirkwood brings to
EpiTan extensive financial, commercial and business/strategic experience.

Mr Kirkwood has had a successful career over more than 25 years in Australia, Britain and the
USA, holding a range of senior financial positions with major public companies including Faulding
Limited, Santos Limited and Pilkington plc. He is a Chartered Accountant, CPA, former President
of the Finance and Treasury Association of Australia and a member of the Institute of Company
Directors.

“The opportunity to join EpiTan at this stage of its commercial development of the Melanotan
project is extremely appealing,” said Mr Kirkwood. "l look forward to raising business and investor
awareness of EpiTan in the domestic and international investment communities and assisting in
progressing the commercialisation of the technology.”

EpiTan's lead drug candidate Melanotan has commenced Phase lIb clinical trials at Sydney’s
Royal Prince Alfred Hospital and the Royal Adelaide Hospital. Last week the company announced
that the first of the volunteers in its human “sunburn” trial had been administered Melanotan.

“lain joins us at an exciting time and will be integral to helping develop the company'’s financial and
commercial position and profile as the Melanotan project moves towards maturity,” said EpiTan’s
Managing Director, Dr Wayne Millen. “lain’s extensive financial background will complement those
of the existing board and senior management, which includes broad international experience in
pharmaceuticals, drug development, venture capital and dermatology.”

ABOUT THE COMPANY: EpiTan Limited is an emerging biotechnology company with a focus on
skin protection, headguartered in Melbourne, Australia. The company has the exclusive worldwide
rights to develop its unique leading drug candidate Melanotan. Melanotan, like sunlight, stimulates
the production of melanin in the skin resulting in a tan. It allows a tan to develop without exposure
to harmful levels of ultraviolet (UV) light.

Melanin is the body's natural defence mechanism against skin damage resulting from exposure to
sunlight and UV radiation, essentially acting like an internal sunscreen. EpiTan believes
Melanotan may assist in reducing skin damage from sun exposure and thus the incidence of skin
cancer.

Page 1 of 2
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Research shows that people with high levels of melanin have a far lower incidence of skin cancer
than those with fair skin. For example, skin cancer rates among white Americans are 100 times
. higher than those among the African-American population. Melanotan is a synthetic analogue of

the body's own tanning hormone 0O-MSH (alpha-MSH). Melanotan however is 1000 times more

active and has a longer duration in the body than the natural hormone.
EpiTan is listed on the Australian Stock Exchange.
-End-
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For more information contact:

Dr Wayne Millen, Managing Director, EpiTan Limited, Tel: 03 9662 4688
Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications, Tel: 03 9620 3333
mail@epitan.com.au

www.epitan.com.au

Melbourne, Australia

Drug-development company EpiTan Limited (ASX:EPT) today announced that the first of the
subjects in its Phase IIb human “sunburn” trial have been administered Melanotan. The trial is to
measure the effectiveness of the company’s tanning drug Melanotan in reducing sunburn among a
group of eighty healthy volunteers.

The first group of volunteers have received the melanin-producing drug at the two trial sites —
Sydney'’s Royal Prince Alfred Hospital and the Royal Adelaide Hospital. The remaining volunteers
are scheduled to join the trial in the coming weeks. The trial is due for completion in July/August.

The trial involves volunteers being subjected to controlied levels of UVA and UVB light via a solar
stimulator to a small area of skin (approximately the size of a 5 cent piece). A biopsy is taken to
measure the level of resulting sunburn injury. A regime of Melanotan is then administered, and
another biopsy taken after the volunteers receive the same UV light levels.

“Depending on their skin types, the level of burning from the simulator is the same as people
would get by spending 30 minutes to 2 hours in a strong sun without sunscreen,” said Dr Stuart
Humphrey, EpiTan’s clinical development manager. “The expectation is that, following Melanotan
treatment, sunburn skin damage will be markedly reduced”.

ABOUT THE COMPANY: EpiTan Limited is an emerging biotechnology company with a focus on
skin protection, headquartered in Melbourne, Australia. The company has the exclusive worldwide
rights to develop its unique leading drug candidate Melanotan.

Melanotan, like sunlight, stimulates the production of melanin in the skin resulting in a tan. It allows
a tan to develop without exposure to harmful levels of ultraviolet (UV) light.

Melanin is the body's natural defence mechanism against skin damage resulting from exposure to
sunlight and UV radiation, essentially acting like an internal sunscreen. EpiTan believes
Melanotan may assist in reducing skin damage from sun exposure and thus the incidence of skin
cancer.

Research shows that people with high levels of melanin have a far lower incidence of skin cancer
than those with fair skin. For example, skin cancer rates among white Americans are 100 times
higher than those among the African-American population.

Melanotan is a synthetic analogue of the body's own tanning hormone 0-MSH (alpha-MSH).
Melanotan however is 1000 times more active and has a longer duration in the body than the
natural hormone,

EpiTan is listed on the Australian Stock Exchange.

-End-
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30 January 2003

Company Announcements Office
Australian Stock Exchange Limited
20 Bridge Street

SYDNEY NSW 2000

Dear Sir/Madam

Release of Securities from Escrow

EpiTan Limited advises the following securities are due for release from escrow restriction on Thursday 13
Februrary 2003:

37,957,228 ordinary shares fully paid
23,148,669 options expiring 30 June 2003 exercisable at 30 cents.

. Wayne Millen
Managing Director

‘ Page 1 of 1
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Quarterly report

for entities admitted

Rule 4.7B

on the basis of commitments

Introduced 31/3/2000. Amended 30/9/2001

Name of entity

FpiTan Limited

ABN

88 089 644 119

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Current quarter Year to date
Cash flows related to operating activities $A’000 (6 months)
$A°000
1.1 Receipts from customers - -
1.2 Payments for  (a) staff costs (63) (116)
(b) advertising and marketing | - -
(c) research and development | (378) (808)
(d) leased assets - -
(e) other working capital (324) (630)
1.3 Dividends received - -
1.4 Interest and other items of a similar nature | 53 118
received
1.5  Interest and other costs of finance paid - -
1.6 Income taxes paid - -
1.7 Other (provide details if material) - -
Net operating cash flows (712) (1,436)

Quarter ended (“current quarter”)

31 December 2002

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

30/9/2001

Appendix 4C Page |



Appendix 4C
Quarterly report for entities

‘ admitted on the basis of commitments
Current quarter Year to date
$A°000 (6 months)
$A’000
1.8 Net operating cash flows (carried forward) (712) (1,436)
Cash flows related to investing activities
1.9 Payment for acquisition of:
(2) businesses (item 5) - -
(b) equity investments - -
(c) intellectual property n “)
(d) physical non-~current assets | (15) 27N
(e) other non-current assets - -
1.10  Proceeds from disposal of:
(a) businesses (item 5) - -
(b) equity investments - -
(c) intellectual property - -
(d) physical non-current assets | - -
(e) other non-current assets - -
1.11 Loans to other entities - -
1.12  Loans repaid by other entities - -
1.13  Other (provide details if material) - -
. Net investing cash flows (16) (31)
1.14 Total operating and investing cash flows (728) (1,467)
Cash flows related to financing activities
1.15  Proceeds from issues of shares, options, etc. - -
1.16  Proceeds from sale of forfeited shares - -
1.17  Proceeds from borrowings - -
1.18  Repayment of borrowings - -
1.19  Dividends paid - -
1.20  Other (provide details if material) - -
Net financing cash flows i )
Net increase (decrease) in cash held (728) (1,467)
1.21 Cash at beginning of quarter/year to date 3,675 4414
1.22  Exchange rate adjustments to item 1.20 - -
1.23 Cash at end of quarter 2,947 2,547

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

Appendix 4C Page 2
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Appendix 4C
Quarterly report for entities
admitted on the basis of commitments

Payments to directors of the entity and associates of the directors
Payments to related entities of the entity and associates of the related entities

Current quarter
$A'000

1.24 Aggregate amount of payments to the parties included in item 1.2 51

1.25 Aggregate amount of loans to the parties included in item 1.11 NIL

1.26 Explanation necessary for an understanding of the transactions

Non-cash financing and investing activities

2.1  Details of financing and investing transactions which have had a material effect on consolidated
assets and liabilities but did not involve cash flows

N/A

2.2 Details of outlays made by other entities to establish or increase their share in businesses in which
the reporting entity has an interest

N/A

Financing facilities available
Add notes as necessary for an understanding of the position. (See AASB 1026 paragraph 12.2).

Amount available Amount used
$A°000 $A°000

3.1 Loan facilities NIL NIL

3.2 Credit standby arrangements NIL NIL

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms,

30/9/2001 Appendix 4C Page 3



Appendix 4C
Quarterly report for entities
admitted on the basis of commitments

Reconciliation of cash

Reconciliation of cash at the end of the quarter (as | Current quarter Previous quarter
shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows) to | $A’000 $A°000
the related items in the accounts is as follows.
4.1 Cash on hand and at bank 179 222
42  Deposits at call 2,768 3,433
43  Bank overdraft i )
44  Other (provide details) i )
2,947 3,675

Total: cash at end of quarter (item 1.22)

Acquisitions and disposals of business entities

Acquisitions Disposals
(Item 1.9(a)) (Item 1.10(a))
5.1 Name of entity N/A N/A
5.2  Place of incorporation | N/A N/A
or registration
5.3  Consideration for N/A N/A
acquisition or disposal
5.4  Total net assets N/A N/A
5.5  Nature of business N/A N/A

Compliance statement
1 This statement has been prepared under accounting policies which comply with accounting
standards as defined in the Corporations Act {except to the extent that information is not required

because of note 2) or other standards acceptable to ASX.

2 This statement does /does not* (delete one) give a true and fair view of the matters disclosed.

Signhere: o Date: oo

PNt NAME:. oo cenrre s rrerestn e snraes
Notes

1. The quarterly report provides a basis for informing the market how the entity’s activities have
been financed for the past quarter and the effect on its cash position. An entity wanting to

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 4C
Quarterly report for entities
admitted on the basis of commitments

disclose additional information is encouraged to do so, in a note or notes attached to this

report.
2. The definitions in, and provisions of, A4SB 1026: Statement of Cash Flows, apply to this
report except for the paragraphs of the Standard set out below.
. 6.2 - reconciliation of cash flows arising from operating activities to
operating profit or loss
) 9.2 - itemised disclosure relating to acquisitions
. 9.4 - itemised disclosure relating to disposals
. 12.1(a) - policy for classification of cash items
) 12.3 - disclosure of restrictions on use of cash
. 13.1 - comparative information
3. Accounting Standards. ASX will accept, for example, the use of International Accounting

Standards for foreign entities. If the standards used do not address a topic, the Australian
standard on that topic (if any) must be complied with.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Annual General Meeting 2002
Chairman’s Report

1 November 2002

Ladies and Gentlemen,

I am your Chairman — Wayne Millen and | am pleased to welcome you to the Annual General Meeting of
EpiTan’s first full financial year since listing on th e ASX.

| am particularly pleased today to be able to introduce to you the full beard of directors. From the USA: Dr
Hank Agersborg (Deputy Chairman) & Dr Terry Winters; from Sydney, Dr Alan Cooper and from Melbourne,
Mr Stan McLiesh.

Mr David McBain is our Company Secretary.

Representing the Company’s auditors — William Buck are Mr Kevin Glynn, Partner and Ms Karen Wells,
Manager.

From the management team at EpiTan are Dr Stuart Humphrey, Manager Clinical Development and Mr
Michael Kleinig, Manager Pharmaceutical Devefopment.

When | stood here at last year's annual general meeting | was very upbeat about the coming year ahead,
and | am pleased to say that developments of the past year have vindicated my enthusiasm.

Much has happened at your company during the past year, which has been a very successful one by any
measure:

In summary EpiTan has:

> Progressed significantly with Melanotan’s clinical trial program, completing a Phase /Il trial in Adelaide,
and announced ethics committee approval to pursue a Phase lib trial in Sydney.

> Acquired new personnel, at both an operational and board level, to improve our skills in
commercialisation and drug development, and

» Announced an expansion into other dermatology areas.

Despite all this action, we have kept a tight rein on our finances.

Let me expand on each of these points:

Personnel

We have made several appointments which have strengthened the company.
In order of appointment they are:

In November last year we announced the appointment of Mr Michael Kleinig as Manag er Pharmaceutical
Development. Michael was formerly a Senior Research Scientist at CSL Limited, where he worked for 15

epitan

EpiTan Limited

Level 10, 62 Collins Street
Melbourne 3000
Australia

tel +61 3 9662 4688

fax +61 3 9662 4788
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years in research and development in both the pharmaceutical and bioplasma divisions. He graduated from
Swinburne Institute of Technologywith a double major in Applied Science and Biochemistry.

Michael has experience in the fields of drug delivery and controlled release and his main responsibility at
EpiTan is investigating the most suitable methods of delivery for Melanotan.

Michael joins Dr Stuart Humphrey, Manager - Clinical Development, on the management team responsible
for moving melanotan towards market approval.

In March this year, we were delighted to announce that one of Australia’s leading dermatologists, Clinical
Assaciate Profe ssor Alan Cooper OAM, had agreed to join our board as a non-executive director.

Professor Cooper is head of the Dermatology Department at Sydney’s Royal North Shore Hospital. He is
President-Elect of the Australasian College of Dermatologists and is Chairman of the Australian Dermatology
Research and Education Foundation.

His medical background in skin cancer and wide-reaching professional affiliations in dermatology, the
pharmaceutical industry and academia complement the Board’s financial and entrepreneurnal skill base.

In June this year Mr Malcolm McComas resigned as a director of the company to pursue other
business commitments. He was a board member since the incorporation of EpiTan in 1999 and made a
significant contribution to the company's development, especially during the listing process.

In September, the company announced the appointment of Mr Stanley McLiesh as a non-executive director.
Mr McLiesh is a former General Manager, Pharmaceuticals, at CSL Limited, and was closely involved in the
transition of the company from government ownership through corporatisation to a highly successful listed
company.

During a career spanning 25 years at CSL, Mr McLiesh brokered numerous in-licensing agreements with
international companies enabling CSL to expand into new markets profitably. He was closely involved in

merger and acquisition negotiations and the establishment of successful partnerships and
collaborative relationships.

Needless to say, he brings to EpiTan extensive experience in commercialising pharmaceutical products
internationally.

Mr McLiesh joined Professor Cooper, Dr Hank Agersborg, Dr Terry Winters and myself on the board. We
believe firmly that the board has all the skills required to pursue further drug development and
commercialisation.

Dr Terry Winters will give a brief summation of overseas biotechnology and pharmaceutical industry trends
later in the meeting.

Melanotan Project Progress

This is, of course, the raison d'etre of our business, and | am delighted to say that EpiTan has moved ahead
significantly in this area. On the 18th of March we announced the successful completion of our Phase 1/1
clinical trial on Melanotan at the Royal Adelaide Hospital. The trial was conducted by clinical trial research
group CMAX and involved 16 volunteers, 12 of whom were given Melanotan by sub-cutaneous injection
while four were given placebos.

The primary objective of the trial was to reaffirm the favourable safety assessment and stimulation of melanin
production in the skin from previous clinical trials undertaken in the USA.

The trial found that there were no serious adverse side effects from the drug, as well as confirming what the
earlier pilot scale USA trials had already told us - that Melanotan caused a statistically significant elevation in
calculated melanin density in the skin.

We were delighted to announce last week that we had received Ethics Committee approval from Sydney's
Royal Prince Alfred Hospital to commence a Phase b trial on Melanotan. This will be carried out by
Professor Ross Barnetson, a world authority in the field of photobiology, ultraviolet skin damage and the
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immunology of skin tumours. Many of you may know that Royal Prince Alfred Hospital is a leading hospital in
Australia for clinical research.

The trial will determ ine the ability of Melanotan to reduce the degree and toxicity of sunburn in approximately
80 healthy volunteers exposed to ultraviolet light both before and after a regime of Melanotan. The drug will
be administered daily for 10 days in each of three consecutive months. Twenty volunteers will receive
placebos. The study will commence in the next month and will take around eight months to complete.

We are aware that the announcement of the Sydney trial took longer than we had hoped for or expected.

The reality is that ethics committees are more used to dealing with therapeutic drugs than preventative
drugs.

To announce the go-ahead was to achieve another major milestone your company's development. In moving

to Phase llb trials EpiTan has joined a very select group of companies. in fact, of the 250-0dd core biotech
companies in Australia — both unlisted and listed —only 14 have drugs at this level of development.

We remain convinced that development of Melanotan will satisfy a major unmet medical need, presently
estimated to be greater than A$3 billion per annum worldwide.

We have also made good progress with the Southern Research Institute, headquartered in Birmingham,
Alabama. In June we announced the signing of a collaborative agreement with the institute, where Southern
Research will develop a sustained release delivery formulation for Melanotan for use in the ongoing clinical
trial program. The new formulation will enable Melanotan to be continuously released into the body over

time, requiring only one injection for up to a sixamonth period. This will be more user-friendly than the daily
injections being used in the current trials.

Finances

On the financial front | am pleased to say that we have managed your money very well. We spent less than
was budgeted for, and we have kept a tight rein on spending, with only five employees without significant
overheads.

While the cost of future trials will be substantial, these are of course necessary to bring our product to
commercialisation.

'

Currently EpiTan retains more than 3.4 million dollars in reserves.
We are however, adopting the prudent approach of seeking shareholder support for the issue of 20 million

shares to raise more funds when and if the need arises. This will give the board the entitlement to raise more
money, and reflects, | believe, the forward thinking nature of your board.

| urge you to support the resolution.

In this approach to fundraising, we would wish to raise more money when the company’s share price more
accurately reflects the potential of your company. On this score, we are of course at the hands of the
vagaries of the market and investor sentiment, both in Australia and internationally.

We have also addressed other ways to facilitate funding outside the share issue.

Funding could came, for example, by partnering. Following the success of our phase /!l trials in Adelaide,
EpiTan has fielded several enquiries from major pharmaceutical companies exploring the possibility of
partnership arrangements.

This demonstrates the interest frommajor parties in what we have achieved to date. It, of course, opens up a
whole raft of possible funding alternatives — not only for further trials, but towards registering and
commercialising the drug, and towards distribution.

An expanded capital base resulting from a partnership could free up EpiTan to pursue other projects. To this
end, we have been routinely monitoring new projects in the dermatology/iife sciences markets.
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Expansion into Dermatology

In mid-September we announced plans to expand the company's operating base to include new leading -

edge dermatology products, sourcing products from other countries to market in Australia, to create a
positive cash flow. The plan is to complement our commitment to dermatology and skin care.

To advance this expansion, we appointed Mr Tom Laughlin as a US-based consuitant to the company. Mr
Laughlin has extensive experience in sourcing and marketing pharmaceutical products internationally,

having held positions of increasing responsibility with Pfizer, Proctor & Gamble, Pharmacia & Upjohn and
Bayer.

Together with the experience of Mr Stan McLiesh, this appointment will facilitate the move into a cashflow
business.

In conclusion, let me say that your board is delighted with the company’s progress in the past year. We
have:

> Completed @ major human trial and announced the imminent start of another, which puts us in a very
select group.

» Made significant headway in drug delivery techniques, and are confident that the accepted mode of
delivery for Melanotan will be via a once-a- season injection, delivered before summer, and

> Strengthened the company’s human resource base, at both operational and board level.

EpiTan has now developed into a truly global company. Though small, we operate in several countries and
many areas in Australia. ‘

We have, for example:

research and development operations at Monash University here in Victoria

performed clinical trials in Adelaide and are about to start them in Sydney

preparations in place for carrying out trials in Brisbane

a drug being manufactured in the USA and Belgium

a formulation of the drug being prepared in Holland

a collaborative arrangement for drug formulation in Alabama, USA

continued with pre -clinical trial programs in the UK ,New South Wales and South Australia, and
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programs of ongoing research and development of drug formulation in the pipeline in other European
countries and Australia

In addition, we have attracted the interest of both international and local media, fielding calls from journalists
as far afield as Chicago, Vancouver, London and Saigon. We have featured on programs on the BBC, CNBC
and CNN and in the print media in Time Magazine, The Independent, The Times in London and in the New
York Post.

As a result we see no reason why interest in your company and in our research and development will wane.

| wish to give special thanks to the overseas directors for joining us here today, and for the extensive time
and wise input the full board gives to EpiTan’s business. | also thank the management and staff at EgTan
for their achievements and devotion to their tasks. Most importantly, | thank you the shareholders for your
continued support throughout the year. | have met with many of you over this time and have enjoyed our
discussions together and hope to continue this collaboration.
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1 November 2002

Company Announcements Office
Australian Stock Exchange Limited
20 Bridge Street

SYDNEY NSW 2000

Dear Sir

Annual General Meeting
EPITAN LIMITED

As required by section 251AA(2) of the Corporations Act the following statistics are provided in respect to
each motion on the agenda. In respect to each motion the total number of votes exercisable by all validly
appointed proxies was:

To elect Dr Cooper as a Director of the Company

Votes where the proxy directed to vote ‘for' the motion 46,073,515

Votes where the proxy was directed to vote ‘against’ the motion 107,000

Votes where the proxy may exercise a discretion how to vote 1,601,992

In addition, the number of votes where the proxy was directed to abstain from voting on the motion was
14,000

The results of voting on each motion is as follows:

The motion was carried on a show of hands as an ordinary resolution.
To elect Mr McLiesh as a Director of the Company

Votes where the proxy directed to vote ‘for’ the motion46,093,515
Votes where the proxy was directed to vote ‘against’ the motion 87,000
Votes where the proxy may exercise a discretion how to vote 1,601,992

In addition, the number of votes where the proxy was directed to abstain from voting on the motion was
14,000

The results of voting on each motion is as follows:

The motion was carried on a show of hands as an ordinary resolution.
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To re-elect Dr Winters as a Director of the Company

Votes where the proxy directed to vote 'for' the motion46,084,515
Votesw here the proxy was directed to vote ‘against’ the motion 87,000
Votes where the proxy may exercise a discretion how to vote 1,601,992

In addition, the number of votes where the proxy was directed to abstain from voting on the motion was
23,000

The results of voting on each motion is as follows:

The motion was carried on a show of hands as an ordinary resolution.

To approve the placement of the 20 million shares

Votes where the proxy directed to vote ‘for’ the motion 44,580,736

Votes where the proxy w as directed to vote ‘against’ the motion 1,539,609
Votes where the proxy may exercise a discretion how to vote 969,492

In addition, the number of votes where the proxy was directed to abstain from voting on the motion was
64,170

The results of voting on each motion is as follows:

The motion was carried on a show of hands as an ordinary resolution.

To re-appoint Dr Agersborg as a Director of the Company

Votes where the proxy directed to vote ‘for’ the motion 38,619,400

Votes where the proxy was directed to vote ‘against’ the motion 1,796,667
Votes where the proxy may exercise a discretion how to vote 7,362,440

In addition, the number of votes where the proxy was directed to abstain from voting on the motion was
18,000

The results of voting on each motion is as follows:
The motion was carried on a show of hands as a special resolution.
1st November 2002

Mr David McBain
Company Secretary
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Quarterly report

for entities admitted
on the basis of commitments

Introduced 31/3/2000. Amended 30/9/2001

Name of entity

EPITAN LIMITED
ABN Quarter ended (“‘current quarter”)
88 089 644 119 30 SEPTEMBER 2002

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Current quarter Year to date (3months)
‘ Cash flows related to operating activities $A°000 $A’000

1.1 Receipts from customers - -

1.2 Paymentsfor  (a) staff costs (53) (53)
(b) advertising and marketing - -
(c) research and devebpment (430) (430)
(d) leased assets - -
(e) other working capital (306) (306)

1.3 Dividends received -

1.4 Interest and other items of a similar nature | 65 65

received

1.5 Interest and other costs of finance paid - -
1.6 Income taxes paid -
1.7 Other (provide details if material) - -

Net operating cash flows (724) (724)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 4C

Quarterly report for entities
‘ admitted on the basis of commitments

Current quarter Year to date (3months)
$A000 $A°000
1.8 Net operating cash flows (carried forward) (724) (724)
Cash flows related to investing activities
1.9 Payment for acquisition of:
(a) businesses (item 5) - -
(b) equity investments - -
(© intellectual property | (3) 3)
{d) physical non-
current assets (12) (12)
(e) other non-current
assets - -
1.10 Proceeds from disposal of: (a) businesses | - -
(item 5)
(bequity - -
investments
(¢} intellectual property | - -
{d) physical non-
current assets - -
(&) other non<urrent
assets - -
. 1.11 Loans to other entities - -
112 Loans repaid by other entities - -
1.13 Other (provide details if material)
Net investing cash flows ' (15) (15)
1.14 Total operating and investing cash flows (739) (739
Cash flows related to financing activities
1.15 Proceeds from issues of shares, options, etc. - -
1.16 Proceeds from sale of forfeited shares - -
1.17 Proceeds from borrowings - -
1.18 Repayment of borrowings - -
1.19 Dividends paid - -
1.20 Other (provide details if material) - -
Net financing cash flows i )
Net increase (decrease) in cash held (739) (739)
121 Cash at beginning of quarter/year to date 4414 4414
1.22 Exchange rate adjustments to item 1.20 - -
1.23 Cash at end of quarter 3,675 3675

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 4C
Quarterly report for entities
admitted on the basis of commitments

Payments to directors of the entity and associates of the directors

Payments to related entities of the entity and associates of the related entities

Cument quarter
$A000

124 Aggregate amount of payments to the parties induded in tem 1.2 11

125 Aggregate amourt of loans to the parties included in item 1.11 NIL

126 Explanation necessary for an understanding of the transactions

Non-cash financing and investing activities

2.1 Details of financing and investing transactions which have had a material effect on consolidated
assets and liabilities but did not involve cash flows

N/A

2.2 Details of outlays made by other entities to establish or increase their share in businesses in which
the reporting entity has an interest

N/A

Financing facilities available
Add notes as necessary for an understanding of the position. (See AASB 1026 paragraph 12.2).

Amount available Amount used
$A°000 $A’000

3.1 Loan facilities NIL NIL

3.2 Credit standby arrangements NIL NIL

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

30/9/2001
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Appendix 4C
Quarterly report for entities
admitted on the basis of commitments

Reconciliation of cash

Reconciliation of cash at the end of the quarter (as | Current quarter Previous quarter
shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows) to | $A’000 $A’000
the related items in the accounts is as follows.
4.1 Cash on hand and at bank 222 37
42  Deposits at call 3433 4377
43 Bank overdraft i i
44  Other (provide details) i )
3,675 4414

Total: cash at end of quarter (item 1.22)

Acquisitions and disposals of business entities

Acquisitions Disposals
(ftem 1.9(a)) (Item 1.10(a))
5.1  Name of entity N/A N/A
5.2 Place of incorporation | N/A N/A
orregistration
53  Consideration for N/A N/A
acquisition or disposal
54  Total net assets N/A N/A
5.5  Nature of business N/A N/A

Compliance statement
1  This statement has been prepared under accounting policies which comply with accounting
standards as defined in the Corporations Act (except to the extent that information is not required

because of note 2) or other standards acceptable to ASX.

2 This statement does /does not* (delete one) give a true and fair view of the matters disclosed.

Printname: oo

Notes

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 4C
Quarterly report for entities
admitted on the basis of commitments

The quarterly report provides a basis for informing the market how the entity’s activities have
been financed for the past quarter and the effect on its cash position. An entity wanting to
disclose additional information is encouraged to do so, in a note or notes attached to this report.

The definitions in, and provisions of, A4SB 1026: Statement of Cash Flows apply to this report
except for the paragraphs of the Standard set out below.

0

6.2 - reconciliation of cash flows arising from operating activities to
operating profit or loss

9.2 - itemised disclosure relating to acquisitions

9.4 - itemised disclosure relating to disposals

12.1(a) - policy for classification of cash items
12,3 - disclosure of restrictions on use of cash
13.1 - comparative information

Accounting Standards. ASX will accept, for example, the use of International Accounting
Standards for foreign entities. If the standards used do not address a topic, the Australian
standard on that topic (if any) must be complied with.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Thursday 24 October 2002

Melbourne: EpiTan Limited (ASX:EPT) today announced it had received Ethics Committee approval from
Sydney's Royal Prince Alfred Hospital to commence Phase lib trials on its tanning drug, Melanotan.

The Phase Ilb trial will be carried out by Professor Ross Barnetson, a world authority in the field of photobiology,
uitraviolet skin damage and the immunology of skin tumours. Royal Prince Alfred Hospital is a leading hospital in
Australia for clinical research.

The trial will determine the ability of Melanotan to reduce the degree and toxicity of sunburn in approximately 80
healthy volunteers exposed to ultraviolet light both before and after a regimeof Melanotan. The drug will be
administered daily for 10 days in each of three consecutive months. Twenty volunteers will receive placebos.

[t is planned that the study will commence in the next month and will take around eight months to complete.

“This Phase |l trial represents a major milestone in our company’s advancement towards commercialisation,” said
the company’s Managing Director, Dr Wayne Millen. “We are convinced that the study will demonstrate that
Melanotan will reduce the incidence of sunbum and therefore reduce skin damage. We believe that development
of this drug will satisfy a major unmet medical need, presently estimated to be greater than A$3 billion per
annum.”

The trial follows the success of EpiTan’s Phase I/ll study in Adelaide, reported earlier this year.

Melanotan stimulates the production of melanin in the skin allowing development of a tan without exposure to
harmful levels of ultraviolet light. “Most skin damage is caused by excessive ultraviolet light in the process of
acquiring a tan. Melanin acts as a physical barrier or a fiiter to shield the vulnerable cells of epidermis against
uitraviolet radiation,” said EpiTan’s Clinical Development Manager Dr Stuart Humphrey. “If you get a tan using
Melanotan, then maintain the tan, evidence suggests you will suffer less skin damage.”

ABOUT THE COMPANY: EpiTan Limited is an emerging biotechnology company with a focus on skin protection,
headquartered in Melbourne, Australia. The company has the exclusive worldwide rights to develop its unique leading drug
candidate, Melanotan.

Melanotan, like sunlight, stimulates the production of melanin in the skin resulting in a tan. It allows a tan to develop without
exposure to harmful levels of ultraviolet light.

Melanin is the body's natural defence mechanism against skin damage resulting from exposure to sunlight and ultraviolet
(UV) radiation, essentially acting like an internal sunscreen. EpiTan believes Melanotan may assist in reducing skin damage
from sun exposure and thus the incidence of skin cancer.

Research shows that people with high levels of melanin have a far lower incidence of skin cancer than those with fair skin.
Skin cancer rates among white Americans for example, are 100 times higher than those among the African American
population.

Melanotan is a synthetic analogue of the body's own tanning hormone alpha#SH. Melanotan however is 1000 times more
active and has a longer duration in the body than the natural hormone.

Epitan is listed on the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX.EPT)

For more information contact:

Dr Wayne Millen, Managing Director, EpiTan Limited
Tel: 61 3 9662 4688

mail@epitan.com.au

Richard Allen, Monsoon Communications

Tel: 61 3 9620 3333

www.epitan.com.au
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appointments of

Professor Cooper and
Mr McLiesh markedly

increase the
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Board and its ability
to accommodate
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project and
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Clinical & pharmaceutical development

In March we reported on the first trial carried out at the Royal Adelaide Hospital under controlled conditions suitable

for regulatory purposes. These results confirmed those from pilot studies conducted at the University of Arizona on about
100 volunteers. The study with 16 volunteers under conditions that rigorously excluded sunlight confirmed the safety of
Melanotan and provided proof of principle that our lead drug causes the production of melanin pigment in skin throughout
the body. To our knowledge, this is the first time this has been demonstrated by any drug.

Based on the knowledge that we have a drug that produces melanin, we immediately commenced the development of a more
suitable dosage formulation and contracted an experienced US drug delivery group to produce a 30-day sustained-release form.
This work is proceeding very well and the dose formulation will be available soon and will be used in subsequent ctinical trials.
It will be more user-friendly than daily injections, may be more efficacious and will be much less costly.

Board of directors

With EpiTan now one of the few Australian biotechnology companies involved in advanced stage clinical trials, we have
restructured the board to bring on more specialist pharmaceutical talent. Having guided the company through its early fund
raising and public listing, both Mr Graeme Salthouse and Mr Malcolm McComas have stepped down. We are grateful for their
early contribution and wish them well in their new endeavors. Joining the Board are Professor Alan Cooper, OAM, one of
Australia’s leading dermatologists, and Mr Stanley Mcliesh, formerly General Manager, Pharmaceuticals at CSL Limited.

They bring strong clinical dermatology and pharmaceutical sales, marketing and partnering experience respectively, which will
be crucial as EpiTan grows. Along with our two US directors, we now have an enviable concentration of pharmaceutical
knowledge on our Board, something few Australian companies can match.

Financial position

I want to stress that the Company is developing Melanotan very cost effectively. EpiTan has only five employees and has not
built a substantial overhead. We utilise outside services for most pharmaceutical development functions, minimising the
expense of in-house employees and avoid establishing our own laboratories. Substantial clinical progress has been made by

spending only a fraction of what many companies do to achieve clinical results. We intend to maintain this approach and thereby
maximize shareholder funds.

EpiTan’s cash resources at the beginning of the 2002 year were $6.98 million. Cash outlays during the year amounted to
$2.93 million including $1.57 million on clinical trials and drug formulation research and development. $76,000 was expended
on plant, equipment, patent and trade mark applications and $1.28 million on suppliers, employee and corporate costs.
After interest and GST refund amounts of $367,000 net cash outflow amounted to $2.56 million.

epitan annual report to shareholders 2002 , 02 03



The Board
recognises that
EpiTan already has a
strong focus in
dermatology and on
17 September EpiTan
announced plans to
expand the
Company’s operating
base to include new
leading-edge
dermatology
products.

This resulted in a loss of $3.14 million after writing off
eligible research and development expenditure of $1.50 million
and amortising of intellectual property of $748,000.

The 2002 budget forecast was for a total expenditure of
$3.8 million with $2.5 million assigned to the Melanotan
project. The under-budget figure of approximately $900,000
reflects the late start of the Phase |l clinical trial program.

For the Melanotan project alone, cash budget estimates
for the 2003 financial year are:

$(million}

preclinical & clinical studies 1.8
drug formulation development
suppliers, employees, corporate

Subtotal

cash at bank 1 July 2002
interest, income, GST refund

Net surplus 30 June 2003

The challenge facing us over the next few years is access

to capital in a very hostile market. Australian life science
companies have followed US companies in a severe downward
spiral and we cannot predict the upturn. While our unique
clinical progress may allow us to access capital markets,
your Board has deemed it prudent to also look elsewhere for
capital. Fortunately, we now have two highly-rated potential
sources:

olos i |——
W |OoV e jOo |

Entering the dermatology products business in Australia.

In preparation for our own marketing of Melanotan to
dermatologists, we can source products from other countries
to market in Australia and thereby create a positive cash flow
to support the Company. Our rights to Melanotan can be used
as an asset to secure such products. We have retained an
experienced US based executive to implement this process.

Corporate partnering with larger pharmaceutical companies.

We have had a number of approaches from multinational
companies and are entering into discussions. Such a
partnership could yield substantial upfront payments, financial
support of clinical trials and royalty payments in return for
licensing rights to selected worldwide markets.

Given the decision to expand operations to a cash flow position
based on the in-licensing of dermatology products and the
need to continue the momentum of the Melanotan project the
Company will require new capital,

To accommodate working capital estimates of $1 million

for the dermatology products operation, and $2 mitlion capital
for the Melanotan project, shareholders are asked to agree to

the resolution to be put to them at the November 2002 Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders to allow directors to issue up
to 20 mitlion shares in EpiTan over the ensuing

three month period.



Investor relations - communications

| have been overwhelmed at times with enquiries from
interested parties as a result of the worldwide media interest
in the family of MSH analog drugs developed at the University
of Arizona. These drugs, of which Melanotan is one, can cause
a variety of effects in humans including tanning, erections and
satiety lloss of appetite], causing them to be dubbed "Barbie
drugs’ after the ‘perfect’ toy doll of the same name. While we
are cautious of this kind of publicity, it serves as an indication
of the strong interest in our drug and confirms our assessment
of the large size of the potential market.

The Melanotan story has been covered widely by both the
Australian and international media with over 100 news items
appearing across various media including Time Magazine,
the New York Post, The Independent {London], The Times
[London], CNBC, CNN, Fox News Channel and the BBC.

EpiTan's website has provided information about the Company
and the Melanotan project to thousands of visitors throughout
the year. Traffic to the site has consistently increased, with the
strongest international interest from North America. The site's
subscriber base has nearly tripled to over 2000, enabling
worldwide interest to be serviced by immediate access to
company announcements.

Some 40 presentations on EpiTan’s technical plans, corporate
objectives and operational strategies have been given to the
financial community by directors, managers and company
consultants. These have been well received and there is clearly
now a greater understanding of EpiTan’s activities in the
market place.

Communication programs will be on-geing during the 2003
year to maintain a continuous flow of information on progress
to all stakeholders.

The coming year

There has been a plethora of articles appearing in newspapers,
scientific publications and websites relating to skin cancer
issues. These have covered descriptions of skin cancers, their
prevalence and what precautions can be taken to minimise the
risk of developing them. Dermatol